

Host country institutions and immigrant labour market performance in Europe



WORKING THROUGH BARRIERS

Working Through Barriers Host Country Institutions and Immigrant Labour Market Performance in Europe

IRENA KOGAN University of Mannheim, Germany



A C.I.P. Catalogue record for this book is available from the Library of Congress.

ISBN-10 1-4020-5231-6 (HB) ISBN-13 978-1-4020-5231-6 (HB) ISBN-10 1-4020-5232-4 (e-book) ISBN-13 978-1-4020-5232-3 (e-book)

Published by Springer, P.O. Box 17, 3300 AA Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

www.springer.com

Printed on acid-free paper

All Rights Reserved © 2007 Springer No part of this work may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, microfilming, recording or otherwise, without written permission from the Publisher, with the exception of any material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work.

CONTENTS

Preface and Acknowledgements			ix	
1.	Imm 1.1. 1.2. 1.3.	 migrant Labour Market Performance: A European Perspective Introduction Research Questions and Rationale Outline 		
2.	Explaining Immigrant Labour Market Inequality			
	2.1.	A Micro Approach to the Analysis of the Immigrant		
		Labour Market Situation	9	
		2.1.1. Human Capital and Migration	9	
		2.1.2. Discrimination	11	
		2.1.3. Ethnic or Immigrant Penalty	12	
		2.1.4. Labour Market Dualism	14	
		2.1.5. Insider–Outsider Cleavage	16	
	2.2.	The Link Between a Country's Institutional Arrangements		
	and the Immigrant-Job Allocation Process2.3. Institutional Approach to the Analysis of Immigrant		17	
Labour Markets		Labour Markets	20	
		2.3.1. Rationale	20	
		2.3.2. Institutions Relevant to the Incorporation of Immigrants		
		in the Labour Market	21	
3.	Imm	igration Policies and Immigrant Selectivity in Europe	25	
	3.1.	Immigration into European Countries after the Second World War	25	
		3.1.1. Geo-Political Changes after the Second World War	26	
		3.1.2. Post-Colonial Immigration	26	
		3.1.3. Labour Migration	26	
		3.1.4. Influx of Refugees and Asylum Seekers	28	
		3.1.5. EU Countries and the Main Migration Streams in the Second		
		Half of the 20th Century	29	
		3.1.6. Summary	31	

CONTENTS

	3.2.	Immigrants in the European Union	31
		3.2.1. Problems of Typology of Immigrants in the European	
		Union Countries	31
		3.2.2. Types of Immigrants in the European Union Countries	33
		3.2.3. Composition of Immigrants in the European Union Countries	37
		3.2.4. Summary	39
	3.3.	Selectivity of Immigration Policies and Socio-demographic	
		Characteristics of Immigrants in the European Union	39
		3.3.1. Selected Demographic Characteristics	40
		3.3.2. Educational Capital of Immigrants	43
		3.3.3. On the Portability of Human Capital	45
		3.3.4. Summary	47
4.	Imm	igrants and the Labour Market	49
	4.1.	The Labour Market Situation in EU Countries in the Late 1990s	50
	4.2.	The Effects of Labour Market Structure upon Immigrants'	
		Employment Opportunities	53
		4.2.1. Immigrants' Labour Market Segmentation	53
		4.2.2. Immigrant Niches	55
		4.2.3. Immigrant Entrepreneurship	58
	4.3.	Effects of Labour Market Rigidity on Immigrants' Employment	
		Opportunities	60
	4.4.	Summary	63
5.	Welf	are Regimes and Immigrants' Employment Prospects	65
6.	Emp	irical Assessment of the Role of Institutions in the Labour Market	
	Outo	comes of Male Immigrants in Fourteen European Union Countries	73
	6.1.	Hypotheses	73
	6.2.	Research Methodology	75
		6.2.1. Data	75
		6.2.2. Variables	77
		6.2.3. Method of Analysis	82
	6.3.	Findings	85
		6.3.1. Descriptive Results	85
		6.3.2. Unemployment Risk of Male Immigrants in the EU	87
			0.1
		6.3.3. Unemployment Risk of Recent Male Immigrants in the EU	91
	<i>с</i> ,	6.3.3. Unemployment Risk of Recent Male Immigrants in the EU6.3.4. The Occupational Status of Male Immigrants in the EU	91 96
	6.4.	6.3.3. Unemployment Risk of Recent Male Immigrants in the EU6.3.4. The Occupational Status of Male Immigrants in the EUSummary and Discussion	91 96 99
7.	6.4. Emp	6.3.3. Unemployment Risk of Recent Male Immigrants in the EU6.3.4. The Occupational Status of Male Immigrants in the EUSummary and Discussion	91 96 99
7.	6.4. Emp Imm	 6.3.3. Unemployment Risk of Recent Male Immigrants in the EU 6.3.4. The Occupational Status of Male Immigrants in the EU Summary and Discussion loyment Careers and Unemployment Dynamics of Male igrants in Germany and Great Britain	91 96 99 105
7.	6.4. Emp Imm 7.1.	 6.3.3. Unemployment Risk of Recent Male Immigrants in the EU 6.3.4. The Occupational Status of Male Immigrants in the EU Summary and Discussion loyment Careers and Unemployment Dynamics of Male igrants in Germany and Great Britain Background Conditions in Germany and Great Britain	91 96 99 105 105
7.	6.4. Emp Imm 7.1.	 6.3.3. Unemployment Risk of Recent Male Immigrants in the EU 6.3.4. The Occupational Status of Male Immigrants in the EU Summary and Discussion loyment Careers and Unemployment Dynamics of Male igrants in Germany and Great Britain Background Conditions in Germany and Great Britain 7.1.1. An Overview of Immigrant Inflow to Germany and the UK	91 96 99 105 105
7.	6.4. Emp Imm 7.1.	 6.3.3. Unemployment Risk of Recent Male Immigrants in the EU 6.3.4. The Occupational Status of Male Immigrants in the EU Summary and Discussion loyment Careers and Unemployment Dynamics of Male igrants in Germany and Great Britain Background Conditions in Germany and Great Britain 7.1.1. An Overview of Immigrant Inflow to Germany and the UK in the Second Half of the 20th Century	91 96 99 105 105

vi

CONTENTS
CONTENTS

		710	The Data of Lord's discussion day Lord's and Later Made			
		/.1.2.	All a setien Dissources in Company and the LW	107		
	7 2	Dagaa	Allocation Process in Germany and the UK	107		
	1.2.		Data	111		
		7.2.1.	Data Methods: Sequence Analysis Techniques	111		
		7.2.2.	Methods: Event History Analysis Techniques	112		
		7.2.3.	Variables	110		
	73	Fmnir	ical Results	121		
	7.5.	731	Deviation of Career Sequences of Immigrants from a	121		
		7.5.1.	Standard Sequence of the Native-born	121		
		732	Occupational Inclusion or Segmentation? Employment	121		
		1.5.2.	and Occupational Careers of Immigrants in Germany			
			and the UK	126		
		7.3.3.	Unemployment Dynamics of Immigrants in Germany	120		
			and Great Britain	133		
			7.3.3.1. Unemployment Outflow	134		
			7.3.3.2. Unemployment Inflow	146		
	7.4.	Summ	ary and Discussion	150		
8.	Ex-Y	/ugosla	vs in the Austrian and Swedish Labour Markets	155		
	8.1.	Yugos	lav Migration to Austria and Sweden	156		
	8.2.	The In	stitutional Contexts of Immigration in Austria and Sweden	157		
		8.2.1.	Immigration, Integration and Citizenship Policies	158		
		8.2.2.	The Role of the Labour Market	160		
		8.2.3.	Immigration and the Welfare State	162		
8.3. Hypotheses		Hypot	heses	162		
	8.4.	Data a	nd Variables	164		
	8.5.	Empiri	ical Findings	166		
		8.5.1.	Descriptive Characteristics	166		
		8.5.2.	Results of the Multivariate Analysis: Participation			
			in the Labour Force	171		
		8.5.3.	Results of the Multivariate Analyses: Unemployment			
			Propensity and Occupational Status	175		
	8.6.	Summ	ary and Discussion	179		
9.	Con	clusions	3	183		
Ap	pendi	x		197		
Lis	t of F	igures		213		
т :-	List of Tables					
LIS	i of I	ables		215		

vii

viii	CONTENTS	
References		219
Author Index		239
Subject Index		243

PREFACE AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This book, a comparative study of the fortunes of immigrants in the labour markets of European countries, stems from my dissertation project conducted during the years 2000–2004 at the Mannheim Centre for European Social Research (MZES) and the University of Mannheim. It was generously supported by the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) and MZES.

Surprisingly, until the publication of the present work, no book existed which systematically examined the labour market integration of immigrants in Europe, seeking specifically to disentangle the roles that the individual characteristics of immigrants, on the one hand, and the structural features of the receiving societies, on the other, play in this process. Hopefully this book will thus prove a worthwhile contribution.

In carrying out the research and in the course of writing I have benefited from the support, assistance, advice and encouragement of many people, and it is a great pleasure to thank them here. First and foremost I wish to express my deep and sincere gratitude to Walter Müller, who gave me the opportunity to come to Mannheim in 2000 and who, despite an extraordinary teaching and administrative load, always had time to discuss with me varying aspects of my research. He 'infected' me with his sociological enthusiasm, and from him I learned the value of scientific exchange and networking. By granting me a free hand in my research he promoted my academic maturity and self-confidence. Thanks go also to Hartmut Esser for introducing me to the theory of rational action and for inspiring discussions in the final stages of the project. Special thanks are reserved for Frank Kalter, not only for his example in setting and maintaining the highest sociological standards and for the thought-provoking discussions on the essence of sociology, but also for his constant encouragement and willingness to endure my self-deprecation at difficult stages of the project. I also wish to thank Josef Brüderl for his peerless skills as an instructor, as well as Yinon Cohen, Yossi Shavit, Noah Lewin-Epstein, Moshe Semyonov, Haya Stier, Hannah Ayalon - all my former instructors from Tel Aviv University - and Anthony Heath from the University of Oxford for their interest and undying support in my academic endeavours.

While writing this book MZES provided a stimulating environment. Warm thanks are proffered to Stefani Scherer for sharing her knowledge, experience and friendship;

PREFACE AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Cornelia Kristen and Reinhard Pollak for their intellectual exchange and assistance; Markus Gangl for providing an inspiring model of scholarly work; Thomas Gschwend for his openness and spirit of academic cooperation. Fortunately during my stay at MZES I had the pleasure of gaining not only helpful and good-humoured colleagues but also true friends: Stephanie Steinmetz, David Reimer, Jette Schröder, Jean-Marie Jungblut and Rebecca Frings have earned my sincere thanks for their support and wit.

Jared Miller deserves my special gratitude for being at my side at the time of writing this book, for his intellectual stimulus, his confidence in me, his backing and encouragement, without which I would probably never have been able to bring this project to completion. Thanks go to Craig Forsythe for polishing the English of this book; Andrei Kogan for his help in programming some graphs for me; Evelien Bakker and the editorial team at Springer for their patient work, assistance and cooperativeness.

On a more personal note, I would like to thank my family for their enduring support, constant enquiries, their love and understanding for the path I have chosen. My special thanks to Alona Kremko and Yulia Lubenetz who, despite being so far away, stayed so close to me. Finally, my heartfelt thanks go to Anja Jezela, whose friendship and enduring support over the last five years has been both an exciting and a tranquil experience and without which I could hardly have imagined achieving what I have.

Irena Kogan Mannheim, April 2006

х

CHAPTER 1. IMMIGRANT LABOUR MARKET PERFORMANCE: A EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE

1.1. Introduction

In recent decades European countries have increasingly become a destination for migrants from all over the world. The current immigration flow, however, is not a historically exceptional phenomenon (Münz, 1997). Since the beginnings of both the European industrial revolution and colonialism, spatial mobility has been common, even if early periods saw a net migration outflow from Europe. Nowadays immigrants outnumber emigrants in all European Union¹ countries, which means that Europe has become an immigration continent.

European countries recruited large numbers of labour migrants, so-called guest workers, throughout the 1950-60s, years of intense economic growth. Although this phase was interrupted by the oil crisis of the 1970s, many of those guest workers have since been joined by family members. In some countries post-colonial migration supplied a significant source of labour during the economic upswing following World War II. The flow of asylum seekers has also grown in recent years, intensified by the collapse of the Eastern European socialist block and the relaxation of border controls between some Central and Eastern European countries and the EU (Stalker, 2000). The majority of European countries accept refugees and displaced persons, whose numbers swell in response to warfare and political crisis. Furthermore, despite the current tendency to restrict immigration, the guest-worker system is showing some signs of resurgence (Morris, 1997).² As a result approximately 18 million foreigners, constituting 4.8 per cent of the European Union's population, are legally residing within its borders (Angenendt, 1999). The number of illegal migrants entering the EU and the number of those not willing to leave after their asylum claims are rejected was estimated in 1998 at around 3 million (IOM, 2000; Stalker, 2002).

All of this creates tremendous pressure on the European Union countries, none of which considers itself to be an immigration country *per se*. Moreover, many European countries,

¹ Note that 'European Union' in the present study refers to the EU before its 2004 enlargement.

² In addition European countries increasingly confront issues related to the integration of so-called secondgeneration immigrants.

and especially those of Southern Europe, have until recently been viewed purely as a source of emigration, providing labour for more developed Northern and Western European nations. No European Union country is completely free of resentment among the native population towards newcomers, who are seen as threatening the native population's access to jobs, as abusers of welfare systems and in some cases as a menace to cultural uniformity (Soltwedel, 1993). These views resonate strongly in periods of economic slowdown, in areas most affected by recession, and among that segment of the native-born population especially vulnerable to the loss of employment or facing other labour market risks.

While significant steps have been taken to standardise immigration control procedures at the external borders of the European Union, far less has been done towards the harmonisation of immigrant integration policies (Angenendt, 1999; Withol de Wenden, 2004). Each EU country has been confronted with the necessity of integrating newcomers, which has become a challenge to the established patterns of nation building, welfare state policies and labour markets (Heckmann and Schnapper, 2003); but social, economic and political rights accorded to the immigrant population vary considerably among member states. Immigrant labour market integration remained a most serious issue for European Union countries at the end of the 1990s, one of the most urgent problems being persistently high unemployment among underprivileged newcomers. However, member countries do differ with respect to the magnitude of this phenomenon. Figure 1.1 compares unemployment among third-country immigrants, i.e. underprivileged immigrants from outside the EU (for more on this definition see Section 3.2.2), with that of native-born citizens



Figure 1.1. Unemployment rates of third-country immigrants and the native-born in selected countries, 1995–2000 Source: EULFS 1995–2000.

A EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE

in several EU countries. Spanish unemployment is rather high among both natives and immigrants, but the dissimilarity between the two groups is the smallest. The UK also displays relatively little divergence. In the rest of the EU countries immigrants appear to be more strongly disadvantaged when it comes to finding employment. The most drastic differences are observed in Belgium and Denmark, where immigrants face nearly a five-fold risk of unemployment compared to the native-born population.

1.2. Research Questions and Rationale

How can these cross-country differences be explained? Why do third-country immigrants and the native-born face a similar risk of unemployment in some few countries, while in other countries immigrants are at a far greater risk? Third-country immigrants in various EU countries certainly differ with respect to human capital and other sociodemographic characteristics, and this variation could at least partially account for the variation in immigrant employment disadvantages across Europe. Another part of the observed differences might be attributed to external circumstances that affect immigrant flows, e.g. historically developed migration patterns. The view put forward in this book, however, is that to a significant extent, probably more than is often recognised, crosscountry differences in immigrant labour market allocation reflect structural characteristics intrinsic to each society. The immigrant labour market situation is therefore 'a social product shaped by receiving countries' institutional structures' (Reitz, 1998: 3).

While considerable effort has been expended in many European countries on describing the immigrant employment situation and on finding explanations for immigrants' disadvantages in the labour market, a systematic assessment on the macro scale across the whole of the European Union still needs to be undertaken, and it may well turn out that the variety of immigrant inclusion patterns has been underestimated. This is not to disregard existing studies on immigrant assimilation, exclusion and the persistence of ethnic inequalities in the 'core' European countries, i.e. Great Britain, France and Germany (e.g. Berthoud, 2000; Drinkwater et al., 1998; Heath and McMahon, 2000; Esser, 1980; Kalter and Granato, 2002; Brinbaum and Werquin, 1998), as well as in some of the other countries (Wrench et al., 1999; Angenendt, 1999), However, the lion's share of immigration theory and research comes from and relates to the classic immigrant countries: the USA, Canada and Australia.³ Often conclusions reached based upon experience in these

³ The pattern of immigrant labour market assimilation has been thoroughly articulated and empirically tested by Chiswick (1978) (see also Section 2.1.1). His research reached very optimistic results in regard to immigrant earnings at the end of the assimilation process, concluding that most immigrant groups arriving in the US between the early 1950s and late 1960s not only reached parity with demographically comparable natives, but even surpassed them. A vivid debate has been going on for the past 25 years on immigrant selectivity, assimilation and economic impact (e.g. Borjas, 1990, 1994a; Chiswick, 2000). Revisionist attempts to explain the lack of assimilation of some immigrant groups introduced the term 'segmented assimilation' (Zhou, 1999), while other models of immigrant incorporation have emphasised that economic assimilation is not the only possible outcome of immigration.

truly immigrant societies, as well as from practices in a limited number of large European immigrant-receiving countries, are foisted upon the rest of the EU without taking into account the diversity of institutional contexts. Extrapolation from North American and Australian studies seems especially unwarranted, since none of the European countries is a genuinely immigrant society. In contrast, comparing like with like – in this case European countries with other European countries – would seem to be a more promising method for evaluating the impact of institutions upon immigrants' labour market fortunes (Blau and Kahn, 1999). Hence, the questions asked in this book are whether, how and to what extent the immigrant labour market situation differs among European Union countries and how this can be related to variation in their institutional make-up.

This comparative study pursues a micro-macro model of analysis, which involves an examination of the motives of various actors affecting employment decisions, emphasises the need to assess the relationships among these actors, and stresses the need to relate these to the broader social and economic contexts within which the actors establish formal, informal and institutionalised rules governing employment relations (Marshall, 1974). It is assumed that common, similar social processes underlie the allocation of individuals to jobs in different countries. Individual actors, be they immigrant or native-born job seekers on the one hand or potential employers on the other, have basically similar aims; and, given their resources, strive for the best solution from their point of view. It is also assumed that the general mechanism underlying existing immigrant disadvantage in the labour market is basically the same in all countries analysed here. However, the institutional and structural conditions under which decisions are made by individual actors (be they immigrants looking for employment in a new country or local employers deciding whether to hire an immigrant or a native worker) can vary among the countries. The main focus of this book is therefore on the interplay between the conditions under which decisions are made and the aims, resources and mechanisms that guide the behaviour of individual actors.

The key research questions raised here, however, are concerned less with the role of immigrants' individual characteristics, which undoubtedly influence their labour market inclusion chances,⁴ than with the effects of the host countries' social structures. To what degree is immigrant human capital utilised in the host country? What institutional characteristics are responsible for channelling this process? How is immigrant selectivity with respect to individual characteristics influenced by the host countries' immigration policies and immigrant reception contexts? What role might other institutional characteristics

⁴ This subject has received much attention. It is well documented that with length of residence in the host country immigrants learn the local labour market and the language of the receiving society, adjust their skills to the new economy, and narrow the earnings differential between them and comparable natives; in short, they assimilate economically (Chiswick, 1978). It is also stressed that human capital resources determine immigrant integration (Chiswick, 1978, 1991; Friedberg, 2000). Similarly, it has been found that gender, age at the time of migration, work experience, marital status and several other individual characteristics influence the speed of immigrant integration into the host society (e.g. Chiswick and Miller, 1996; Poston, 1994).

A EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE

of host countries play in immigrant labour market allocation? How might the latter be shaped, if at all, by the host countries' labour market structures and regulations? Has the welfare state any role to play in immigrant labour market inclusion? It is claimed further on in this book that characteristics such as immigration policy, the labour market and social welfare should never be examined in isolation. Being partly autonomous and partly interdependent, they should be seen as components of institutional systems or regimes with distinct patterns of immigrant labour markets.

To adequately address institutional effects upon immigrant labour markets and to try to explain observed cross-national differences, the empirical strategy should be to estimate micro-level processes and outcomes with micro data, allowing for cross-national differences in immigrant inequality, and simultaneously include aggregate measures that capture institutional conditions hypothetically influencing the analysed phenomenon. As large, unbiased samples of an immigrant population are necessary, data sets stemming from the official statistics are the major sources upon which analyses are usually based, all the more so since it is such sets that generally contain information on formal educational qualifications as well as on the labour market. This book is no exception. The European Union Labour Force Survey data are used for these analyses, being a standardised data set of pooled labour force surveys conducted in each of the 15 member states. For more detailed analyses, labour force surveys from individual countries are examined, as these provide more comprehensive information about the relevant constructs. The use of several⁵ complementary data sources is not accidental, as this is essential in order to provide consistent and reliable results when analysing immigrant issues within Europe. The problem is that the official data contain only a limited array of variables relevant to the assessment of the mechanisms of immigrant labour markets.⁶ Besides, it is questionable whether information gathered in different countries is really comparable. This is of particular concern with respect to immigration-related information, often collected on the basis of different definitions, calculation procedures and reporting periods. It is also particularly difficult to obtain unbiased information about more recent immigrants, as they are often excluded from existing sampling frames and are highly overrepresented among non-respondents.

Data for research into immigration have previously been drawn from labour force surveys and population censuses, as these provide large enough samples for the analysis of an immigrant population – which rarely exceeds 10 per cent of a country's total population. As a result of the cross-sectional nature of the data, previous research into immigrant integration has primarily depicted the immigrant labour market situation at a particular point in time. Underlying processes have often been neglected. A significant advantage of the study presented in this book is that it addresses the individual behaviour of immigrant

⁵ Apart from the data sources just mentioned, two panel data sets are also utilised (see below).

⁶ Moreover, it is even doubtful whether some theoretical constructs are at all measurable with a standard survey design.

workers (compared to the native-born) that underlies and generates unemployment. The empirical analyses thus attempt not only to measure immigrants' likelihood of being unemployed as such, but also to uncover the structure of unemployment dynamics. To this end, part of the present analysis draws upon the harmonised longitudinal employment history data covering a six-year period in the second half of the 1990s. Two countries – Germany and Great Britain – have been selected for scrutiny because they display substantial differences in the resulting immigrant labour markets.

1.3. Outline

The complexity and multifaceted nature of this study is reflected in the structure of the book. Chapter 2 outlines a conceptual and theoretical framework upon which we build. Two-sided search and matching models, which describe outcomes of the allocation process based upon the interplay of opportunity structures (determined by employers' preferences and job resources) and job seekers' preferences and personal resources that determine their choice of opportunities, are taken as a general framework for elucidating differences in the labour markets of immigrants as compared to the native-born workers. The principal arguments of the human capital theory, which helps explain why immigrants might lack the human capital resources needed to succeed in the host country, are given. The reasons why local employers might still prefer native-born job seekers to immigrants with similar formal qualifications is then discussed, largely building upon economic theories of discrimination. Further, it is claimed that immigrants might differ from the native-born in their job search behaviour, under certain circumstances 'preferring' a quick entry into low-status employment. The argument is echoed in segmentation theories, which also discuss why employers might be willing to hire immigrants in the secondary labour market. Building on the dual labour market and insider-outsider models it is further argued that immigrants' vulnerability to unemployment and the lack of upward mobility might in fact be connected to their disadvantageous performance. The chapter further attempts to establish how the process of allocating individuals to jobs is influenced by national institutions, and why immigrants' level of disadvantage might differ between countries having certain different institutions. Previous research into the topic is then summarised and the pertinent institutional features of the host countries, i.e. immigration policies, labour markets and welfare states, are singled out.

Institutional characteristics apparently relevant to immigrant labour are discussed in greater detail in Chapters 3–5. Chapter 3, in particular, considers the importance of cross-national differences in immigration policy, which affect immigrant selectivity with respect to human capital and other socio-demographic characteristics, and determine their relevance for successful inclusion of immigrants into host-country labour markets. This chapter firstly summarises the main immigration streams into Europe after the Second World War, focusing particularly upon post-colonial and labour migrations, and the inflow of refugees and asylum seekers. Secondly, it examines cross-national differences in immigration policy, assessing the power of these differences to explain variations in labour

A EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE

markets for immigrants. The chapter then approaches the challenge of classifying immigrants within the large-scale analysis by studying countries that differ in immigration and immigrant integration policies and in the ethnic composition of their newcomers. Some basic descriptive information on the characteristics of immigrants in the EU is presented in this chapter with particular focus on immigrant selectivity with respect to education.

Chapter 4 deals with the influence of labour market structure and regulations upon the position of immigrants. In line with the dual labour market theory and the insider–outsider scenario it is argued that two features of host countries' labour markets are able to shape immigrants' chances of finding employment. The first feature concerns the structure of the host country's labour market – and particularly the demand for unskilled and low-skilled labour – which determines the size of economic sectors liable to be populated by immigrants. The second feature is flexibility within a host country's labour market. This is likely to determine the degree of openness towards employing immigrants.

Since the general economic climate should not to be neglected, the chapter firstly sketches the economic situation in the EU countries in the late 1990s. It then discusses the possible effect of labour market structure and employment flexibility upon employers' resources and constraints when they consider immigrant job-applicants. Finally, this chapter presents some descriptive evidence of the selected labour market outcomes of immigrants relative to those of the native-born in the EU. It reveals the segregation of underprivileged immigrants in low-skilled occupations and the emergence of immigrant niches.

Chapter 5 seeks to relate immigrants' performance in the labour market to the nature of host-country welfare schemes. It firstly summarises the main features of the three types of welfare capitalism, further investigating how immigrants' success or otherwise in the labour market can potentially be affected by the nature of welfare regimes in the various EU countries.

Chapter 6 presents the principal cross-national analysis of immigrant unemployment and occupational standing. Comparisons are drawn with the native-born, taking into account both individual attributes, such as key demographic and human capital characteristics, and also structural factors that potentially influence labour market outcomes. Multilevel modelling with explicit measures for three institutional components relevant to immigrant labour markets, i.e. immigration policy, the labour market (structure and regulation) and welfare regimes, allows for the testing of hypotheses regarding the effects of these institutions upon immigrant labour market outcomes, while simultaneously controlling for variation on the individual level.

Chapters 7 and 8 can be seen as in-depth case studies. Each examines the immigrant labour market situation in countries with specific constellations of institutional factors, constellations which seem to 'produce' varying outcomes on the aggregate level. Chapter 7 discusses the unemployment dynamics of immigrants in Germany and Great Britain, adopting a holistic approach towards immigrants' careers. Sequence analysis techniques

are applied in order to exploit the full potential of the longitudinal data for the descriptive analysis of employment and occupational careers. A multivariate event history analysis is conducted to explore the dynamics and to determine the causes of frequent and prolonged unemployment among immigrants in both countries. The findings of this chapter shed more light upon the *processes* and *mechanisms* of economic incorporation of immigrant populations in Germany and Great Britain – two European prototypes of conservative and liberal welfare regimes – and not only in the labour market *outcomes* as was done using the European labour force survey cross-sectional data.

Chapter 8 concentrates upon labour market outcomes (labour force participation, risk of unemployment, and occupational status), focusing on a single immigrant group – Yugoslavs – in Austria and Sweden. This concept of examining a single, relatively homogeneous group of immigrants who have reached different destinations – controlling for origins as it were – provides a crucial test for the role played by the receiving societies' structures and institutions in determining immigrants' performance within local labour markets. The chapter begins with a brief overview of Yugoslav migration to Austria and Sweden, followed by an outline of the Austrian and Swedish institutional contexts as they relate to immigration and citizenship policies, labour market structure and welfare schemes, as well as their hypothetical influence on the integration of Yugoslav immigrants. One of the main focuses in this chapter is the role of the period of migration which, due to variation in the labour market successes and failures of immigrants of various cohorts, might reveal the effects of divergent immigration policy and labour market realities with respect to the two countries.

Each of the three empirical chapters contains separate sections on data and methods, since different data sources and methodological approaches have been adopted for each specific topic. The findings of the three interconnected analyses are then summarised and discussed in the concluding Chapter 9, which also outlines the limitations of the study presented in this book and suggests an agenda for future research.

CHAPTER 2. EXPLAINING IMMIGRANT LABOUR MARKET INEQUALITY

2.1. A Micro Approach to the Analysis of the Immigrant Labour Market Situation

Integration of immigrants into the labour market is one of the central issues in migration research, as it largely determines the economic impact of immigrants on the receiving country, as well as the social integration of immigrants and their offspring. Whether immigrants soon become economically integrated or whether long-term ethnic stratification emerges has serious consequences for both the immigrants and the receiving society.

Labour markets represent arenas in which workers exchange their labour in return for wages, status and other benefits (Kalleberg and Søresen, 1979: 351). Micro-sociological and micro-economic two-sided search and matching models can serve as a conceptual framework for explaining differences in the labour market for immigrants as compared to native-born workers. These models describe outcomes of the allocation process, which represents the interplay of opportunity structures determined by employers' preferences and job resources on the one hand and job seekers' preferences and personal resources, which determine their choice of opportunities, on the other (Coleman, 1991; Kalleberg and Søresen, 1979; Søresen and Kalleberg, 1981; Logan, 1996). The underlying process can then be understood as matching (the requirements of) jobs to (the characteristics of) individuals, with employers and job seekers being the two types of actors involved in this process (see Figure 2.1). Both are assumed to be rational, to aim at maximising their utility levels, that is at looking for the optimal solution from their own point of view.

2.1.1. HUMAN CAPITAL AND MIGRATION

Following basic economic principles, an employer, given the characteristics of a job vacancy, seeks to recruit the most productive and the least costly applicant. What matters for the employer is a job applicant's potential performance, including his or her adaptability and trainability. Faced with a pool of applicants, the employer presumably ranks job candidates in a queue, while an individual's position in the queue is determined not by his/her absolute level of productivity (in fact actual productivity is unobservable), but rather by his/her rank in relation to other candidates according to characteristics perceived as relevant by employers, characteristics that might serve as proxies for expected productivity (Thurow, 1975, 1978; Søresen and Kalleberg, 1981). These will certainly include





Figure 2.1. Job allocation process, illustration

direct indicators of workers' skills, such as education and training, which, according to the human capital model, represent investments that increase productivity⁷ (Becker, 1962, 1964; Mincer, 1958). The most obvious factor that might thus account for immigrants' lower position in the queue, and for their labour market disadvantages in a broader sense, is their lack of human capital resources, which may be attributed to several factors.

Firstly, due to differences in the level of educational opportunity in various countries, in particular disparities between western industrialised countries (as host societies) and third-world countries (as sending societies), immigrants, and above all those coming from the third world, might offer lower average educational qualifications than those of the native-born population. Normally, however, people voluntarily emigrating from a particular country are not a random sample drawn from the population, but rather a select group. Chiswick's (1978) explanation for the exceptional success of immigrants arriving in the USA in the 1950s-1960s is, in fact, based on their positive self-selection. Economic immigrants, Chiswick maintains, represent the more ambitious, motivated, risk-taking, and able elements in their source countries. This is so because only persons with such characteristics are willing to take the risky and (at least initially) costly step of migrating. Chiswick's (1978) self-selection argument has, however, been theoretically and empirically challenged by Borjas (e.g. 1987, 1990, 1994a), who has argued that immigrants' selectivity in both observed and unobserved traits is not always positive, but rather depends upon the relative returns on skills in source and destination countries. Positive selection for skills, i.e. selection from the upper tail of the home country's income distribution, is expected of immigrants from relatively egalitarian countries, i.e. those in which income is less dispersed (e.g. Sweden), to more unequal countries, i.e. the ones with more dispersed income (e.g. the US), where highly skilled immigrants can enjoy greater returns on their skills. By contrast, negative selection of immigrants, i.e. those that hearken from the lower levels of income distribution, is expected from relatively unequal to more equal countries, where the (welfare) state protects the less skilled. Selection also appears to vary with respect to the type of migration, with economic migrants being more favourably self-selected on the basis of higher intrinsic abilities and economic motivation, and tied movers or refugees less so (Chiswick, 2000).

⁷ Questioning the human capital theory's assumption of the link between education and productivity, some scholars argue that education serves as a screening device (Arrow, 1972) or a signal (Spence, 1973) that is connected to ability rather than productivity.

Secondly, some aspects of human capital, particularly language skills and cultural knowledge, are country specific, i.e. they are more relevant and productive in some societal contexts than in others (Borjas, 1994a; Esser, 1999). The act of migration makes these aspects irrelevant and leads to a certain devaluation of human capital (Chiswick, 1978, 1991; Friedberg, 2000). With the passage of time in the host country differences in human capital between the native-born population and immigrants should narrow as immigrants learn the host country language, gain knowledge about the functioning of the host country labour market and acquire local education and training (Chiswick, 1978). However, the more dissimilar the institutional structures in the source and the host countries are – and the shorter the stay – the less the expected degree of assimilation (Borjas, 1994a).

The third point to be mentioned here is that the trend towards assimilation might be disrupted by immigrants' reluctance to invest in the human capital specific to the host country, including the host country's language. One of the reasons for this reluctance is that immigrants often consider their stay in the host country as temporary, and, reasonably, refuse to make investments that are not certain to pay off (Bonacich, 1972; Heath and Ridge, 1983; England, 1992; Chiswick, 2000; Dustmann, 2000). Moreover, anticipating immigrants' temporary presence, employers might also be hesitant to invest in their education or to offer on-the-job training, since such investments might be lost if immigrants return to their home countries (Offe and Hinrichs, 1977).

2.1.2. DISCRIMINATION

It is commonly reported that immigrants are still disadvantaged after controlling for human capital and even after adjusting for host-country characteristics. The most frequently mentioned explanation is that immigrants are preferred less by the employers, or, in other words, they face some form of discrimination in the labour market.

How might this be explained? The neo-classical economic approach postulates that discrimination will not arise in perfectly competitive markets, implying that some degree of market failure or imperfection is a necessary condition for the existence of discriminatory behaviour (Becker, 1971; Arrow, 1973). Several prominent explanations may be relevant to this issue, such as theories of *monopsonistic discrimination* (Madden, 1973), the concepts of *error* (England, 1992) and *statistical discrimination*⁸ (Phelps, 1972; Arrow, 1972; Aigner and Cain, 1977) and Becker's (1971) theory of *taste discrimination*.

Theories of monopsonistic discrimination assume a lack of competition for labour on the demand side (Madden, 1973). Then, as Madden (1973) argues, it might be rational for a monopsonistic firm to pay different wages to workers belonging to distinct groups if these groups show different elasticity of supply and can be clearly distinguished, as

⁸ Both may be referred to as informational discrimination (Lundberg and Startz, 1983).

in the case of distinct ethnic minorities. The arguments hold true not only for monopsonies in a narrower sense, but also if mobility (and not only spatial mobility) barriers for labour exist. Alternatively, the error discrimination approach assumes that, due to a lack of full information, false beliefs are imputed about the 'true' productivity of workers (e.g. England, 1992: 60). Thus, in a way, immigrants are victims of employers' uncertainty over information relating to true productivity (Cain, 1976). Like error discrimination, a statistical discrimination approach assumes that employers do not have full information on the productivity of potential workers, thus using information about the group instead (Phelps, 1972; Arrow, 1972; Aigner and Cain, 1977). Finally, Becker (1971) introduces the notion of personal preferences or, in his words, 'tastes for discrimination'. He shows that such tastes, be they on the side of employers, employees or customers, will result in effective market discrimination. While wage discrimination due to monopolistic structures might be a plausible explanation, it has been argued that taste discrimination and informational discrimination are unlikely to persist (in the long run) in competitive markets (e.g. Arrow, 1972, 1998; Kleber, 1988).

Alongside hidden⁹ discrimination, endemic or institutional discrimination is mentioned by some scholars (e.g. Williams, 1985; Reitz, 1998; Gomolla and Radtke, 2000). Examples of the latter could be non-recognition of foreign educational or vocational credentials when these actually provide a valid indication of professional knowledge and ability; or institutionalised exclusion of immigrants from certain job positions, e.g. public sector jobs (*Beamtestelle*) in Germany and Austria.

2.1.3. ETHNIC OR IMMIGRANT PENALTY

Discrimination exists only when equally productive workers do not receive equal job rewards (Kalleberg and Søresen, 1979: 369). While experimental studies can directly uncover differential treatment (e.g. Zegers de Beijl, 2000), it is practically impossible to *prove* the existence of discrimination when working with standardised survey data. In such studies the existence of employer discrimination is normally inferred from the fact that immigrant status has an effect on labour market success that is independent of other relevant variables, above all human capital characteristics. A well-known problem with this method of detecting discrimination is that it is impossible to control for all relevant variables. It has therefore been suggested we speak of ethnic or immigrant penalties, which implies that the residual effect of ethnic or immigrant group membership may also result from sources other than discriminatory treatment by employers.

Indeed, according to the search and matching model, in labour markets with imperfect information, success (given human capital resources) is dependent not only upon treatment by potential employers, but also upon the search behaviour of the employee. Heath and Ridge (1983) suggest, for example, that immigrants might choose to make

⁹ For more on economic theories of discrimination see Marshall (1974), Kalter (2003).

different use of opportunities and pursue diverse investment strategies in the host country labour market than do the native-born - which is reminiscent of non-investment in human capital specific to the host-country. If they expect to return to their home countries immigrants might opt for jobs with immediate monetary returns even if these are low-status jobs¹⁰ (see also Dustmann, 2000).

This can be modelled in terms of economic search theory (Stigler, 1961; McCall, 1970; Devine and Kiefer, 1991; Mortensen and Pissarides, 1999), according to which the search for a vacancy implies costs (C) on the one hand and uncertainty about whether the search will be successful (p) on the other. The prospective employee stops searching as soon as the utility (U) of a given alternative exceeds a certain threshold, a reservation wage.¹¹ Such a model would imply three consequences with respect to the search behaviour of immigrants: firstly, immigrants would presumably have higher search costs, C, as they often lack specific knowledge and specific social capital with respect to the labour market of the host society (Lundberg and Startz, 1998; Montgomery, 1990); or they may simply have fewer financial resources to sustain them while unemployed (Cain, 1976). Secondly, immigrants may fear discrimination in the labour market (even if it does not actually exist), resulting in a lower subjective probability, p, of being successful in finding an alternative. Third, as is the case in the reluctance-to-invest argument, the utility of further search (and thus the reservation wage) may be lower due to the job seeker's temporary orientation.¹² Each argument leads to a decrease of the threshold determining further search. In other words, immigrants stop searching for better alternatives sooner than indigenous job seekers.

Basing their argumentation on this model, Kalter and Kogan (2003) demonstrate that the job search behaviour of immigrants indeed differs from that of the native-born in countries with severe job search costs. Immigrants tend to abandon the search for higher-status employment earlier and instead aim at low-status jobs. And it is not only immigrants who are ready to accept low-status employment. Employers are prepared to admit non-citizen workers to certain sectors of the economy – especially sectors characterised by low wages

¹⁰ For temporary immigrants, long-term investments, either in country-specific human capital or in a search for higher status jobs, might not pay off.

¹¹ This can be represented succinctly with the following model. The expected utility of a potential job alternative is given by U_A , the utility of the status quo by U_{SO} . If the search for the job alternative includes costs C, and the subjective probability of finding such an alternative is given by p, then the utility of search is given by:

 $U_{search} = pU_A + (1-p)U_{SQ} - C$, while the utility of discontinuing further search is: $U_{\neg search} = U_{SQ}$. The search is assumed to continue as long as $U_{search} > U_{\neg search}$, which for $p \neq 0$ is equivalent to $U_{SQ} < 0$ $U_A - C/p$

The term $U_A - C/p$ may be interpreted as the threshold or 'reservation wage'; it resembles the utility level of the status quo, which is sufficient for the job seeker to stop further activities. The lower the expected gains from potential alternatives and the subjective expected probability of finding such an alternative, and the higher the search costs, the sooner the process of the job search is stopped.

¹² In the model outlined in the previous footnote this would result in a lower value for U_A as the time horizon for the benefits of further search activities to be realised is reduced.

and prestige, seasonal or intermittent work, unpleasant or dangerous working conditions – despite the availability (even abundance) of the unemployed native-born (Brubaker, 1989; Morris, 1997; Portes and Stepick, 1985). Explanations for this phenomenon may be found in the dual labour market theory summarised in the following section.

2.1.4. LABOUR MARKET DUALISM

Unlike neoclassical economics (Becker, 1971), which assumes that all workers, be they native-born or immigrant, compete in a single, uniform labour market, institutional economics (including dual labour market theory) bases its argument on the non-uniformity or segmentation of the labour market. The dual labour market theory (Piore, 1971, 1979; Doeringer and Piore, 1971) covers the following issues in particular: (1) why unstable and low productivity jobs exist in advanced economies; (2) why local workers shun such jobs; (3) why local workers' reluctance to occupy unattractive jobs cannot be solved through standard market mechanisms, e.g. by raising wages attached to such jobs; (4) why foreign workers from low-income countries are willing to accept such jobs; (5) and why such structural labour demand can no longer be filled as before by women and teenagers. The argument is as follows.

In advanced economies there are unstable jobs due to the division of the economy into a capital-intensive primary sector and a labour-intensive, low productivity sector, which gives rise to a segmented labour market.¹³ Massey et al. (1993) describe the problem as structural and unavoidable since the bottom cannot be eliminated from the labour market. Any attempt at ridding the system of its lowest and least desirable category of jobs will create a new bottom layer composed of jobs that used to be above the bottom. Since all hierarchies must have a bottom, motivation problems are also bound to happen at the low-level jobs, because these confer low-status and prestige while promising scant upward mobility. As people generally work not only for income, but also in order to maintain their social status, reluctance to occupy unattractive jobs by local workers is explainable.

Attracting workers to unskilled jobs at the bottom of the occupational hierarchy cannot be solved through market mechanisms, e.g. by raising wages. It is indisputable that wages reflect not only the conditions of supply and demand but also social status, and a variety of institutional mechanisms ensure the correspondence of wages to the hierarchies of status and prestige perceived in society. Hence, raising salaries at the bottom of the labour market would upset the socially defined relationship between status and remuneration,

¹³ Doeringer and Piore (1971) also introduce the notion of the internal (vs. external) labour market, referring to the set of rules and institutions that govern the allocation and pricing of labour within a firm rather than to the quality of jobs in general, as is assumed in the dual labour market theory. For the sake of simplicity, and since labour market segmentation *per se* is not the main focus of this book, the dual labour market theory is addressed in general without discussing different approaches within segmented labour markets theory (for more see Sengenberger, 1978, 1987; Szydlik, 1990; Kreimer, 1999; Granato, 2003).

and in turn require a proportional raising of wages at other echelons, in order to preserve the occupational hierarchy. This would ultimately cause structural inflation. During times of labour scarcity, attracting native workers by raising entry-level wages is thus not only expensive but also economically disrupting, which provides employers with a strong incentive to seek easier and cheaper solutions.

In the past, women and teenagers helped fill low-status jobs. However, in contemporary post-industrial societies the female workforce has exchanged much of its secondary status and dependent nature in favour of autonomy and career-orientation. The decline in birth rates and longer formal education have also resulted in fewer teenagers entering the labour force. Hence, the imbalance between the structural demand for entry-level workers and the limited domestic supply increases demand for immigrants.

Foreign workers from lower-income countries often arrive with short-term goals, seeking money specifically to improve their status and well-being at home, and caring little about their status in the receiving society – with which they barely identify. The low wages they are offered in host countries are indisputably attractive when compared with those offered at home. But what happens when immigrants lengthen their stay and shift from temporary to permanent settlement? Piore (1979) predicts that immigrant workers might start encroaching on jobs normally held by the native-born once they relocate their social identities from the source to the destination country, are joined by dependents, become more concerned with job status and security, and become less inclined to accept secondary sector jobs.

In sum, the inherent dualism between labour and capital¹⁴ creates two distinct labour market segments: capital-intensive or primary, and labour-intensive or secondary. The internal market in the primary sector does not function along purely profit-maximising lines; instead, institutional rules intervene in market processes (Cain, 1976; Taubman and Wachter, 1986; Granato, 2003). Workers in the capital-intensive primary sector get stable, skilled jobs, and work with the best equipment and tools. To increase productivity, employers have to invest in these workers and provide them with special training. Their jobs are complicated and require considerable knowledge and experience.¹⁵ Primary-sector workers tend to be unionised, and employers bear a substantial share of the costs in case of their dismissal. All of this makes them expensive capital, so to speak.

In the labour-intensive secondary sector workers hold rather unstable and unskilled jobs, and they may be laid off at any time with little or no cost to the employer. These are

¹⁴ In the capitalist economy capital is a fixed factor of production, while labour is a variable one and can be released when demand falls.

¹⁵ By investing in its labour force, firms introduce an element of capital, with its fixed costs, in the use of labour (Oi, 1962).

jobs characterised by low wages, irregular working hours, bad working conditions and little prospect of mobility. Native workers shun these jobs, being drawn to the primary, capital-intensive sector with its higher wages, greater security and the possibility of occupational upgrades. To fill the void, employers turn to immigrants (Molle and Zandvlt, 1994; Castles and Miller, 1998; Veiga, 1999; Malheiros, 1999; Stalker, 2000; Wilson and Portes, 2001).

2.1.5. INSIDER-OUTSIDER CLEAVAGE

The duality of the labour market is also addressed in the insider-outsider theory (Lindbeck and Snower, 1988), according to which workers are divided into three groups on the basis of turnover costs: (1) the 'insiders', experienced incumbent employees, whose positions are protected by significant labour turnover costs; (2) the 'entrants', who have recently acquired jobs with a future prospect of gaining insider status, but whose current positions are not associated with significant turnover costs; and (3) the 'outsiders', who have no protection and are either unemployed or work at jobs in the informal sector, which offer little if any security.

According to the dual labour market theory, turnover costs are high in the primary sector, wage contracts are generally covered by job security legislation, wage bargaining is frequently institutionalised, and incumbent employees have significant market power as a consequence. In the secondary sector, turnover costs are low, wages tend to be set through informal agreements, and workers have little (if any) market power. As positions of employees in the secondary sector are not protected by turnover costs, both their wages and rates of retention are likely to be lower than those of primary sector insiders. Hence, employment in the secondary sector is more variable than in the primary sector over the course of ordinary business cycles, while the position of insiders in the primary sector is quite stable even during economic recession. Reconsidering the terminology of the insider–outsider theory in the light of the dual labour market theory, incumbent employees in the primary sector constitute 'insiders', whereas 'outsiders' are either employees in the secondary sector or the unemployed.

According to Lindbeck and Snower (1988), the insider–outsider theory elucidates comparatively high unemployment rates among various minority groups, including immigrants. Immigrants recruited for unskilled and low-skilled jobs in the majority of industrialised European countries up until the early 1970s (see Section 3.1.3) were deliberately slotted into the secondary labour market, which has since undergone economic restructuring and become more vulnerable during recession. The preference of more recently arrived immigrants for temporary employment, combined with limited information about job opportunities in the host country and/or employers' differential treatment at higher-status employment entry points, reinforce their likelihood of accepting temporary, flexible, lowstatus, 'outsider' jobs. Hence, higher unemployment rates among immigrants compared to the native-born can be explained by peculiarities in their industrial and occupational

allocation and might actually be related to higher job turnover in the labour market sector where immigrants or members of other underprivileged groups are over-represented (Barett and Morgenstern, 1974; Cain, 1976; Szydlik, 1990).

Once placed in the secondary labour market sector, immigrants and other disadvantaged groups find it difficult to remedy their outsider status even after a long period of residence in the host country. One reason for this is the comparative instability of their work records, including more frequent and prolonged unemployment spells, a trait generally pronounced among those employed in the secondary labour market (Vishwanath, 1989; Blanchard and Diamond, 1994). Another reason is that secondary market workers have reduced access, if any, to generalised or specific on-the-job training. Thus, they are unable to improve their human capital to provide a boost in the ranking queue when applying for a new job¹⁶ (Flanagan, 1973; Cain, 1976; Wallace and Kalleberg, 1981). Persistent negative effects or scars associated with employment in the secondary labour market cement the lack of mobility between primary and secondary sectors and leave immigrants in the end with no choice other than to remain permanent labour market outsiders (Taubman and Wachter, 1986).

2.2. The Link Between a Country's Institutional Arrangements and the Immigrant-Job Allocation Process

The study presented in the book claims that matching of immigrants to jobs and the observed outcomes of the match will differ across European countries, as these vary with respect to institutional arrangements that shape resources and influence the decision-making of the two main actors in the process: immigrant job seekers and employers.

Immigrant selection and self-selection with respect to human capital resources are parts of a complex process, in which host country immigration policies might play a central role (Borjas, 1994a; Reitz, 1998). The selection of immigrants on the basis of human capital or competencies that are in demand in the receiving society can be explicitly stipulated by host country immigration policies, as exemplified by Canada and Australia from the 1970s onwards (Reitz, 1998).¹⁷ The selection can also be more implicit, as in the case of Western European countries that practised foreign worker recruitment in the 1950–60s (see Section 3.1.3). Furthermore, structural, cultural and linguistic proximity

¹⁶ Instead they actually become 'de-skilled' and unsuited to work in the primary sector, as Taubman and Wachter (1986) claim.

¹⁷ In the 1970s both countries introduced a so-called point system, which aims to assess the applicant's skills and potential labour market performance against what are perceived to be economic needs (DeRosa, 1995; Reitz, 1998). The desirability of each applicant is calculated on a sliding scale which measures short- and long-term prospects for successful immigration. Points are awarded on the basis of job-related qualifications, such as English or French (in Canada) language proficiency, education, employment experience and age – as well as the perceived labour needs in the country and the region where the would-be immigrant wishes to settle (Reimers and Troper, 1992; Bloom and Gunderson, 1990).

of sending countries and host countries might influence the transportability of the human capital brought by immigrants as well as its signalling power for prospective employers. Finally, the degree to which immigrants invest in human capital relevant to the host country, along with their job search preferences, are shown to be largely dependent upon the perceptions among immigrants and employers alike regarding the legal status of the immigrant population and the temporariness of their presence, both related to a country's immigration policies and reception contexts.¹⁸

Search costs is another factor influencing immigrant job search intensity in the host country. On the one hand, these are related to existing social networks, which probably would be scarcer for newly arrived immigrants, especially in countries with a recent history of mass immigration. On the other hand, the availability of financial resources certainly plays a role in sustaining a search for gainful employment. If welfare systems in a given country discriminate against particular immigrant groups (e.g. recent immigrants, immigrants without host country citizenship or particular legal status), depriving them of the basic financial resources necessary to sustain a job search (on a parity with the native-born), while in other countries immigrants are entitled to welfare benefits similar to those of the native-born irrespective of their status or length of stay, this might result in distinctly diverse labour market outcomes for the immigrant population. In countries where immigrants are disproportionally deprived of welfare benefits they might be forced immediately to enter employment despite mismatching qualifications. In short, decreased welfare support reduces immigrants' ability to sustain a job search, consequently reducing the job acceptance threshold and forcing immigrant workers toward the secondary labour market (Marshall, 1974). The outcome may be a lower unemployment rate overall but at the same time lower occupational status for the immigrant population. In countries where immigrants can draw upon more extensive financial support when searching for employment, they will rationally focus upon obtaining employment that better fits their qualifications – even if at any given point in time they may be over-represented among the unemployed.

How can the behaviour and preferences of employers with regard to immigrant job seekers on the one hand, and job resources on the other hand, be influenced by a country's institutional arrangements? And which are of particular relevance to the matching process outlined in Section 2.1?

The degree of labour market flexibility in a given country might influence employers' decision-making when hiring workers – including immigrants – since in highly protected labour markets employers are faced with potentially higher dismissal costs. Research suggests that the response of employers in labour markets with higher firing costs is

¹⁸ Another aspect is worth mentioning in this respect. Employers interested in permanent workers may adopt discriminatory employment policies, hiring only those workers who possess characteristics associated with long employment tenure (Oi, 1962). Immigrants without permanent resident status thus may not qualify for more stable jobs.

EXPLAINING IMMIGRANT LABOUR MARKET INEQUALITY

the setting of higher productivity reservations for potential employees (Blau and Kahn, 1999; Bertola, 1999; Gangl, 2003; Giesecke and Groß, 2003). This is reflected in a shift away from the trial-and-error strategy, by which new employees are screened during an initial stage of the newly formed match after already establishing a formal employment relationship; in case of unsatisfactory results the worker is dismissed. Instead, rational employers will prefer strategies where intense screening of applicants occurs before the formal hiring, as the hiring threshold is quite high. Uncertainty about an applicant's actual productivity will push employers to look for observable and clear signals of appropriate skills in order to reduce the risk of a bad match. Along with indicators of productivity, like education or training, ascriptive characteristics, like gender or immigrant status, become signals employers are forced to look at more closely. In a way, when the necessity of the 'perfect' match is so acute, there might be a higher risk that statistical or error discrimination practices intervene in the screening process, causing employers to appear to be more readily acting on their prejudices (Model, 2005).¹⁹ As a result, given the constraints of strict labour market protection legislation, employers' 'favouritism' of native-born workers (as opposed to immigrants) appears to be quite rational. Expected outcomes of severe labour market regulation are potential aggravation of immigrants' outsider status and the institutionalisation of their segmentation in the secondary labour market.

At the lower end of the occupational hierarchy, with its low-skilled, low-paid, unstable jobs, often shunned by the native-born, hiring operates more along profit-maximisation lines, even in countries with otherwise strict labour market regulation. For immigrant employees this means more equal treatment at the entry point with less or even no discrimination, but often at the price of discounted human capital (Cain, 1976). Thus, in countries with stronger demand for unskilled or low-skilled, secondary labour market jobs, immigrants, particularly recent ones, will have better job opportunities, so that overall immigrant employment disadvantage should be smaller.

In summary, the basic components in the general explanatory model for the existence of immigrant labour market disadvantage, summarised in Section 2.1, are influenced by the institutional characteristics of host societies, and hence may vary across the countries (see Figure 2.2). Selection of immigrants with respect to human capital is to a certain degree an artefact of a country's immigration policy, while the modes of immigrant labour market allocation depend largely, in addition to immigration policies, upon labour market structures and regulations in receiving countries as well as upon the nature of the welfare regime. The following section outlines the contextual framework of the institutional approach to the analysis of immigrant labour markets and discusses what institutional characteristics of the receiving societies researchers see as potentially facilitating or hindering immigrant labour market incorporation processes.

¹⁹ Model (2005) does not, however, find empirical proof for her quite similar hypothesis when comparing the UK and the US, two countries with comparably unrestrictive regulations.





Figure 2.2. Influence of institutions on the job allocation process of immigrants, illustration

2.3. Institutional Approach to the Analysis of Immigrant Labour Markets

2.3.1. RATIONALE

Until now the great majority of studies dealing with immigrant labour markets are single-country studies, attempting to assess individual determinants of the inclusion in the labour market of immigrants coming from different source countries into one host society.²⁰ As sending societies change and immigrant destinations expand to include an increasing number of nations, it seems relevant to explore whether patterns of immigrant reception and incorporation into the labour market differ in various host countries, and to identify the structural determinants of immigrant success and how institutional features of host societies intervene in the basic mechanism of immigrant labour market allocation. Increased scholarly attention and scrutiny has lately been directed towards the fact that immigrant inclusion in the labour market is influenced not only by the characteristics of immigrants themselves but also by basic features of the adopted societies (Cheng, 1994; Reitz, 1998; Reitz et al., 1999; Model et al., 1999; Blos et al., 1997; Lewin-Epstein et al., 2003). Emphasising the institutional determinants of immigrants' standing clearly does not mean we ignore immigrants' individual characteristics. Their level of education and qualifications, for example, their knowledge of the host country language, financial resources and existing networks – all these have a major impact upon their position within the host society. Without disregarding such important differences in the characteristics of

²⁰ E.g. for European research: Fassmann et al., 1999; Fassmann and Münz, 1994; Neels, 2000; Neels and Stoop, 2000; Vourc'h et al., 1999; Granato and Kalter, 2001; Kalter and Granato, 2002; Gras and Bovenkerk, 1999; Tesser and Dronkers, 2002; Bevelander, 1999; Ekberg, 1990; Heath and McMahon, 2000; Model, 1999; Campani and Carchedi, 1999; Cachón, 1999; Reyneri, 2001.

the immigrants themselves, the institutional approach shifts the focus on the position of immigrants to the macro level (e.g. countries, cities).

Those few empirical studies that assess the role host countries' institutions play in the economic integration of immigrants appear to have a number of shortcomings, not least due to data limitations. Firstly, such studies as a rule contain quite a small number of macro-cases (normally only two or three countries), giving rise to the so-called 'small N problem' (Lieberson, 1991; Goldthorpe, 1997; King et al., 1994). This means that the number of macro-cases is too small relative to the number of explanatory macro-level variables, which makes testing competing theories difficult. The second problem of the studies comparing immigrant fortunes across destinations is that macro-level variables are usually not even formally included in the statistical modelling. Rather, differences in immigrant fortunes observed across countries are interpreted in terms of institutional differences between the countries. Such an approach hardly allows for distinguishing between the effects of single institutional or structural factors, but it does elucidate the influence of institutional packages.

Without denying the merit of existing research, the study presented in this book attempts to offer an advantage by overcoming both of the above problems. Firstly, it expands the discussion of the role played by the institutional characteristics of host societies in immigrant economic integration by examining the labour markets of immigrants in all European Union countries (not just two or three). Secondly, the proper names of countries are replaced here by the values of theoretically relevant macro-level variables. In such a way the study seeks to explain the variation or, alternatively, to relate the similarities in the processes and outcomes of immigrant labour markets to differences in the social structures of the European societies, which might influence immigrant incorporation.

2.3.2. INSTITUTIONS RELEVANT TO THE INCORPORATION OF IMMIGRANTS IN THE LABOUR MARKET

What are the structural characteristics of host societies that are of potential importance for the economic success or failure of immigrants? Previous studies that offered a framework for cross-national research (though without formally establishing a clear micro-macro link,²¹ as suggested in Section 2.2) have pointed to the significance of immigration policy (Borjas, 1990, 1993) or labour market structures and regulations (Piore, 1979; Castles and Kosack, 1985; Sassen, 1988, 1991) – two factors central to the incorporation of immigrants in the labour market. However, these studies stress the significance of each factor by itself without pursuing the possible connections between them. Portes and his colleagues (Portes and Manning, 1986; Portes and Böröcz, 1989;

²¹ Indeed, most macro studies are merely descriptive and hardly explain why macro differences should be observed.

Portes and Rumbaut, 2001) point to three factors critical to the economic incorporation of immigrants, namely government policy, labour market demand and pre-existing ethnic community characteristics. Most importantly, the interaction between these factors is seen as crucial for channelling newcomers' economic success. In his comparative study of immigrants in the United States, Canada and Australia, Reitz (1998) identifies four institutional components of particular importance for immigrants: (1) immigration policy and regulations, (2) labour market structure and practices, (3) educational system, and (4) welfare regime. Furthermore, he stresses that the institutional settings themselves are both autonomous and interdependent, thus requiring an integrated evaluation of the institutional embeddedness of immigration. In his later work Reitz (2002, 2003) modifies the list of features of the host society potentially responsible for the successful integration of immigrants, again stressing the importance of their intersection. He points to the following dimensions: (1) pre-existing ethnic or race relations within the host population,²² (2) differences in labour markets and related institutions, (3) the impact of government policies and programs, i.e. immigration policy, policies for immigrant integration and policies for the regulation of social institutions, and (4) the changing nature of international boundaries as a part of the process of globalisation.²³ Finally, Freeman and Ögelman (2000) mention the following three institutions, in the order of their significance to immigrants' economic behaviour: laws and policies governing immigration, market and welfare. These are seen as the components of a regulatory regime, a legal framework within which immigrants and nationals make their labour market choices.

It is not surprising that those structural features of host societies that potentially influence immigrant economic incorporation, as mentioned by various scholars dealing with the institutional embeddedness of immigrant labour, largely overlap. This book will focus upon three institutional components that seem to intervene in the basic mechanism of immigrant labour market inclusion (see Section 2.2). These are immigration policy, labour market structure and regulations, and the welfare system.

National *immigration policy* serves the purpose of regulating access to residency by controlling the numbers and characteristics of immigrants that suit particular economic needs or fill political, social or other obligations. It is an obvious starting point for any cross-national analysis dealing with immigrant incorporation. Pre-existing ethnic

²² Reitz (2003) sees pre-existing ethnic attitudes, inter-group boundaries and hierarchies as a social framework within which integration processes occur. These 'give rise to formal and informal institutional arrangements, including laws, organizational policies and practices, interest groups, and popular culture, all of which may affect the opportunities available to newcomers and the constraints they face' (Reitz, 2003: 3).

²³ By the fourth component, Reitz (2002, 2003) means the place of a host society among the nations in terms of geographical, political, economic and social aspects, which might influence immigration inflow and immigrant settlement. These aspects, although important for explaining immigrant inflows, are probably less central when examining immigrants' labour market situations, and particularly when it comes to the European Union member states as receiving countries, which share similar positions in the globalised world.

attitudes, national boundaries and hierarchies and even a wider national doctrine²⁴ find their reflection in immigration policy. It certainly might influence attitudes towards immigrants and give rise to formal and informal institutional arrangements (i.e. laws, organisational policies and popular culture) which all affect the opportunities available to newcomers and determine their constraints (Reitz, 2002, 2003). Immigration policies explicitly or implicitly stipulate the selection of immigrants, particularly with respect to human capital, and channel the way this capital is utilised.

However, although they may wish to, immigration policy makers cannot always control immigrants' skill levels (Reitz, 1998, 2003) – especially since immigrants have family ties and social networks that affect their selection (Massey et al., 1993). Immigrant reception is also potentially affected by other government policies, which are sometimes only indirectly related to the immigration policy. Among various policy options named by Reitz (2003), two seem particularly relevant: programs aimed at assisting immigrant settlement and integration (e.g. language courses or professional retraining); and policies aimed at the regulation of inter-group relations (e.g. anti-discrimination laws, or equal rights provisions in employment, housing and other spheres of society).

Labour market structure and regulation can by no means be ignored when analysing the economic situation of immigrants. This is so largely because immigrants, and particularly those who belong to ethnic minority groups, often undergo the process of segmented assimilation (Zhou, 1999): among other things they are concentrated in labour market segments characterised by poor working conditions, unconventional hours, lack of formal protection and low pay. European countries differ with respect to the size of these segments. They also differ in their employment structures and labour market regulations that most affect immigrants' chances of entering higher-status employment. These labour market dimensions might have both independent and joint impacts on the employment success or otherwise of immigrants and on the nature of jobs held by newcomers. Furthermore, labour markets are interrelated with other institutions of society, including immigration policy and the welfare state, so that the comparative analyses must expand to consider the impact of these related institutions (Reitz, 2003: 8).

Labour markets and their regulation, together with welfare provisions, form the basis of *welfare regimes* (Esping-Andersen, 1990). Welfare regimes are intended to adjust labour market outcomes for immigrants (and the native-born) via social services and assistance, income redistribution and employment protection. As a vulnerable part of a host society, immigrants might be particularly dependent upon welfare provisions; and since European countries have differing welfare state regulations and employment protection legislation,

²⁴ In fact, pre-existing ethnic or race relations within the host population, a component mentioned by Reitz as a separate dimension of particular importance for immigrant economic incorporation, might be largely included under the rubric of immigration policies. By focusing solely on European countries the variation in pre-existing ethnic or race relations is minimised, since no EU country is a classical immigration society; and each (with some modifications) was founded upon the principles of ethnic nationalism (Breton, 1988).

these might offer some explanation for the observed variation in the labour market for the immigrant population.

The role played by each of the three institutional factors – immigration policy, labour market structure and regulations, and the welfare regime – with respect to the labour market for immigrants in Europe is explored more fully in the subsequent sections. Attention is given to the possible influence of each structural feature upon two aspects of labour market allocation: unemployment risk and the status of immigrants' jobs. These two labour market outcomes, also examined later in the empirical analyses, proved to be of particular relevance when examining the labour market incorporation of immigrants in Europe.

CHAPTER 3. IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND IMMIGRANT SELECTIVITY IN EUROPE

This chapter examines cross-national differences in immigration policies with the aim of assessing their potential to explain the differences in labour markets for immigrants in the various EU countries.²⁵ The main objective of the chapter is to throw light on immigration policies: firstly, to summarise the main immigrant inflows in Europe in the second half of the 20th century; and, secondly, to determine the degree of selectivity of immigrants with respect to their socio-demographic characteristics. The chapter also considers the challenge of classifying immigrants within a very broad analysis covering countries differing in immigration and immigrant integration policies as well as newcomer composition.

3.1. Immigration into European Countries after the Second World War

By the end of the 20th century net immigration became a characteristic of almost all industrialised European countries and in particular those which constituted the European Union-15. Since this book focuses on the labour markets for immigrants in the European Union at the end of the 20th century, it is relevant to discuss the major migrant inflows in Europe after the Second World War, as post-war immigrants constitute a part of the labour force in contemporary Europe.

Since the Second World War two periods of immigration in Europe can be roughly distinguished. Until 1973 labour migration into Northern and Western European countries was almost unrestricted; whereas after 1973 the recruitment of foreign workers stopped, but immigration itself continued despite a policy of 'zero immigration' (Jordan and Düvell, 2002). In Southern European countries the first period is characterised by emigration; while later on, and in particular by the end of the 1990s, these countries became immigrant magnets too. Different streams of immigration to Europe after the Second World War are summarised below in more detail based on Angenendt (1999), Münz (1997), Fassmann and Münz (1994), Castels and Miller (1998), and Stalker (2002).

²⁵ A certain degree of generalisation and lack of detail is unavoidable due to the large scale of the analysis (15 EU Member States) and the nature of the analytic approach of the empirical analyses in Chapter 6.

3.1.1. GEO-POLITICAL CHANGES AFTER THE SECOND WORLD WAR

Political changes in Europe, Asia and Africa brought a significant number of immigrants or, more correctly, *repatriates* to Europe. The most significant of these movements was repatriation of expellees and refugees after the Second World War (estimated at about 15 million people), including both the return of the German-speaking civilian population from former German Eastern European territories: from Poland, Czechoslovakia, Hungary, Romania and Yugoslavia, as well as German prisoners of war. Simultaneously, a significant number of Russian, British and American prisoners of war – forced labourers and survivors of the concentration camps – left Germany and territories which had been occupied by Nazi Germany. From the foundation of the German Democratic Republic until 1961, about 3.5 million East Germans fled to the West. Movement in the opposite direction was negligible. Re-settlement of displaced persons and repatriation of expellees and refugees alleviated much of the existing labour shortage in western European countries, which had experienced post-war economic growth (Bloch, 2002).

Furthermore, *decolonisation* caused the return migration of white settlers, officials and soldiers along with their offspring – a sometimes small, but often significant number, as in the case of French colonials in North and West Africa. Settlers returned to the Netherlands from Indonesia in the 1950–60s and from Surinam and the Antilles in the 1970s. In the middle of the 1970s about half a million Portuguese settlers returned from Angola and Mozambique. Great Britain, Belgium and Italy experienced similar inflows.

3.1.2. POST-COLONIAL IMMIGRATION

26

As well as white colonisers, from the late 1960s onwards the local populations of former colonies in South and Southeast Asia, Africa and the Caribbean began entering Great Britain, France, Belgium and the Netherlands – Spain and Portugal later on. The 'push factors' were economic deterioration and political and ethnic conflicts in the newly founded countries of the third world. Among 'pull factors' one of the most important was the growing dependence upon the extra labour force in host countries. In addition, colonialism had conferred a common language, similar educational systems and other institutions upon former subjects. This, and a preference for accepting former colonial subjects, who in some cases were formally recognised as citizens (e.g. British), facilitated immigration. As a result substantial numbers of Indians, Pakistani, Bangladeshi and West Indians (Caribbean) moved to Great Britain, while North and West Africans entered France, and Moluccans and Surinamese immigrated to the Netherlands.

3.1.3. LABOUR MIGRATION

From the 1950s to the 1960s the economic growth in the majority of Western and Northern European countries caused a sharp increase in the demand for additional labour. Some countries found a partial solution in encouraging labour immigration from less developed neighbouring countries – as was the case of the Irish in England and the Finnish in Sweden.
IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND IMMIGRANT SELECTIVITY IN EUROPE 27

However the majority of Western and Northern European countries, even those experiencing an influx of former colonial subjects, e.g. France and the Netherlands, reacted to the growth in labour demand by signing bilateral agreements with Southern European and Mediterranean countries, which allowed the organized recruitment of Italian, Spanish, Portuguese, Greek, and later Turkish, Maghrebian and Yugoslavian workers. As a rule, the idea was to allow foreign workers entry on a temporary basis, and often on a rotational principle, without any obligations concerning their settlement or integration policies aimed at social inclusion. Guest workers' jobs were largely of the unskilled and low-skilled varieties within the manufacturing and construction sectors, with unpleasant working conditions – essentially the type of employment which the native-born refused to accept. One might infer from this that immigrants who arrived to fill these jobs were not necessarily positively selected with respect to human capital characteristics, notably education.

Foreign labour recruitment and uncontrolled inflow from former colonial regions reached its zenith in the early 1970s. By 1973, following the oil price crisis, a sharp decrease in the demand for labour and the beginning of economic restructuring – particularly the expansion of the service sector – such recruitment had stopped in the majority of European countries.

The end of foreign labour recruitment and new barriers for foreign workers minimised transnational fluctuations and there was a growing tendency toward permanent settlement among once 'temporary' workers. Moreover, while young male immigrants dominated the initial influx, their families followed later. Reacting to structural unemployment, former recruiting countries started setting restrictions on the permanent entry of foreign workers. Thus family immigration became one of the few avenues of entering Western European countries and one of the most important channels for permanent immigration into Europe.

Recently temporary labour migration appears to be making a comeback and is found in two forms. Firstly, despite relatively high unemployment in some European countries, there still exists a demand for unskilled, seasonal and temporary labour, which attracts immigrants predominantly to Southern European countries – but also to Western Europe. These, often undocumented immigrants, are commonly employed as temporary workers in agriculture, construction, manufacturing and the service sector. Italy and Spain in particular, both being on Europe's southern border, might well have attracted higher proportions of illegal workers than other countries (Stalker, 2002). However, since illegal immigrants avoid being registered, any estimates of their total number are speculative.²⁶

Secondly, in the 1990s it was the immigration of highly skilled, managerial workers and entrepreneurs that was and still is of growing importance. *The migration of elites*, as it has been named by Münz (1997), includes migration of managers and technicians of international firms, representatives of international organisations, scientists, diplomats,

²⁶ One of the best indicators for the number of illegal immigrants comes from regularisations when a country declares an amnesty for certain categories of illegal migrants.

journalists, sportsmen and artists. As a rule these arrive from other developed countries and are usually recruited by companies before they move, and thus make a move or successive moves from one country to another within the structure of a single transnational company or international organisation. They are often highly qualified specialists, and are almost never objects of hostility from the local population – although they certainly compete with the natives for high-status jobs and are often reluctant to assimilate into host societies. Another recent trend in Europe is the immigration of highly qualified specialists from Asian and Eastern European countries to fill the lack of specialists in hospitals, the biotech industry, and information technologies (Mahroum, 2001; Werner, 2001; Robinson and Carey, 2000).

3.1.4. INFLUX OF REFUGEES AND ASYLUM SEEKERS

The influx of refugees and asylum seekers is a major element of recent migration, which to a certain extent reflects the increased insecurity in many parts of the world. To some degree it is also an attempt on the part of economic migrants to exploit legislative provisions for asylum within countries which would otherwise be reluctant to accept new immigrants, and these countries have thus been tightening immigrant control policies (Jordan and Düvell, 2002). This inflow substantially intensified, beginning in the 1980s and reached a post-war peak in the early 1990s.²⁷ After that the number of asylum seekers fell significantly. The main reason for the decrease in the number of asylum seekers can be tied to EU countries' more restrictive asylum policies, including more stringent visa requirements and greater efficiency in the processing of asylum claims.

This type of immigration already existed in Western European countries from the cold war period onwards when political refugees, especially those fleeing from the communist regimes of Eastern Europe, found sympathy and welcome in the West. Thus about 200,000 Hungarians left their homeland in 1954; similar numbers of Czechs and Slovaks flew to the West after the events of 1968–69; and large numbers of Poles fled in 1980–1981. However, after the fall of the iron curtain in the early 1990s, the numbers of asylum seekers from Central and Eastern Europe rose dramatically. Very often they were not recognised in the West as political refugees in the strict sense of the Hague Convention, but were allowed to stay. This was the case with victims of the wars in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Vojevodina and Kosovo. Confronted with the growing numbers of asylum seekers to stabilise. Moreover, for the most part countries in Central and Eastern Europe are now regarded as safe, so the number of asylum seekers from this region is indeed minimal. The main source regions in the late 1990s were Turkey, former Yugoslavia, Iran, Iraq,

²⁷ The annual asylum seeker inflows in Western Europe increased from 116 000 in 1981 to 695 000 in 1992 (SOPEMI, 1995). Between 1980 and 1995 about 5 million applications for refugee status were submitted in Western Europe (UNHCR, 1995).

Afghanistan, Somalia and Sri-Lanka – all of them suffering conflict likely to create a population in need of protection (Salt and Clarke, 2000).

Asylum seekers are a category of immigrants with very limited rights, both legal and social (Bloch, 2002; Castles and Davidson, 2000). During the period while their asylum claims are processed, they are generally housed in isolated camps; in some countries they are not permitted to work and even where they are allowed to work, the opportunities are very limited (for more on sources of income and work eligibility legislation see Table A.1 in the Appendix). At the conclusion of legal proceedings, which sometimes last for several years, many applicants are refused. However, due to considerable legal and practical obstacles they are not deported home, but remain in the countries where they have been refused asylum illegally or with insecure status.²⁸ Recognised refugees, on the contrary, enjoy the most favourable alien status with full economic and social rights²⁹ and are one of the few groups enjoying integration measures in all EU countries, including language and professional courses, financial support and assistance in finding employment.

Illegality, asylum seeking and labour migration are interconnected phenomena during times of strict border control and tough immigration laws. Some immigrants enter Europe in order to get jobs, even illegally, and after being caught claim asylum since it is the sole means of remaining in wealthy European countries. Once their claims are rejected some join the ranks of illegal immigrants, since for them even illegal and precarious work in Europe is better than returning to home countries torn apart by wars, economic collapse and ecological catastrophes.

3.1.5. EU COUNTRIES AND THE MAIN MIGRATION STREAMS IN THE SECOND HALF OF THE 20TH CENTURY

Table 3.1 maps European Union countries with respect to the main groups of immigrants discussed above. It is evident that several European countries, namely Belgium, France, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom, have experienced immigrant flows from their former colonies and have become attractive destinations for asylum seekers and refugees. Belgium, France and the Netherlands, in addition to the intake of former colonial subjects, had initiated guest worker recruitment programs. Austria, Germany, Denmark, Luxembourg and Sweden, experiencing the demand for labour in the 1950– 1960s, resorted to labour recruitment. Finally the countries which before 1973 were considered purely emigration countries – and indeed supplied labour for more-developed Western and Northern neighbours – by the late 1990s had become countries of net immigration. Immigrants to Southern European countries, Spain, Italy, and Greece, often arrive illegally (Stalker, 2000, 2002) with work aspirations and short-term goals. It is important

²⁸ Some of them try to submit asylum applications in other countries after refusal.

²⁹ Refugees recognised under the Geneva Convention are entitled to work legally, claim welfare benefits, have access to education and are entitled to immediate family reunion with spouses and children.

EU countries	Immigration from former colonies	Guest worker immigration	New immigration countries	Proportion of asylum seekers out of the total of third-country immigrants (average for 1991–1997)
Austria		\checkmark		16.9
Belgium	\checkmark	\checkmark		64.1
Germany				30.9
Denmark				52.9
Spain	\checkmark		\checkmark	68.4
Finland	•			19.9
France	\checkmark	\checkmark	·	44.7
Greece	•	·	\checkmark	19.1
Ireland				14.5
Italy				9.2
Luxembourg		\checkmark	·	14.5
Netherlands	\checkmark			56.5
Portugal		·		15.9
Sweden	•	\checkmark		77.7
UK	\checkmark	·		35.8

 Table 3.1. Countries of the European Union and the main groups of immigrants in the second half of the 20th century

Source: The figures in the last column are calculated based on the numbers published by Eurostat (2000).

to note that a large proportion of immigrants in Spain and Portugal arrive from their former colonies and are fluent in Spanish and Portuguese respectively.

The last column of Table 3.1 shows the proportion (averaged over 1992–1997) of asylumseekers out of the total number of resident third-country immigrants, i.e. immigrants arriving from outside the EU-15 or other industrialised countries (for the exact definition of third-country immigrants see Section 3.2.2). It is evident that the proportion of asylum seekers varies between 9 per cent (in Italy) to about 78 per cent (in Sweden). Countries in which at least half of the third-country immigrant population are asylum seekers by the last decade of the 20th century are Belgium, Denmark, the Netherlands and Sweden. Spain also ranks among countries with a high percentage of asylum seekers according to these calculations, but the reliability of the information is particularly questionable in the case of Spain.³⁰ Indeed, the figures should be treated with caution since Eurostat (the statistical office of the European Union) (2000), which published them, admits that

³⁰ Existing Spanish research suggests that rather than asylum seekers, it is labour-driven migration that dominates entry into Spain (De Prada et al., 2000; Cachón, 1999; Reyneri, 2001; Aparicio and Tornos, 2003). In fact it might be that immigrant labourers, especially those who are illegal, claim asylum once legality of their presence in Spain is questioned.

IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND IMMIGRANT SELECTIVITY IN EUROPE 31

definitions, data availability and comparability of the figures referring to asylum seekers and refugees are problematic. Even though exact figures of asylum seekers may not be absolutely reliable, the general trends in the numbers presented here seem to correspond to other publications (SOPEMI, 2000, 2001).

3.1.6. SUMMARY

One common feature of the migratory movement in the period until 1973 is the predominance of economic motivation on the part of immigrants, employers and governments (Castles and Miller, 1998). Despite the fact that economic motives are largely behind immigration decisions and similarly the timing of immigration, substantial differences exist between the social positioning of immigrants from former colonies and guest workers - the two main types of immigrants in this period. First of all, as a rule, immigrants from former colonies were recognised citizens of the former colonial powers, which guaranteed them certain civil and political rights. In addition they had some preferential entitlement to enter the country and to live there, being treated as permanent immigrants. Guest workers, on the other hand, were non-citizens with significantly restricted rights and their stay was perceived by the host country population and by immigrants themselves (at least at the beginning of the recruitment phase) as temporary. Moreover, as a rule they were selected for vacancies in unskilled and low-skilled jobs, which the native-born population had abandoned. In their economic situation colonial immigrants and guest workers, however, share a number of similarities and above all the trend towards marginalisation, which in effect led to the emergence of distinct ethnic minorities.

After the mid-1970s immigrants from outside the European Union could legally settle in its member countries only on the basis of family reunification or as recognised refugees. That is, humanitarian grounds have become dominant in the acceptance of newcomers, who nevertheless might also have economic motives. The main concern in the EU countries with regard to immigration is to restrict the entry of immigrants from the developing world whose socio-economic and/or political integration they consider problematic. Migratory movement of EU citizens between different member states and the inflow of temporary skilled workers from outside the European Union are other peculiarities of recent immigration. Indeed, the immigrant workforce has become increasingly bipolar, with clustering at the upper and lower ends of the labour market (Castles and Davidson, 2000). In addition, illegal immigration continues to grow, especially in southern European Union countries, which have recently started experiencing substantial immigration pressure.

3.2. Immigrants in the European Union

3.2.1. PROBLEMS OF TYPOLOGY OF IMMIGRANTS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION COUNTRIES

Unlike the classic immigrant societies (the USA, Canada, Australia), where immigrant versus native-born is a common dichotomy, in European Union countries this distinction

is more complicated (Tapinos and Delaunay, 2000). In the official comparative statistics of Eurostat the division is made between nationals or citizens and those without the nationality or citizenship of the host country. In various countries terms for referring to non-nationals/ethnic minorities differ: the UK and the Netherlands prefer the term 'ethnic minorities', while in Germany one is more likely to come across the word 'for-eigner'. 'Immigrants' is a widely used term in France, Sweden and Southern European countries (Rea et al., 1999). This diversity in terminology is to a certain degree a reflection of the variety in immigration histories and policies, integration rationales and the general consensus on the issue of immigration in each particular country. In the end, this makes any comparison complicated, especially a comparison between the 15 EU countries.

In classical immigrant countries the 'immigrant-native-born' dichotomy is normally applied and is justified by the fact that children of immigrants born on the territory of the host country are automatically granted the country's citizenship, i.e. the principle of *jus soli* is at work. In many European countries, however, the principle of *jus sanguinis* is more common – that is, on the one hand, foreigners born on the territory of the host country do not automatically acquire its nationality; whereas, on the other hand, those who can formally prove host country descent are immediately granted citizenship (for more on *jus soli* and *jus sanguinis* see UN, 1998). Recently some European countries, e.g. Belgium, Ireland, the Netherlands, Portugal and the United Kingdom, have eased citizenship acquisition procedures for those born within the country's territory. In other words, they have moved their citizenship acquisition procedures closer to a *jus soli* criterion.

Alongside differences in the automatic acquisition of host country nationality upon birth, EU countries vary in naturalisation criteria and rates. Naturalisation procedures range from extremely liberal (e.g. Sweden and the Netherlands) to highly protectionist (e.g. Germany), as each country sets different requirements: namely, age, residence, knowledge of language, integration into the community, renunciation of former nationality. Other requirements might include good character and conduct (see Table A.2 in the Appendix). Rates of naturalisation are affected not only by legal conditions of eligibility but also by functional, financial and emotional considerations. Indeed, as is evident from Table A.2 in the Appendix, some countries with relatively moderate naturalisation requirements show naturalisation rates that are lower than in countries with tighter citizenship criteria.

It is difficult to choose between classification systems based upon nationality and those based upon country of birth.³¹ No single approach can perfectly describe the variety

³¹ The other alternative might be to base the classification on ethnicity (which is commonly done in the UK); but in very few countries is ethnicity questioned – certainly not in the EULFS, the database used for the principle analysis in this book.

IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND IMMIGRANT SELECTIVITY IN EUROPE 33

of the immigrant, non-national and ethnic minority groups in Europe. Distinguishing newcomers according to the country of birth automatically excludes the so-called second generation, since rarely do any of the national-scale data contain information on the parents' country of birth or ethnic origin. Basing the classification on nationality ignores naturalised immigrants, which is problematic since European countries differ substantially in the number of naturalised immigrants and in the way nationality of the host country is acquired. Meaningful analysis of the second generation is, however, still impossible even when basing the classification upon the nationality principle. The main reason is that when they receive nationality from the host country, second-generation immigrants 'disappear' from official statistical data; and analysing second-generation non-naturalised individuals only introduces a substantial bias. In weighing the pluses and minuses of the two approaches, the country of birth criterion seems to be the more suitable and has been chosen here for analysing the labour markets for immigrant populations in general and also within selected European countries. Wherever possible, and particularly in the descriptive analyses, an attempt has been made to apply both classifications in order to provide deeper insight into the issue.

3.2.2. TYPES OF IMMIGRANTS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION COUNTRIES

Comparing wide groups of immigrant populations is essential for a large-scale analysis of 15 EU countries, not least due to data considerations (see Section 6.2.1). Two broad categories of immigrants in the European Union can be distinguished: those who arrive from other EU countries and those from the rest of the world. Distinguishing EU immigrants as a separate group is indeed meaningful since EU-15 citizens enjoy freedom of movement in the Union and are in principle legally equal to nationals on the national labour markets and with respect to social rights (Kiehl and Werner, 1999). In this book the first group is extended to migrants coming from other countries of Western Europe (e.g. Switzerland, Norway) as well as those from the other industrialised countries, including the USA, Canada, Australia, New Zealand and Japan.³² Though citizens of these countries officially require residence permits when settling in the European Union, their arrival is as a rule due to already acquired occupational or educational positions.³³ Werner (1996) summarises four types of migration within European Union countries, including (1) the movement of highly qualified manpower (specialists, managers, technicians) as a result of the internationalisation and globalisation of companies and the global restructuring process (see also Cheng and Yang, 1998); (2) near-border migration or commuting between the country of residence and the country of employment; (3) temporary exchanges in education, on-the-job training, study or business courses; (4) contracted workers (mainly in construction).³⁴ The problem here is that significant numbers of guest workers who arrived during the 1950s-60s from Southern European countries that only later received

³² This group will sometimes be called EU immigrants for simplicity.

³³ This may not be true for family members of those arriving with settled job offers.

³⁴ Nationals from other industrialised countries seem to follow similar patterns, particularly under rubrics 1 and 3.

freedom of movement within the EU (1968 for Italy, 1987 for Greece, 1993 for Spain and Portugal), are formally included in the same group with other EU nationals. These people might be more socio-demographically comparable to non-EU nationals of the guest-worker immigrant wave (Yugoslavs or Turks, for example).³⁵

The second group of immigrants, so-called third-country immigrants,³⁶ consists of foreigners who arrived in Europe as labour migrants before the economic recession of the 1970s, as well as asylum seekers, refugees, seasonal workers and illegal immigrants from countries other than the EU and those listed above. Often they are accompanied or followed by family members, thus increasing the number of guests who are seen as undesirable by some segments of the native population. Many of them, after residing more than 5–10 years in the EU, receive host country citizenship or at least permanent resident status – which in many cases is a substitute for citizenship in the absence of a quick and easy procedure of naturalisation. The status of permanent resident allows a foreigner to work without special permission and to compete for jobs on terms of formal equality with citizens (with the exception of jobs in the public sector in some countries). Unemployed permanent residents are in no danger of being deported; and they qualify for unemployment and the other social benefits for which citizens are eligible (Søresen, 1996; Brubaker, 1989).

Among immigrants in the EU countries a certain proportion are naturalised. This proportion corresponds to several factors, among them the difficulty in obtaining host country citizenship, and the granting of citizenship to former colonial subjects. Figure 3.1 plots the proportion of immigrants from EU and other western countries (left bar), and third countries (right bar) aged 18–64 in 15 EU countries in the years 1995–2000. The darker portion of a bar shows those immigrants who obtained nationality in their host country. Information for Italy is taken from the OECD Statistical Compendium database for the year 1995, and pertains to all foreign individuals. In Germany the data plotted refer to information based on nationality, since Germany did not collect data on immigrants' country of birth.

From Figure 3.1 it emerges that immigration from outside the European Union dominates the entry to the majority of member states. Ireland and Luxembourg are rare exceptions: indeed, in these two countries immigrants from EU or other western countries are substantially over-represented. By way of contrast, in Austria, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Portugal, Sweden and the UK, third-country immigrants make up the bulk of the foreign-born population. In Belgium, Denmark, Finland and Spain the proportions of EU and third-country immigrants are approximately equal.

³⁵ A similar situation will in fact happen once Eastern European countries enter the European Union and enjoy free movement within the borders of the enlarged Community.

³⁶ This term, borrowed from Morris (1997), is applied to immigrants who are neither nationals nor citizens of the EU or other industrialised nations.

IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND IMMIGRANT SELECTIVITY IN EUROPE 35



Figure 3.1. Proportion of immigrants, aged 18–64, in the EU countries and their citizenship status

Notes: Figures for Sweden refer to the period 1997–2000. Figures for Italy and Germany pertain to the foreign population (second-generation non-naturalised immigrants are included). The figure for Italy is taken from the OECD database, refers to 1995 and covers all foreign groups.

Abbreviations (here and further on): ES – Spain; FI – Finland; IE – Ireland; FR – France; IT – Italy; SE – Sweden; GR – Greece; UK – the United Kingdom; BE – Belgium; DK – Denmark; PT – Portugal; NL – Netherlands; AT – Austria; LU – Luxembourg; DE – Germany.

Source: EULFS 1995–2000, OECD Statistical Compendium.

The proportion of immigrants holding the nationality of their host country also varies among the member states, roughly corresponding to the hierarchy of countries with respect to naturalisation rates (see Table A.2 in the Appendix). In addition, the proportion of those naturalised among EU and other western countries' immigrants and the proportion of third-country immigrants with citizenship of the host country also vary. In Finland, Greece, Portugal and Spain almost all immigrants coming from western countries hold the nationality of their host country,³⁷ while in Luxembourg and the UK less than half of western immigrants are naturalised. Among immigrants from third countries the proportion of those naturalised is higher in the UK, Sweden, the Netherlands, France, Portugal and Spain, and lower in Austria, Finland, Ireland and Luxembourg.

Naturalisation requires a certain duration of residence in the host country and since some countries started experiencing a significant inflow of immigrants only recently

³⁷ These might be children of recruited workers, who had emigrated to wealthier western and northern neighbours in the 1950s–60s, returning to the home countries of their parents.



Figure 3.2. Proportion of immigrants, aged 18–64, residing in the host country for more than 10 years

Note: Because of the reliability problem immigration-related data on Italy is excluded. *Source*: EULFS 1999–2000.

this might have an effect on the overall naturalisation rates. Figure 3.2 plots the proportion of immigrants residing in host countries longer than 10 years. Since the data are from 1999–2000 the graph plots proportions of immigrants who arrived in European countries before 1989. As expected, the proportion of third-country immigrants with duration of residence in the host country longer than 10 years is lower in the new immigration countries – Finland, Ireland, Greece and Spain – while about 70% of all immigrants in Belgium, France, the Netherlands, Portugal and the UK had resided longer than 10 years in their host societies by the year 1999–2000. In the remaining countries, namely Austria, Denmark, Germany, Luxembourg, and Sweden, about half of their immigrants arrived in the last decade of the 20th century. Less substantial variation is observed in the proportion of long-time immigrant residents from EU and other western industrialised countries. However, in all EU countries except Spain more than a half of the immigrants from 'privileged' countries of origin have been resident for longer than 10 years.

Citizenship status and length of stay are important but not the only predictors of immigrants' individual success. National differences in the proportion of naturalised and more recent immigrants might, however, have implications for the variation in labour market outcomes for immigrants, particularly third-country immigrants as a group. It might be expected that in countries where mass immigration is a more recent phenomenon, newcomers' educational or other productivity-related characteristics might be harder for employers to interpret, potentially reinforcing statistical or error discrimination.

IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND IMMIGRANT SELECTIVITY IN EUROPE 37

3.2.3. COMPOSITION OF IMMIGRANTS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION COUNTRIES

Although a broad classification is necessary for the large-scale comparison which is undertaken in this book, it should be noted that neither of the groups analysed in the study is homogeneous. Both EU and third-country immigrants may differ from one another and from the national population in terms of nationality, country of birth, cultural background, education, duration of residence in the host country and other characteristics.

Out of 18 million foreigners legally residing within the European Union in 1996, 67 per cent were Europeans and 33 per cent of these European immigrants came from other Member States (Salt and Clarke, 2000; Angenendt, 1999). Among other immigrants 17 per cent came from Africa, 11 per cent from Asia and five per cent from Northern and Southern America. Beginning in the mid 1980s immigration inflow became more diverse as more and more new sending countries became visible players on the migration market (Angenendt, 1999). A large group of immigrants from the African continent and mostly from North and West Africa have settled in France, Portugal, Italy, the Netherlands, Belgium and Spain. Asian immigrants are increasingly found in Great Britain, Denmark and Portugal. Immigrants from the Americas are largely found in the UK, Portugal, Ireland and Spain.

A closer inspection of the most prominent sending areas in each of the EU countries (see Table 3.2) reveals that Luxembourg's foreign population consists almost entirely of EU citizens, and these come mainly from neighbouring EU countries. Immigrants in Ireland mostly hail from Great Britain, the USA and Canada, with only a minor proportion from elsewhere. Finland, where immigration started relatively recently, counts the former Soviet Union, particularly Estonia and Russia, as its main source.

The composition of immigrants in other EU countries is more heterogeneous. In Austria the majority of immigrants have come from the neighbouring Eastern European countries and Turkey, with ex-Yugoslavs being the most prominent. Although Belgium's immigrant population is dominated by those from other EU countries, the number of people from Morocco and Turkey (the two main guest worker sources outside the EU) are also significant. Immigrants from former guest worker recruitment countries – Turkey, Italy, Greece and the former Yugoslavia – are also abundant in Germany. Eastern Europeans, on the other hand, have dominated Germany's inflow in more recent years. In the Netherlands foreigners from former recruitment countries, particularly Turkey, ex-Yugoslavia and Maghreb, make up more than half of all immigrants. In addition a significant number of Surinamese and Indonesians have arrived with Dutch passports.

In France the majority of immigrants have come from North African countries: Algeria, Morocco and Tunisia. The Portuguese are France's most numerous group of resident EU nationals. Northern Africans also constitute a major immigrant group in Italy; however

 Table 3.2. Composition of immigrants in countries of the European Union

EU countries	Most prominent sending areas (Per cent)
Austria	Former Yugoslavia (35.61%), Eastern European countries, including the former USSR (19.60%), Turkey (16.85%), EU without Southern Europe (16.67%)
Belgium	EU (45.45%), Morocco (17.19%), Turkey (10.30%), other Africa (7.07%)
Germany	Turkey (39.6%), Easter European countries (15.28%), EU (21.89%), former Yugoslavia (8.73%)
Denmark	EU without Southern Europe (30.20%), other Western countries (17.61%), Eastern and Southern Asia (15.51%), North Africa and Middle East (8.46%)
Spain	EU without Southern Europe (38.16%), Latin America (24.15%), Morocco (18%)
Finland	EU without Southern Europe (40.35%), Eastern Europe (34.01%)
France	North Africa and the Middle East (39.13%), Morocco (17.1%), EU (15.3%), other Africa (7.54%)
Greece	Eastern Europe, (59.17%), EU without Southern Europe (15.13%), other Western countries (10.10%), North Africa and the Middle East (5.85%)
Ireland	EU without Southern Europe, notably UK (81.98%), other Western (9.32%)
Italy	North Africa, Eastern Europe
Luxembourg	EU (75.34%), Eastern Europe (4.19%), Africa (6.00%)
Netherlands	EU without Southern Europe (19.20%), Southern, Central America and Caribbean (18.21%), Eastern and Southern Asia (17.96%), Turkey (14.13%), Morocco (11.12%)
Portugal	Africa without Maghreb (54.72%), EU without Southern Europe (25.63%), Southern and Central America (10.96%)
Sweden	EU without Southern Europe (29.44%), Eastern Europe (23.57%), Former Yugoslavia (12.27%), Eastern and Southern Asia (9.57%)
UK	EU and other Western (41.38%), Eastern and Southern Asia (30.88%), Africa (18.35%)

Source: EULFS 1995-2000.

Italy stands out for the sheer diversity of its immigrants' origins. Most prominent of these are ex-Yugoslavia, Albania and the rest of Eastern Europe, China, the Philippines and Sri Lanka (Sciortino, 2003). In Spain Moroccans constitute the single largest foreign group; a substantial number of immigrants arrived also from Spanish-speaking South America, and from other EU countries. In Portugal, immigrants from the former colonies (e.g., Angola, Mozambique) and from Portuguese-speaking South American countries made up the primary foreign group. Great Britain has also experienced significant immigration from its former colonies in recent decades; however, the largest single national group are the Irish, constituting about 22 per cent of the foreign population; immigration from the USA, Canada, Australia and South Africa is also considerable in that country. Sweden is characterised by a high proportion of Northern European immigrants, particularly Finns. Eastern Europeans have dominated Sweden's inflow in recent decades; a relatively high proportion of foreigners from the crisis regions of Iraq, Iran and Chile is also observed. In Denmark the largest single immigrant group are the Turkish, followed by Eastern Europeans and Asians – particularly Pakistanis, Sri Lankans and Vietnamese. In Greece Eastern Europeans dominate the statistics; Russians and Albanians are the two largest immigrant groups.

3.2.4. SUMMARY

A serious challenge for any large-scale study of immigrants' labour market integration in the EU is to classify immigrants in such a way that they can be compared across 15 European Union countries: countries which differ in immigration histories and contexts. Settling upon a population-group for the purpose of analysis is certainly a difficulty in itself. However, after weighing the pros and cons of various options, the decision has been made here to focus upon the first-generation immigrants - people born outside their host countries – and to distinguish between two broad groups within the immigrant population: those coming from EU Member States or other western industrialised countries, and third-country immigrants. While the former group enjoys practically the same social and economic rights as the native-born populations and are much less of a concern to policy-makers and native-born populations, problems encountered by the latter group in the labour market are well documented. Before turning to the assessment of immigrants' selectivity with respect to human capital resources (important prerequisites of immigrants' success in host-country labour markets), this section offers some descriptive information about the immigrant population, the percentage of naturalised immigrants, and the proportion who have resided in host countries longer than 10 years. The composition of immigrants is also presented and discussed.

It is evident that immigrants constitute a larger proportion of the population in countries with a longer tradition of immigration. In these countries a substantial number of immigrants, and particularly third-country immigrants, arrived more than a decade ago. The composition of the immigrant population partially reflects historical forces in the sense that former colonial powers experienced substantial migration from former colonies. Similarly, inflow to countries that previously solicited guest labour stemmed largely from countries with which they had held bilateral agreements. Finally, neighbouring countries made contributions, particularly to latecomer immigrant countries. It is to be noted, however, that although the host countries continue to receive the bulk of their immigrants from traditional sources, the number of additional sources has substantially increased in recent years.

3.3. Selectivity of Immigration Policies and Socio-demographic Characteristics of Immigrants in the European Union

Unlike Canada or Australia (Borowski and Nash, 1994; Bloom and Gunderson, 1990; Birrell and Birrell, 1987) formal selection of immigrants for their skills, qualifications or other socio-demographic characteristics was until very recently not an objective of immigration policies in any EU countries. Moreover, one can even speak about negative selection with respect to skills and qualifications among those immigrants who arrived in the 1950–60s in the framework of labour recruitment programs. Later immigrants

might also be affected, as interdependence exists between the composition of familyclass immigrants arriving at any one time and the characteristics of previous groups of immigrants (Reitz, 1998). So it would not be surprising if chain migrants who arrived in countries with large communities of guest-worker immigrants might also be negatively selected. As suggested by Chiswick (2000), refugees and tied movers, who dominate the contemporary immigrant inflow from third countries nowadays, would also not be selected favourably for labour market success.

Only very recently is a shift towards selection of immigrants for their skills and qualifications noticeable in some European countries. Thus, for example, in 2001 Germany started a so-called 'green card' initiative allowing foreign specialists in information technologies (IT) to come and work in the country for a certain length of time (Werner, 2001; Stalker, 2002). Similarly, from the beginning of 2002 a 'highly skilled migrant programme' has been introduced in the UK. This uses a point scheme based on educational attainment and salary to admit foreign professionals without a pre-arranged job offer (Stalker, 2002). Even though some European countries, as in Canadia and Australia, strive to attract the 'best and the brightest', this development is far too recent to be captured in the data used for the study presented in this book.

Before giving details on immigrants' selection with respect to educational qualifications, some demographic characteristics of immigrants residing in EU countries are discussed below. These are gender, age (often taken as a proxy for work experience), and marital status, which, according to numerous studies, influences the speed of immigrant integration in the host society (e.g. Chiswick and Miller, 1996; Poston, 1994).

3.3.1. SELECTED DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

No longer is immigration male-dominated as it was in the 1950–60s, before recruited workers, largely men, were joined by their family members. On the contrary, in the late 1990s the majority of countries' immigrants, particularly those from EU and other western countries, are women (see Figure 3.3).³⁸ Only in Belgium, France, Germany and Ireland are men still the majority among settled third-country immigrants.

A larger proportion of third-country immigrants are married than is the case among the native-born population in the host countries (between which substantial variation in the proportion who are legally married is noticeable, see Figure 3.4).³⁹ Only in Ireland and Portugal do we find a lower proportion of third-country immigrants who are married than the native-born. However, in several EU countries immigrants from other member states

³⁸ Exceptions are Finland and Germany.

³⁹ Particularly low proportions of those legally married are found in Nordic countries (Denmark, Finland and Sweden); while Southern European (Greece, Portugal and Spain) as well as Germany, Austria and Belgium are noticeable for the higher proportion of legally married people.



Figure 3.3. Percentage of men aged 18–64 in EU countries

Note: Because of the reliability problem immigration-related data on Italy is excluded. *Source*: EULFS 1995–2000.



Figure 3.4. Proportion of legally married persons aged 18–64 in EU countries *Note*: Because of the reliability problem immigration-related data on Italy is excluded. *Source*: EULFS 1995–2000.

or other western industrialised countries arrive unmarried. This is the case in Finland, Greece, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain and the UK.

Age distribution among the native population does not vary much among the EU countries, with young people (aged 18–24) comprising about 14 per cent; prime-age people (25–54)

Table 3.3a. Deviation of the ages of immigrants from EU or other western industrialised countries from the age distribution of the native-born

	AT	BE	DK	FI	FR	DE	GR	IE	LU	NL	РТ	ES	SE	UK
18-24	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	1	\downarrow	\approx	↑	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	↑	↑	\downarrow	\downarrow
25-54	\uparrow	1	\uparrow	\approx	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	1	1	\uparrow	\downarrow	\uparrow	1	\approx
55–64	\uparrow	\approx	\approx	\downarrow	\uparrow	\downarrow	\uparrow	\downarrow						

 Table 3.3b.
 Deviation of the ages of third-country immigrants from the age distribution of the native-born

	AT	BE	DK	FI	FR	DE	GR	IE	LU	NL	РТ	ES	SE	UK
18–24	\downarrow	\downarrow	1	\approx	\downarrow	1	1	\approx	\approx	\downarrow	\approx	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
25–54	↑	↑	↑	↑	↑	↑	\uparrow	↑	1	↑	↑	↑	↑	↑
55–64	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	\uparrow	\downarrow								

Note: Because of the reliability problem immigration-related data on Italy is excluded.

 \uparrow means significantly higher proportion; \downarrow means significantly lower proportion; \approx means no significant difference.

Source: EULFS 1995-2000.

encompassing about 68 per cent; and the rest being slightly less than 18 per cent.⁴⁰ There is, however, some variation in the age distribution of immigrants, and particularly immigrants coming from EU member states or other western industrialised countries (see Tables 3.3a and 3.3b).

Finland, Greece, Spain and Portugal (in particular) host larger numbers of younger people from other EU and western countries; while Denmark, Germany and Greece have experienced a large inflow of youth from third countries. France and Sweden are unusual in that they have become the home for a larger proportion of older immigrants from EU countries; while France's higher percentage of older immigrants from third countries is also noteworthy.

A striking finding is, however, that the proportion of prime-aged (25–54-years-old) thirdcountry immigrants in all EU countries is higher than the proportion of the prime-aged native-born. A similar picture is evident with EU immigrants or other westerners in all EU countries – exceptions being Portugal with a lower percentage of immigrants aged 25–54, and Finland and the UK with a proportion of prime-aged immigrants analogous to that of the native-born. The fact that the bulk of the immigrant inflow, especially from third countries, is composed of prime-aged persons might indicate labour market aspirations of

⁴⁰ There is a slight variation between countries, for example Germany and Greece have a higher proportion of older people; while Ireland, Portugal and Spain are noticeable for a higher percentage of younger people.

the larger part of immigrants in EU countries (particularly men). On the other hand, the information on age and marital status taken together suggests that among EU immigrants to Finland, Greece, Portugal and Spain, young unmarried people dominate – which might suggest student migration.

3.3.2. EDUCATIONAL CAPITAL OF IMMIGRANTS

Education is by far one of the most important determinants of immigrant success in the labour market. To assess the 'quality' of immigrants entering the European Union, Table 3.4 summarises educational attainment among the national population in the EU countries and that of immigrants, both EU nationals and third-country immigrants. Three levels of education are distinguished: low, which means primary and lower secondary education (ISCED 0–2); medium, encompassing secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education, including vocational (ISCED 3–4); and, finally, high or tertiary education (ISCED 5–6). (For more on the ISCED-97 classification see Annex A.3.)⁴¹ Although

Table 3.4.	Educational	attainment of	f immigrants	and the	native-born	in EU	coun-
tries (in pe	crcentages)						

	Low level of education (Primary and lower secondary education)		Medium (Vocatio post-seco	level of ed nal, second ondary edu	lucation lary and ıcation)	High level of education (Tertiary education)			
	Native- born	EU and western	Third- country	Native- born	EU and western	Third- country	Native- born	EU and western	Third- country
Austria	22.5	-9.2	+23.2	64.7	-9.6	-19.6	12.8	+18.8	-3.6
Belgium	38.7	-0.3	+10.6	35.9	-3.1	-8.4	25.4	+3.4	-2.2
Denmark	23.7	-4.4	+8.7	53.8	-4.3	-3.2	22.5	+8.8	-5.5
Finland	26.4	-1.9	+10.3	44.3	+9.0	-14.8	29.3	-7.1	+4.4
France	34.2	-1.8	+17.8	44.5	-7.9	-17.1	21.3	+9.7	-0.7
Germany	17.8	+13.2	+35.4	59.8	-16.0	-24.8	22.5	+2.9	-10.6
Greece	45.5	-27.7	-3.7	39.7	+13.7	+0.8	14.7	+14.0	+2.9
Ireland	39.8	-11.1	-13.1	41.1	-5.1	-7.7	19.1	+16.2	+20.8
Luxembourg	29.9	-11.4	+18.6	54.8	-12.7	-23.4	15.2	+24.1	+4.8
Netherlands	32.5	-1.1	+18.4	45.4	-8.0	-12.5	22.1	+9.1	-5.9
Portugal	76.7	-20.6	-17.0	15.0	+17.7	+10.9	8.3	+2.9	+6.1
Spain	58.2	-21.0	-9.9	20.3	+7.7	+4.3	21.5	+13.3	+5.5
Sweden	22.9	+7.2	+8.7	49.1	-5.4	-6.6	27.9	-1.8	-2.2
UK	17.2	+0.2	+11.5	57.2	-14.8	-22.8	25.6	+14.6	+11.4

Note: Because of the reliability problem immigration-related data on Italy is excluded. *Source:* EULFS 2000.

⁴¹ Because of the variety of educational systems and resulting educational qualifications Eurostat admits there are difficulties in providing standardised and comparable data. Precisely because of the comparability problems the most reliable classification of educational qualifications is one that uses broad educational categories, as in this book.

countries do differ in the significance that vocational qualifications play in determining labour market success, unfortunately it is impossible to control for the educational track (either vocational or general) here. This is because education is categorised in the EULFS dataset in rather broad groups to ensure better reliability and comparability of the data.

Differences are immediately evident in the distribution of education among the nativeborn national populations. Northern European countries (Sweden, Finland and Denmark), the UK, Belgium and Germany lead among countries with the highest proportion of graduates. At the same time, these countries are among those (except Belgium) with the lowest percentage of people holding primary or lower secondary education. On the other hand, Southern European countries (Portugal, Spain and Greece) as well as Ireland still have rather high proportions of people with primary or lower secondary education, and are among those countries with a smaller proportion of people with secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education.

Variation is also apparent in the selection of immigrants for their educational qualifications. A general trend is noticeable: immigrants from EU or other western countries are, as a rule, under-represented among the lower educated and over-represented compared with the tertiary educated native-born. Only in Finland and Sweden are EU immigrants and other westerners under-represented among tertiary educated, but their proportions are still high taking into account a large number of highly educated native-born. In Portugal, although EU immigrants are more often found among the tertiary educated, their absolute proportion is relatively low compared to the rest of European Union. In Portugal, other Southern European countries and Finland, the percentage of immigrants from EU or other western countries with secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education is higher than the percentage of the native-born with the same, while in the rest of EU these immigrants tend to possess secondary and post-secondary educational credentials more rarely. Finally in a number of countries, namely Germany, Sweden and the UK, EU immigrants are also over-represented among the lower educated. In part this is related to the substantial inflow of low- and semi-skilled labour from neighbouring Finland (for Sweden), Ireland (for the UK) and Italy, Spain, and Greece (for Germany) during 1950-60s.

Third-country immigrants are over-represented among the lower educated in the majority of EU countries with the exception of Southern Europe and Ireland. This exception can be explained by the low levels of educational expansion in these countries, together with the fact that none of them exercised unskilled or low-skilled labour recruitment policies: the combined effect is that immigrants appear to be better educated than the native-born population. Indeed, in the above-mentioned countries third-country immigrants are also over-represented among the tertiary-educated and, with the exception of Ireland, outnumber the native-born in the proportion of persons with secondary or post-secondary education. Third-country immigrants seem to be over-represented among people with higher education also in Luxembourg, in Finland and the UK (this is despite the fact that the two countries have an outstandingly high proportion of the tertiary

IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND IMMIGRANT SELECTIVITY IN EUROPE 45



Figure 3.5. Trends in the educational attainment of immigrants by the time of arrival in EU

Note: Because of the reliability problem immigration-related data on Italy are excluded. *Source*: EULFS 2000.

educated native-born). Yet, at the same time in these three countries immigrants also feature strongly among the lower educated. Here we see evidence of polarisation in the educational selection of third-country immigrants, with a large percentage of both poorly and highly educated persons.

It is notable also that immigrants who arrived more recently tend to be better educated than their predecessors. Figure 3.5 depicts this trend by plotting the educational level of immigrants from EU or other western countries (to the left) and third countries (to the right) who arrived prior to and after 1990.⁴² The increase in the academic level of immigrants coming from EU and other western countries after the 1990s is particularly noticeable and reflects the so-called migration of the elite: highly qualified and educated persons (see Section 3.1.3). A smaller, but still noticeable trend in improvement of third-country immigrants decreased. At the same time immigrants who have arrived after 1990 are more likely to possess secondary as well as tertiary education credentials.

3.3.3. ON THE PORTABILITY OF HUMAN CAPITAL

Human capital that immigrants bring from abroad, even that of a superior standard, is not necessarily adequately rewarded in the receiving country, since it might be of little

⁴² The figure refers to all EU countries with the exception of Italy: In all EU countries a similar trend is found, varying only in strength.

relevance to the host country's labour market. Another problem is that the suitability of immigrants' human capital might not even be tested because employers discriminate against them for lack of information on the value of educational certificates brought from abroad. Thus, immigrants are often prevented from entering higher-status, better paid jobs. Instead immigrants might find themselves in the secondary labour market where educational qualifications count less, if at all. As a result one observes, on average, lower rates of return to foreign-source human capital (e.g. Friedberg, 2000; Chiswick, 1978; Fishelson et al., 1980).

Some immigrants arrived in the EU after completing education in their countries of origin. Some, however, immigrated at younger ages and have obtained their education fully or partially in host countries. Unfortunately, the available EU labour force survey (LFS) data do not allow the age at migration to be traced so as to control for this important factor. There is no reason to believe, however, that on average immigrants in the EU countries with a longer tradition of immigration, would systematically differ across these countries with respect to the proportion of so-called 1.5 generation immigrants – people born abroad but educated (fully or partially) in the host countries. Countries that only recently became immigrant societies should, however, have a lower proportion of 1.5-generation immigrants old enough to enter the labour market. Hence, on average, immigrants in countries with a longer tradition of migration might have a higher proportion of immigrants holding educational credentials already received in the host-country. That is, if smaller ethnic penalties are found in more established immigrant societies, this could at least partially be attributed to the fact that, on average, immigrants there might have had greater chances of accumulating host-country-specific human capital that is more valuable in the local labour market.

For immigrants with formal education acquired abroad, at least two factors seem to be relevant when assessing the level of their human capital's portability. First of all, host country language acquisition seems to be an important factor in determining immigrants' labour market fortunes in general (Chiswick, 1991; Chiswick and Miller, 1992, 2002; Chiswick et al., 1997; Dustman and Fabbri, 2000; Kossoudji, 1988; Shields and Wheatley Price, 2002), while the rewards (e.g. a wage premium) of speaking the language of the host country fluently rise with education (Kossoudij, 1988; McManus, 1990; Carliner, 2000). When immigrants are exposed to the host-country language in their countries of origin, they might have a better command of that language than immigrants without any similar experience. Research conducted into this situation in the United States has shown that immigrants from countries that have English as an official language, or countries where English is widely taught in schools, perform better in the labour market (Borjas, 1987; Jasso and Rosenzweig, 1990). Similarly, immigrants originating from areas of substantial European colonial influence are likely to be familiar with the culture and institutions of the colonial power and be rather fluent in its language. This might also be the case for a generation of immigrants who grew up in the post-colonial period, as even after de-colonisation, languages of the former colonial superpowers often retain the status of an official language (used in schools and formal settings) or even of a dominant language (the one widely used in informal contexts) (Van Tubergen, 2004). Hence, one can expect

IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND IMMIGRANT SELECTIVITY IN EUROPE 47

migrants to the former colonial powers to be on average more fluent in the host country language, than would be the case for migrants arriving in other host countries.⁴³

Secondly, institutional closeness between the source and destination countries might play a role in the way educational credentials are assessed by potential employers in host countries. Thanks to shared institutions and language it might be expected that in countries with a tradition of substantial migration from former colonies, immigrants might enjoy better appreciation of their human capital. Hence it might be expected that in former colonial powers, compared to other host countries, immigrants might receive better rewards, on average, for their human and academic achievements, particularly when it comes to entering higher-status employment. This should lead to fewer unexplained net immigrant effects when assessing the occupational status of jobs held by immigrants as compared to those of the native-born.

All the points above are mainly concerned with the portability of human capital among third-country immigrants. Human capital of immigrants from industrialised countries should be highly valued in the destination labour market anyway, as origin and destination countries are quite similar in terms of their levels of economic development, industrial and occupational structures and institutional settings (Friedberg, 2000). Moreover, the recognition of educational (particularly tertiary) achievements, has always been much easier for immigrants from western industrialised countries due to the internationalisation of higher education. Since the early 1990s further standardisation⁴⁴ and general recognition of educational qualifications for diplomas of higher education, courses of education immediately below the higher-educational level (e.g. *Abitur, Baccalaureate*) and vocational training have been achieved for EU citizens (Kiehl and Werner, 1999).⁴⁵ These regulations have enabled applicants from EU countries to formally claim the same rights of access to job vacancies throughout the EU.

3.3.4. SUMMARY

It emerges from the overview of the demographics of immigrants in fourteen of the EU countries that an average third-country immigrant to the European Union can be portrayed as either a man or a woman, married, of prime age. Typifying an immigrant from the

⁴³ It is reasonable to assume that immigrants arriving in English-speaking host countries might have on average better command of the host language upon arrival simply because English is generally studied at school in a large number of countries. However, it might also be that when many immigrants arrive with some knowledge of the host country language, speaking that language very well becomes more important for labour market success. Indeed, as Dustman and Fabbri (2000) have shown, the association between language and earnings (as one of the labour market outcomes) is stronger in the UK, USA and Canada and weaker in Germany, Australia and Israel.

⁴⁴ Minimum standards have been agreed upon for occupations in the health sector, architecture and other professions (Kiehl and Werner, 1999).

⁴⁵ Until then the process of diploma recognition for EU citizens was rather complex (Peixoto, 2001).

EU or other western countries is less straightforward, since there is more cross-national variation in demographic traits. Nevertheless, in the majority of host countries this would probably be a person (with a greater chance that she will be a woman) of prime age and possibly married; while in some countries, particularly Southern European and Finland, the stereotype would be a young, unmarried person. Moreover, migrants arriving from the EU or other western countries, particularly more recent arrivals, will more likely be highly educated. While categorising third-country immigrants in the entire European Union according to demographic characteristics appears feasible, more substantial variation is observed when it comes to the formal education qualifications that third-country immigrants bring with them. In the majority of EU countries, with the exception of Southern Europe and Ireland, third-country immigrants tend to be less well educated than the local population. In Southern European countries, Ireland, Finland, Luxembourg and the UK, a substantial proportion of third-country immigrants are highly educated. A notable trend is the polarisation in a number of host countries of third-country immigrants' educational attainments.

While immigrants from EU countries might expect their educational credentials to be easily recognised in other member states, this is not the case for third-country immigrants. On the contrary, salary increments for qualifications brought from abroad by underprivileged migrants will most probably be lower than for equivalent qualifications among the native-born. However, even in this respect some cross-country variation is to be expected, especially in the case of transferability of educational qualifications, where countries taking in former colonial subjects are more accepting than the newer immigration countries.

CHAPTER 4. IMMIGRANTS AND THE LABOUR MARKET

The climate of a host country's labour market has considerable consequences for immigrants. When in the 1950-60s the majority of western and northern European countries experienced a period of economic expansion, the demand for an additional labour force to fill vacancies in the unskilled and semi-skilled sectors was enormous. Importing temporary migrant workers was a solution that was adopted in several countries, with newcomers being 'integrated' immediately into the labour markets. However, immigrant employment was marked by features typical of the secondary labour market (Piore, 1979), i.e. unpleasant working conditions, unconventional hours, lack of formal protection - which in effect led to immigrants' marginalisation. Later changes in the economic structure, i.e. a shift from manufacturing production to the service economy, and the trend towards casualisation of employment (employment flexibility) have also been reflected in the employment situation of migrants (Castles and Miller, 1998). With globalisation, traditional industries - in which immigrants have been over-represented - have become more vulnerable, endangering immigrant employment once industry encounters a downward trend. At the same time, structural changes have generally augmented the demand for employees with higher competence, making unskilled workers, including those recruited earlier, redundant through efficiency improvements (Portes and Walton, 1981; Castles and Kosack, 1985; Cross, 1987; Castles, 1989). In service-oriented economies the importance of informal competence, and above all language skills and culture-specific proficiency, has markedly increased. Together with the amplified value of formal education and skills, immigrants' chances of finding employment have hardly become more favourable (Bevelander, 2000).

The scenario described above is certainly not uniform even among those countries that resorted to foreign labour recruitment – not to mention the rest of the EU countries, particularly those that became immigrant destinations rather recently. Yet, in accordance with the dual labour market theory and the insider–outsider scenario, two features of host countries' labour markets particularly affect immigrants' employment chances.

The first is the *structure of the host-country labour market* and particularly the demand for unskilled and low-skilled labour, which determines the size of potentially immigrant economic sectors. The second feature is the extent of *host-country labour market flex-ibility*, which is likely to determine the degree of openness of the host-country labour market towards immigrants. The *general economic climate* is not to be neglected either

since it is well established that the labour market disadvantage of the weaker groups, and above all immigrants, are particularly disadvantaged in finding employment during recessions. During economic upturns the gap between the native-born and immigrants tends to narrow (OECD, 2001; Jones, 1993).

This chapter will firstly sketch the general economic situation in the EU countries in the late 1990s. Then it will discuss a possible effect of the labour market structure and employment flexibility on the level of employers' resources and their constraints when deciding whether to employ immigrant applicants. It will relate this argument to the dual labour market and insider–outsider theories. Finally it will present some descriptive evidence of the selected labour market outcomes of immigrants relative to the native-born in EU countries.

4.1. The Labour Market Situation in EU Countries in the Late 1990s

The OECD (2001) claims that immigrants or foreigners are adversely affected during economic downturns due to their over-representation in the sectors more sensitive to cyclical fluctuations, and in low-status jobs that are more volatile during economic slowdowns. Jones (1993) labels unemployment patterns of ethnic minorities 'hyper-cyclical', suggesting that during recessions unemployment among ethnic minorities rises faster than among the indigenous; while in times of recovery it falls more rapidly (see also Farber, 1993; Abbring et al., 1997). As will be seen further, in the period under discussion, i.e. the second part of the 1990s, the European Union experienced an economic recovery, which suggests that the expected differentials between the performance of immigrants in the labour market and that of the native-born will probably be much more modest than would be the case during a period with less favourable economic conditions – say the early 1990s.

From 1995 onwards a significant improvement is apparent in the labour market of the majority of the member states compared with the recession period of the early 1990s. Figure 4.1 shows the trend of growing employment among the 18- to 64-year-old population in almost all EU countries. Strong employment growth is observed particularly in Spain, Ireland, the Netherlands and Finland.

The expansion occurred in the service or, in other words, tertiary sector⁴⁶ in practically all EU countries, as is evident in Figure 4.2. This holds even though the relative significance

⁴⁶ The tertiary sector covers the following economic activities, as they are categorised according to NACE (see Annex I in the Appendix): wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor vehicles, motorcycles and personal and household goods (section G in NACE); hotels and restaurants (section H); transport, storage and communication (section I); financial intermediation (section J); real estate, renting and business activities (section K); public administration and defence, compulsory social security (section L); education (section M); health and social work (section N); other community, social and personal service activities (section O); private households with employed persons (section P); extra-territorial organisations and bodies (section Q).





Source: EULFS, 1995-2000.





Source: EULFS, 1995–2000.

of the service sector varies between countries – with Southern European countries, Ireland, Austria and Finland lagging behind, while the UK, Belgium, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Denmark and Sweden have characteristic post-industrial economies.

Figure 4.3 plots another important feature of economic performance – unemployment rates for 18–64 years olds – in the EU countries. It is evident that in a number of

CHAPTER 4



Figure 4.3. Unemployment rates in 1995–2000 for 18- to 64-year-old persons in the EU countries *Note:* Time series is from left to right. *Source:* EULFS, 1995–2000.

EU countries, namely Denmark, Finland, Ireland, the Netherlands, Spain and the UK, employment opportunities have been continuously expanding from 1995 to 2000. In other countries, namely Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg and Sweden, the better employment started later, from 1997–1998. Only in Greece did employment decrease in this period, although the trend reversed in 2000.

The countries in question differ not only with respect to the general level of unemployment but also regarding the proportion of long-term unemployed. This too is seen in Figure 4.3 which differentiates between the proportions of those unemployed for more than one year and the short-term unemployed. While in the UK, Austria, Luxembourg and Northern European countries more than half of the unemployed have been looking for employment for less than one year, in Southern European countries, Belgium and Germany the majority of unemployed have been so for at least one year. It is interesting to note that in Spain, Portugal and Ireland the percentage of long-term unemployed substantially decreased with the expansion of labour market opportunities. In the years of higher unemployment the long-term unemployed constituted more than half of all those unemployed, while in more favourable years (1999 and particularly 2000) the proportion of long-term unemployed dropped to less than half.

How do immigrants fare in the expanding labour markets both with respect to their employment chances and the occupational status of the jobs they hold? The following sections discuss what effects the structure (Section 4.2) and regulation (Section 4.3) of the labour markets have upon immigrants' prospects in the various European Union countries.

4.2. The Effects of Labour Market Structure upon Immigrants' Employment Opportunities

4.2.1. IMMIGRANTS' LABOUR MARKET SEGMENTATION

As discussed earlier in more detail the dual or segmented labour market theory postulates a division of the labour market into two segments, primary and secondary, with rather closed boundaries and little mobility between them. While the primary labour market has the positive characteristics of stability, high wages, good working conditions and chances for promotion, the secondary labour market has all the negative traits outlined above. In the labour market duality Piore (1979: 35) sees 'a fundamental dichotomy between the jobs of migrants and the jobs of natives'. Wilson and Portes (1980) contend that past occupational experience and other human capital characteristics count very little if at all for recent immigrants and ethnic minorities, because, unlike workers in the primary sector, they are hired primarily because of their vulnerable status rather than skills. Employers in the secondary labour market, less impeded by institutional constraints, care much less about the education or labour force experience of their employees, striving purely towards profit maximisation. As a result, immigrants' prospects of securing employment are more favourable in the secondary labour market than in the primary. Hence, countries with a stronger demand for unskilled or low-skilled labour are expected

to more readily absorb immigrants into the labour market, so that underprivileged immigrants have on average fewer problems finding employment. And in these countries the gap between immigrants and the native-born in acquiring jobs should therefore be narrower.

Relatively few analyses have attempted to apply the segmented labour market theory to the study of immigrant labour market integration (for notable exceptions see Portes and Bach, 1985; DeFreitas, 1988; Granato, 2003). A serious problem that hinders an empirical assessment of employment outcomes in light of the dual labour market theory is, according to Massey et al. (1994), the ad hoc way that sector membership is operationalised. This is actually the reason for scholars having worked mostly upon the empirical identification of primary and secondary sectors (e.g. Dickens and Lang, 1985; Wallace and Kalleberg, 1981), paying less attention to the issue of migration. The data used for this book (see Section 6.2.1) do not allow operationalising the primary and secondary labour markets strictly in accordance with all the features (job and worker characteristics, wages across different occupational and industrial categories) mentioned by the dual labour market theorists. Instead, we refer to the size of the 'potentially' immigrant sector or, in other words, the size of the bottom of the occupational hierarchy (Stalker, 2000).

Figure 4.4 plots the proportion of immigrants, both from EU and other western countries and third countries, employed in the lower end of the occupational hierarchy (for a precise definition see Section 6.2.2). The proportion of the native-born employed in unskilled and low-skilled jobs, which approximately reflects the country's labour market for unskilled



Figure 4.4. Proportion of unskilled and low-skilled among employed immigrants and the native-born, aged 18–64, in EU countries, 1995–2000 *Source*: EULFS 1995–2000.

IMMIGRANTS AND THE LABOUR MARKET

and low-skilled jobs),⁴⁷ varies substantially across EU countries. It is evident that Southern European countries have many openings for low-skilled jobs, while in the rest of the EU countries and particularly Sweden, the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Belgium, and Finland the bottom of the occupational hierarchy is much less pronounced.

Figure 4.4 allows us to compare the relative location of immigrants from EU or other western countries as well as from third countries with the host countries' labour markets. It is evident that third-country immigrants are over-represented in lower-status jobs in all EU countries with the exception of Ireland and the United Kingdom. Moreover, in Greece, Austria and the Netherlands, the segmentation of immigrants in the unskilled and low-skilled sector is extreme and the gap between the native-born and immigrants within the labour market is largest. In the United Kingdom third-country immigrants do not differ from the native-born in the sort of work they do; while in Portugal, Sweden and Finland, immigrants' occupational positioning is closer to that of the native-born than in the remaining countries, albeit with over-representation in the lower end of the occupational hierarchy. Ireland is the only country where third-country immigrants are found less frequently in unskilled or low-skilled employment than the native-born, which could be a result of selectivity.

There is much more diversity between the EU countries with respect to the labour markets for immigrants coming from EU countries than other western countries. The fact is, however, that in the majority of the countries analysed EU immigrants tended to be underrepresented in the lower end of the occupational hierarchy in the mid-1990s. Even though the opposite is the case for Portugal, Austria, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Denmark and Sweden, the difference between EU immigrants and the native-born in their type of occupation is much smaller than is the case for third-country immigrants.

Overall differences in the occupational distribution between immigrants and the nativeborn appear to be largest in Austria, Greece, Spain, the Netherlands and France, while more egalitarian labour markets are found in the UK, Portugal, Sweden and Finland.⁴⁸

4.2.2. IMMIGRANT NICHES

Having established that in the majority of EU countries third-country immigrants appear to be over-represented in the low-status jobs – a suggested proxy for the secondary labour market – we also look at immigrant concentration in particular industries, or *ethnic niching*. The concept of ethnic niching has been proposed by Waldinger and his associates (Waldinger, 1994; Waldinger and Bozorghmer, 1996) and refers to industrial or occupational clustering of an ethnic group. In Waldinger's (1996: 95) own words a niche

⁴⁷ As immigrants constitute a relatively small proportion of the working-age population they influence the country average rather marginally.

⁴⁸ In this descriptive overview the socio-demographic characteristics of immigrants are not taken into account.

is 'an industry, employing at least one thousand people, in which a group's representation is at least 150 per-cent of its share in the total employment'. It does not necessarily require immigrant entrepreneurs and can also be found in the public sector. The salient concept of ethnic niching is that labour market dynamics are influenced by immigrants' social networks. These are used by employers as well as immigrants themselves for exclusion of outsiders and protection of their interests.

In several countries immigrant niches appeared following immigrants' recruitment to certain industries having typical features of the secondary labour market. An occupation or entire industry was then labelled as 'immigrant', which in turn made native workers reluctant to fill these occupations or industries even during periods of high unemployment (Massey et al., 1993). As a result the structural demand for immigrants in certain occupations or industries persists.

SOPEMI (different years) reports that in the European Union immigrants from outside the EU are over-represented in textile, clothing and leather industries, certain segments of metal and building materials industry, agriculture and construction. An expanding service sector has been offering low-status jobs for immigrant populations in trade, the hotel and restaurant business, catering, transportation and cleaning (Briggs, 1996). These claims are to a certain degree supported by the EU labour force survey data for the years 1995–2000, although some variation is found between the countries of the European Union, as well as between immigrants from EU or other western countries and those from the rest of the world. While Table 4.1 lists 'immigrant-intensive industries',⁴⁹ which are operationalised in the study as industries in which immigrants' representation is at least 200 per cent of their share in the total employment, the main findings are summarised below.

There are substantial differences in the ethnic or immigrants niching among immigrants from EU or other western countries and those from third countries. Immigrants from EU countries or other westerners are over-represented in areas of research and development (in Austria, France, Ireland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and Spain), computer industries (in Denmark, Greece, Ireland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands and Portugal), financial industries (Austria, Finland, Greece, Luxembourg and Spain), real estate or renting (Austria, Denmark, Finland, Greece, Luxembourg and Spain) and recreation, sport or culture (Austria, Denmark and Germany). Although niches of immigrants from the EU or other western countries are largely found in the service sector, in seven out of 14 EU countries (Finland, Germany, Greece, Luxembourg, Portugal, Spain, and Sweden) these immigrants are also over-represented in manufacturing, particularly in manufacturing of machinery and equipment.

⁴⁹ The term 'immigrant-intensive industries' is borrowed from DeFreitas (1988). It is seen as better suited to the current study since it does not deal with different ethnic groups but rather classifies immigrants in broad, ethnically heterogeneous categories.

IMMIGRANTS AND THE LABOUR MARKET 57

Country	EU and other western immigrants are over-represented in	Third-country immigrants are over-represented in
Austria	Fishing, publishing, financial intermediation, renting, research and development, recreation, culture and sport	Manufacture of textiles, products from leather, rubber and plastic products, hotels and restaurants, real estate
Belgium	Real estate and renting	Hotels and restaurants, private households with employed persons
Denmark	Air transport, renting, computer activities, recreation, culture and sport	Manufacturing of garments and fur, rubber and plastic products
Finland	Fishing, manufacture of rubber and plastic products, water and air transport, financial intermediation, renting	Manufacture of garments and fur, motor vehicles, sale and repair of motor vehicles and fuel, research and development, sewage and refuse disposal, sanitation
France	Mining, research and development	Manufacture of garments and fur, hotels and restaurants
Germany	Extraction of crude petroleum and natural gas and service activities connected to this, manufacture of nuclear fuel, hotels and restaurants, recreation, culture and sport	Mining, manufacture of textiles, paper and paper products, rubber and plastic products, basic metals, motor vehicles, hotels and restaurants
Greece	Manufacture of office machinery and computers, communication equipment, medical, precision, optical instruments, activities of travel agencies, financial intermediation, renting, computers, education	Manufacture of leather products, metal products other than machinery and equipment, recycling, construction, private households with employed persons
Ireland	Computers, research and development, private households with employed persons	Mining, manufacture of paper products, manufacture of communication equipment, hotels and restaurants, computers, health and social work
Luxembourg	Manufacture of communication equipment, transport equipment, financial intermediation, renting, computers, research and development	Manufacture of garments, fur, paper products, non-metallic mineral products, medical, precision and optical instruments, construction, hotels and restaurants.
Netherlands	Air transport, travel agencies, computers, research and development	Manufacture of garments, fur, basic metals, office machinery and computers, hotels and restaurants, air transport

(continued)

CHAPTER 4

Country	EU and other western immigrants are over-represented in	Third-country immigrants are over-represented in
Portugal	Manufacture of machinery and equipment, office machinery and computers, communication equipment, motor vehicles	Manufacture of office machinery and computers, medical, precision and optical instruments, computers, business activities
Spain	Manufacture of tobacco products, medical, precision and optical instruments, air transport, travel agencies, financial mediation, real estate, renting, research and development	Extraction of crude petroleum and natural gas, manufacture of office machinery and computers, private households with employed persons
Sweden	Manufacture of chemical products, motor vehicles	Manufacture of tobacco products, textiles, garments and fur, hotels and restaurants
UK		Manufacture of garments and furs, hotels and restaurants, air transport, private households with employed persons

Table 4.1. (Continued)

Source: EULFS 1995-2000, own calculations.

For third-country country immigrants manufacturing is the most obvious employment niche. Indeed, in all EU countries except Belgium third-country immigrants hold at least a two-fold chance of being found in manufacturing – particularly in the manufacturing of textile and clothing, rubber and plastic products – compared with the native-born. Besides these, other well-known niches for third-country immigrants are in hospitality and restaurant businesses (Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Ireland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Sweden and Great Britain) as well as employment in private households (Belgium, Greece, Spain and the UK).

4.2.3. IMMIGRANT ENTREPRENEURSHIP

The idea of immigrant niches is connected to a more general concept of ethnic economy, which broadly includes any immigrant or ethnic groups of self-employed, employers and co-ethnic employees (Bonacich 1987; Bonacich and Modell 1980; Light 1979, 1984; for an overview see Zhou, 2004). Ethnic economy, according to Zhou (2004), is a neutral designation for any enterprise that is either owned, or supervised, or staffed by immigrants or ethnic minorities regardless of its type, size or location. Alongside immigrants' colonising of selected occupational and industrial niches (Portes, 1995), another aspect of the ethnic economy is immigrant or ethnic ownership: the phenomenon that is discussed in the current section.

58

IMMIGRANTS AND THE LABOUR MARKET

Immigrant entrepreneurship has been a subject for numerous studies, particularly in the United States as well as in Europe (Portes, 1995; Rath, 2000, 2002; Waldinger et al., 1990). Zhou (2004) stresses that major research findings have converged upon the independent and/or interactive effects of key structural factors and immigrant groups' individual characteristics. At the group and individual level the focus of the literature is on immigrant or ethnic groups' specific cultural values, behavioural patterns, collective resources and strategies. At the societal level depreciation of human capital brought from abroad, lack of host-country-specific human capital, including a poor command of the native language, and experience or fear of discrimination – any of these might encourage immigrants to seek self-employment (Mata and Pendakur, 1999). Aldrich and Waldinger (1990), Waldinger et al. (1990) argue that labour market conditions and access to ownership (business vacancies, competition for vacancies and government policies) are the most prominent structural forces that influence an immigrants' decision to engage in entrepreneurial activities. These structural factors probably partly explain the variation in self-employment rates among immigrants in the EU countries, and this is shown in Figure 4.5.

Indeed, while in the majority of EU countries third-country immigrants are found less frequently among the self-employed as compared to the native-born and immigrants from other EU countries, this is not the case in Great Britain, Ireland, Belgium, Sweden and Denmark. Relative to the native-born, self-employment rates are particularly low for third-country immigrants in Greece, Austria and Portugal. The rates of self-employment among immigrants from EU or other western countries are similar to those of the native-born in Spain, Ireland, and Sweden, and higher in the UK, Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and Denmark.



Figure 4.5. Self-employment rates among immigrants and the native-born in EU countries Source: EULFS 1995–2000.

Self-employment among immigrants in the European countries has been lower overall than is observed in the classical immigration countries of the USA, Canada and Australia, where immigrants clearly outnumber the native-born among the self-employed (Borjas, 1986; Waldinger et al., 1990). The higher propensity for self-employment overseas is partially attributed to the fact that costs and barriers to start a business are higher in Europe, where stronger labour market regulation contributes to obstacles for immigrant entrepreneurship (Waldinger et al., 1990).

Another part of the explanation for the variation in immigrant self-employment rates across Europe (and overseas) is related to the composition of immigrants with respect to origin. When immigrants come from a country where many people are self-employed, they are familiar with self-employment practices, and have skills favourable to starting a business in the host country (Van Tubergen, 2004). This is why immigrant origins are extremely important in determining immigrant entrepreneurial propensity and to explain the cross-national variation in immigrants' self-employment rates. In this book immigrants are not differentiated by distinct ethnic origins but classified rather broadly. So affinity for self-employment will not be the main focus of the empirical analyses. Nevertheless it plays a significant role in the overall labour market integration of immigrant populations and detailed analyses of the macro-level determinants of immigrant self-employment can be found in Van Tubergen (2004).

4.3. Effects of Labour Market Rigidity on Immigrants' Employment Opportunities

Beyond the effects of the local labour market structure of the host country upon immigrants' economic chances, other features of labour markets can affect their fate. As stated earlier, the strictness of labour market regulation in host countries can potentially aggravate the outsider status of immigrant populations and set them apart in the secondary labour market. The flexibility of a labour market in a given country is modified by the extent of regulation upon that market,⁵⁰ which might influence employment chances – particularly among more recent immigrants seeking their first employment in the host country.

Employment protection legislation (EPL) is an important element of labour market regulation that includes policies concerning hiring and firing, which aim at stabilising employment relationships by restricting employers' rights to terminate at will or to use short-term, contingent or temporary (i.e. precarious) hiring contracts (OECD, 1999; Esping-Andersen, 2000). Alongside the benefits of stable, long-term relationships between

⁵⁰ According to Regini (2000) labour market flexibility has different forms: numerical or external or employment flexibility; functional or internal or technical-organisational flexibility; wage or financial flexibility; and temporal or working-time flexibility.

workers and firms – higher productivity and satisfaction – a number of potential disadvantages of a more stringent EPL regime are often mentioned. Among these are higher labour costs, a more divisive labour market, and enlintering of protected workers, on the one hand, and job seekers and precarious workers, on the other, into insiders and outsiders.

The OECD (1999) argues that higher firing costs resulting from a stricter EPL might reduce hiring during upswings, as employers are more hesitant to take on additional workers because of high dismissal costs. This might also reduce firings during downturns. The empirical evidence revealed by the OECD (1999) indeed shows that stricter EPL is associated with a lower turnover in the labour market, with both job and unemployment spells lasting longer. This means that fewer workers experience unemployment in any given year in countries with a more stringent EPL; but those becoming unemployed have a greater probability of remaining unemployed longer. At the same time there is no consistent evidence of the effect of EPL on the overall unemployment level: numerous studies demonstrate that EPL primarily shapes the structure of unemployment with some socio-demographic groups being particularly affected (OECD, 1999; Esping-Andersen, 2000). The bivariate analysis shows that unemployment tends to be lower for prime-age men but higher for young workers, i.e. labour market outsiders. In other words, labour market rigidities appear to widen the insider–outsider cleavage (Esping-Andersen, 1999; OECD, 1999).

The extent to which employment protection might interfere in hiring decisions by employers and effectively influence employment fortunes of another outsider group, immigrant workers, has been discussed in Section 2.2. To reiterate: if job security is high, employers tend to hire only employees who clearly indicate high productivity potential either through educational credentials or other characteristics, such as gender, race or immigration status (Giesecke and Groß, 2003; Gangl, 2003). In countries with low job security employers are less likely to worry about ascriptive signals in particular, because they can test employees' characteristics on the job. The costs of a 'bad match' might indeed be higher for employers when EPL is stricter, causing them to avoid hiring 'risky' workers.

Since EPL mainly regulates the primary labour market, its greater strictness might hinder immigrants' chances of achieving higher-status jobs – say, white-collar or blue-collar positions – with less effect when it comes to finding unskilled or low-skilled jobs in the secondary market. However, once landing a job in the secondary labour market, immigrants might be at a higher risk of losing their employment, since secondary labour market jobs are largely of a temporary or seasonal nature and are more sensitive overall to business cycle fluctuations and economic restructuring (see Section 2.1.5).

It was argued in Sections 2.1.3–2.1.4 that, with their intentions of temporary settlement and their higher job search costs, immigrants might prefer employment in the secondary labour market, where EPL strictness plays a reduced or even non-existent role in the recruitment process. Hence EPL strictness may be expected to have practically no effect on immigrants' chances of gaining employment once employment in the

secondary labour market is targeted. This is the scenario that has emerged, particularly in the new immigration countries, where immigrants often have short-term goals and are largely labour-oriented, aiming for employment in the secondary or even illegal labour markets more often. At the same time long-established immigrant guest workers, who were recruited for unskilled or low-skilled jobs during the period of economic growth and labour market stability in the 1950-60s, might even profit from the stricter EPL in some countries, potentially enjoying lower risk of employment loss during economic downturns due to their seniority (i.e. job tenure). In other words, with the cross-sectional data at hand – and the large-scale cross-national analysis draws on this type of data, see Section 6.2.1 – it might be impossible to detect any visible effect of EPL on immigrants' probability of unemployment when looking at all post-war immigrants. The effect should be visible, however, if looking solely at newcomers searching for their first jobs or immigrants with very limited experience within the host country.⁵¹ It is likely that in countries with stricter employment protection, recent immigrants might have more difficulty finding employment, especially when the bottom of the occupational hierarchy is not very sizable.

Figure 4.6 presents several OECD (1999) indicators of EPL strictness: the first one relates to regular employment, the second refers to EPL strictness in regulating temporary



Figure 4.6. Summary indicators of the strictness of employment protection legislation in the late 1990s

Source: OECD (1999).

⁵¹ The effect should also be distinguishable when analysing the success of unemployed immigrants in re-entering employment. This is however not possible with the cross-sectional data used for the principal cross-country analyses in Chapter 6.
IMMIGRANTS AND THE LABOUR MARKET

employment and finally the third one indicates overall EPL strictness, being an average of both previous indicators. OECD (1999) acknowledges that a single measure of employment regulation is difficult to construct because of the sometimes ambiguous information available and the multi-dimensional nature of the phenomenon with its many facets, such as regulation of dismissals of regular workers, fixed-term contracts, temporary work, part-time work, normal working hours, overtime, shift work, night and weekend work. This is especially true for some countries (e.g. Denmark and the Netherlands), which have strict employment regulation in some areas but not others.

Overall, three national groupings emerge from the graph with respect to EPL strictness. Southern European countries score highest in the indicator of overall EPL strictness and are marked by both high levels of protection, particularly in temporary but also in regular employment. The UK, Ireland and Denmark are three countries with the most flexible labour markets where temporary workers have especially low protection. The third group of countries is continental Europe plus Sweden and Finland, the two Northern European countries with relatively high levels of employment protection. One can therefore expect differences in the labour market performance of immigrants within these three groups of countries, controlling for the effect of the labour market structure. Better employment opportunities among immigrants are more likely to be found in more flexible countries, while large employment difficulties are expected for migrants in Southern and Western Europe, unless the demand for unskilled and low-skilled jobs in these countries is high enough to incorporate the newcomers who would opt for less prestigious employment.

4.4. Summary

Starting with a general assessment of the labour market conditions in the European Union countries in the second half of the 1990s, this chapter further discusses the role potentially played by host-country labour market structure and regulations in shaping employment prospects for immigrant populations.

An inherited duality of labour markets in western industrialised countries maintains the demand for unskilled and low-skilled labour. Since secondary labour market jobs provide little scope for career advancement, status improvement or attractive economic returns upon experience, skills and education, they are largely avoided by the native-born. With the dual labour market theory asserting that such jobs are potentially reserved for under-privileged immigrants and with the search model explaining why immigrants decide to go for secondary labour market employment, the claim of immigrants' over-representation in the secondary labour market found confirmation in the descriptive analysis of EULFS data. Indeed, third-country immigrants tend to outnumber both the native-born and immigrants from EU and other western countries in the lower-status jobs in almost all EU countries. Moreover, the analysis of immigrants' industry preference points to the existence of immigrant niches, i.e. industries with substantial over-representation of immigrants, either from EU or other western countries, or third countries. While the former tend to land jobs in the service sector – mostly in employment connected with research and development,

financial intermediation, and real estate and computer technology – the latter are found in textile and clothing industries, the hotel, café and restaurant sector, and in private households. Self-employment is an alternative path for underprivileged immigrants willing to avoid depending on the secondary labour market. The rates of self-employment differ, however, across Europe, which at least partially reflects differences in the policies of the host countries in encouraging entrepreneurship among immigrant populations.

Further, it is argued that employers might be more reluctant to take risks when hiring immigrant employees in countries with stricter labour market regulation. An outcome would be higher unemployment among underprivileged immigrants in countries with more rigid labour markets. While this might be true when it comes to newly arrived immigrants due to their outsider status, immigrants who arrived earlier may even profit from the stricter EPL extant in some European countries. Hence, no clear prediction can be made about the impact of EPL on the unemployment risk among all post-war immigrants residing in the host countries, particularly taking into account the cross-sectional nature of the data applied to the large-scale comparative analysis in this book. A positive effect of EPL on the unemployment risk of *recent* third-country immigrants can, however, be expected – especially after controlling for labour market structure, i.e. the size of the bottom of the occupational hierarchy.

CHAPTER 5. WELFARE REGIMES AND IMMIGRANTS' EMPLOYMENT PROSPECTS

A body of research has emphasised the role of welfare regimes in shaping individual life courses in general and individual employment careers in particular (Mayer, 1997, 2001; Allmendinger and Hinz, 1997, 1998; Gallie and Paugam, 2000; Esping-Andersen et al., 1994; Kurz, 1998), and their effect on women's employment (Allmendinger, 1994; Lewis, 1992; Daly, 2000; Van Doorne-Huiskes et al., 1999; Drew et al., 1998; Stier et al., 2001; Hall, 2001), aggregate unemployment rates (Esping-Andersen, 2000; Ganßmann, 2000; Wood, 2001) and on social inequality in general (Esping-Andersen and Regini, 2000; DiPrete, 2001).

The role of the welfare state or welfare regime⁵² on the economic status of immigrants has not been thoroughly studied, even though several authors have mentioned the potential significance of welfare availability in shaping immigrants' opportunities in the hostcountry labour markets (Reitz, 1998; Freeman and Ögelman, 2000; Baldwin-Edwards, 1991, 2004; Faist, 1996). Empirical research has, however, been mostly devoted to immigrants' utilisation of a host country's welfare resources, and findings are not unequivocal. Immigrants' over-representation among recipients of social benefits has been reported for the USA (Borjas and Hilton, 1996; Borjas, 1994b, 1999) and Europe, e.g. Germany (Riphahn, 1998; Voges et al., 1998; Kurthen, 1998; Castronova et al., 2001; Frick et al., 1996) and Sweden (Westin, 2000; Hammarstedt, 2000; Hansen and Lofstrom, 1999; Bergmark and Bäckman, 2004), but not for Canada (Baker and Benjamin, 1995; Whiteford, 1992). Researchers agree, however, that immigrants' higher tendency to rely on welfare is explained by their less favourable socio-demographic and human capital characteristics and is less related to the immigrant/non-national status per se. All German studies referred to above find that foreigners are equally or even less likely to depend on welfare than natives, once observable characteristics are taken into account. Chiswick and Hurst (2000) report that the foreign-born in the USA receive significantly lower unemployment compensation benefits than the native-born after controlling for socio-demographic characteristics. They attribute this finding to immigrants' shorter residence in the country

⁵² Welfare state is understood in its narrow sense as involvement of the state in the provision of welfare services and benefits, while welfare regimes are defined more broadly by Esping-Andersen (1999) as 'a triad of state, market and family'.

in order to satisfy eligibility for unemployment welfare programs. Under-utilisation of unemployment benefits might also be related to the fact that newcomers, even if they are formally eligible for unemployment benefits, often lack information, host-country work experience, or documents necessary to apply for unemployment benefits. Furthermore, according to Brubaker (1989), they may even distrust bureaucracy and fear difficulties assembling the paperwork required to demonstrate their eligibility.

This book aims among other things at a broad assessment of immigrants' employment chances in relation to the nature of welfare regimes in host countries. Among the three facets of welfare regimes – labour market regulation, welfare states, and families – the first two seem to be of particular importance in the analysis of the employment prospects of male immigrants as undertaken in this book.⁵³ Before discussing the potential influence of welfare regimes upon immigrants' labour market opportunities, the main features of the European welfare regimes will be summarised, building primarily on Esping-Andersen's (1999) and Gallie and Paugam's (2000) classifications, which, albeit with different labelling, cluster European countries quite similarly. Esping-Andersen (1990) originally distinguishes between three regimes of welfare capitalism, i.e. conservative, liberal and social-democratic, while Gallie and Paugam's (2000) classification, based upon a different conceptual background,⁵⁴ differentiates between the sub-protective, liberal or minimal, employment-centred, and universalistic regimes. (For the correspondence of these two classifications see Table 5.1.)

Liberal welfare regimes such as the United Kingdom and Ireland⁵⁵ are principally characterised by an emphasis on market-based social insurance and the use of means-testing (at the family level) in the distribution of benefits, with almost no active employment measures. The assumption is that higher levels of benefits might reduce work incentives; hence benefits are limited and largely stigmatised. These highly differentiated and stratified regimes are characterised by high labour market flexibility, weak, decentralised industrial relations and citizenship-based social provisions. Hypothetically, they should generate more jobs for the low skilled and prevent long-term unemployment (Andersen and Halvorsen, 2002). At the same time much poverty, large wage disparities with relatively pronounced wealth inequalities are distinctive features of the liberal welfare regimes.

In conservative welfare regimes (e.g. Germany, France, Belgium) the state rather than the market is likely to be important in delivery of welfare, but it does not encourage redistribution or equalisation. On the contrary, its goal is to maintain existing class and

⁵³ Without disregarding the importance of family in providing welfare, it seems however that the role of family is less central when studying labour markets for men who are largely the families' main breadwinners in all welfare regime types and irrespective of origins.

⁵⁴ Gallie and Paugam's (2000) classification relates to those aspects of welfare regimes that provide protection from labour market risks via the system of financial support for the unemployed and the institutional arrangements for intervention in the process of job allocation.

⁵⁵ The USA is a classical model for this type of regime.

WELFARE REGIMES AND IMMIGRANTS' EMPLOYMENT PROSPECTS 67

Regimes according to Esping- Andersen's (1999) classification	Regimes according to Gallie and Paugam's (2000) classification	Welfare coverage	Level and duration of welfare coverage	Employment protection legislation	Countries
1. Liberal	1. Liberal/ Minimal	Incomplete	Weak	Very unrestrictive	UK, Ireland
2. Conservative	2. Employment- centred	Variable	Unequal	Restrictive	France, Germany, Netherlands, Belgium, Luxembourg, Austria
	3. Sub-Protective	Very incomplete	Very weak	Very strict	Italy, Spain, Portugal, Greece
3. Social democratic	4. Universalistic	Comprehensive	High	Rather unrestrictive	Sweden, Denmark, Finland

 Table 5.1. Unemployment welfare regimes and welfare state regulation

Source: Based on Gallie and Paugam (2000).

status differentials. In the conservative regime strong job protection is given to employed adult male householders. Mayer (2001) assigns the following labour market and welfare peculiarities to this type of welfare regime: highly segregated, segmented and rigid labour markets with high labour costs, rather compressed wage structures, and employmentbased social insurance. Having low labour market flexibility, this welfare model produces insider-outsider divisions (Lindbeck and Snower, 1988). According to Gallie and Paugam (2000), a conservative welfare regime offers a much higher level of protection than a liberal one, and this is reflected in higher financial compensation and active employment policies. However, unemployment coverage remains far from complete and includes only those eligible for compensation, i.e. primarily those with previous work experience. A number of authors (Lessenich and Ostner, 1998; Mayer, 2000) single out Southern European countries as a separate Mediterranean type of welfare state regime, with a low level of welfare transfer (except for pensions) and high labour market rigidity. For the sake of parsimony this book does not consider the Mediterranean welfare regime separately, and strictly adheres to Esping-Andersen's (1999) classification of the 'three worlds of welfare capitalism'.

The typically Scandinavian social-democratic regime, such as in Sweden, Denmark and Finland, is a state-dominated welfare system. It is characterised by principles of universalism and egalitarianism, encourages equality across classes, and is based upon high standards rather than minimum standards as elsewhere. Esping-Andersen (1999) outlines two unique features of the social-democratic regime: the fusion of universalism with

generosity, and the comprehensive socialisation of risks. Full employment is a central element of this regime, both because it provides income support and because it makes it possible to pay the costs of welfare. Citizens enjoy high levels of social insurance based on universal citizenship rights and the general tax base. Ideally, duration of unemployment benefits is long or even indefinite, but may be conditional upon participation in active labour market programs and upon fulfilment of strict mobility requirements. Although countries constituting a social-democratic welfare regime boast high levels of wage equality and welfare state benefits, their labour markets are generally quite flexible and in principle provide many low-skilled service jobs in the public sector, though fail to do so for the private sector (Esping-Andersen, 1999). Overall, weak economic incentives may produce long-term unemployment and welfare dependency.

In what way are immigrant labour markets affected by the various types of welfare regime types in Europe? As mentioned earlier, two facets of the welfare regime - labour market regulation and welfare state provisions - might influence male immigrants' job search behaviour and their chances of landing employment in a host country's labour market. Firstly, it is expected that immigrants' prospects for entering employment, particularly higher-status employment, are dependent upon employers' decisions when screening educational characteristics and other productivity-related indicators of employees' prospects. This process is significantly influenced by labour market flexibility (see Sections 2.2 and 4.3). In countries with high job security employers tend to set higher standards for their employees, avoiding those with doubtful indicators of productivity – which might lead to a disproportionate exclusion of immigrants. In countries with low job security employers are more likely to hire without closely examining ascriptive indicators, in particular, because they can more easily test employees on the job and dismiss unsuitable candidates if necessary. Secondly, applicants' job search behaviour is related to having the financial support necessary to sustain the search: a provision that is one of the welfare state's responsibilities. As stressed in Section 2.2, if in some countries particular groups of immigrants (either the newly arrived or those without citizenship of the host country) are systematically deprived of welfare provisions comparable to those provided to the nativeborn, while in other countries all immigrants and the native-born are entitled to similar welfare support, one might expect differences in immigrants' labour market behaviour and variation in outcomes. Due to universal welfare coverage in social-democratic welfare regimes, in which even recently arrived immigrants are supported with rather generous welfare provisions, one might expect newcomers to be able to sustain their search for better employment and eventually enter higher-status jobs - even if, overall, this might be accompanied by higher immigrant unemployment rates.

Similarly, Faist (1996) and Hjerm (2004) see the mix of labour market regulation and welfare provision as being liable to affect immigrants' integration, particularly among newcomers. Faist (1996) argues that in countries with weaker labour market regulation the major problem for immigrants is not so much employment entry as risk of economic deprivation. This is particularly true for those who end up in low-paid jobs. Conversely, in countries with strict labour market regulation, especially if combined with comprehensive welfare protection, newcomers should be able to avoid deprivation. This

is, however, achieved solely through extensive welfare support and universal coverage (via redistribution of income). It is hardly a result of immigrants' own participation in the labour market, as stringent labour market regulation tends to reduce overall access to the labour market among immigrants in the first place.

How then should immigrants' economic circumstances vary within different types of welfare regime? Engelen (2003) suggests that immigrants' labour market experiences should differ between two institutional 'syndromes': 'the syndrome of mobility, openness, flexibility, and inequality' on the one hand and 'the syndrome of protection, closure, equality and rigidity' on the other. Engelen's classification of institutional 'syndromes' echoes the one by Rueda and Pontusson (2000), who differentiate between liberal market economies (LMEs) and social market economies (SMEs) according to three characteristics: the degree of employment regulation, the degree of wage coordination and the degree of income redistribution.⁵⁶ Somewhat similarly, Faist (1996), building on Baldwin-Edwards' (1991) conceptual framework,⁵⁷ suggests that a two-fold typology of welfare regimes that differentiates between the level of social rights and the degree of labour market regulation is satisfactory enough for the analysis of immigrants' labour markets. In sum, a number of authors have suggested that immigrants careers, and their labour market fortunes, differ markedly between the two types of welfare regimes.

The first regime, or syndrome in Engelen's terminology, refers to the Esping-Andersen (1999) liberal welfare regime and coincides with what Rueda and Pontusson (2000) understand by liberal market economies, and also with Faist's (1996) notion of market-oriented welfare states. In this regime the market orientation of firms towards price competition and the minimisation of costs, especially labour costs, has created an economic environment with abundant employment opportunities in low value-added personal and producer services, i.e. potential immigrant employment sectors. In addition to a residual welfare arrangement and a low wage economy, liberal welfare regimes have relatively open immigrant admission policies,⁵⁸ with immigrant economic incorporation being largely left to market forces (Engelen, 2003; Faist, 1996). At the same time,

⁵⁶ Firstly, social market economies, unlike liberal market economies, are characterised by comprehensive, publicly funded social welfare systems. Secondly, in contrast to LMEs, SMEs are characterised by the government's involvement in standardisation of employment conditions and provision of a high degree of employment security. While the details of labour market regulation might differ between countries, the effects are similar: increased costs of shedding labour for employers and greater standardisation of employment conditions across sectors. Thirdly, social market economies are distinguished by a high degree of institutionalisation of collective bargaining and coordination of wage formation. This means that wage increments in different economic sectors are more closely coupled in SMEs than in LMEs (Rueda and Pontusson, 2000), and the effect of bargaining centralisation upon wage compression is more pronounced, particularly in the lower half of the wage distribution (Pontusson et al., 2002).

⁵⁷ Baldwin-Edwards (1991) speaks of four immigration policy regimes, which closely mirror Esping-Andersen's welfare regime classification: (1) the semi-peripheral or Mediterranean regimes (e.g. Portugal, Greece, Spain and Italy), (2) the Schengen or mainland Continental model (e.g. Germany, Belgium), (3) the Scandinavian model (Denmark, Sweden), and (4) an outlier, the United Kingdom.

³⁸ In fact Engelen (2003) sees a clear institutional complementarity between residual welfare arrangements, a low wage economy and open first admission policies.

immigrants heading for liberal welfare states with their high-income inequality should, according to Borjas' (1988) immigrant self-selection thesis, be more positively selected with respect to less tangible characteristics, e.g., motivation, which in effect should result in better performance in the labour market.

However, there are certain side effects to the mobile, open, flexible and unequal labour markets of the liberal regimes. Even though the number of economic opportunities has grown with the economic upswing in the mid-1990s, many appeared to have been largely dead-end opportunities, since middle-rank jobs – being historic avenues for social mobility – have largely eroded. Instead, the 'hourglass' economy, with knowledge-intensive, high-paying jobs at one end, and labour-intensive, low-paying jobs at the other, has removed several rungs on the mobility ladder. These rungs have been crucial in the past for enabling immigrants, especially the less-educated and less-skilled, to start from the bottom and gradually ascend (Zhou, 1999). Hence the reality confronting immigrants in liberal welfare states is a growing number of high grade opportunities, open for highly educated white or possibly Asian immigrants, and a large quantity of low-paying, low skilled jobs reserved for unskilled or less ambitious immigrants.

As higher-status employment should be more within reach for immigrants in liberal welfare regimes, possible outcomes in these countries are, firstly, immigrants' overall lower unemployment and, secondly, a relatively high occupational status. Thus, one can expect differences between socio-demographically comparable immigrants and the native-born to be relatively small in liberal welfare regimes.

The second regime or syndrome, which according to Engelen (2003) includes both conservative and social-democratic welfare regimes, is characterised by a high level of income replacement, generous social services and a collaborative business environment.⁵⁹ Indeed, since both regimes provide a high level of protection against labour market risks, i.e. a high degree of decommodification, labour markets lean towards 'high skill – high wage' equilibrium with a strong tendency toward long-term relationships between firms and capital providers, suppliers, competitors and, most importantly, workers. Even though countries constituting the second syndrome might lack the mobility that characterises liberal welfare regimes, they seem to offer more security when it comes to the social costs brought about by radical economic transformation.

Given the high level of decommodification, the high level of colloborativeness in which labour market protection takes place, and the community sources of trust required for such things, countries belonging to this syndrome pursue exclusive admission policies,

⁵⁹ It also coincides with Faist's policy-oriented welfare states and Rueda and Pontusson's social market economies.

WELFARE REGIMES AND IMMIGRANTS' EMPLOYMENT PROSPECTS 71

accepting immigrants reluctantly⁶⁰ (Engelen, 2003). Furthermore, immigrants seem to have only limited chances in regimes characterised by a high degree of protection, high wage levels, a relatively closed but high-quality economy, a stark insider–outsider divide and a restrictive policy towards immigration. Hence, a hypothetical scenario of economic incorporation for underprivileged immigrants is differential inclusion, with their human capital being largely depreciated in the host countries' labour markets and their potential often neglected. Expected labour market outcomes for immigrant populations in conservative and social-democratic welfare regimes are then higher unemployment rates and lower occupational status (since higher-status jobs are practically closed for immigrants), leading to overall larger net disadvantages among immigrant populations. Taking into account that recent immigrants in social-democratic welfare regimes generally should be provided with financial resources sufficient to sustain a longer search for better employment – while this would be less the case in conservative welfare regimes – one would expect more recent immigrants in the former regimes to have somewhat higher unemployed.

But can empirical confirmation be found for differences between the labour market performance of immigrants and native-born in the different types of welfare regime? Can we find the patterns suggested by Engelen (2003), who predicts different economic performance of underprivileged immigrants in the liberal welfare regimes from that in conservative/social-democratic welfare regimes? How do other institutional factors, such as immigration policies and labour markets (both with respect to their structure and regulations) affect immigrant labour market performance in different welfare regimes? Before empirically assessing the effect of the host countries' institutional characteristics upon the employment success of immigrant populations, the first section in the next chapter summarises the main hypotheses for the influence of macro-level factors upon both the risk of unemployment and the occupational prestige of jobs – for immigrants and for native-born.

⁶⁰ Immigrants thus enter either under multilateral refugee and asylum agreements or under family reunification policies. Labour migration is limited, albeit growing.

CHAPTER 6. EMPIRICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE ROLE OF INSTITUTIONS IN THE LABOUR MARKET OUTCOMES OF MALE IMMIGRANTS IN FOURTEEN EUROPEAN UNION COUNTRIES

6.1. Hypotheses

Two important aspects of the immigrant economic situation in Europe are explored in this chapter: unemployment propensity and occupational status. Analysing unemployment propensity allows one to assess the general degree of openness of a host society's labour market towards immigrants. Looking at the occupational status of immigrant populations is no less important, since even if able to find employment, immigrants might be pushed to occupations and economic sectors abandoned by the native-born, leading to poorer assimilation.

The analyses presented in this chapter examine immigrants' chances of finding employment and their occupational status taking into account both individual attributes – such as key demographic and human capital characteristics – and structural factors that potentially influence the labour markets. The hypotheses put forward in line with the analyses largely concern the institutional factors in host countries that have an effect upon immigrant economic incorporation: immigration policies, labour market structure and regulations, and the nature of the welfare regime. All of these were discussed in Chapters 3, 4, and 5.

The main hypotheses as to the effects of the institutional context in the receiving societies on the likelihood of unemployment and the occupational status of immigrants (as compared to the native-born) are summarised below:

(H1) In accordance with the legal status of immigrants from the EU and other western industrialised countries in the European Union, largely equal to those of the native-born national population, the structural characteristics of the receiving societies may be expected to influence the labour markets for EU immigrants and for the native-born to the same degree. The institutional characteristics of the receiving societies might, however, have a different effect upon the labour market for migrants arriving from outside the EU.

orn n n bit o

 Table 6.1. Hypotheses regarding the role of institutions in the labour market outcomes of male third-country immigrants in Europe

	Unemployment propensity	Occupational status
Labour market structure and regulations	 (H2) The heavier the bottom of the host countries' occupational hierarchy the greater the chances third-country immigrants have of getting employment (see Section 4.2.1), so that the immigrants' employment disadvantage will be smaller. (H3) Unemployment risk of <i>recent</i> third-country immigrants might be higher in countries with less flexible labour markets (see Section 4.3), so that immigrants' employment disadvantage will be greater. 	
Immigration policy and immigrant reception	greater.	 (H4) In countries that have experienced a substantial inflow of third-country immigrants from former colonies (as compared to guest-worker recruiting and new immigration countries), immigrants' human capital should be more transferable in the host-country labour market and be a clearer indicator for employers than in non-ex-colonial countries (see Section 3.3.3). This should allow immigrants in ex-colonial countries to enjoy a higher occupational status, so that the gap between immigration countries (as compared to countries with a longer tradition of immigration, i.e. countries with a history of immigration from former colonies and/or guest-worker recruitment), fewer immigrants will possess human capital relevant to the host country (see Section 3.3.3) As a consequence they will be less able to get higher-status employment, so

EMPIRICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE ROLE OF INSTITUTIONS

Table 6.1.	(Continued)
------------	-------------

	Unemployment propensity	Occupational status
Welfare regime or institutional syndrome	 (H6) In liberal welfare regimes the third-country immigrants is expedstatus will be higher than in sociaregimes (see Chapter 5). (H7) In social-democratic welfare reto similar welfare state provision nature of the welfare system, sho searches for better employment or result in higher unemployment rastatus (particularly when compare which immigrants may be expect 	that the gap between immigrants and the native-born will be larger. risk of unemployment among cted to be lower while the occupational al-democratic and conservative welfare egimes <i>recent</i> immigrants, who are entitled s as the native-born due to the universal puld be financially able to sustain longer opportunities, which might effectively ttes but comparatively higher occupational ed to conservative welfare regimes, in ed to have somewhat lower unemployment

It is expected that the host country labour market structure and regulations will more strongly affect third-country immigrants' employment chances upon entry (see Table 6.1). Immigration policies will have a stronger impact upon immigrants' place in the hierarchy of the host societies via selection forces that relate the perceived quantity and quality of human capital to the local labour market.

6.2. Research Methodology

6.2.1. DATA

To examine the labour market performance in the 1990s of immigrants to the EU, namely their employment/unemployment and their occupational status, we have used the European Union Labour Force Survey (EULFS) data set (a combination of the original Labour Force Surveys (LFS) conducted in each of the 15 European Union countries) in the period of 1992–2000. (For details see Eurostat, 1992, 1996, 1998). The EULFS database provides standardised, cross-sectional information on labour force participation, employment and unemployment. It offers core demographic and migration information, and educational background, and is valuable for large sample sizes, ensuring sufficient coverage of the immigrant population. (For general information, details on sampling plan and data collection see Table A.3 in the Appendix.) At yearly intervals, the respective data are centrally compiled by Eurostat from the spring quarterly Labour Force Surveys run by individual EU member states. Since it is based upon these large-scale annual national surveys, the EULFS offers a rich series of cross-sectional labour market data ideal for comparative research and in particular the large-scale comparative research presented in this book.

Despite its being probably the best source of standardised and comparable data across the various European Union countries, EULFS suffers from some deficiencies relevant to the analysis of immigrant populations. Firstly, as is apparent in Table A.3 in the Appendix, many countries do not include collective households in the survey, thus neglecting recently-arrived asylum seekers who, as a rule, reside in specialised camps. Secondly, in some countries survey participation is voluntary, which probably results in under-representation of recent or precarious immigrants. All in all, it is to be expected that recent immigrants might be under-represented in the EULFS – as is the case in any survey which does not deliberately target these groups of immigrants in particular (Lindstrom and Massey, 1994). Moreover, illegal immigrants tend not to be covered in regular national surveys, as they are not part of the resident population by definition. The under-sampling of such people is likely to introduce an unavoidable bias into any models of immigrant assimilation.

Furthermore, Italy has been totally excluded from the analysis due to unreliable immigrantrelated information. Data for Austria, Sweden and Finland have been collected starting only in 1995, when these countries joined the EU. In the EULFS information on both country of birth and nationality is available but the quality of information on the country of birth of immigrants is in some years and some countries rather poor. Information on duration of residence in the host country also suffers from significant numbers of missing cases especially in France, Germany, Luxembourg and Spain. Moreover this information was not collected in Germany during 1992-1998 at all. Information on educational attainment is lacking in several countries for the year 1998, when a new classification of levels of education was launched by Eurostat. Taking into account these and some other deficiencies in the data the analysis has therefore been limited to a selected number of years and selected variables. The analytic strategy is to combine countries and observation years into a country-year dataset. The analysis firstly contrasts all immigrants with the native-born population in 14 EU countries; secondly, it focuses on the unemployment risk and occupational status of recent (up to five years in the host country), non-naturalised, third-country immigrants. For the first analysis the dataset comprises 28 country-year observations - two observation points for each country. The first observation selects the year 2000 (except for Finland, where 1999 data were used), and the second one refers to an earlier time point - normally 1995 (1996 for Denmark, Portugal, the Netherlands and Sweden; 1997 for Finland). The rationale behind the choice of these observation years is to study each country during periods of both strong economic performance (2000) and smaller but growing labour markets (as in the mid-1990s when the EU economy was recovering after the recession of the early 1990s). It has been impossible to include the whole time-series from 1995 to 2000 due to serious data problems with respect to immigration variables in 1996–1997 and educational attainment in 1998 in almost all EU countries. For the analysis of recent non-naturalised immigrants more extensive use of the 1992–2000 data can be made: 101 country-year observations, in which the average appearance of each country features about 7.2 times during this period.

The analysis focuses on the 18 to 64-year-old male⁶¹ labour force residing in collective or private households. It distinguishes between three groups: the native-born national population, immigrants from EU and other industrialised countries, and third-country immigrants. The analysis is divided into two parts: firstly, the total immigrant populations of the EU countries are scrutinised; and, secondly, recent non-naturalised immigrants (residing less than five years in the host country).

6.2.2. VARIABLES

Two labour market outcomes, dependent variables in the study, are examined – the risk of being unemployed and occupational status.

Unemployment is treated as a dichotomous variable distinguishing between employed and unemployed persons in the labour force.⁶² The standard International Labour Organisation (ILO, 1990) definition of unemployment is applied: Unemployed persons are those without a job, but currently available for and seeking work.⁶³

The second dependent variable, *occupational status*, is measured by the International Socio-Economic Index of Occupational Status (ISEI) and refers to the hierarchical position of one's occupation. Using the 3-digit ISCO-88 occupational codes (see Annex A.2 in the Appendix) each person in the civil labour force (i.e., non-military) is assigned a score on the International Socio-Economic Index of Occupational Status (ISEI), an interval scale ranging between 16 and 85 developed by Ganzeboom and Treiman (1996).

The log odds of being unemployed, and socio-economic status are predicted by a number of individual and macro-level variables.

⁶¹ The main focus of the analysis is upon the male labour force. Men are seen as the primary breadwinners, especially in immigrant families. On average the proportion of immigrant women in the labour force deviates markedly from their proportion in the population. Kiehl and Werner (1999) attribute this to traditional concepts of the division of labour in the family, difficulties in receiving work permits, as well as discrimination in the labour market. Immigrant women seeking employment might form a rather select group for cultural, religious as well as family reasons. Since immigrants are classified in rather broad, ethnically heterogeneous groups, analyses of women's labour market fortunes would have been handicapped using only the data at hand.

⁶² Thus 'inactive' persons, i.e., those studying, looking after the home, the retired, disabled, or others are excluded from the analyses.

⁶³ Due to its high comparability the ILO definition of unemployment may be without doubt called a superior measure of unemployment. Despite this it has a number of shortcomings, one of which is its treatment of discouraged workers. Discouraged workers, who have not been seeking work actively, are excluded from the definition of unemployed, which may effectively underestimate unemployment in times of economic recessions.

On the **individual** level the following dummy-coded⁶⁴ variables are included in the analysis:

- (1) *Comparison groups*: native-born (reference group), immigrants from EU or other western industrialised countries (sometimes designated simply EU immigrants) and third-country immigrants (i.e. immigrants from the rest of the world). Whereas in the analysis of total immigrant inflow the classification is based on the country of birth, in the analysis of recent immigrants the classification is based on nationality, and contrasts the native-born population to third-country nationals.
- (2) *Age groups*, dummy-coded variables with 3 categories: aged 18–24, aged 25–54 (as the reference group), and aged 55–64 for the analysis of the total immigrant population. For the analysis of recent non-naturalised immigrants the age groups are slightly different: 18–25, 26–45 (as the reference group), 46–65.
- (3) Level of education, namely, the lower, middle, and upper portions of the educational range, based on the seven-level International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) (see Annex A.3 in the Appendix for further details refer to UNESCO, 1997). More specifically, the first group, the reference category, includes those persons with basic compulsory education up to lower secondary education (ISCED 0–2); the second consists of those who have attained vocational, upper secondary education or post-secondary non-tertiary education at the most (ISCED 3–4); the third group is constituted by those possessing any kind of tertiary credentials (ISCED 5–6). In addition, cases with missing information on the level of education are marked by the corresponding dummy variable.
- (4) *Citizenship or naturalisation status*. This variable pertains only to immigrant populations and only in the models covering all immigrants (Tables 6.6 a,b,c and 6.8 a,b). It contrasts naturalised immigrants (= 1) to their non-naturalised counterparts (reference category). In the analyses presented in Tables 6.7 a,b,c and 6.9 no recent third-country immigrants are yet naturalised.
- (5) *Year of observation*, with the year 2000 serving as a reference category. In the analysis of all immigrants an earlier observation point (pertaining mostly to the year 1995, and in some cases 1996 or 1997) is coded as a dummy variable. In the analysis of recent immigrants a group of dummy-coded variables is included for each observation year starting from 1992.

The following **macro-level** variables are included in the analysis of unemployment risk and/or occupational status of all immigrants who entered EU countries after the Second World War:

(1) *The size of the bottom of the occupational hierarchy*: Percentage of the total labour force employed in occupations of the lowest quarter of the occupational ladder,

⁶⁴ The categorical form of variables used for the analysis is determined by the specifics of the data, received in the form of a multidimensional table.

i.e. those assigned score 16–33 on the ISEI scale.⁶⁵ In practice these include unskilled, semi-skilled and low-skilled occupations.⁶⁶

- (2) Dummy-coded variables classifying EU countries into three *welfare regime types*: liberal, conservative (reference category) and social-democratic (for the list of countries see Table 5.1).
- (3) A dummy variable contrasting countries that experienced significant *inflow from former colonies* (for the list of the countries see Table 3.1) vs. the rest (reference category).
- (4) A dummy variable contrasting countries where significant inflow started only recently *new immigration countries* (for the list of the countries see Table 3.1) vs. the rest (reference category).

Another macro-level variable is included in the analysis of unemployment risk of recent non-EU immigrants:

(5) Summary index of the *strictness of employment protection* developed by the OECD (1999: 66, Table 2.5). The OECD EPL strictness index ranges from 0 to 4, where higher scores imply stricter employment protection and stricter regulation in the use of flexible forms of work agreements. Low EPL countries, e.g. the UK and Ireland, score 0.5 and 0.9 on the index respectively, while the more regulated Southern European labour markets reach index scores of around 3.5. (The scores are plotted in Figure 4.6).

In addition to the macro-level variables used for testing the hypotheses, a number of control macro-level variables are also included.

- (6) To account for a country's overall economic performance and to examine the claim that immigrants profit from expanding labour markets more than the nativeborn (Jones, 1993), *GDP percentage change* on a year ago, taken from the OECD Statistical Compendium, is included in the models of unemployment propensity.
- (7) To examine how immigrants' occupational attainment is related to their composition particularly with respect to educational selectivity models of occupational status control for the *relative selectivity of third-country immigrants*, measured as the difference between the proportion of third-country immigrants with tertiary education and the tertiary educated native-born (see Table 3.4 for numbers).⁶⁷

Bivariate correlation coefficients for macro-level variables applied in the analyses can be found in Tables 6.2–6.5 below. Tables 6.2 and 6.3 contain bivariate correlation coefficients

⁶⁵ Alternatively other definitions of the lower-end of the occupational hierarchy were checked, namely its lower third or all unskilled and semi-skilled occupations. Results remain robust if applying these alternative classifications.

⁶⁶ The following occupational categories are considered the bottom of the occupational hierarchy in the study: 512–514, 611–615, 711–712, 714, 721, 732–733, 742, 744, 812–814, 816, 822–829, 833–834, 911–933. For the description of occupations see Annex A.2 in the Appendix.

⁶⁷ This variable pertains to the composition of the immigrant inflow. An alternative would be to measure the absolute selectivity of the immigrant inflow, i.e. the proportion of tertiary educated immigrants from third countries. Including this variable does not change the results substantially.

 Table 6.2. Bivariate correlation coefficients between macro-level variables included in the analyses presented in Table 6.6a

Variable	1	2	3	4
1. Liberal welfare regime	1			
2. Conservative welfare regime	-0.55^{**}	1		
3. Social-democratic welfare regime	-0.21	-0.70^{**}	1	
4. Demand for low-skilled labour	-0.21	0.23	-0.09	1
5. GDP change	0.54**	-0.35	-0.06	0.01

Notes: N = 28.

 $p^* < 0.05$, $p^* < 0.01$ (two tailed tests).

 Table 6.3. Bivariate correlation coefficients between macro-level variables included in the analyses presented in Table 6.7a

Variable	1	2	3	4	5
1. Liberal welfare regime	1				
2. Conservative welfare regime	-0.60**	1			
3. Social-democratic regime	-0.18	-0.68**	1		
4. Demand for low-skilled labour	-0.17	0.21*	-0.10	1	
5. EPL strictness	-0.68^{**}	0.77**	-0.32^{**}	0.62**	1
6. GDP change	0.27**	-0.24^{*}	0.05	-0.02	-0.22^{**}

Notes: N = 101.

p < 0.05, p < 0.01 (two tailed tests).

 Table 6.4. Bivariate correlation coefficients between macro-level variables included in the analyses presented in Table 6.8a

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Liberal welfare regime	1					
2. Conservative welfare regime	-0.55^{**}	1				
3. Social-democratic welfare regime	-0.21	-0.70^{**}	1			
4. Ex-colonial countries	0.00	0.45*	-0.52^{**}	1		
5. Guest-worker countries	-0.47^{*}	0.26	0.10	0.00	1	
6. New immigration countries	0.12	-0.07	-0.03	-0.15	-0.86^{**}	1
7. Third-country immigrants' selectivity	0.67**	-0.36	-0.15	0.06	-0.56**	0.48*

Notes: N = 28.

 $^{\ast}p<0.05,\,^{\ast\ast}p<0.01$ (two tailed tests).

 Table 6.5. Bivariate correlation coefficients between macro-level variables included in the analyses presented in Table 6.9

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Liberal welfare regime	1					
2. Conservative welfare regime	-0.60^{**}	1				
3. Social-democratic welfare regime	-0.18	-0.68^{**}	1			
4. Ex-colonial countries	-0.02	0.46**	-0.54^{**}	1		
5. Guest-worker countries	-0.45**	0.18	0.19	0.03	1	
6. New immigration countries	0.05	0.06	-0.12	-0.17	-0.85^{**}	1
7. Third-country immigrants' selectivity	0.44**	-0.24*	-0.12	-0.04	-0.07	0.12

Notes: N = 101.

 $p^* < 0.05$, $p^* < 0.01$ (two tailed tests).

for variables used in modelling unemployment propensity and occupational status of all post-war immigrants; while Tables 6.4 and 6.5 contain analogous coefficients for variables included in the analyses of recent non-naturalised immigrants. In effect, it is possible to compare correlations between the macro-level variables by narrowing down to two observation points (as in the analyses of all immigrants), or by more extensive use of the data (as in the analyses of recent immigrants). Furthermore, it is possible to compare the degree of selectivity of more established third-country immigrants and more recent newcomers in various country-types.

It is worth noting that countries having liberal welfare regimes together with new immigration countries manage to attract more highly educated third-country immigrants (relative to the proportion of highly educated native-born people). The overall selectivity of immigrants appears to be lower in countries with the guest-worker tradition (see Table 6.4). With respect to the selectivity of more recent immigrants, new immigration countries hardly differ from countries with a longer tradition of immigration (see Table 6.5). Liberal welfare regimes, however, continue to attract more selective migrants than other countries, while conservative welfare regimes appear to attract less selective newcomers.

In accordance with Esping-Andersen's (1990, 1999) theoretical framework, liberal welfare regimes are characterised by lower employment protection, while in conservative welfare regimes stricter EPL is apparent. Countries belonging to the social-democratic welfare tradition also have less rigid labour markets (see Table 6.3). The fact that demand for unskilled and low-skilled labour is higher in conservative welfare regimes was already shown in Section 4.2.1, and is also confirmed by correlation coefficients presented in Table 6.3. Further, correlation coefficients show clearly that in the second half of the 1990s liberal welfare regimes have benefited from strong economic growth (see Tables 6.2, 6.3), driven in particular by Irish economic expansion. Labour markets have hardly been expanding in social-democratic or conservative welfare regimes, which is also evident from Table 6.3.

6.2.3. METHOD OF ANALYSIS

The method used for explaining the cross-national variation in unemployment likelihood and occupational status among immigrants (as compared to the native-born) is multilevel analysis (Bryk and Raudenbush, 1992; Longford, 1993; Goldstein, 1995; Kreft and de Leeuw, 1998; Snijders and Bosker, 1999). Multilevel analysis techniques are well suited to dealing with the hierarchical structure of the data. It would be incorrect to use normal logistic or ordinary least square regression techniques to analyse the effect of micro-and macro-level factors upon immigrant economic attainment since the error terms at the macro level are neglected and the standard errors of parameters are underestimated (Snijders and Bosker, 1999).

A hierarchical linear and non-linear modelling (HLM 5.05) program (Raudenbush et al., 2000) is used here to estimate the effect of nationality and immigrant status upon unemployment likelihood and occupational status. The two-level contextual analysis has certain advantages: firstly, it allows the effect of immigrant status to vary between the countries; secondly, it enables one to estimate the effect of country-level attributes upon immigrant inequality in unemployment propensity or occupational standing. The relatively small number of macro-level units (14 EU countries) makes the estimation of the significance of macro-level variables in accounting for cross-national variation potentially less accurate. To mitigate this problem several years of observation were combined into a single dataset resulting in a country–year second-level data set, while the variable(s) pertaining to survey years were included on the individual level as dummy variables.

One of the strengths of the HLM is its ability to weight its parameter estimates toward leveltwo units with more data, so countries with a relatively small number of immigrants will not seriously bias the results (due to the large sampling error associated with small sample size).

The multi-level equation predicting the log odds for immigrants of being unemployed in the EU countries takes the following form:⁶⁸

Level 1

$$ln\left[\frac{P_{unemployed}}{P_{employed}}\right] = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j}(EU \ immigrants) + \beta_{2j}(Third-country \ immigrants) + \beta_{ij}X;^{69}$$

⁶⁸ The notation by Bryk and Raudenbush (1992) is applied here.

⁶⁹ Snijders and Bosker (1999) argue that this model should not include a separate parameter for the level-one variance, because it is an equation for the probability of the outcome rather than the outcome itself Y_{ij} . While for continuous outcome variables the level-one residual variance was assumed to be constant, this is inadequate for dichotomous dependent variables where the analogous parameter is interpreted as the average residual variance, because in this case the groups have different intra-group variances. If one interprets a logistic regression as a linear regression of a continuous latent variable observed in dichotomised form, the so-called threshold model, then the individual level residual r_{ij} is assumed to have a standard logistic distribution with the fixed variance of $\pi^2/3$ (3.289) (Long, 1997; Snijders and Bosker, 1999).

where

- β_{0j} = the intercept (log odds of being unemployed for the native-born, aged 26–45 with compulsory education in country *j*);
- β_{lj} = the difference in log odds of being unemployed between native-born and immigrants from EU or other industrial countries in country *j*;
- β_{2j} = the difference in log odds of being unemployed between native-born and thirdcountry immigrants in country *j*;
- β_{ij} = slopes for *i* control variables *X*, which include age groups, education levels, citizenship (only for immigrants) and year of observation. In such a model each of the β -coefficients represent a particular group's divergence (expressed as a dummy variable) from the reference category in a corresponding variable.

Macro-level variables are successively included in the model in order to assess their relative significance in explaining macro-level variation in immigrant inequality with respect to employment propensity. The final model is as follows:

Level 2

$$\begin{split} \beta_{0j} &= \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01} (\% \ Low - skilled)_j + \gamma_{02} (Liberal \ regime)_j \\ &+ \gamma_{03} (Social - democratic \ regime)_j + \gamma_{04} (GDP \ change)_j + u_{0j}; \\ \beta_{1j} &= \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11} (\% \ Low - skilled)_j + \gamma_{12} (Liberal \ regime)_j \\ &+ \gamma_{13} (Social - democratic \ regime)_j + \gamma_{14} (GDP \ change)_j + u_{1j}; \\ \beta_{2j} &= \gamma_{20} + \gamma_{21} (\% \ Low - skilled)_j + \gamma_{22} (Liberal \ regime)_j \\ &+ \gamma_{23} (Social - democratic \ regime)_j + \gamma_{24} (GDP \ change)_j + u_{2j}. \end{split}$$

where γ_{00} , γ_{10} and γ_{20} are the level-2 intercepts of the intercept and the slopes for immigrants from EU or other western countries and third-country immigrants, and u_{0j} , u_{1j} and u_{2j} are the error terms corresponding to the variation of the intercept and the slopes for both immigrant groups on the country level. To ease the estimation procedure a slope for immigrants from the third countries was allowed to vary between countries, while the slope for immigrants from EU countries was fixed; and vice versa. When analysing the unemployment risk of the recent (up to 5 years in the country) non-naturalised third-country immigrants in accordance with the hypotheses put forward, the effect of employment protection legislation is also included at the macro-level.

The model for occupational status is estimated in a similar fashion:

Level 1

$$Y_{ij} = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j}(EU \text{ immigrants}) + \beta_{2j}(Third-country \text{ immigrants}) + \beta_{ij}X + r_{ij};$$

In addition to coefficients whose meanings have been described above and which should be modified in accordance with the metric nature of the dependent variable, there is an additional error term in this model. It is assumed that r_{ij} is normally distributed with homogeneous variance across countries, that is, $r_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$.

Here, similar to the models of unemployment propensity, macro-level variables are successively included in order to assess their relative significance in explaining macro-level variation in immigrant inequality with respect to occupational status so that the second level of the final model appears as follows:⁷⁰

Level 2

$$\begin{split} \beta_{0j} &= \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01} (Former \ colonial \ power)_j + \gamma_{02} (New \ immigration \ country)_j \\ &+ \gamma_{03} (Migrant \ selectivity)_j + \gamma_{04} (Liberal \ regime)_j \\ &+ \gamma_{05} (Social - democratic \ regime)_j + u_{0j}; \\ \beta_{1j} &= \gamma_{10} + u_{1j}; \\ \beta_{2j} &= \gamma_{20} + \gamma_{21} (Former \ colonial \ power)_j + \gamma_{22} (New \ immigration \ power)_j \\ &+ \gamma_{23} (Migrant \ selectivity)_j + \gamma_{24} (Liberal \ regime)_j \\ &+ \gamma_{25} (Social - democratic \ regime)_j + u_{2j}. \end{split}$$

None of the individual level variables, being dummy-coded variables, are centred in any of the models. The slopes of all individual level control variables (β_{ij}) were constrained to be equal across countries. In principle, the effects of the individual characteristics could also be allowed to vary on the country level. However, freeing too many slopes multiplies the number of variances and covariances that are estimated, which dramatically increases the complexity of the model and impedes convergence (Bryk and Raudenbush, 1992). Besides, the main aim of the analysis is to assess how the effects of immigrant status with regard to unemployment risk and occupational prestige vary across European countries, and also how immigrant inequalities are influenced by pertinent institutional characteristics in the EU countries. Individual-level characteristics, on the other hand, are said to operate in more or less the same way across all of Europe. For example, it is assumed that tertiary education protects against unemployment and increases occupational status in all EU countries, while poorly-educated persons face similar dangers of unemployment and lower occupational prestige in any of the countries analysed here.

⁷⁰ The analogous model has been estimated for recent third-country non-naturalised immigrants.

6.3. Findings

6.3.1. DESCRIPTIVE RESULTS

Figure 6.1 plots unemployment rates of men⁷¹ belonging to three comparison groups: the native-born, immigrants from EU and other western industrialised countries, and third-country immigrants. This is performed for countries across the European Union to gain insight into variations in the respective indicators both nationally and, more importantly, cross-nationally.

It is evident that in all the countries under discussion male immigrants from third countries have higher unemployment rates, while unemployment rates of EU immigrants are quite similar to those of the native-born in the majority of countries. Only in the Netherlands, Ireland, Spain – and particularly Portugal and Greece – do EU immigrants have substantially higher unemployment rates. Cross-national variation in the unemployment rates of third-country immigrants is also apparent. In Southern European countries, Ireland and





Source: EULFS, 1995-2000.

⁷¹ Since the multivariate analysis focuses on the male immigrant population, the descriptive statistics focus on men as well. Corresponding figures for women can be found in the Appendix (Figure A.1). These figures reveal that the main trends in national and cross-national variation in unemployment rates for immigrant women as compared to the native-born are largely similar.

the UK unemployment rates among third-country immigrants seem to be closer to those among the native-born males, whereas in other continental and Scandinavian countries employment disadvantage appears to be more pronounced among this immigrant group. In Belgium, the Netherlands and Denmark, for example, male immigrants have almost a fourfold likelihood of being unemployed as compared to the native-born. In Luxembourg and Sweden unemployment rates of third-country immigrants are more than three times higher.

With respect to the occupational status (ISEI) of jobs held by male⁷² immigrants compared with the native-born some variation in the magnitude of differences is apparent, but the underlying trend seems to be similar across almost all EU countries (see Figure 6.2). With few exceptions (Germany, Sweden and Finland), immigrants from EU and other western industrialised countries hold jobs of higher occupational status than native-born men, while the occupational status of third-country immigrants is, as a rule, lower. Only in Ireland, the UK and Portugal is the occupational status of third-country immigrants higher than it is among the native-born; while in Spain, France and Finland third-country immigrants do not significantly differ from the native-born with respect to the type of employment they attain.



Figure 6.2. Occupational status (ISEI) of male immigrants and the native-born, aged 18–64, in EU countries *Source*: EULFS, 1995–2000.

⁷² The corresponding figure for women can be found in the Appendix (Figure A.2). Trends of occupational

Though offering a general idea of the magnitude of employment and occupational disadvantage among third-country immigrants, these figures might be somewhat misleading since they do not take into account differences in the human capital and demographic characteristics of immigrants – the variation of which is documented in Sections 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 of the current work. The next section, therefore, presents the results of the multivariate analyses, which take into account both individual characteristics of the analysed individuals and the institutional factors of the host societies.

6.3.2. UNEMPLOYMENT RISK OF MALE IMMIGRANTS IN THE EU

Tables 6.6a (macro-level effects), 6.6b (individual-level effects) and 6.6c (variance components) present the results of the logistic two-level regression. It predicts the log odds of being unemployed for native-born men as compared to the two groups of male immigrants, i.e. those from EU or other industrialised countries and those from third countries. The aim of Model 1 (see Table 6.6a) is to assess the difference between the third-country immigrants and the native-born when none of the individual level variables is included, while allowing systematic variation across countries (betweencountry variation) in the intercept and the slope for third-country immigrants. The slope for immigrants from EU or other western-industrialised countries is fixed to ease the estimation procedure. The coefficient for third-country immigrants (b = 0.92) suggests that, on average, third-country male immigrants are more likely to be unemployed than the native-born male population, when not controlling for individual level attributes. When socio-demographic characteristics of individuals are controlled for in addition to the free variation of the intercept and slope for third-country immigrants across countries - as it is shown in model 2 - the difference in the odds of being unemployed between the native-born and third-country male immigrants increases slightly $(e^{1.07}).$

In addition to the differences between the two immigrant groups (the coefficients for the EU immigrants will be discussed later in more detail) and the native-born population, on average⁷³ a rather significant disadvantage ($e^{0.82}$) exists for young men compared to those 25–54-years-old in finding employment (see Table 6.6b⁷⁴). At the same time, older people have similar chances of being employed compared to the reference group. Those who left school with a vocational or secondary education certificate

⁷³ It should be noted that the effects of the individual level variables (which are fixed in all the models presented in this study) should be interpreted as average for the European Union. Since the main focus of this book is upon the macro-level determinants of unemployment risk among immigrants in the EU, variation in the effects of the individual level variables, possibly existing between EU member states, is not addressed in the present study.

⁷⁴ Individual-level predictors remain more or less the same, irrespective of the model estimated; hence the individual-level results are presented only once.

are more likely to find employment ($e^{0.40}$), controlling for other individual level variables. Tertiary education provides even better chances for male non-nationals to find employment. The odds of being unemployed for holders of tertiary education certificates in the EU are much ($e^{-0.83}$) lower than for those who have compulsory education only, other things being equal. Since the data include cases with missing information on the educational level, a dummy variable has been introduced to account for such cases. This signifies that persons for whom information about their education is missing have a lower risk of being unemployed than people with compulsory education. Further, naturalised immigrants have a slightly lower risk of unemployment ($e^{-0.25}$) than

 Table 6.6a.
 Macro-level effects of logistic two-level regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed among men in European Union countries, 1995–2000

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7	Model 8
Intercept	-2.66**	-2.66**	-2.66**	-2.84**	-2.97**	-2.65**	-2.67**	-2.85**
(Native-born)	(0.10)	(0.12)	(0.13)	(0.15)	(0.13)	(0.10)	(0.12)	(0.14)
Demand for low-skill jobs			0.01	0.02	0.01			0.02
			(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)			(0.02)
Liberal regime				0.41**	0.45			0.38*
				(0.15)	(0.34)			(0.15)
Social-democratic				0.48^{*}	0.42*			0.49^{*}
regime				(0.20)	(0.16)			(0.19)
GDP change					-0.05			-0.04
					(0.04)			(0.04)
EU immigrants (Difference	e from nati	ve-born)						
Intercept	0.29**	0.45**	0.45**	0.45**	0.45**	0.37**	0.51**	0.58^{*}
	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.10)
Demand for								0.02
low-skill jobs								(0.01)
Liberal regime								-0.11
								(0.18)
Social-democratic								-0.27
regime								(0.20)
GDP change								0.01
								(0.03)
Third-country immigrants	(Difference	e from nati	ve-born)					
Intercept	0.92**	1.07**	1.07**	1.11**	1.14**	0.96**	0.98**	1.00**
	(0.08)	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.12)	(0.12)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.07)
Demand for			-0.03^{**}	-0.04^{**}	-0.04^{**}			
low-skill jobs			(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)			
Liberal regime				-0.43^{**}	-0.52^{**}			
				(0.16)	(0.17)			
Social-democratic				0.21°	0.18			
regime				(0.11)	(0.12)			
GDP change					0.02			
					(0.03)			

°p <= 0.1; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01. Robust standard errors are in parentheses.

N (individual level) = 865, 732; N (second level) = 28.

Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1995–2000, selected years.

Table 6.6b. Individual-level effects of logistic two-level regression predicting the logodds of being unemployed among men in European Union countries, 1995–2000

Individual-level variable	Coefficient	Robust standard error	Significance
Age			
18–24	0.82	(0.10)	**
25–54 (ref.)	0	× /	
55–64	0.12	(0.13)	
Level of education			
Compulsory (ref.)	0		
Upper secondary	-0.40	(0.07)	**
Tertiary	-0.83	(0.10)	**
Information missing	-0.21	(0.09)	*
Naturalisation status (Naturalised $= 1$)	-0.28	(0.08)	**
Year of observation (earlier observation $= 1$)	0.28	(0.17)	

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

N (individual level) = 865,732.

Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1995-2000, selected years.

Model	Variance intercept	Variance slope EU immigrants	Variance slope third-country immigrants	Covariance slope and intercept
1	0.48		0.21	-0.17
2	0.47		0.20	-0.15
3	0.47		0.19	-0.14
4	0.39		0.15	-0.13
5	0.38		0.15	-0.13
6	0.45	0.26		-0.09
7	0.44	0.24		-0.12
8	0.37	0.20		-0.11

 Table 6.6c.
 Variance components in logistic two-level regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed among men in European Union countries, 1995–2000

N (individual level) = 865,732; N (second level) = 28. Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1995–2000, selected years.

their non-naturalised counterparts. Finally, in the mid-1990s the risk of unemployment was generally higher due to the less favourable labour market conditions, albeit insignificantly.

In Models 3-5 (back in Table 6.6a) the intercept and the slope for third-country immigrants are modelled as a function of macro-level characteristics, namely countries' demand for low-skilled labour (Model 3), the nature of the welfare regime (Model 4), and the general

economic climate in the country (Model 5). Since the effects of macro-level predictors upon the slope for third-country or EU immigrants are of primary interest to this study – while the structural determinants of unemployment in general (main effects) are not, the former will now be discussed in detail.

The proportion of the unskilled and low skilled in the total labour force, which serves as a proxy for the size of the secondary labour market, turns out to be a significant factor in explaining immigrant inequalities in finding employment (see Model 3). In countries with a stronger demand for less-qualified labour the gap between third-country immigrants and the native-born shrinks. This is evident from the significant negative cross-level interaction effect (b = -0.03) of the slope for third-country immigrants with this macro-level variable. Furthermore, any variation in immigrant employment inequalities between countries constituting different welfare regimes is investigated. So, in addition to the variable measuring countries' demand for unskilled and low-skilled labour, two dummy coded variables pertaining to liberal and social-democratic regimes – with the conservative regime being a reference category – are included in Model 4.

It is evident that third-country immigrants' employment disadvantage is significantly lower in the liberal welfare states than in the conservative welfare states. In social-democratic welfare states immigrants are slightly more disadvantaged when looking for jobs compared to the continental (conservative) regimes (the effect is significant at a 10% level). Variance of the slope for third-country immigrants is reduced for about a quarter [(1 - (0.15/0.20))*100%] once variables pertaining to the labour market structure and the nature of the welfare regime are included as compared to the model with individual level predictors only. Cross-country differences in labour market structure alone account for 5% of the variance in the slope for third-country immigrants' with respect to unemployment propensity (see Table 6.6c).

In Model 5, along with the variables related to the labour market structure and welfare regimes, the general economic climate in EU countries is accounted for, measured by the percentage change in the current year GDP. It appears that economic expansion (and the economies of most EU countries grew during the period under discussion) influences the chances of third-country immigrants and the native-born to find employment similarly. This contradicts the idea put forward by Jones (1993), that in times of economic recovery immigrants' unemployment falls more rapidly than that of the native-born. GDP growth neither plays any significant role in explaining the employment disadvantages of third-country immigrants (see also Table 6.6c), nor does it strongly influence the effects of other macro-level variables. The negative effect of the demand for lowskilled and unskilled jobs remains significant also in Model 5. The lower employment disadvantage for third-country immigrants observed in countries having liberal welfare regime becomes even more marked once those countries' economic growth is taken into account. Conversely, the higher risk of such immigrants facing unemployment in socialdemocratic welfare regimes is somewhat reduced, with the effect falling short of statistical significance.

In Models 6-8 the slope for immigrants coming from EU or other western countries is made random, while the slope for third-country immigrants is fixed.⁷⁵ Mimicking Model 1 for third-country immigrants, Model 6 examines the log odds of EU immigrants being employed as compared to the native-born, irrespective of the socio-demographic and human capital characteristics of both groups. It is obvious that the disadvantage of EU immigrants ($e^{0.37} = 1.45$ times) is less pronounced than is the case for third-country immigrants. When age, education, nationality and year of observation are controlled for (see Model 7), the net disadvantage for EU immigrants increases but still remains only half as large as the respective disadvantage of third-country immigrants. Model 8 aims at determining if the characteristics of the labour market and welfare regime of receiving societies that account for the variation in third-country immigrants' employment disadvantage are also responsible for the greater risk of unemployment in EU immigrants. Countries' economic growth is also accounted for in Model 8, as Model 5 did for thirdcountry immigrants. It appears that none of the structural characteristics included in the model significantly affect employment disadvantage among EU immigrants. The size of the unskilled labour market sector seems not to matter when explaining unemployment differentials between EU immigrants and the native-born. There are no particular differences between countries belonging to different welfare regimes when it comes to employment chances among EU immigrants either. Finally, a country's economic climate does not have any significant effect upon employment disadvantages for migrants coming from EU and other western industrialised countries.

6.3.3. UNEMPLOYMENT RISK OF RECENT MALE IMMIGRANTS IN THE EU

It is well known that recent immigrants are at a higher risk of inactivity and unemployment compared to more established immigrants, not to mention the native-born population. In this section the main focus will be upon the unemployment risk of recent (up to 5 years in the country) non-naturalised immigrants. In contrast to the previous analyses, third-country immigrants are defined here according to their nationality and not their country of birth, since information on the former proved to be of better quality in the EULFS. By focusing on third-country nationals who immigrated in the last five years we can: (1) ascertain the difficulties faced by the immigrant population immediately upon arrival; (2) examine the effect of the EPL in receiving countries upon the unemployment differential between third-country immigrants and the native-born; and (3) fully exploit the potential of the EULFS by including more observation years. (Since nationality information is of a higher quality than country-of-birth information, more data points can be included.) It should, however, be acknowledged that recent immigrants will certainly be underrepresented within the LFS. The LFS does not include data on all those who have recently moved to the EU, and is very unlikely to cover a representative sample of illegal residents.

⁷⁵ In a practical sense, it is possible to free both effects for third-country and those for EU immigrants, but this substantially impedes the convergence procedure.

As in the earlier analyses, coefficients pertaining to the macro-level variables are presented in Table 6.7a; individual-level effects can be found in Table 6.7b; and variance components are documented in Table 6.7c. Models in Table 6.7a largely follow the structure of Table 6.6a. Model 1 ascertains the effect for third-country immigrants without taking into account individual characteristics of the immigrant and nativeborn population. It is clear from the results below that recent third-country immigrants have a substantially lower chance of finding a job ($e^{-1.37}$) in EU countries as compared with the native-born, and that the gap is larger for this group of immigrants than for the third-country immigrants as a whole (compare with Model 1, Table 6.6a).

Table 6.7a. Macro-level effects of logistic two-level regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed for recent third-country immigrants and the native-born in European Union countries, 1992–2000

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Intercept (Native-born)	-2.56**	-2.65**	-2.58**	-2.86**	-2.78**
	(0.05)	(0.13)	(0.14)	(0.15)	(0.14)
Demand for low-skilled jobs			0.05**	0.02	0.03
5			(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.02)
EPL strictness			-0.28**	0.16	0.11
			(0.05)	(0.13)	(0.13)
Liberal regime				0.98**	1.13**
				(0.25)	(0.25)
Social-democratic				0.56**	0.57**
regime				(0.17)	(0.18)
GDP change					-0.09**
					(0.03)
Third-country immigrants (Diff	ference from n	ative-born)			
Intercept	1.37**	1.28**	1.24**	1.33**	1.35**
	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.06)	(0.08)	(0.07)
Demand for low-skilled jobs			-0.11^{**}	-0.09^{**}	-0.09^{**}
			(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)
EPL strictness			0.27**	-0.04	-0.04
			(0.08)	(0.14)	(0.14)
Liberal regime				-1.02^{**}	-1.06^{**}
				(0.25)	(0.25)
Social-democratic				0.42*	0.40*
regime				(0.19)	(0.19)
GDP change					0.00
					(0.02)

°p <= 0.1; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01. Robust standard errors are in parentheses.

N (individual level) = 282,689; N (second level) = 101.

Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1992-2000, selected years.

Table 6.7b. Individual-level effects of logistic two-level regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed for recent third-country immigrants and for the native-born in European Union countries, 1992–2000

Individual-level variable	Coefficient	Robust standard error	Significance
Age			
18–25	0.78	(0.04)	**
26–45 (ref.)	0		
46–65	-0.21	(0.04)	**
Level of education			
Compulsory (ref.)	0		
Upper secondary	-0.40	(0.03)	**
Tertiary	-0.76	(0.05)	**
Information missing	-0.32	(0.04)	**
Year of observation			
1992	0.17	(0.19)	
1993	0.39	(0.20)	
1994	0.45	(0.19)	*
1995	0.27	(0.19)	
1996	0.25	(0.20)	
1997	0.34	(0.20)	
1998	0.34	(0.21)	
1999	0.23	(0.18)	
2000 (ref.)	0	、 /	

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

N (individual level) = 282,689.

Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1992-2000, selected years.

Table 6.7c. Variance components in logistic two-level regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed among recent third-country immigrants and the native-born in European Union countries, 1992–2000

Model	Variance intercept	Variance slope immigrants	Covariance slope and intercept
1	0.44	0.71	-0.25
2	0.42	0.62	-0.16
3	0.34	0.30	-0.03
4	0.32	0.18	-0.01
5	0.31	0.18	-0.01

N (individual level) = 282,689; N (second level) = 101.

Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1992–2000, selected years.

When socio-demographic characteristics and fluctuations of the business cycle are accounted for, as in Model 2, the net disadvantage of third-country immigrants decreases slightly, indicating that at least some portion of the observed ethnic disadvantage is explained by the socio-demographic disadvantage of recent immigrants. It is reasonable to assume that the number of covariates included in the model on the individual level is far too small to account for the whole variety of difficulties encountered by recent arrivals, e.g. host-country language problems, immediate adaptability and so on. It is also assumed, however, that recent immigrants experience quite similar difficulties immediately upon their arrival in any of the EU countries. The question thus arises: are systematic differences between EU countries, with respect to the structure of the labour market and the nature of welfare regimes, responsible for the variation in immigrant unemployment penalties?

But before shedding light on this issue, several individual-level effects are worth mentioning (see Table 6.7b). First of all, when the lower boundary of the older age group is changed so that more younger people are included, the risk of unemployment for the older age group (46–65 years old) progressively reduces. Effects of educational attainment correspond to those reported earlier. Dummy variables for the years of observation show up existing cyclical variations between the years 1992 and 2000, with European labour markets being particularly depressed in the year 1994 as compared to 2000.

Model 3 in Table 6.7a includes a variable pertaining to the proportion of unskilled or lowskilled jobs in the labour market and, as in the earlier analysis, this proves to be helpful in explaining cross-country variation in unemployment differentials between third-country immigrants and the native-born. Indeed, a heavier bottom in a host countries' occupational hierarchy tends to equalise the likelihood of recent third-country immigrants of securing employment (compared to the native-born). In accordance with the hypothesis formulated for recent immigrants regarding the effect of the EPL upon employment inequalities, the effect of EPL strictness is positive and statistically significant. This means that stricter employment protection legislation might be held accountable for the greater difficulty recent third-country immigrants face in finding employment, once national labour market structures are controlled for. Taken together, the two variables pertaining to labour market structure and regulation manage to explain about 50% of the variance in the slope for recent third-country immigrants present in the model containing only individual-level characteristics⁷⁶ (see Table 6.7c).

To illustrate these effects Figure 6.3 presents bivariate plots of the two aforementioned labour market indicators and the relative employment disadvantage among recent third-country immigrants.⁷⁷ The left graph clearly shows that in countries with a heavier

⁷⁶ It is worth noting here that the explanatory power of the macro-level variables is much greater when analysing labour market fortunes of more recent immigrants.

⁷⁷ The plots indicate the averages (for the period between 1992 and 2000) for the relative employment disadvantage and the proportion of those employed on the lower end of the occupational hierarchy.



Figure 6.3. Labour market indicators (share of unskilled and low-skilled jobs and EPL index) and relative employment disadvantage of recent third-country immigrants (relative unemployment rate among recent third-country immigrants as compared to the native-born) in EU countries *Source*: EULFS, 1992–2000.

bottom in the occupational hierarchy recent third-country immigrants experience fewer difficulties in finding employment. The effect of the EPL without controlling for labour market structure (right part of Figure 6.3) is curvilinear: recent third-country immigrants appear to fare better in the more flexible labour markets of Ireland and the UK. At the same time, however, newcomers from outside the EU seem to have fewer disadvantages in Southern-European countries, which have very strict labour market regulations together with rather expanded unskilled and low-skilled job markets. On the other hand, multilevel regression results show that once labour market structure is held constant, the effects of the EPL upon employment disadvantage for recent third-country immigrants is linear.

In Model 4, in addition to the macro-level variables relating to the labour market structure and regulations, dummy variables representing the welfare regimes are included; and, as in the previous analysis, the conservative welfare regime serves as a reference category. It is noteworthy that the effect of EPL strictness disappears once dummy variables for the welfare regimes are included in the model. This accords with theoretical arguments and expectations that labour market flexibility is an essential component in the welfare regime construct. The negative interaction effect of the slope for thirdcountry immigrants and the proportion of those employed in unskilled and low-skilled jobs remains significant even after controlling for types of welfare regime. It appears that in liberal welfare countries recent immigrants have a better chance of finding employment than is the case in conservative welfare states. Conversely, in social-democratic welfare regimes recent immigrants seem to be more disadvantaged when it comes to employment.

Compared to the results of the earlier analysis (see Table 6.6a), in this model the effect for the social-democratic welfare regime is much stronger and statistically significant, which might suggest that recent third-country immigrants in Nordic countries face particular difficulties at the labour market entry points. It might well be that they can simply afford to wait for better openings while receiving more generous welfare support – support which is less available or absent in conservative welfare regimes, as suggested in Chapter 5. To more closely compare the labour market fortunes of recent immigrants in social-democratic regimes with those in conservative welfare regimes, Chapter 8 undertakes detailed analyses of immigrants in Sweden, a prototype of the social-democratic regime, and examines the fate of newcomers in the conservative welfare state of Austria.

In Model 5 a variable capturing the general economic climate in the country is controlled for; and as in earlier analyses no significant effect of GDP growth upon employment entry for recent third-country immigrants can be reported (note also no change in the variance component in Table 6.7c). Altogether macro-level variables included in the analyses account for about 80% of the variance in the slope for recent third-country immigrants, which suggests a most important role in explaining cross-national variations in immigrant inequalities.

6.3.4. THE OCCUPATIONAL STATUS OF MALE IMMIGRANTS IN THE EU

The previous sections demonstrated that unemployment is indeed a serious obstacle for immigrant labour market integration in the EU. This section poses the following questions: Along with high unemployment risks, do immigrants – and particularly third-country immigrants – experience disadvantage in the types of occupations they pursue? If so, and most notably, do systematic differences exist between countries which can be attributed to the differences in their institutional arrangements? To answer these questions a linear two-level regression model is run to predict the occupational status of immigrants, both from EU or other western countries and third countries, as compared to the native-born. This model takes individual as well as macro-level characteristics into account, above all the context of immigrant reception as captured by dummy variables pertaining to former colonial and new immigration countries and immigrant selectivity (i.e. the relative proportion of those with tertiary degrees among third-country immigrant men compared to the native-born).

Model 1 in Table 6.8a, which allows the intercept and the slope for third-country immigrants to vary between countries, and Model 5 in the same table, which allows the intercept and the slope for EU immigrants to be random, present standardised coefficients and robust standard errors of the gross effects pertaining to the two immigrant groups. Set to be random, the slope for third-country immigrants is negative, but not statistically significant (Model 1); while the slope for EU immigrants (Model 5) is significant and positive, which indicates that EU immigrants on average seem to hold more prestigious occupations than the native-born. However, allowing for socio-demographic and other differences, the occupational advantage of EU immigrants disappears; and as Model 6 shows EU immigrants and the native-born do not differ in the status of jobs they hold. The

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Intercept	43.05**	35.42**	34.94**	34.03**	43.02**	35.35**
(Native-born)	(0.48)	(0.43)	(0.71)	(1.32)	(0.48)	(0.43)
Former colonial			1.55*	2.01		
countries			(0.73)	(1.38)		
New			-0.89	-0.50		
immigration countries			(0.60)	(0.79)		
Immigrant			-0.01	-0.05		
selectivity			(0.05)	(0.09)		
Liberal regime			()	1.79		
8				(2.17)		
Social-				0.83		
democratic regime				(1.31)		
EU immigrants (Di	ifference from	native-born))			
Intercept	3.34**	0.55	0.55	0.55	3.59**	-0.06
1	(0.55)	(0.62)	(0.62)	(0.62)	(0.53)	(0.41)
Third-country imm	iarants (Diffe	rence from n	ative-born)			
Intercent	-1.50	_2 97**	_4 05**	-5 42*	-3 90**	-3 74**
intercept	(1.09)	(0.76)	(1.16)	(1.66)	(1.37)	(0.61)
Former colonial	(1.05)	(0.70)	1 46	1.00)	(1.57)	(0.01)
countries			(0.87)	(1, 10)		
New			0.81	1 70		
immigration			(1,11)	(1.13)		
countries			(1.11)	(1.15)		
Immigrant			0.16*	0.04		
selectivity			(0.07)	(0.09)		
Liberal regime			(0107)	4.60**		
				(1.45)		
Social-				0.49		
democratic regime				(1.43)		
Variance componer	nts					
Level 2 Variance	6.47	2.75	1.85	1.65	6.22	2.67
intercept	5.17	2.75	1.00	1.00	J. LL	2.07
Level 2 Variance slope	33.91	9.04	4.31	2.77	6.44	2.71
Level 1 Variance	253.81	170.21	170.21	170.21	254.81	170.38

Table 6.8a. Macro-level effects and variance components in the linear two-level regression predicting occupational status in European Union countries, 1995-2000

 $^{\circ}p <= 0.1$; $^{*}p < 0.05$; $^{**}p < 0.01$. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. N (individual level) = 776,535; N (second level) = 28.

Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1995–2000, selected years.

Table 6.8b.Individual-level effects of the linear two-level regression predictingoccupational status in European Union countries, 1995–2000

Individual-level variable	Coefficient	Robust standard error	Significance
Age			
18–24	-4.18	(0.53)	**
25–54 (ref.)	0		
55-64	0.83	(0.30)	**
Level of education			
Compulsory (ref.)	0		
Upper secondary	6.04	(0.49)	**
Tertiary	24.16	(0.53)	**
Information missing	5.46	(1.69)	**
Naturalisation status	2.46	(0.67)	**
(Naturalised $= 1$)			
Year of observation	0.20	(0.84)	
(earlier observation = 1)		. /	

 $^{\circ}p <= 0.1; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.$

N (individual level) = 776,535; N (second level) = 28.

Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1995–2000, selected years.

negative effect for third-country immigrants, on the contrary, becomes stronger and statistically significant when individual characteristics are taken into account (see Model 2). This indicates that third-country immigrants do not receive the same returns upon their human capital as do the native-born. In line with other research findings, younger people tend to have lower occupational status, while older people are able to secure somewhat more prestigious occupations (see Table 6.8b). Higher education, and particularly that of an academic nature, certainly leads to more prestigious occupations. Notably, naturalised immigrants hold more prestigious jobs, which might reflect the fact that in many EU countries naturalisation opens doors to a wider range of jobs – including those in the public sector which are, on average, more prestigious. Finally, no significant effect for the dummy variables capturing the differences between observation years is noticeable.

Model 3 (back in Table 6.8a) addresses the questions of whether occupational differentials between third-country immigrants and native-born men vary between countries, and how these are related to countries' immigration policies and contexts of immigrant reception. To this end dummy variables for countries that experience migration from their former colonies, and new immigration countries, are included in addition to a variable pertaining to the degree of selectivity of third-country male immigrants. The results show that both in countries with a history of colonial migration and new immigration countries the gap in occupational status between third-country immigrants and the native-born seems to become somewhat smaller. Neither effect is, however, statistically significant. In countries, which received a larger proportion of highly educated immigrants, third-country immigrants appear on average to hold more prestigious jobs, other things being equal.

In Model 4, consistent with hypotheses put forward, we also control for the nature of the welfare regime including two dummy-coded variables for liberal and social-democratic welfare regimes. Quite a strong, statistically significant positive effect within the liberal welfare regimes is evident. The positive effect for third-country immigrants in countries with a colonial history becomes stronger and reaches 10% significance in this model. At the same time the significant effect for immigrant educational selectivity fails to reach statistical significance once dummies for welfare regimes are accounted for in Model 4. Although most of the cross-country variation with respect to occupational standing of third-country immigrants is explained by differences in the individual characteristics of immigrants themselves, some part of the cross-national variance could be attributed to the variation in institutional make-up of the countries under discussion (compare variance components for the slope in Models 1–4 in Table 6.8a).

Finally, we repeat the analyses of occupational status for recent non-naturalised thirdcountry immigrants as compared to the native-born. As mentioned earlier, analyses of recent third-country immigrants are based upon the data with a large number of observation points (1992–2000), while third-country immigrants are defined according to their nationality and not country of birth.

Without going into too much detail, results presented in Table 6.9 largely confirm findings as to the effect of host countries' institutional characteristics upon the occupational status of third-country immigrants as a whole. As in the earlier analyses, educational selectivity of recent third-country immigrants plays a positive role in immigrants' occupational status, but once dummy variables for the welfare regime types are controlled in the model, this effect is no longer significant. Instead, it appears that recent third-country immigrants are able to attain significantly higher occupational standing in liberal welfare regimes, which are also able to attract more selective immigrants (see Tables 6.4–6.5). Occupational status of immigrants in social-democratic welfare states is not significantly different from their status in conservative welfare regimes, other things being equal.⁷⁸ Furthermore, as already shown in the earlier analyses, we find confirmation here that countries with a tradition of immigration from former colonies offer recent third-country immigrants higher occupational status than other host countries are able to do, *ceteris paribus*.

6.4. Summary and Discussion

A descriptive overview presented in this chapter reveals significant variation, both withincountry and cross-nationally, in labour market outcomes of immigrants from EU and

⁷⁸ The occupational standing of recent third-country immigrants is nevertheless higher in social-democratic welfare states than in conservative ones, which does not seriously contradict our predictions. The effect is not statistically significant though.
Table 6.9. Macro- and individual-level effects, and variance components in the linear two-level regression predicting occupational status of recent third-country immigrants compared to the native-born in European Union countries, 1992–2000

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Intercept (Native-born)	42.76** (0.27)	35.39** (0.49)	34.91** (0.43)	34.64** (0.45)
Former colonial countries	(0.27)	(0.13)	1.52* (0.26)	1.55** (0.31)
New immigration countries			(0.27) -1.32** (0.27)	(0.23) -1.31** (0.28)
Immigrant selectivity			-0.05^{**} (0.01)	-0.06^{**} (0.01)
Liberal regime				0.84** (0.30)
Social-democratic regime				0.11 (0.34)
Third-country immigrants (Differ	ence from native	e-born)		
Intercept	-2.66^{**} (0.78)	-2.73^{**} (0.55)	-3.96^{**} (0.77)	-6.42^{**} (0.59)
Former colonial countries			1.72° (0.96)	2.05** (0.67)
New immigration countries			0.40 (0.89)	0.94 (0.76)
Immigrant selectivity			0.15** (0.03)	0.00 (0.02)
Liberal regime				11.79** (0.89)
Social-democratic regime				1.72 (1.45)
Individual-level variables				
Age 18 25		_3 /5**	_3 //**	_3 /5**
10-25		(0.18)	(0.18)	(0.18)
26–45 (ref.)		0	0	0
46–65		1.40**	1.40**	1.40**
		(0.15)	(0.15)	(0.15)
Level of education				
Compulsory (ref.)		0	0	0
Upper secondary		5.97**	5.96**	5.96**
		(0.28)	(0.28)	(0.28)
Tertiary		23.21**	23.20**	23.20**
		(0.34)	(0.34)	(0.34)
Information missing		3.38**	3.37**	3.32**
		(1.14)	(1.14)	(1.15)

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Year of observation				
1992		0.62	0.77	0.89
		(0.92)	(0.72)	(0.67)
1993		0.10	0.11	0.29
		(0.67)	(0.52)	(0.44)
1994		-0.15	-0.05	-0.01
		(0.68)	(0.51)	(0.45)
1995		-0.07	-0.07	0.24
		(0.65)	(0.46)	(0.41)
1996		0.02	0.21	0.24
		(0.69)	(0.49)	(0.46)
1997		0.19	0.22	0.39
		(0.68)	(0.47)	(0.43)
1998		-0.07	0.05	0.14
		(0.70)	(0.54)	(0.54)
1999		0.21	0.23	0.21
		(0.66)	(0.51)	(0.47)
2000 (ref.)		0	0	0
Variance components				
Level 2 Variance intercept	7.27	2.91	1.39	1.33
Level 2 Variance slope	54.09	27.17	23.17	7.98
Level 1 Variance	224.35	149.31	149.31	149.31

Table 6.9. (Continued)

 $^{\circ}p <= 0.1$; $^{*}p < 0.05$; $^{**}p < 0.01$. Robust standard errors are in parentheses.

 \hat{N} (individual level) = 251, 316; N (second level) = 101.

Source: Pooled EULFS data, 1992-2000, selected years.

other western industrialised countries, and third-country immigrants, as compared to the native-born male population. While third-country immigrants, as a rule, have higher unemployment rates and hold jobs of lower occupational status, unemployment rates among immigrants from EU or other western industrialised countries are similar or only slightly higher than rates among the native-born. Their occupational attainment appears to be rather similar to that of the native-born as well. So, analyses in this chapter aim at explaining whether cross-national variations in unemployment and occupational status between immigrant and native-born populations is systematically related to variations in institutional factors – in particular, immigration policies, labour market structure and regulations, and the nature of welfare regimes.

First of all, the study confirms that institutional factors in receiving societies affect the degree of economic incorporation for immigrants from EU or other western industrialised countries in a manner similar to the effect upon the native-born. A varying effect is evident when it comes to third-country immigrants (H1). Since third-country immigrants

		Unemployme	nt propensity	Occupational status		
		All immigrants	Recent immigrants	All immigrants	Recent immigrants	
Labour market	Size of unskilled sector	Negative	Negative			
	EPL strictness		Positive			
	GDP change	No effect	No effect			
Immigration policy,	Former colonial countries			Positive	Positive	
immigrants' composition	New immigration countries			No effect	No effect	
1	Immigrant selectivity			Positive	Positive	
Welfare regime	Liberal Conservative (reference)	Negative	Negative	Positive	Positive	
	Social-democratic	No effect	Positive	No effect	No effect	

Table 6.10. Effects of the macro-level variables on the third-country immigrants' inequality (slope) in unemployment risk and occupational status (summary)

Note: **Bold** refers to the effects from the final models, *italics* pertains to weak significant effects (p = 0.1). An empty cell signifies that the effect was not estimated.

are particularly disadvantaged in European labour markets the multivariate analyses are mostly focused on this segment of the foreign-born population (see summary of results in Table 6.10).

The results of the multilevel logistic regression confirm that in receiving countries with a larger unskilled and low-skilled labour market segment, third-country immigrants have better employment entry chances or, in other words, are less disadvantaged compared to the native-born (H2). As expected, employment entry inequalities are lower for immigrants in liberal welfare states (H6). This is particularly true when it comes to recent immigrants, who seem to be less disadvantaged when entering employment in the more flexible labour markets characteristic of liberal welfare regimes (H3). Furthermore, recent immigrants are able to land jobs of a somewhat higher status in more flexible labour markets (controlling for the context of immigrant reception and immigrant selectivity), so that the economic disadvantage of third-country immigrants compared to the native-born is smaller. It appears also that immigrants, and above all recent newcomers, experience particular disadvantages when looking for employment in Scandinavian social-democratic welfare states (H7). Whether this is due to more generous welfare provisions allowing recent third-country immigrants a longer search for better employment or other factors remains to be explored in more detail. Chapter 8 addresses the issue, examining the economic incorporation of immigrants in Sweden, a prototype of the social-democratic

welfare regime, as compared to immigrants' labour market attainment in Austria, one of the conservative welfare states.

Additionally, no support is found for the claim that in expanding labour markets immigrants are able to remedy their employment disadvantages due to their employment prospects improving more quickly than those of the native-born. Neither third-country immigrants nor immigrants from the EU or other industrialised countries are able to secure better employment entry chances than the native-born in expanding labour markets.

Contrary to expectations (H5), inequalities in immigrants' occupational prestige in new immigration countries are similar to those in other countries. However, there is evidence that countries with a history of immigration from former colonies have a narrower gap in occupational status between third-country immigrants and the native-born (H4). This finding is statistically significant for recent third-country immigrants, being significant only at a 10% level when looking at all post-war third-country immigrants.

By and large, Engelen's (2003) thesis as to the different modes of economic incorporation in liberal welfare states, i.e., the syndrome of mobility and flexibility, as compared to conservative and social-democratic welfare regimes, i.e., the syndrome of closure and rigidity, has been confirmed by the results of the multilevel analyses presented here (H6). The findings show that in liberal welfare countries immigrants have better prospects of finding employment and are able to land jobs, on average, of higher occupational status than those who settled in countries with conservative and social-democratic welfare systems. It should be stressed, however, that immigrants heading to liberal welfare states are also subjected to stronger selectivity with respect to education, which probably contributes to labour market success in those countries.

The results also show that employment disadvantages among immigrants, particularly recent newcomers, are somewhat higher in Scandinavian social-democratic regimes as compared to conservative welfare regimes (H7). Immigrants in Scandinavian welfare states are able to attain employment of a somewhat higher-status than immigrants in conservative welfare states, but this finding is not statistically significant.

The analyses presented here describe the aggregate results of actions taken by individuals based upon their own decision-making, which is definitely socially embedded – oriented and shaped as it is by social and institutional structures. That is, the labour market outcomes of immigrants, seen on the aggregate level, are influenced by the institutional characteristics of the receiving societies, via the interests and opportunities of the individual actors (be they employers or employees). With the analytic strategy adopted in this chapter (a large-scale analysis of the labour market outcomes rather than processes),

and the cross-sectional data used,⁷⁹ it is impossible to scrutinise the complex processes occurring on the individual level that lead to observed outcomes. Above all, there is no way to study actual job matching.

Among the data constraints two main items should be mentioned. Firstly, the crosssectional character of the EULFS data allows no more than a snapshot at a particular point in time in a particular country or countries. The data do not convey information about the time people spend in a particular state (e.g. unemployment). Hence the question of whether high unemployment incidence rates are concentrated upon one and the same group of immigrants, or whether it is a common but occasional experience for many newcomers, cannot be answered by these data. Secondly, as the LFS data lack a dynamic perspective, the ambiguity in causal relationships cannot be resolved (Blossfeld and Rohwer, 1995). Indeed, the database offers quite limited leverage for the actual processes and events that generate not only the outcomes but also the structural relations observed at the macro level.

Since immigrant integration is not only about achievements at a particular point in time, but also a more complicated process of transitions – a sequence of events in immigrants' labour market histories – the next section will adopt a more holistic approach. It will look at employment and the occupational *careers* of immigrants as compared to the native-born in two countries representing two welfare regimes or syndromes: a liberal one, the United Kingdom, and a conservative one, Germany. To this end existing longitudinal data from the German Social-Economic Panel (GSOEP) and the British Household Panel Survey (BHPS) are used. Panel data are superior to cross-sectional records as they allow the modelling of the careers of the immigrant population and the examinination of employment (as well as other) transitions. In particular, panel data allow exploration not only of the incidence but also the duration of unemployment that immigrants experience compared to the native-born. With such data we could examine what types of jobs immigrants are able to find after unemployment and whether their risks of losing employment are higher than those of the native-born.

Secondly, individual panel data contain a richer variety of variables and are of better quality than EULFS standardised over 15 EU countries. It should be acknowledged in this respect that the type of data provided by Eurostat does not allow the inclusion of further individual-level predictors of unemployment risk and occupational status, such as host-country language competency or the number of years since migrating. Information on the former is not sought by the EULFS, while the quality of data for the latter is very poor. Furthermore, because of aggregate format and data confidentiality issues, the variables are not available in EULFS in a more detailed form (at the time of writing).

⁷⁹ In fact the availability of the data influenced the decision to focus on outcomes rather than processes. To try and test the actual mechanisms behind the outcomes one would need comparative longitudinal data, which is not available for the analysis of factors affecting immigrants in a large number of EU countries.

CHAPTER 7. EMPLOYMENT CAREERS AND UNEMPLOYMENT DYNAMICS OF MALE IMMIGRANTS IN GERMANY AND GREAT BRITAIN⁸⁰

This chapter examines employment careers of immigrants as compared to the nativeborn in Germany and the United Kingdom, two countries that differ with respect to several factors potentially influencing immigrant integration and particularly immigration policies, labour market regulation and welfare regimes. Sequence analysis techniques are applied to the existing panel data for both countries exploiting their full potential for the descriptive analysis, while a multivariate event history analysis is conducted to explore the dynamics and to determine the causes of frequent and prolonged unemployment among immigrants in both countries.

The chapter starts with an overview of immigration trends in Germany and the United Kingdom. This is followed by a systematic assessment of a hypothetical role postulated for institutional factors affecting immigrant labour market incorporation in both countries. Data and methods are described in detail in Section 7.2, while results can be found in Section 7.3.

7.1. Background Conditions in Germany and Great Britain

7.1.1. AN OVERVIEW OF IMMIGRANT INFLOW TO GERMANY AND THE UK IN THE SECOND HALF OF THE 20TH CENTURY

The post-war immigration history of Germany and the UK share some similarities and can be divided into two periods. The first period, which lasted roughly until 1973, is predominantly characterised by labour migration, minimal restrictions on migrant inflow and negligible effort towards social integration for the newcomers. Following the oil crisis of 1973 the policy of labour recruitment and unrestricted immigration was abandoned and migrant inflow has since been dominated by family reunifications and resettlement of refugees and asylum seekers. Despite the similarities in general trends of immigration (which are actually characteristic all western and northern European countries as has been shown in

⁸⁰ A portion of this chapter appeared as an article 'Labour market Careers of Immigrants in Germany and the United Kingdom' in Journal of International Migration and Integration, 5(4), 2004, pp. 417-47.

Section 3.1) the UK and Germany differ with respect to some aspects of their immigration policies, the contexts of immigrant reception and the composition of newcomers.

The year 1955, when Italy and Germany signed a treaty which allowed an organised recruitment of Italian labour to meet the needs of the growing German economy, marked the beginning of guest worker migration. After the construction of the Berlin wall in 1961, the Federal Republic of Germany was no longer able to rely upon inflow from the German Democratic Republic. But because demand for labour actually increased dramatically, recruitment was expanded to other Southern European and Mediterranean countries: Spain and Greece from 1960, Turkey (1961), Morocco (1963), (Portugal, 1964), Tunisia (1965) and finally Yugoslavia beginning in 1968 (Rudolph, 1994). Foreign workers were recruited to take jobs in Germany on a temporary basis (for several years with further rotation) and were not expected to settle or bring their families. In short, social integration of guest workers, who themselves viewed their presence as temporary, was not envisaged and no comprehensive concept for dealing with a growing foreign population was adopted.

In Britain, as in other European countries, immigration was stimulated in the 1950–60s by demand for cheap and flexible labour; but unlike Germany, the UK did not resort to mass guest-worker recruitment. In fact, very few immigrants were recruited either through government programs or directly by employers (Hatton and Wheatley Price, 1999), and those who came by invitation were mainly Irish workers or persons displaced after the Second World War. Most migrants arrived with the goal of finding work, coming from Commonwealth countries and benefiting from the open-door policy of the British government: Under the 1948 British Nationality Act British subjects (those from the former British colonies, e.g. West or East Indies) had the right to enter, work, and settle with their families in Britain and granted British citizenship (Bloch, 2002; Currle, 2004). Hence, unlike in Germany, British authorities and immigrants themselves saw their presence as more than temporary, with immigrants enjoying rights and freedoms similar to those of native-born Britons (Kruyt and Niessen, 1997).

From 1971 onwards the British government introduced restrictions on migration from the Commonwealth and Pakistan. Germany ceased the practice of foreign labour recruitment in 1973, following the oil crisis and a sharp decrease in demand for labour.⁸¹ This marked a new phase in both countries' immigration histories: since the mid-1970s immigrants have been accepted in both Germany and the UK mostly on humanitarian grounds, including family reunification, resettlement of refugees and granting asylum to those seeking it. In Germany the cessation of active labour recruitment and barriers faced by foreigners in settling led to a minimisation of trans-national movement, and marked a growing tendency toward permanent settlement among those who had earlier entered the country as temporary workers.

⁸¹ The restrictions on migration did not, however, apply to immigrants arriving from the EU or other western industrialised countries.

Since the late 1970s, and particularly in the late 1980s to the early 1990s, the inflow of refugees and asylum seekers has increased both in Germany and the UK. While in the UK the majority of asylum-seekers have come from Africa and Asia, in Germany the main inflow has been from Eastern European countries. Ethnic cleansing and wars in the former Yugoslavia brought thousands of refugees to Europe, with Germany being one of the countries that accepted large numbers. In the early 1990s Germany also experienced migration of ethnic Germans coming from Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union. They were entitled to settlement, full rights as German citizens and preferential treatment compared to other newcomers.⁸²

Despite the tendency to restrict immigration, some revival of temporary work migration in the 1990s is evident. Firstly, a demand for unskilled, seasonal and flexible labour attracted immigrants particularly to Southern European countries, but also to Germany and Great Britain. Secondly, immigration of highly skilled, professional workers and entrepreneurs grew in importance, especially in Great Britain. These consist of people arriving from the EU or other western industrialised countries, but also from elsewhere – India, China, or Eastern Europe, for example – to fill the need for specialists in hospitals, high- and bio-tech industries.

7.1.2. THE ROLE OF INSTITUTIONS IN THE IMMIGRANT LABOUR MARKET ALLOCATION PROCESS IN GERMANY AND THE UK

The leitmotif of this book is that institutional characteristics of host societies, particularly immigration policies, labour market structure and regulations, and the welfare regime might direct the immigrant labour market allocation process; and this may account for variations in outcomes between Germany and the United Kingdom. These countries do not differ substantially with respect to the structure of their labour markets, particularly when it comes to the size of the occupational hierarchy's lowest level (see Figure 4.4). Besides, there is no evidence of significant difference between the countries in the way they provide welfare to immigrants: legally resident immigrants in both countries are eligible for welfare benefits comparable to native-born citizens. Yet both countries certainly do belong to different welfare-regime types and consequently differ with respect to welfare coverage and generosity (see Table 5.1). This applies to all residents, however. Though sharing a number of similarities, Germany and Great Britain do differ with respect to their immigrants in belabour market regulations; and these factors might underlie difference in the inclusion of immigrants in the labour market, particularly underprivileged third-country immigrants (see Table 7.1).

As may be seen from the overview of the immigrant inflow in Germany and the United Kingdom, substantial differences exist in *immigration policies* and *contexts of immigrant*

⁸² Ethnic Germans from the East (*Aussiedler*) were welcomed at the homeland of their ancestors even earlier, but the problem at that stage was restricted exit from the former socialist countries (Münz and Ulrich, 1997).

	UK	Germany		
Immigration policies				
- Immigrants' selectivity	More positive	Less positive	s' tal	
- Country-specific human capital (language,	More	Less	migrant an capi	UK > DE
recognised education)	Laga	Mana	Im	
migration	Less	More	1	
Labour market				
- Anti-discrimination	More developed	Less developed	grant nalty	DE > UK
- Flexibility	More	Less	Mi	222 UR

 Table 7.1. Institutional factors affecting immigrant integration in Germany

 and Great Britain

reception between the two countries. Firstly, immigrants heading to the UK might be more positively selected than those arriving in Germany even though neither country has until recently explicitly selected immigrants for human capital or other (e.g. entrepreneurial abilities, financial capital) characteristics. However, in Germany immigrants who arrived through the guest-worker schemes, who still comprise a substantial proportion of the total number of foreign-born persons residing in Germany, were certainly more negatively selected with respect to human capital than were immigrants who headed to the UK during the same period. As for subsequent immigration waves, there are no reasons to expect that later immigrants, i.e. family members of guest workers who arrived earlier or refugees and asylum seekers, would be more positively selected in Germany than in the UK with respect to socio-demographic and human capital characteristics. Hence third-country immigrants on average would probably show less favourable human capital characteristics in Germany than in Great Britain, while the degree of selectivity among immigrants from the EU or other western countries would possibly be similar. Indeed, this is clear from Table 3.4, which shows the distribution of immigrants (both from the EU and from third countries) as compared to the native-born with respect to their formal educational attainments. It is immediately evident that immigrants who settled in the UK are generally better educated than those who entered Germany, and this is true for both third-immigrants and those coming from EU or other western industrialised countries.⁸³

Immigrants' human capital, even that of the highest quality, might not necessarily be rewarded adequately if, for example, it finds little relevance in the host country's labour market. While this would be the case for the majority of underprivileged⁸⁴ third-country

⁸³ Immigrants from the EU countries, however, are better educated than those coming from third countries in both Germany and the UK.

⁸⁴ In Germany ethnic German immigrants (Aussiedler) enjoy a more privileged status and profit from a larger degree of recognition of their educational certificates and work experience.

immigrants in Germany, immigrants to the UK, especially those who came from the former British colonies or countries that had close ties with Great Britain, can profit from their knowledge of the English language and from the institutional similarity of their home countries to the UK. The latter might, for example, be relevant for the recognition of educational certificates and occupational qualifications brought by immigrants from their home countries.

Immigrants' intentions with respect to permanent or temporary settlement have been shown to influence their decisions to invest in host-country-specific human capital, as well as for the assessment of opportunities in the host-country labour market. The transitoriness of immigrants' presence has been cultivated in Germany for quite a long time, and has also been reflected in the country's naturalisation legislation, which until recently has been one of the strictest in Europe. This could possibly result in immigrants' non- or lower investment in host-country human capital and 'preference' for low-status employment that brings immediate monetary returns. In Britain, on the other hand, immigrants, who upon arrival already possessed British citizenship or readily obtained it, viewed their settlement as permanent from the outset. Hence, in contrast with Germany, immigrants in Great Britain may be expected to be keener on upgrading their education and more ambitious with respect to occupational positions.

As has been argued above, immigrants in Great Britain might potentially be better off with respect to their human capital as compared to newcomers in Germany, both in quantity and host-country relevance. Thus, in Germany, controlling for immigrants' formal educational qualifications might leave a larger portion of the immigrant effect unexplained than might be the case for immigrants to the UK.

The question is, however, if one can expect a variation in the (discriminatory) behaviour of employers towards immigrant workers in the two countries, variation that can be attributed to institutional differences between the UK and Germany. The expectation is that a smaller ethnic penalty is to be found in the UK that relates to at least two factors: firstly, more stringent anti-discrimination legislation in the UK and, secondly, a more flexible labour market allowing British employers to indulge in more risk-taking when hiring immigrant workers.

Both Germany and the UK, as well as the rest of the EU countries, have a clause in their legislation which prohibits discrimination on the basis of internal EU nationality (Guild, 2001); and a few European countries – among them the UK – have a law that prohibits discrimination of third-country immigrants on the grounds of nationality or race.⁸⁵ British

⁸⁵ Legislative measures adopted by the European Union in 2000 in the field of equal treatment and discrimination, which endorse equal treatment of persons irrespective of ethnic and racial origin, prohibiting both direct and indirect discrimination, must be incorporated into the national laws of the member States before July 2003 (Niessen, 2000), a period which is beyond the timeframe covered in this book.

law prohibiting racial discrimination dates back to 1976 and refers both to direct and indirect discrimination, the latter defined as the objective outcome of an action not intentionally discriminating (Mahning and Wimmer, 2000).⁸⁶ While the British statute has been criticised for producing a rather small number of convictions and modest compensation of victims, along with difficulties in detecting violations of the law (MacEwen, 1995), there is absolutely no policy to actively prosecute discriminatory practices in Germany, even though the German Constitution contains provisions criminalising racism (Doomernik, 1998). Furthermore, institutional discrimination is inherent in that portion of German legislation that prohibits immigrants who lack German citizenship from taking civil servant (*Beamte*) positions. These include not only core government jobs, but also, for example, teaching positions.

Another reason why British employers might be acting less upon their prejudices against immigrants might be related to the greater labour market flexibility in the UK. As already mentioned in Section 4.3, if job security is high, employers tend to hire only employees who are indicating high productivity either through their educational credentials or other characteristics, such as race or immigration status. In countries with lower job security, like the UK, employers are more likely to gloss over ascriptive indicators, because they can easily test employees' characteristics on the job. For employers the costs of a bad match might well be higher in more rigid labour markets, like the German one, causing them to avoid hiring risky workers unless wages are sufficiently low to compensate for the risk – which is not the case in Germany. Germany scores higher than the UK on all the main indicators of stringency in its employment protection legislation (EPL) (see Figure 4.6), and has a more equal wage structure with relatively high wages at the lower end of the scale.⁸⁷ Since EPL mainly regulates primary sector employment its greater strictness in Germany might indeed hinder immigrants' chances of being raised to higher-status, i.e. white-collar or skilled, jobs; it might be less relevant when it comes to immigrants' chances of landing unskilled or low-skilled employment. However, once holding unskilled, secondary labour market jobs, immigrants might be at greater risk since these jobs are more vulnerable to periods of economic restructuring during business-cycle fluctuations or because of their temporary or seasonal nature. This implies that immigrants in Germany might be basically confined to either employment in the secondary labour market or unemployment, being, in other words, permanent labour market outsiders (Esping-Andersen, 1999; OECD, 1999).

Possible 'self-selection' of immigrants might also influence their labour market fortunes (Borjas, 1989), as risk-seeking immigrants are presumed to opt for mobile and flexible labour markets (as in the UK); whereas risk-averse immigrants with deficient human capital are supposed to land in destinations with less mobility and more protection (as in

⁸⁶ However, positive discrimination in the sense of the US 'affirmative action' is prohibited in the UK (Mahning and Wimmer, 2000).

⁸⁷ In fact, Germany belongs to the group of the countries with the narrowest wage scale, while the UK has the widest wage disparities in the EU.

111

Germany). At least with respect to formal education, third-country immigrants who head towards liberal welfare regimes appear to be more positively selected than those who settle in conservative welfare regime countries, as is evident from the bivariate correlations presented in Table 6.4. The significance of self-selection should not be over-stated though, as migration flows are largely influenced by pre-existing social ties between sending and receiving countries, while individual migration decisions have chain-like characteristics and are clearly socially embedded (Haug, 2000). Nevertheless, states offering a low level of protection have attracted (and will attract) immigrants with different attributes and will induce differing orientations and motivations among them than states offering a high level of protection (Engelen, 2003).

All in all, it is expected that immigrants in Great Britain will be less penalised for their immigrant status in general and particularly when it comes to higher-status employment. In Germany, on the other hand, immigrants are more likely to retain the status of permanent outsiders, being trapped in a vicious cycle of unemployment and employment in the secondary labour market.

7.2. Research Methodology

7.2.1. DATA

The analysis for Germany is based upon data from the German Socio-Economic Panel (GSOEP); for Great Britain it is based upon the British Household Panel Survey (BHPS) (Taylor et al., 1999; Halpin, 1997; Wagner et al., 1994; DIW, 2003). Both datasets are representative panel surveys of the resident population, rich databases on labour markets, employment and job dynamics.⁸⁸ Both surveys cover areas of demographics, population and fertility, labour market activity and employment, income, taxes and welfare state programs, education, health, housing, as well as some information on values and opinions. Both surveys contain wave-specific topical modules on e.g. social background, childcare, training participation, private transfers, and crime. Most importantly for the study presented in this book, both data sets provide employment, marital and migration history information, as well as monthly (or annual) activity and employment status calendar data. While GSOEP has been widely used to study the guest-worker immigrant population in Germany because of over-sampling of the five most important immigrant groups residing in Germany - Italians, Turks, Yugoslavs, Spaniards, and Greeks (see Seifert, 1995) – the number of cases for immigrants is relatively modest in BHPS, hindering detailed analysis of immigrant populations in the UK using this data source (see Blackaby et al., 1999).

⁸⁸ Being surveys of private households, neither panel dataset might perhaps be representative of the most recent immigrants (largely asylum seekers, residing in institutionalised housing) (Blackaby et al., 1999). In addition, illegal immigrants might be substantially under-represented in such data.

The West German⁸⁹ portion of the analysis is based on the employment history data from waves L-Q (1995–2000), samples A (West German resident national population), B (West German immigrant population from Turkey, Greece, Yugoslavia, Spain and Italy who arrived prior to 1984), and D (immigrants who arrived in Germany between 1984 and 1993).⁹⁰ These have been used to generate a monthly employment history calendar for the six-year observation period between January 1995 and December 2000.⁹¹ The British portion of the analysis covers an observation window, i.e., a total period of empirical observation, of six years between September 1993 and August 1999. The observation window has been limited to six years in order to include the most recent immigrants to Germany that entered the survey in 1995 (sample D). For more details on the datasets and sample selection see Table 7.2.

As already mentioned, the study presented in this book focuses on the male population who entered the survey at age 25–55. The age boundaries are set to exclude the influence of differential school participation and retirement. Furthermore, male breadwinners are selected since for prime-age men a six-year-career period can be considered as a sample of a longer career path, while women's labour market careers are more cyclical and are heavily influenced by phases in their family lives.

7.2.2. METHODS: SEQUENCE ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES

For describing the labour market careers of immigrants as compared to the native-born population in Germany and Great Britain the sequence analysis technique is applied (Brückner and Rohwer, 1996; Rohwer and Trappe, 1997; Scherer, 2001; Halpin and Chan, 1998; Brüderl and Klein, 2002; Erzberger, 2001; Windzio, 2001; Mowitz-Lambert, 2001). It allows for the treatment of whole careers or their parts as a serial succession of different states over time. Unlike the event history data analysis (see below), which focuses mostly on single transitions, the aim of the sequence analysis is to capture entire labour market careers (or parts thereof, as in our case) including all the different states and transitions that occur.

⁸⁹ Since the absolute majority of immigrants live and work in West Germany and because economic disparities between Western and Eastern parts of Germany remain too large to consider the reference group of nativeborn Germans as homogenous, it was decided to exclude East Germany from the analysis.

⁹⁰ Subsample A covers individuals living in private households in West Germany in which the head of household does not belong to one of the five main foreign guest-worker groups. In 1984 this subsample covered 9076 individuals belonging to 4528 households. Subsample B covers individuals living in private households in West Germany that have Turkish, Greek, Yugoslavian, Spanish or Italian household heads. In 1984 this subsample covers 3169 individuals belonging to 1393 households. Subsample D consists of households in which at least one household member had moved from abroad to west Germany after 1984. It covers 1665 persons belonging to 522 households.

⁹¹ It should be mentioned that as with all panel data, GSOEP and BHPS are subject to attrition. Furthermore, after 4 years of BHPS (started in 1991) and 11 years of GSOEP (started in 1984), attrition might be quite substantial. We did not, however, include refreshment and innovation samples (samples E and F) in GSOEP since individuals belonging to these samples entered the survey only in 1998 and 2000 respectively, thus providing too short an observation period.

Table 7.2.	Description	of the	datasets	and	sample	selection
-------------------	-------------	--------	----------	-----	--------	-----------

Germany: German Socio-Economic Panel (GSOEP)	Great Britain: British Household Panel Survey (BHPS)
Short description of	the original datasets
GSOEP started in 1984 covering 5,921 private households containing 12,290 persons older than 16 in the Federal Republic of Germany. In 2001 GSOEP consisted of the following samples: (A) German residents in the FRG, (B) foreigners in the FRG (both samples started in 1984), (C) German residents in the GDR (started in 1990), (D) Immigrants who arrived after 1984 (started in 1994–5), (E) Refreshment (started in 1998) and (F) Innovation (started in 2000). All persons who take part in the very first wave of the survey as well as their children are followed. Starting from 1988 all persons moving to existing GSOEP households are followed-up even if they subsequently leave that household. <i>Sample selection and</i>	BHPS is an annual survey of each adult (16+) member of a nationally representative sample of more than 5,000 households, making a total of approximately 10,000 individuals. The panel survey started in 1991 covering persons with domestic residence in England, Wales, Scotland south and the Caledonian Canal. ⁹² When the original sample members (OSM) split off from original households, all adult members of new households are also interviewed as long as they share living accommodation with OSM. The study mainly uses the BHPS work-history file (Halpin, 1997, 2000), a spell-form dataset covering employment/labour market status history. <i>d observation period</i>
Observation period: January 1995–December 2000	Observation period: September 1993–August 1999.
Sample: Men aged 25–55 at the beginning of the observation period. Because of the difference in the follow-up concept in BHPS and GSOEP only persons who were in the sample by December 1995 are analysed further. ⁹³ Unlike the case for the native-born, immigrants who are observed in	Sample: Men aged 25–55 at the beginning of the observation period. Because of the difference in the follow-up procedure in BHPS and GSOEP only persons who were in the sample by September 1993 are analysed further. ⁹⁴ Unlike the case for the native-born, immigrants who

Data peculiarities and data harmonisation

While employment status is provided in GSOEP on The status information, both in terms of a monthly basis, information on occupations is employment and occupation status, is directly available only within a yearly grid. Hence in the German data one might expect an

the period between January 1995 and December

size is 3293 persons.

2000 are included in the analysed sample. Sample

provided within BHPS work-life histories' file on a monthly basis.

are observed in the period between September

analysed sample. Sample size is 2734 persons.

1993 and August 1999 are included in the

(continued)

⁹² Note that the data do not cover the population of Northern Ireland.

⁹³ In GSOEP, unlike BHPS, new persons enter the panel only when they join the original GSOEP household, but these are followed up even if they consequently leave the GSOEP household. This results in a moderate (comparatively to BHPS) growth of the GSOEP sample, but longer observation periods for persons who newly enter original GSOEP households. The analyses were conducted both including the persons who entered GSOEP after 1995 and excluding them, and yielded similar results.

⁹⁴ The problem in BHPS is that the sample size grows enormously due to inclusion of temporary sample members (TSMs). However, once TSMs cease to live with OSM households they are no longer followed up. This results in short observation periods for the majority of TSMs.

CHAPTER 7

Germany: German Socio-Economic Panel (GSOEP)	Great Britain: British Household Panel Survey (BHPS)
over-estimation of the dominant status during the year and exclusion of statuses lasting for shorter periods.	The BHPS work-life history file includes only the civil labour force.
Within GSOEP one can encounter multiple status information for a person per point in time.	
a hierarchy of statuses as follows: (1) employment, (2) unemployment, (3) education or training, (4) retirement, (5) other. Thus, for a	
person reporting both employment and education or training the priority is given to employment, ignoring information on any further statuses	
Additionally, there are a substantial number of gaps between serial episodes and annual occupational statuses in the GSOEP data. For the sequence analysis, gaps in the sequence	
were filled in by either previous or subsequent reported spells or occupations taking into account information provided about censoring of the statuses.	

 Table 7.2. (Continued)

A specific technique used most often for the treatment of career sequences is Optimal Matching Analysis (OMA),⁹⁵ first introduced to sociology by Abbott (1995), Abbott and Forrest (1986), Abbott and Hrycak (1990).⁹⁶ The idea is to create an interval-level measure of dissimilarity between sequences by counting costs needed to turn one sequence into another or, in other words, by counting a minimum number of transformations needed to make both sequences equal. Thus, the more steps that are necessary to make two sequences equal the higher the costs required and hence the greater the dissimilarity. On the other hand, if the two sequences are identical the distance or dissimilarity between them is obviously zero. In order to transform one sequence into another two types of transformations are possible: substitution and insertion/deletion. While the substitution function is quite straightforward, the aim of the insertion/deletion procedure is to allow for the detection of equal statuses or patterns staggered through the sequences. In such a way OMA takes into account not only the length and frequency of the events but

⁹⁵ It originally stems from molecular biology and genetics and is used for investigating DNA sequences.

⁹⁶ An excellent introduction to the idea of OMA can be found in Erzberger (2001), and Brüderl and Scherer (2004). A review of research conducted using Sequence Analysis methods as well as a critique of the method can be found in Abbott and Tsay (2000) and Wu (2000) respectively.

also their location and order. Each transformation is assigned with costs, which represent the OMA distance. In this study all statuses are treated as equally dissimilar from each other: no weighting of statuses is applied (Scherer, 2001; Erzberger, 2001). Following the default in TDA 6.4 (Rohwer and Pötter, 1999), a statistical program which was used for the sequence analysis, insertion/deletion, is assigned cost 1, and substitution, 2.

Basically, there are two ways to calculate distances between sequences: firstly, sequences can be compared with a specified reference sequence; and, secondly, they might be compared with each other, i.e. pairwise. Both strategies were implemented in the study presented in this book and are described below in more detail.

In keeping with the work of other authors (Esser, 2004; Kalter and Granato, 2002), who understand structural assimilation to be a convergence in distributions over categories of relevant variables, here it is conceptualised as a (growing) resemblance of employment *careers* of immigrants to those of the native-born population. Hence, it seems reasonable to empirically test the degree of this (dis)similarity by comparing the labour market careers of immigrants with those of the native-born national population – or in sequence analysis terms, by comparing immigrants' careers to the reference sequence of the indigenous population. Another option would be to calculate pairwise dissimilarities between each sequence (the 6-year part of the labour market career) and then to try to find typologies or classifications in the sequences. OMA does not, however, provide any classifications of sequences. Therefore cluster analysis is applied in order to empirically investigate the dissimilarity matrix resulting from the sequence procedure. The explorative nature of the analysis requires a hierarchical clustering method. From a large variety of clustering methods, Ward's linkage was used since it is well suited to the interval-scale data and is supposed to find the most homogenous clusters⁹⁷ (Bacher, 1996; Gordon, 1999). The cluster analysis was conducted separately for each country using the SPSS 11 program. In order to describe employment careers we used the monthly employment data, where it was possible to differentiate the following statuses:

- Employment
- Unemployment98

⁹⁷ The measure of the homogeneity in Ward's algorithm is the variance criterion. Ward, however, has difficulty in detecting very small clusters.

⁸ The definition of employment statuses differs in the panel data sources, both GSOEP and BHPS, from the standard ILO definition applied in the labour force survey data. A commonly used definition of unemployment in panel and retrospective surveys (such as GSOEP and BHPS) is self-definition. Respondents are requested to fill in a monthly (or yearly) 'calendar' of their principal economic status (McGinnity, 2002). In Britain such a measure of unemployment might disproportionately exclude women and people not eligible for unemployment benefits, who classify themselves as inactive rather than unemployed. That is why a direct comparison of employment statuses between Germany and Great Britain must be exercised with a degree of caution. This, however, should not reduce the merit of the comparative approach of this study, in which immigrants are compared to the native-born in each of the countries, with the immigrant penalty being fairly comparable across countries.

- Education and training
- Retirement
- Other

Unfortunately, while monthly information is available from BHPS, in GSOEP the monthly activity calendar does not include occupation and other job characteristics of those in employment. That is why annual information on labour market statuses is used with the aim of finding typologies in labour market careers in the German data.⁹⁹ To this end the following classification of statuses, which combine the collapsed version of the EGP schema (see Table A.4 in the Appendix) with the self-defined labour market statuses, was applied:

- Service class higher- or lower-grade professionals, administrators, and officials; managers in industrial establishments; large proprietors, higher-grade technicians; supervisors of non-manual employees (EGP I+II)
- Routine non-manual employees of higher (administration and commerce) and lower (sales and services) grade (EGP III)
- Petty bourgeoisie small proprietors and artisans with or without employees, farmers, smallholders; other self-employed workers in primary production (EGP IV a+b+c)
- Technical lower-grade technicians, supervisors of manual workers (EGP V)
- Skilled manual workers (EGP VI)
- Semi- and unskilled manual workers (EGP VII a+b)
- Unemployment
- Out of labour
- Missing status

7.2.3. METHODS: EVENT HISTORY ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES

After exploring a six-year period in employment careers of immigrants as compared to the native-born, the study focuses on unemployment dynamics, applying event history methods (Tuma and Hannan, 1984; Allison, 1984; Blossfeld and Rohwer, 1995). This is done to single out determinants of frequent and prolonged unemployment spells among immigrant populations in both countries. *Spells* or *episodes* in the event history terminology pertain to individual waiting times in any given state, e.g. unemployment. Any observed change in labour force activity status defines an *event*, or in other words, a *transition* between the two particular states involved, i.e., an *origin state* and a *destination state*. A complication typical of event history data arises from the fact that it is usually impossible to ensure a complete observation of all spells in the sample with a

⁹⁹ It is obvious that the annual employment information leads to over-representation of statuses that are dominant in a given year, and ignores employment mobility that occurs during the year. However, for an explorative descriptive overview annual information seems to be satisfactory. Note that direct comparison of the results of the pairwise sequence analysis in Germany and Great Britain is not advisable.

117

fixed observation window. Some spells might be incompletely observed because they were already in progress at T_o (the start of the observation window), while others are incompletely observed because empirical observation is terminated at some point T_1 (the end of the observation window). Incomplete observation of spells gives rise to problems of *censoring* and *truncation*. Truncation refers to known starting or ending times that fall outside the observation window; while censoring implies the situation of unknown starting or ending times. Incomplete observation with respect to starting times is called left-censoring or left-truncation; while incomplete ending times are referred to as right-censoring or right-truncation.

The core notion of all event-history models is the time-dependent hazard rate or "risk" r(t) of an event, defined by (e.g. Blossfeld and Rohwer, 1995: 28):

$$r(t) = \lim_{t^* \to t} \frac{\Pr(t \le T < t^* | T \ge t)}{t^* - t},$$

i.e. the limit (as t^* approaches t) of the conditional probability (*Pr*) that the event occurs (at time *T*) between time points t and t^* , given that it has not occurred until t, divided by the length of the interval between t^* and t.

In our case the hazard rates of leaving unemployment into different types of employment (namely, white-collar, skilled or technical and unskilled employment) and of leaving dependent employment¹⁰⁰ into unemployment are key dependent variables. In the particular case of the transition from employment to unemployment, the dependent variable is (the limit of) the conditional probability that a person becomes unemployed within a particular month (since time is measured on the month scale in the study presented here), assuming that this person has worked until that time. Analysing transition from unemployment to employment, e.g. white-collar employment, the dependent variable in the model is (the limit of) the conditional probability of someone finding a white-collar job in a particular month, given the fact that this person was looking for work until that time.

Modelling duration distributions in terms of hazard rates offers the advantage of simple incorporation of right-censored cases, i.e. ongoing spells of unemployment or employment by the end of the observation window. It is also fairly straightforward to focus on qualitatively different transitions and their determinants by applying a competing risk framework that represents different transition processes by separate hazard rate equations, which has been done here in order to get a greater insight into the transition process from unemployment to employment.

¹⁰⁰ The analyses shown here exclude exit from self-employment. When exit from self-employment is included trends remain similar to those shown in the book.

Piecewise constant exponential models (see Blossfeld and Rohwer, 1995: 110–119) are run to approximate the shape of the hazard functions and to estimate the impact of independent variables. This model postulates that the transition rate is given by:

$$r(t) = exp(a^{l} + a_{1}x_{1} + \dots + a_{m}x_{m}),$$

for $t \in [\tau_{l}, \tau_{l+1}[$ with $0 = \tau_{l} < \tau_{2} < \dots < \tau_{L} < \tau_{L+1} = \infty$

i.e. the time axis is divided into *L* intervals, and an interval-specific constant a^l is estimated for each interval $[\tau_l, \tau_{l+l}]$ (l = 1, ..., L). Furthermore, for all covariates $x_1, ..., x_m$, interval-independent parameters $a_1, ..., a_m$ are estimated. As the piecewise-constant model is a proportional hazards model, the exponents of these parameters can be interpreted as hazard ratios.

7.2.4. VARIABLES

The two main comparison groups in the analysis are immigrants, defined as those born outside the host country, and the native-born. The native-born group might also include the second-generation of immigrants, since the latter are impossible to detect.¹⁰¹ Further, we control for the region of birth differentiating between immigrants coming from the EU or other western industrialised countries, including other Western European countries, the USA, Canada, Australia and Japan, and third-country immigrants, i.e. those arriving from the rest of the world. It should be noted, however, that the analyses have to be restricted due to the small numbers of cases, particularly in Great Britain (for more detailed analyses of the German data see Kogan, 2003b, 2004).

Table 7.3 describes all variables, which are included in the sequence and event history analyses. In the sequence analyses all control variables are measured at one point in time: age¹⁰² and level of education are measured at the beginning of the observation period¹⁰³ (year 1995 for Germany and 1993 for the UK); while the variable pertaining to years since migration (YSM) is recorded at the end of the observation period¹⁰⁴ (year 2000 for Germany and 1998 for the UK). Unlike the sequence analysis, the event-history analysis treats the three variables mentioned above as well as some other variables as

¹⁰¹ In the German data second generation immigrants without German citizenship were excluded from the analyses. In both countries second-generation naturalised immigrants are invisible in the dataset and thus might be found among native-born populations. However, their proportion is rather low and hence they are hardly expected to bias the results for the native-born population without immigration roots.

¹⁰² Age is used here as a proxy for labour force experience. Even though information on labour force experience can be derived from both data sets, the number of missing cases is comparatively large, certainly larger than in the case of age.

¹⁰³ If information on the level of education is absent at the beginning of the observation period, then the level of education at earlier or later time point is recorded.

¹⁰⁴ YSM was captured at the end of the observation to include those immigrants who entered the sample during the observation window.

EMPLOYMENT CAREERS AND UNEMPLOYMENT DYNAMICS

 Table 7.3. Description of the independent variables used in the analyses

Independent variable	Description
Comparison group	0. Native-born – reference category 1. Immigrants
Immigrants' origin (for immigrants only, native-born are assigned 0)	0. Third-country immigrants1. EU immigrants or other westerners
Years since migration (YSM) (for immigrants only, native-born are assigned 0)	Year of observation minus year of migration In the sequence analysis – YSM in 2000 for DE, YSM in 1998 for UK In the event history analyses the variable YSM is centred around its sample mean
Citizenship of immigrants, native-born are assigned 0 (available only in GSOEP)	0. Without German citizenship 1. With German citizenship
Host country language proficiency, native-born are assigned 0 (available only in GSOEP)	A group of dummy coded variables:1. German language (both written and oral) good or very good2. German language (both written and oral) less than good3. Information on language proficiency missing
Age and age squared	 Year of observation minus year of birth. To capture non-linearity of the age effect a squared term is added. Time-varying variable in the event history analysis; in the sequence analysis – age in 1995 (DE), age in 1993 (UK)
Level of education (for details on the CASMIN schema and its applicability for German and British educational systems see Table A.5 in the Appendix)	 A group of dummy coded variables (time-varying in the event-history analysis; in the sequence analysis – level of education in 1995 for Germany, 1993 for UK). To measure the educational level the CASMIN scale was applied, a classification that has been developed for international comparative research (Shavit and Müller, 1998; Brauns and Steinmann, 1997). The CASMIN schema includes eight categories that distinguish the hierarchical levels of educational attainment and differentiate between general and vocational qualifications in each educational level. Due to considerations of the cross-national comparability a collapsed version of CASMIN has been applied: 1. Low general or less – academic or general tracks at the secondary intermediate level, compulsory education or below (CASMIN 1ab, 2b) 2. Low vocational – advanced vocational training, secondary programmes in which general intermediate schooling is combined by vocational training, basic vocational training above and beyond compulsory schooling (CASMIN 1c, 2a – reference category) 3. Medium general – Full maturity certificates (CASMIN 2c) 4. Medium vocational – Full maturity certificates including vocationally-specific schooling or training (CASMIN 2c voc) 5. Tertiary short – lower-level tertiary degrees, generally of shorter duration and with vocational orientation (CASMIN 3a) 6. Tertiary long – traditional, academically-oriented university education (CASMIN 3b) 7. Education missing

(Continued)

Table 7.3. (Continued)

Occupational status of the current job (for details on the EGP class schema see Table A.4 in the Appendix)	Based on the EGP class schema (Erikson and Goldthorpe, 1992): White-collar 1. Service class (EGP I+II) 2. Routine non-manual(EGP III) Skilled and technical 3. Technical (EGP V) 4. Skilled (EGP VI) 5. Unskilled (EGP VII a+b) – reference category 6. Missing
Tenure and tenure squared in the current job	Years of employment in the current job – time-varying. To capture non-linearity of the tenure effect, a squared term is added. Tenure missing – a dummy variable for the missing cases. It is set to 1 in this variable and to 0 in the actual tenure variable.
Industry of the current job (for NACE see Annex A.1 in the Appendix)	 Based on NACE classification (Eurostat, 1992): 1. Construction 2. Manufacture – reference category 3. Other primary or secondary 4. Services 5. Industry missing
The size of the enterprise	1. Small or medium (less than 200 employees) – reference 2. Large (more than 200 employees)
Unemployment benefit or relief	 Measured time constant with unemployment benefit or relief receipt being recorded if a person reported receiving unemployment transfers in any month of the unemployment spell Received any kind of unemployment benefit or relief¹⁰⁵- ref. Without unemployment benefit or relief Information of unemployment benefit or relief is missing
Current regional unemployment rate	 Unemployment rate in the year of observation in the region of residence. In Western Germany 10 regions, i.e., federal states (West Berlin, Schleswig-Holstein, Hamburg, Lower Saxony, Bremen, North Rhine-Westphalia, Hesse, Rhineland-Palatinate and Saarland, Baden-Wuerttemberg, Bavaria) are differentiated with unemployment rate ranging between 4.4 to 12.5 per cent. In Great Britain 12 regions are differentiated: North East, North West (including Merseyside), Yorkshire and the Humber, East Midlands, West Midlands, Eastern part, London, South East, South West, Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland. Regional unemployment rate ranges from 3.9 to 15.1 per cent.

¹⁰⁵ The system of benefits for the unemployed is different in Britain and Germany. In Germany the following benefit types are differentiated: an insurance-based *Arbeitslosengeld*, a hybrid *Arbeitslosenhilfe*, and a needs-based *Sozialhilfe*, with the majority of unemployed receiving the first one. In Britain unemployment benefits are either insurance-based or needs-based (income support), with the majority of unemployment benefits receivers being in the second scheme. For more on the unemployment benefits system in Germany and Great Britain see McGinnity (2002, 2004).

time-varying, which is implemented practically by using an episode-splitting technique (Blossfeld and Rohwer, 1995). Further independent variables, both time-constant and time-varying, include current labour market status, tenure in the current job, industry of the current job,¹⁰⁶ the size of the enterprise when modelling unemployment entry and the availability of unemployment benefits¹⁰⁷ when modelling unemployment exit. In addition, all models include a variable measuring structural conditions in the labour market, namely the current regional unemployment rate.

7.3. Empirical Results

7.3.1. DEVIATION OF CAREER SEQUENCES OF IMMIGRANTS FROM A STANDARD SEQUENCE OF THE NATIVE-BORN

One of the variables concerning immigrant labour market inclusion might be the degree of convergence of the employment careers of immigrants with those of the nativeborn population. In the terminology of the sequence analysis determining this would mean comparing the employment sequences of immigrants with a standard employment sequence of the native-born, the latter being continuous employment both in the UK and in Germany. Indeed, about 60% of native-born men, both German and British, are continuously employed during a 6-year career path observed in the study. It is clear enough that the reference population, native-born men in both countries, are themselves far from being a homogeneous group. That is why one should use the OMA technique to help calculate the distance to continuous employment – the dominant pattern of nativeborn populations in the two countries – for immigrants as well as for the native-born. Since immigrants are included in the analysed sample even if they entered the survey after the beginning of the observation period, they might potentially have career paths shorter than those of the native-born, who are observed only if they were in the sample from the very beginning of the observation period. This is why the sequence analysis is conducted only for persons whose employment careers have at least 36 months (3 years) of valid observations.¹⁰⁸

Figure 7.1 plots cumulative distances to continuous employment, produced by the OMA analysis without weighting, for immigrants and the native-born. Hardly any differences are noticeable when comparing distances to continuous employment among immigrants and the native-born in the two countries. The gap between immigrants and the native-born

¹⁰⁶ Including the variable pertaining to industrial and occupational location allows validating the segmentation explanation to immigrants' unemployment risks (Cain, 1976).

¹⁰⁷ Including the variable pertaining to the availability of unemployment welfare benefits allows validating the welfare state's role in providing immigrants and the native-born with the resources necessary for sustaining the job search.

¹⁰⁸ For the calculation of distances to the reference sequence selection of persons with at least 36 months of valid sequences is not crucial. In fact, the difference between the distance to continuous employment among immigrants and the native-born remains quite stable irrespective of the selection.



Figure 7.1. Cumulative distance to continuous employment among native-born and immigrants in Germany and the UK

Note: N = 2725 (Germany), N = 2306 (UK). Sequences with at least 36 months of valid observations are included.

Source: GSOEP (1995-2000), BHPS (1993-1998) monthly data.

is similar in the two countries with respect to zero-distances (i.e. continuous employment); while in the UK immigrants seem to be slightly more similar to the native-born with respect to non-zero distances. Cross-national differences in the gap between immigrants and the native-born are too small to be noticed visually. Fortunately, one of the advantages of the OMA analysis is that the distances it produces are of an interval scale and can be regressed upon.

Results of the OLS regression predicting distance to continuous employment among immigrants as compared to the native-born in Germany (upper panel) and Great Britain (lower panel) are presented in Table 7.4. From Model 1, in which the gross effect of immigrant status is shown, it is indeed evident that in Germany immigrants pursue employment careers more dissimilar to those of the native-born. Models 2 and 3 successively control for age and level of education, the two most obvious determinants of employment career choices and constraints. While in Germany these explain a substantial part of the gap between immigrants and the native-born in the distance to continuous employment, in Great Britain the disparity between immigrants and the native-born becomes even more pronounced once age and education are taken into account. Obviously, immigrants are not able to cash their human capital potential when it comes to employment careers to the same degree as native Britons. It is interesting to note that the role of education, and especially tertiary education, differs in both countries. While in Germany men with low vocational education do not significantly differ from the tertiary educated in their chances of holding continuous employment, in the UK highly educated persons have ultimately a higher rate of stable employment careers than the rest.

In Model 4 two variables pertaining to the immigrants' characteristics are included – place of origin and years since migration. The results suggest that in Germany immigrants from

123

Table 7.4. Effects on the distance to continuous employment among native-bornand immigrants in Germany and the UK

	Мо	del 1	Μ	odel 2	Ν	Iodel 3	Moo	lel 4
Germany								
Intercept	17.43	$(0.78)^{**}$	175.01	(13.80)**	159.68	(13.70)**	155.84	(13.70)**
Immigrants	12.83	(1.43)**	11.84	(1.39)**	7.14	(1.54)**	10.35	(3.16)**
EU immigrants							-12.77	(2.71)**
YSM							0.01	(0.13)
Age			-8.50	(0.72)**	-7.87	$(0.71)^{**}$	-7.68	(0.71)**
Age squared			0.11	(0.01)**	0.10	(0.01)**	0.10	(0.01)**
Education								
(low voc. –								
reference)								
Low general					15.38	(2.12)**	15.99	(2.12)**
Medium (general					9.52	(1.84)**	9.62	(1.84)
and vocational)								
Tertiary (short					-0.87	(1.74)	-1.53	(1.76)
and long)								
Education					19.63	(11.70)	20.55	(11.60)
missing								
\mathbb{R}^2	0	.03		0.08		0.10	0.	11
Great Britain								
Intercept	21.67	$(0.90)^{**}$	109.23	(19.00)**	101.71	(18.90)**	101.12	$(18.80)^{**}$
Immigrants	9.43	(3.27)**	9.77	(3.21)**	10.73	(3.18)**	28.83	(8.79)**
EU immigrants							1.83	(6.33)
YSM							-0.65	$(0.28)^{*}$
Age			-5.38	$(0.99)^{**}$	-4.92	$(0.98)^{**}$	-4.91	$(0.98)^{**}$
Age squared			0.08	$(0.01)^{**}$	0.07	$(0.01)^{**}$	0.07	$(0.01)^{**}$
Education (low								
voc reference)								
Low general					7.64	(2.34)**	7.58	(2.34)**
Medium (general					-5.15	(2.97)	-5.20	(2.97)
and vocational)								
Tertiary (short					-8.45	(2.41)**	-8.69	(2.41)**
and long)								
Education					15.12	(7.69)*	14.18	(7.70)
missing								
\mathbf{R}^2	0	.00		0.04		0.07	0.	07

Notes: N=2725 (Germany), N=2306 (UK);*p<0.05 **p<0.01.

Sequences with at least 36 months of valid observation are included.

Source: GSOEP (1995–2000), BHPS (1993–1998) monthly data.

EU countries and other westerners are much better off than third-country immigrants; while in the UK the employment careers of the former do not differ significantly from those of third-country immigrants. Also notable is the difference in effects of the tenure in the host country (YSM) in Germany and the UK. Whereas in Germany the duration

of residence plays no significant role in narrowing the gap between immigrants and the native-born with respect to their employment careers, in Great Britain one can observe a more classical assimilation pattern. Indeed, although starting with the largest dissimilarity upon arrival, the longer their stay the more immigrants' careers tend to resemble those of the native-born.

So far the analysis has shown that in both countries, albeit to a different extent, immigrants pursue employment careers not identical to those of the native-born. But what makes their employment career paths differ? The sequence analysis allows us to answer this question as well, and the results can be found in Table 7.5. As in the earlier analyses cases with at least 36 months of valid career sequences are explored.¹⁰⁹ Differences in the sample selection criteria¹¹⁰ are reflected in the average length of a sequence: in both countries immigrants tend to have significantly shorter sequences than the nativeborn.¹¹¹ Immigrants also display higher employment mobility, especially in Germany, where they have more employment transitions than the native-born. During a sampled six-year career path immigrants in both Germany and the UK spend significantly less time being employed, and instead appear to have longer unemployment periods. In other statuses differences between immigrants are less pronounced and are mostly statistically insignificant, but some peculiarities should be noted. While in Germany immigrants have significantly shorter durations in education or training, in Great Britain immigrants tend to spend more time studying, albeit insignificantly. A distinctive feature of the British data is that generally more people are classified as being in a heterogeneous 'other' category, with immigrants having even longer durations in this category, although insignificantly. In Germany immigrants also tend to spend more time in statuses other than employment, unemployment, education or retirement.

Furthermore, in Germany immigrants tend to have unemployment episodes more frequently, which is evident from the lower portion of Table 7.5 that counts the average number of episodes in different statuses. Immigrants in Germany also enter education or training less frequently, but more often experience 'other' episodes.

To sum up, it should be noted that in both countries immigrants' careers do not attain convergence with those of the native-born. Whereas in Germany the dissimilarity in employment paths is at least partially explained by immigrants' less favourable human capital, in the UK immigrants seem to be unable to substantiate their educational capital to the same degree as the native-born, displaying higher dissimilarity as compared to

¹⁰⁹ Ideally one should compare sequences of the same length, i.e. 72 months. The analyses have been made also for sequences extending over the entire period under observation, 6 years or 72 months, and the results remain robust.

¹¹⁰ To reiterate, immigrants are included in the sample even if they entered the survey during the observation period, while selection of the native-born is restricted to those who were present in the sample at the beginning of the observation period.

¹¹¹ Immigrants are potentially more likely to leave the sample when experiencing return migration.

Table 7.5.	Description of	the employmen	t career s	sequences of	immigrants	and
the native-h	oorn in Germa	ny and Great Bri	itain			

	Geri	nany	UK		
	Native-born	Immigrants	Native-born	Immigrants	
Average length of the sequence	69.73	66.29**	67.33	65.37**	
Number of different episodes	1.41	1.52**	1.37	1.41	
Duration in					
employment	60.52	53.56**	60.03	53.59**	
unemployment	2.68	7.29**	3.70	5.84*	
education	2.12	1.40*	0.51	0.71	
retirement	1.21	1.81	1.08	1.00	
other	0.79	1.31*	4.41	5.14	
Number of episodes in					
employment	1.27	1.32	1.17	1.09	
unemployment	0.29	0.52**	0.36	0.40	
education	0.16	0.10**	0.04	0.04	
retirement	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.02	
other	0.11	0.16*	0.16	0.17	
Ν	2009	838	2132	174	

Note: Sequences with at least 36 months of valid observations are included.

Source: GSOEP (1995-2000), BHPS (1993-1998) monthly data.

the career sequences of the native-born once level of education and age structures are controlled for. The latter finding casts doubt upon the hypothesis that British employers favourably value the educational credentials of immigrants because of the higher relevance of their human capital in the UK labour market (compared to the German situation).

Furthermore, significant numbers of third-country immigrants in Germany have more distant career paths than privileged newcomers from EU or other western countries, which is not the case in the UK. There, however, and unlike the case in Germany, a distinct assimilation trend is noticeable: immigrants' careers appear to become more similar to those of the native-born the longer immigrants reside in Great Britain.

The analysis further reveals what makes immigrants' career sequences differ from those of the native-born and confirms that the largest problem for immigrants in both countries appears to be prolonged and frequent (especially in Germany) unemployment. Before examining the determinants of higher unemployment risk among immigrants in the two countries, it is necessary to explore what types of jobs immigrants and the native-born pursue. Indeed, so far it has only been possible to compare employment careers of immigrants with the native-born, differentiating between several employment statuses, i.e. employed, unemployed or economically inactive (in education, retirement or other statuses), without assessing the occupational status of jobs held by immigrants and the native-born. The next section aims to describe the labour market careers of immigrants and

the native-born, taking into account both the variety of employment statuses (employed, unemployed and inactive) and the occupations in which they are found.

7.3.2. OCCUPATIONAL INCLUSION OR SEGMENTATION? EMPLOYMENT AND OCCUPATIONAL CAREERS OF IMMIGRANTS IN GERMANY AND THE UK

A general agreement exists among researchers of international migration to Germany that immigrants and particularly those who arrived in the framework of the guest-working program are marked by economic segmentation and over-representation at the lower part of the occupational ladder (Münz and Ulrich, 1997; Seifert, 1995, 1998; Berger, 2000, Münz et al., 1997; Schultze, 1990; Gillmeister et al., 1989; Bender and Seifert, 2000; Bender et al., 2000). In Great Britain unemployment is seen as a more serious problem for immigrants than occupational or earnings disadvantages (Leslie et al., 1998; Wheatley Price, 1998; Heath et al., 1999). Heath and McMahon (2000) contend that some immigrants - namely Chinese, Irish and Indian - appear to compete on equal terms with British-born whites of similar social background and educational characteristics in gaining access to salaried status, while others, i.e. Black Caribbeans and Pakistanis, seem to be disadvantaged in the salaried labour market but not so much in the manual labour market (see also Jones, 1993; Modood et al., 1997). These research findings stem from analyses of the cross-sectional data, which can, however, offer only a snapshot of the process studied, and certainly cannot pick up occupational transitions or mobility patterns. Can results of the previous studies be confirmed when analysing labour market careers using sequence analysis techniques?

Here we report results of the pairwise optimal matching analysis for career statuses of immigrants and the native-born in Germany based upon the annual data, and in the UK, based upon the monthly data.¹¹² As described in the methodological section the classification of statuses combines the collapsed version of the EGP classification plus two employment statuses, namely 'unemployed' and 'inactive', self-defined by the respondents.¹¹³ The matrix resulting from the pairwise calculation of distances was subjected to a hierarchical cluster analysis and, on the basis of the standard criteria¹¹⁴, a solution was selected with 10 clusters for Germany and 9 clusters for the UK (see Table 7.6).

¹¹² To reiterate, the analysis was conducted separately for both countries.

¹¹³ As mentioned earlier, self-definition of 'unemployment' produces a result that in the UK, where fewer unemployed receive unemployment benefits compared to Germany, respondents might not define themselves as unemployed but rather as inactive. These possible differences in self-definition do not allow straightforward cross-country comparisons. There is no problem, however, in directly comparing immigrant penalties across the two countries.

¹¹⁴ Following recommendations by Bacher (1996) this decision was made based on the Mojena I criterion, which also allowed clear substantial interpretation of the cluster solution.

127

 Table 7.6.
 Cluster solution of employment career paths of men in Germany and the UK

DE	UK	Description of the cluster
1	1	Stable service class – career paths with exclusively service class jobs
2	2	Mobile service class – career paths are dominated by service class jobs, but mobility to and from other statuses is noticeable
3	3	Routine non-manual class
4	4	Petty bourgeoisie
5	5	Low-grade technicians and supervisors of manual workers is a dominant class, but mobility mainly to and from the service and skilled working classes is observed
6	6	Largely stable skilled working class with some slight mobility to and from unemployment, unskilled class and technicians
7	7	Largely stable unskilled working class plus rare instants of inflows and outflows to and from unemployment and exchange with skilled occupations
8		Mobile working class – comprising skilled, unskilled workers and technicians. Two major types of mobility within this cluster are mobility from the skilled to unskilled class and vice versa
9	8	Unemployment with some mobility mostly to and from the unskilled worker class
10	9	Out of the labour force

Note: Sequences with at least 36 months of valid observations are included. *Source*: GSOEP (1995–2000) annual data, BHPS (1993–1998) monthly data.

The idea of the cluster analysis is to obtain a minimal number of rather homogenous clusters, which reflect distinct patterns of career paths among the male population in the two countries. Unlike the cross-sectional distribution of statuses, which is able to summarise single statuses only at a particular point in time, clustering of the matrix produced by the pairwise optimal matching analysis allows us to distinguish patterns of mobility within a six-year interval of employment careers. Obviously, the analysis should yield at least 8 clusters because each valid status potentially forms a cluster. In addition, two distinct clusters have emerged from the analysis of the German data, clusters which capture apparent status transitions of the German male population aged 25-55, namely mobility with the dominant status being the service class (cluster 2) and mobility within the working class (cluster 8). In Great Britain only one mobility cluster, the mobile service class cluster (cluster 2) has appeared. It must be stressed that restricting the sample to cases with valid sequences of at least 36 months prevents emergence of a cluster dominated by missing cases. The cluster of missing cases might indeed be a problem for the substantive interpretation, but is otherwise unavoidable since missing career statuses will exist anyway due to panel mortality (including emigration), later appearance of new panel members, immigration and finally because of non-response.

Figures 7.2a and 7.2b plot labour market career sequences of native-born German men and immigrants according to cluster membership. A six-year employment career of each individual in the sample is plotted as a line. Different shadings pertain to the variety of statuses held by an individual. Since individual sequences are sorted according to

their cluster membership, with black lines representing the cluster borders and figures to the right pertaining to the cluster membership, it is easy to explore typical trajectories visually. The findings are striking: whereas less than 10% of immigrants are employed in service class jobs, among native-born Germans this figure is 40%. Moreover, only about 4% of immigrants are continuously employed in service class occupations, whereas the corresponding figure for the native-born is higher than 20%. At the other end of the occupational hierarchy, namely unskilled employment, immigrants are over-represented at about 30%, while slightly less than 10% of native-born Germans pursue unskilled employment. The share of those employed as skilled workers is similar among the nativeborn and immigrants. Native-born Germans, however, significantly outnumber immigrants in the proportion of technicians and supervisors of manual workers. As already shown in the earlier analysis, unemployment is a problem for immigrants, long-term unemployment being even more of a problem, which is clearly depicted in Figure 7.2b. In addition, it is also apparent that self-employment, though practised by immigrants, has not become as widespread as among native-born Germans. It is worth noting that the mobile working cluster (cluster 8), is much larger for immigrant populations than for native-born Germans. Here it is evident that immigrant workers do have transitions from unskilled to skilled manual work; however, opposing transitions are also frequent.

A strikingly different picture is observed in Figures 7.3a and 7.3b, where labour status careers of native-born Britons and immigrants are plotted. Immigrants appear to be largely



Figure 7.2a. Labour market career sequences of native-born German men according to cluster membership

Note: N = 2000. Sequences with at least 36 months of valid observations are included.



Figure 7.2b. Labour market career sequences of male immigrants in Germany according to cluster membership

Note: N = 823. A coloured version of Figure 7.2a and 7.2b is under: http://www.springer.com/978-1-4020-5231-6

Source: GSOEP (1995-2000), monthly data.

comparable to the native-born in terms of the labour-status careers they pursue. Major differences are found in a higher proportion of immigrants in the unemployment cluster but a somewhat lower percentage of those holding unskilled and skilled manual jobs.

The question is, however, if occupational segmentation of immigrants in Germany can be traced back to insufficient human capital of the immigrant population or to other factors. To explore this question a multinomial logistic regression analysis is also conducted to predict the cluster membership of immigrants in Germany and the UK, controlling for selected socio-demographic characteristics. Several clusters were collapsed together to ease the analysis: clusters 1, 2 and 3 were grouped into the white-collar employment cluster, while clusters 5 and 6 were assigned to one group covering skilled and technical employment. As a result we ended up with six categories for the UK and seven for Germany: (1) white collar employment, (2) petty bourgeoisie, (3) skilled and technical employment, (4) unskilled working cluster, (5) unemployment, (6) economic inactivity and (7) mobile working cluster (for Germany only). Tables A.6a (for Germany) and A.6b (for Great Britain) in the Appendix present unstandardised coefficients of the multinomial regression predicting log-likelihood of being in each of the above-mentioned clusters as compared to being in cluster 4, i.e. unskilled working class. To facilitate the interpretation Table 7.7 reports predicted probabilities of cluster membership (multiplied by 100, which allows



Figure 7.3a. Labour market career sequences of native-born British men according to cluster membership





Figure 7.3b. Labour market career sequences of male immigrants in Great Britain according to cluster membership

Note: N = 173. A coloured version of Figure 7.3a and 7.3b is under: http://www.springer.com/978-1-4020-5231-6

Source: BHPS (1993-1999), monthly data.

	Low ee	vocational ducation	Tert	tiary (long) ducation	Average education		
	Native	Immigrants	Native	Immigrants	Native	EU	Third- country
Germany							
White-collar	33.0	1.2	92.9	27.8	50.2	8.2	1.2
Petty bourgeoisie	10.6	3.6	2.6	7.1	9.5	12.7	2.8
Technical and skilled	28.6	25.7	1.3	9.6	15.9	15.7	18.4
Unskilled	8.2	27.0	0.6	16.0	7.1	25.8	31.1
Mobile working	12.2	31.3	0.9	18.6	8.6	27.8	28.4
Unemployed	5.4	10.7	1.2	19.9	5.8	9.9	16.2
Inactive	2.0	0.5	0.5	1.0	2.9	0.0	1.2
Great Britain							
White-collar	20.5	12.4	93.0	81.1	44.7	31.5	27.8
Petty bourgeoisie	23.0	24.7	1.8	2.9	14.7	23.8	14.7
Technical and skilled	29.5	27.2	1.4	1.9	16.4	8.5	18.8
Unskilled	17.2	17.8	0.6	0.9	13.4	11.3	15.8
Unemployed	1.9	7.6	1.9	10.9	2.9	11.5	12.4
Inactive	8.0	10.4	1.2	2.2	8.0	13.5	10.3

Table 7.7. Predicted probabilities of cluster membership for immigrants and the native-born in Germany and the UK

Note: Sequences with at least 36 months of valid observations are included. Age is set at its sample mean; tenure in the host country (YSM) for immigrants is set to 10 years.

Source: GSOEP (1995-2000) annual data, BHPS (1993-1998) monthly data.

us to treat them as percentages) for two educational profiles, namely persons with low vocational education and those with tertiary (long) qualifications among the native-born and immigrants.¹¹⁵ In addition, predicted probabilities for immigrants from EU or other western countries and third-country immigrants are compared to those of the native-born population of average age¹¹⁶ and education.

In both countries immigrants are disadvantaged as compared to the native-born of the same age and level of education, but the degree of disadvantage differs substantially.

¹¹⁵ The probability that a person with characteristics x will be found in cluster C_j can be written: $P(C_j) = e^b j^x / (e^b l^x + e^b 2^x + \ldots + e^b k^x)$, where k is the number of clusters, and b_j is a set of logit parameters corresponding to cluster membership j. Since the probabilities of ending up in each of the k clusters must sum to 1, only (k - l) independent sets of parameters can be estimated. By convention, the parameters corresponding to the last alternative k are set equal to 0.

¹¹⁶ The age of persons has been set to the average age in each sample. For immigrants, tenure in the host country (YSM) has been set to 10 years.

Estimates show that predicted probabilities for immigrants in the UK are more similar to those of the native-born than is the case in Germany. In Germany immigrants' education, whether vocational or tertiary, appears to be virtually irrelevant, leaving immigrants little choice beyond unskilled or manual employment - or remaining unemployed. This problem seems to be even more severe among highly educated immigrants. Often being unable to find white-collar employment or being reluctant to search for it due to an intended temporary stay (which is particularly relevant for some recent immigrants) – these highly qualified people opt for self-employment, enter skilled or technical jobs or, wasting their human capital, accept unskilled or unstable working class employment. Moreover, tertiaryeducated immigrants seem to have particularly high unemployment risk as compared to the native German population. Immigrants with low vocational education are also quite disadvantaged: they have almost no chance of finding white-collar employment even though about 33 per cent of the native-born with low vocational education are in the white-collar employment cluster. Immigrants, on the contrary, are predominantly found in the unskilled and mobile working clusters. A positive, significant effect of tenure in the host country is, however, to be noted for immigrants in Germany when it comes to their chances of entering white-collar or self-employment (see Tables A.6a in the Appendix).

In Great Britain immigrants also have greater difficulties entering white-collar employment and are over-represented in unemployment, but there is no indication that tertiaryeducated newcomers are particularly handicapped in the British labour market. Overall, third-country immigrants have a more difficult time in both countries' labour markets as compared to immigrants coming from EU or other western countries, other things being equal. Interestingly, in both countries EU immigrants have a higher propensity for selfemployment compared to the native-born or third-country immigrants. In Germany the latter have, however, a much lower probability of starting businesses than the native-born, other things being equal. On the other hand, third-country immigrants in Germany are significantly over-represented in unskilled and mobile working class clusters, a feature they largely share with immigrants from EU countries.

In summary, results of the pairwise sequence analysis confirm findings of earlier studies pointing to existing occupational segmentation of immigrants in Germany. These results also establish that in Great Britain unemployment remains a larger problem for its immigrant population than occupational disadvantage. Sequence analysis of the panel data reveals too that in Germany immigrants have less stable employment and occupational careers. Principally, during the sampled six-year career path immigrants in Germany experienced significantly more frequent employment transitions than was the case among the native-born, while in Great Britain immigrants did not significantly differ from the natives in this respect. Besides this, the cluster analysis of pairwise OMA distances in the German data discovered the existence of a mobile working class cluster where immigrants are particularly prominent.

Furthermore, it has been shown that occupational segregation in Germany can only be partially explained by the inadequate educational qualifications of some immigrants.

Results of the multinomial logistic regression instead point to the fact that immigrants' formal educational qualifications are of little relevance in the German labour market, while in the UK they seem to be more attractive indicators for employers. This does not, however, ensure equal returns to immigrants' education in Great Britain, but an educated immigrant's situation there is far more favourable than in Germany. In addition, it emerges that both in Germany and the UK, third-country immigrants are more at odds with their host country labour markets than more privileged émigrés from EU member states or other western industrialised countries.

So far the analyses have shown that in both societies immigrants have difficulty finding employment, but it seems that they are competing with the native-born in different labour market segments. While immigrants in Great Britain are quite similar to the native-born in their occupational patterns, in Germany they are over-represented in the secondary labour market, largely in unskilled or unstable working class employment. The next section will have a closer look at the unemployment dynamics of immigrants in both countries and will try to explain why long-term unemployment remains a problem for the immigrant populations in both countries and how it can be related to immigrants' labour market segmentation (particularly in Germany).

7.3.3. UNEMPLOYMENT DYNAMICS OF IMMIGRANTS IN GERMANY AND GREAT BRITAIN

The following is a presentation of the results of the event-history analysis of the transition from unemployment to different employment destinations, and from dependent employment to unemployment for immigrants as compared to the native-born in Germany and Great Britain. During the six-year observation window respondents might have experienced multiple unemployment, as well as employment spells. For the purpose of the analysis we pool all spells together, unemployment for the analyses of unemployment exit, and employment for the analysis of unemployment entry; but we account for the correlation between spells by adjusting the covariance matrix of the estimators. This is practically implemented with the statistical package Stata 8 by introducing robust standard errors and clustering on individuals per spell.¹¹⁷ The German dataset contains 1042 unemployment and 3848 employment spells, with the total number of individuals being 2940 in the analysis of unemployment inflow and 676 in the analysis of unemployment spells with the total number of individuals being 2178 in the analysis of unemployment inflow and 633 in the analysis of unemployment outflow.

¹¹⁷ Indeed, *robust cluster* command in Stata relaxes the assumption of the independence of the observations within the cluster (a person in our case), requiring only that observations are independent across the clusters. Resultant standard errors are correct even if the observations are correlated (Stata Corporation, 2002: 256).

7.3.3.1. Unemployment Outflow

The following analysis compares the chances of finding employment for unemployed immigrants to those of the unemployed native-born in both countries. It is well known that the labour market is not homogenous and immigrants are especially at extra risk of being employed in its lower echelons.

The following section will attempt to find verification or otherwise for the expectation that in Germany immigrants, after being unemployed, are more at risk of entering the labour market at its lower end than is the case in Great Britain. To this end we run a competing risk model, which assumes that the competing destinations, i.e. whitecollar, skilled and unskilled employment, are independent from one another. Independent variables successively included into the models of the unemployment exit are variables pertaining to human capital characteristics, unemployment benefits receipt, labour market situation in the region of residence and immigrant characteristics.

Table 7.8 documents the results of the analysis of the transition from unemployment to white-collar employment in Germany (upper part) and Great Britain (lower part). From Model 1, which presents the gross effect of immigrant status (i.e. the effect without controlling for any other variables), it appears that in Germany immigrants have a much lower rate of transition to white-collar employment once unemployed, while in the UK there is no significant difference between immigrants and the native-born in this respect. Model 2 controls for the human capital characteristics of immigrants and native populations, namely age and level of education. It appears that if education and age¹¹⁸ are taken into account the disadvantage of immigrants in access to white-collar employment increases in both countries, but in Great Britain the effect remains statistically insignificant. This suggests that immigrants' formal educational qualifications seem to be at least partially discounted in both host countries' labour markets.¹¹⁹ In Model 3 in addition to human capital characteristics, unemployment benefits receipt and regional unemployment rate are controlled for. Both variables capture structural characteristics of the respective societies: welfare state provisions and the local labour market situation. Including these variables helps to explain a part of the immigrant penalty in Germany, which, however, still remains rather large and unaccounted for. In the UK the gap between immigrants and the native-born increases further, but the effect still remains statistically insignificant. It is important to note that there is no evidence that immigrants 'overstay' in unemployment once receiving unemployment benefits. Indeed, the difference in the immigrant effect is rather marginal when comparing Model 2 and Model 3. In Model 4 we control for the composition of immigrant groups, differentiating between immigrants coming from the EU or other western countries and third-country immigrants. Cohort or

¹¹⁸ Age appears to have no significant influence on the rate of entering white-collar employment in either country, however.

¹¹⁹ The better test for the transferability of foreign educational credentials would be to include interaction effects of education and immigrant status. However, due to the small number of cases such analyses are hardly reliable and are not reported here.

	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3		Model 4	
Germany Immigrants EU immigrants YSM	-1.76**	(0.25)	-1.99**	(0.29)	-1.80**	(0.27)	-2.00^{**} 0.53 -0.02	(0.44) (0.79) (0.04)
Human capital Age Age squared/100 Low general or less Middle general education Middle vocational education Tertiary (short) education Tertiary (long) education Education			0.06 -0.12 -2.42** -0.17 0.99** 1.80** 1.68**	$\begin{array}{c} (0.10) \\ (0.12) \\ (0.72) \\ (0.63) \\ (0.31) \\ (0.32) \\ (0.22) \\ (1.28) \end{array}$	0.06 -0.10 -2.54** -0.47 0.69* 1.28** 1.27**	$\begin{array}{c} (0.10) \\ (0.12) \\ (0.73) \\ (0.64) \\ (0.30) \\ (0.30) \\ (0.22) \\ (1.20) \end{array}$	0.05 -0.09 -2.54** -0.46 0.70* 1.28** 1.28**	$\begin{array}{c} (0.10) \\ (0.12) \\ (0.73) \\ (0.66) \\ (0.30) \\ (0.31) \\ (0.22) \\ (1.29) \end{array}$
Unemployment benefits No benefit Info missing Regional unemployment			0.32	(1.20)	2.06** 1.05*	(0.26) (0.41) (0.05)	2.04** 1.05*	(0.26) (0.41) (0.05)
rate					0.07	(0.05)	0.07	(0.05)
<i>Time periods</i> 3–6 months 6–12 months 12–24 months 24–36 months More than 3 years	0.21 1.11* 0.30 0.51 0.54	(0.67) (0.50) (0.52) (0.50) (0.47)	0.13 1.07* 0.30 0.56 0.71	(0.70) (0.50) (0.52) (0.50) (0.47)	0.33 1.32** 0.59 0.82 0.97*	(0.71) (0.50) (0.53) (0.50) (0.48)	0.32 1.31** 0.59 0.82 0.96*	(0.71) (0.50) (0.53) (0.50) (0.47)
Intercept	-4.45**	(0.45)	-5.29**	(2.06)	-7.40**	(2.13)	-7.32**	(2.12)
Log Pseudo-likelihood		224.4	-	-152.2	-	-107.8	-10	07.4
Great Britain Immigrants EU immigrants YSM	-0.02	(0.26)	-0.30	(0.31)	-0.37	(0.30)	$-0.21 \\ -0.42 \\ 0.02$	(0.34) (0.62) (0.02)

Table 7.8. Results (unstandardised coefficients and robust standard errors) from a piecewise constant exponential model on transition from unemployment to white-collar employment for men, 25–55 years old, in Germany and the UK

(Continued)
Table 7.8. (Continued)

	Mod	el 1	Mod	lel 2	Moo	lel 3	Model	4
Human capital								
Age			0.15	(0.09)	0.14	(0.09)	0.14	(0.09)
Age squared/100			-0.19	(0.11)	0.20	(0.10)	-0.20^{*}	(0.10)
Low general or less			-1.05^{**}	(0.27)	-1.04^{**}	(0.27)	-1.05^{**}	(0.27)
Middle general education			1.16**	(0.35)	1.02**	(0.34)	1.02**	(0.34)
Middle vocational education			1.39**	(0.30)	1.29**	(0.30)	1.28**	(0.30)
Tertiary (short) education			1.00**	(0.26)	0.96**	(0.25)	0.96**	(0.25)
Tertiary (long) education			1.42**	(0.29)	1.37**	(0.29)	1.40**	(0.29)
Unemployment benefits								
No benefit					0.66**	(0.17)	0.68**	(0.17)
Info missing					-0.96	(1.04)	-0.95	(1.04)
Regional unemployment rate					-0.12*	(0.05)	-0.12*	(0.05)
Time periods								
3–6 months	-0.13	(0.45)	-0.10	(0.44)	-0.20	(0.44)	-0.20	(0.44)
6-12 months	-0.01	(0.37)	0.01	(0.37)	-0.04	(0.37)	-0.04	(0.38)
12-24 months	0.35	(0.33)	0.47	(0.33)	0.35	(0.34)	0.35	(0.34)
24-36 months	0.08	(0.35)	0.24	(0.35)	-0.02	(0.37)	-0.02	(0.37)
More than 3 years	0.52	(0.32)	0.60	(0.32)	0.14	(0.35)	0.14	(0.36)
Intercept	-4.13**	(0.30)	-7.21**	(1.86)	-5.82^{**}	(1.91)	-5.82^{**}	(1.90)
Log Pseudo-likelihood	-3	310.5	-	-215.1	-	-201.1	-20	0.5

Note: * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01; robust standard errors are in parentheses. *Source*: GSOEP (1995–2000), BHPS (1993–1998) monthly data.

tenure effects are also measured by the years since migration (YSM) variable, which is centred on its sample mean, so that the main effect for the immigrant status pertains to immigrants residing in Germany for 19.2 years and in the UK for 20.5 years. Results show that in both countries immigrants from the EU are not significantly different from third-country immigrants when it comes to taking up white-collar positions even though the respective coefficients are relatively large. In fact in the UK the coefficient for EU immigrants is negative, implying that immigrants from EU and other western countries would have had a lower risk of entering white-collar employment after being unemployed as compared to third-country immigrants if this effect were statistically significant. In Germany this coefficient is positive, suggesting a higher chance of entering white-collar employment for EU immigrants and other westerners, albeit insignificantly. Finally YSM has no significant effect on immigrants' chances of white-collar employment in either country.

EMPLOYMENT CAREERS AND UNEMPLOYMENT DYNAMICS

As one might expect, possessing qualifications of tertiary education, particularly from universities, increases the likelihood of a person entering white-collar employment both in Great Britain and in Germany. While in Germany the difference in the effect of long and short tertiary education is hardly noticeable (see Models 3-4), in Great Britain university education ensures substantially better chances of entering white-collar employment than short tertiary education, other things being equal. Moreover, the results show that having short tertiary education might not even be that favourable for obtaining white-collar jobs compared to post-secondary non-tertiary education, for example. Furthermore, in the UK persons with diplomas of secondary general education (see the effect of middle general education) have significantly better entry rates to white-collar employment compared to persons with low vocational education. In Germany this is not the case: individuals with Abitur but without any vocational training are no more likely to swap unemployment for white-collar work than those without Abitur but with vocational training. Regional unemployment rates do not seem to play any role in determining the chance of entering white-collar employment in Germany, while in Great Britain they do indeed. The effect of unemployment benefits receipt upon the figures also differs between the two countries. In Germany unemployment benefits receipt seems to prolong unemployment more substantially than it does in the UK. Finally, the baseline rates differ between the two countries: in the UK the baseline rate is constant, while in Germany some positive duration dependence can be observed.

In Germany immigrants not only have a lower chance of landing white-collar employment: their chances for skilled or technical employment are also significantly lower than among the native-born, which is evident from the upper portion of Model 1 in Table 7.9. In Great Britain the immigrant gross effect on the hazard rate is also negative, but is much weaker and is not statistically significant (lower part of Model 1). Human capital characteristics (see Model 2) explain a large part of immigrants' disadvantage in Germany, while in the UK the immigrant effect even becomes positive. However, little can be derived from this trend as it does not differ from zero statistically. Variables pertaining to unemployment benefits receipt and regional unemployment rates further explain the disadvantage of immigrants in Great Britain and Germany (see Model 3). The gap in the rate of unemployment exit as a skilled worker between immigrants and the native-born narrows once unemployment benefit receipt is controlled for. The immigrant effect in Germany, in fact, ceases to be statistically significant.¹²⁰ In both countries unemployed immigrants from EU or other western countries do not significantly differ from thirdcountry immigrants when it comes to their chances of entering skilled or technical employment (see Model 4). Actually, in Germany the effect pertaining to immigrants from EU or other western countries is relatively large and negative, albeit insignificant, possibly pointing to a lower risk within the respective groups of immigrants entering skilled or technical employment. Just the contrary might be true in Great Britain – if the effect were significant – where EU immigrants and other westerners would have a higher likelihood of exiting unemployment as skilled workers. The variable pertaining to time

 $^{^{120}\;}$ The difference in the net immigrant effect is too small between Models 2 and 3.

Table 7.9. Results (unstandardised coefficients and robust standard errors) from a piecewise constant exponential model on transition from unemployment to skilled or technical employment for men, 25–55 years old, in Germany and the UK

	M	odel 1	Μ	lodel 2	Μ	lodel 3	Mod	lel 4
Germany Immigrants EU immigrants YSM	-0.88*	(0.18)	-0.45*	(0.21)	-0.36	(0.20)	-0.56^{*} -0.29 -0.05^{**}	(0.25) (0.48) (0.02)
Human capital Age Age squared/100 Low general or less Middle general education Middle vocational education Tertiary (short) education Tertiary (long) education Education missing			$\begin{array}{c} 0.46^{**} \\ -0.63^{**} \\ -1.27^{**} \\ -1.25^{**} \\ -0.36 \\ 0.39 \\ -0.90^{**} \\ -1.38 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} (0.10) \\ (0.12) \\ (0.28) \\ (0.49) \\ (0.29) \\ (0.32) \\ (0.34) \\ (1.11) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.39^{**} \\ -0.53^{**} \\ -1.37^{**} \\ -1.37^{**} \\ -0.50 \\ 0.04 \\ -1.19^{**} \\ -1.15 \end{array}$	(0.10) (0.12) (0.28) (0.47) (0.27) (0.33) (0.33) (1.08)	0.40^{**} -0.54^{**} -1.38^{**} -1.27^{**} -0.69^{*} -0.25 -1.37^{**} -1.19	$\begin{array}{c} (0.10) \\ (0.12) \\ (0.29) \\ (0.47) \\ (0.29) \\ (0.36) \\ (0.35) \\ (1.06) \end{array}$
Unemployment benefits No benefit Info missing				`	1.54** 0.51	(0.19) (0.35) (0.05)	1.51** 0.48	(0.20) (0.35) (0.05)
<i>rate</i> <i>Time periods</i> 3–6 months 6–12 months 12–24 months 24–36 months More than 3 years Intercept Log Pseudo-likelihood	-0.22 0.30 -0.11 -0.01 -0.57 -3.65** -323	(0.47) (0.34) (0.33) (0.31) (0.30) (0.28) .0	-0.21 0.30 -0.07 0.10 -0.30 -11.35** -270	(0.47) (0.34) (0.33) (0.31) (0.31) (2.06)	-0.11 0.50 0.10 0.41 -0.03 -10.74** -229	(0.47) (0.33) (0.33) (0.32) (0.30) (1.97)	-0.06 0.54 0.11 0.44 0.02 -11.07** -22	$(0.48) \\ (0.34) \\ (0.33) \\ (0.32) \\ (0.30) \\ (1.95) \\ 23.4$
Great Britain Immigrants EU immigrants YSM	-0.16	(0.30)	0.16	(0.31)	0.08	(0.31)	$0.01 \\ 0.27 \\ -0.00$	(0.36) (0.66) (0.02)
Human capital Age Age squared/100 Low general or less			-0.05 0.05 -1.07^{**}	(0.09) (0.11) (0.23)	-0.06 0.05 -1.05^{**}	(0.09) (0.11) (0.23)	-0.06 0.06 -1.04**	(0.09) (0.11) (0.23)

139

	Model	1	Model 2	Mo	del 3	Mod	lel 4
Middle general		-1.26	(0.68) -	-1.37*	(0.66)	-1.36*	(0.67)
Middle vocational education		-0.30	(0.39) -	-0.35	(0.39)	-0.36	(0.39)
Tertiary (short) education		-0.18	(0.28) -	-0.19	(0.27)	-0.19	(0.27)
Tertiary (long) education		-1.30*	* (0.50) -	-1.40**	(0.50)	-1.43**	(0.54)
Unemployment benefits							
No benefit				0.69**	(0.18)	0.69**	(0.18)
Info missing				0.08	(0.66)	0.08	(0.66)
Regional unemployment rate			-	-0.03	(0.05)	-0.03	(0.05)
Time periods							
3–6 months	-0.33 (0	0.52) -0.33	(0.52) -	-0.36	(0.52)	-0.36	(0.52)
6-12 months	0.19 (0	0.40) 0.18	(0.40)	0.18	(0.40)	0.18	(0.40)
12-24 months	0.04 (0	0.39) 0.03	(0.39) -	-0.01	(0.39)	-0.00	(0.39)
24-36 months	0.02 (0	0.39) 0.03	(0.40) -	-0.06	(0.41)	-0.06	(0.41)
More than 3 years	0.18 (0	0.36) 0.25	(0.37)	0.04	(0.38)	0.04	(0.38)
Intercept	-4.31** (0	0.33) -2.67	(1.92) -	-2.34	(1.90)	-2.33	(1.92)
Log Pseudo-likelihood	-276	.6	-258.6	-2	.51.3	-23	51.3

Note: *p < 0.05 **p < 0.01; robust standard errors are in parentheses.

Source: GSOEP (1995–2000), BHBS (1993–1998) monthly data.

since migration has a negative significant effect in Germany, suggesting that an immigrant who resides in Germany for a longer time has a lower chance of exiting unemployment as a skilled worker compared to more recent immigrants. In fact, this effect reflects the higher chances of ethnic German immigrants, a relatively recent group of immigrants in Germany, of entering skilled employment compared to earlier immigration waves.

As for other control variables, general education (either low or secondary) has a negative effect on the rate of exiting unemployment as a skilled worker in both countries. Persons with long tertiary education also have a significantly lower risk of entering skilled working class occupations once unemployed. Age has a significant curvilinear effect upon the rates of finding skilled or technical employment in Germany,¹²¹ but is not significant in Great Britain. In both countries the regional unemployment rate does not significantly influence the chances of entering skilled employment. And as was seen in the previous

¹²¹ Up until 37 years old (0.46/2*0.0063) the chances of finding skilled or technical employment once unemployed rise and later on decrease.

table, in Germany unemployment benefits receipt slows the exit to skilled employment more substantially than it does in the UK. Finally, the baseline rates appear to be constant for both countries.

Table 7.10 presents the results of the piecewise constant exponential model predicting (the limit of) the conditional probability of someone finding an unskilled job in a particular month, given the fact that s/he was looking for work until that time in Germany and the UK. Immigrants' gross effect upon the rate in Germany is positive but not statistically significant (see upper panel of Model 1); whereas in Great Britain it is negative and rather strong (see lower panel of Model 1). When human capital characteristics are taken into account the positive immigrant effect in Germany becomes even stronger and gains statistical significance (upper part of Model 2). It increases further when the fact of unemployment benefits receipt and the regional unemployment rate are accounted for (upper part of Model 3). In Germany it seems that these are the native-born, who appear to have longer unemployment durations once receiving unemployment benefits. This is apparent when controlling for this feature, which shows the relative risk of immigrants landing unskilled work increasing further. In Great Britain immigrants' lower rates of entering unskilled employment when unemployed are partially explained by their human capital characteristics; while unemployment benefits receipt and regional unemployment rate seem not to play a role in determining immigrant rates of landing unskilled jobs when unemployed. A dummy variable pertaining to the composition of the immigrant population, i.e. differentiating between immigrants from EU and other western countries vs. the rest, does not appear to be significant, but is still worth mentioning, especially in the UK.¹²² There, immigrants from EU or other western countries seem to have an insignificantly lower chance of exiting unemployment as unskilled workers. No clear effect of the host-country tenure upon the chances of exiting unemployment as a skilled worker is apparent in either country.

Otherwise, long tertiary education prevents immigrants from exiting unemployment as unskilled workers, and this effect is larger in Great Britain than in Germany. Again, unemployment benefits receipt slows unemployment exit in Germany to a larger degree than it does in the UK.

Table 7.11 presents some additional analyses of the transitions from unemployment to three competing destinations for Germany, where the data allow controlling for the effect of citizenship (results are presented in Model 5) and German language proficiency (results can be found in Model 6). Unfortunately the British data do not contain comparable information, so the analyses are conducted solely for Germany, where such analyses are particularly important. It is in Germany where, lacking German citizenship, immigrants

¹²² Certainly many of the variables are not significant due to the small number of cases, especially in the British data. Assuming that both surveys are representative of the population, relatively strong effects are worth paying attention to.

Table 7.10. Results (unstandardised coefficients and robust standard errors) from a piecewise constant exponential model on transition from unemployment to unskilled employment for men, 25–55 years old, in Germany and the UK

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Germany Immigrants EU immigrants YSM	0.28 (0.15)	0.36* (0.17)	0.42* (0.16)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.40^{**}(0.17)\\ 0.00 (0.30)\\ -0.00 (0.01) \end{array}$
Human capital Age Age squared/100 Low general or less Middle general education Middle vocational education Tertiary (short) education Tertiary (long) education Education missing		$\begin{array}{c} 0.32^{**}(0.08) \\ -0.47^{**}(0.10) \\ 0.05 (0.20) \\ 0.25 (0.27) \\ 0.37 (0.23) \\ 0.35 (0.33) \\ -0.87^{*} (0.35) \\ -0.59 (0.79) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.27^{**}(0.08) \\ -0.40^{**}(0.10) \\ -0.12 (0.21) \\ 0.21 (0.25) \\ 0.25 (0.22) \\ 0.07 (0.32) \\ -1.17^{**}(0.35) \\ -0.44 (0.64) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.27^{**}(0.08) \\ -0.40^{**}(0.10) \\ -0.12 (0.21) \\ 0.22 (0.26) \\ 0.23 (0.22) \\ 0.05 (0.32) \\ -1.19^{**}(0.35) \\ -0.45 (0.65) \end{array}$
Unemployment benefits No benefit Info missing Regional unemployment rate			$\begin{array}{c} 1.52^{**}(0.17) \\ 0.62^{*} & (0.28) \\ -0.05 & (0.05) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.51^{**}(0.17)\\ 0.62^{**}(0.28)\\ -0.05 (0.05) \end{array}$
<i>Time periods</i> 3–6 months 6–12 months 12–24 months 24–36 months More than 3 years Intercept Log Pseudo-likelihood	$\begin{array}{c} -0.76^{*} \ (0.39) \\ -0.89^{**} (0.32) \\ -0.49^{*} \ (0.24) \\ -0.82^{**} (0.25) \\ -0.73^{**} (0.21) \\ -3.49^{**} (0.20) \\ -377.9 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.80^{*} \ (0.38) \\ -0.88^{**} (0.33) \\ -0.51^{*} \ (0.24) \\ -0.76^{**} (0.25) \\ -0.40^{*} \ (0.21) \\ -8.68^{**} (1.61) \\ -322.4 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.78^{*} \ (0.38) \\ -0.69^{*} \ (0.32) \\ -0.31 \ \ (0.24) \\ -0.48 \ \ (0.26) \\ -0.20 \ \ (0.22) \\ -8.40^{**} (1.67) \\ -269.7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} -0.78^{*} \ (0.38) \\ -0.69^{*} \ (0.32) \\ -0.32 \ \ (0.24) \\ -0.48 \ \ (0.26) \\ -0.20 \ \ (0.22) \\ -8.47^{**} (1.68) \\ -269.6 \end{array}$
Great Britain Immigrants EU immigrants YSM	-1.34** 0.38	-1.23**(0.39)	-1.24**(0.39)	$-1.17^{**}(0.42)$ -0.42 (1.12) -0.01 (0.03)
Human capital Age Age squared/100 Low general or less Middle general education Middle vocational education Tertiary (short) education Tertiary (long) education Education missing		$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.10 & (0.09) \\ -0.14 & (0.10) \\ -0.20 & (0.18) \\ -0.43 & (0.49) \\ -0.15 & (0.35) \\ -0.02 & (0.25) \\ -1.64^{**}(0.61) \\ -0.70 & (0.97) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ccc} 0.08 & (0.08) \\ -0.12 & (0.10) \\ -0.20 & (0.18) \\ -0.54 & (0.49) \\ -0.25 & (0.36) \\ -0.02 & (0.24) \\ -1.70^{**}(0.60) \\ -0.68 & (1.02) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 & (0.08) \\ -0.13 & (0.10) \\ -0.20 & (0.18) \\ -0.55 & (0.49) \\ -0.24 & (0.36) \\ -0.02 & (0.24) \\ -1.68^{**}(0.61) \\ -0.71 & (1.02) \end{array}$

(Continued)

	Мо	odel 1	Μ	odel 2	М	odel 3	Mod	lel 4
Unemployment benefits								
No benefit					0.62**	(0.15)	0.62**	(0.15)
Info missing					0.02	(0.45)	0.02	(0.45)
Regional unemployment rate					-0.13**	(0.04)	-0.13**	(0.04)
Time periods								
3–6 months	0.65	(0.41)	0.65	(0.41)	0.55	(0.41)	0.55	(0.41)
6–12 months	0.61	(0.38)	0.61	(0.38)	0.51	(0.38)	0.51	(0.38)
12–24 months	0.50	(0.36)	0.50	(0.37)	0.35	(0.37)	0.35	(0.37)
24–36 months	0.37	(0.37)	0.38	(0.38)	0.05	(0.39)	0.05	(0.39)
More than 3 years	0.77^{*}	(0.35)	0.86^{*}	(0.35)	0.32	(0.38)	0.32	(0.38)
Intercept	-4.25**	(0.33)	-5.59**	(1.71)	-4.02^{*}	(1.72)	-4.06*	(1.72)
Log Pseudo-likelihood	-3	326.9	-	314.1	-	298.8	-29	98.6

Table 7.10. (Continued)

Note: * p<0.05 ** p<0.01; robust standard errors are in parentheses.

Source: GSOEP (1995–2000), BHPS (1993–1998) monthly data.

are denied access to prestigious civil service jobs, which might effectively translate into larger disadvantage in gaining white-collar employment. A further reality is that upon arrival in the UK, practically all immigrants have some knowledge of spoken, if not written, English. Moreover, some immigrants have quite a good knowledge of English, even being native-English speakers. By contrast, very few immigrants in Germany arrive with a good knowledge of the German language and far fewer immigrants speak German as their first tongue. That is why it is particularly important to control for the knowledge of the host-country language in Germany, since its larger immigrant penalty might be related to immigrants' poor command of German.

So Models 5 and 6 in Table 7.11, alongside the same control variables as were included in Model 3, Tables 7.8–7.10, add variables pertaining to citizenship status and language proficiency respectively. Results show that having German citizenship significantly improves immigrants' chances of exiting unemployment as a white-collar worker. Indeed, in Germany citizenship opens up the prospect of entering public-sector employment with the privileged *Beamte* (public or civil servants) status, otherwise closed to non-naturalised immigrants. However, relative to the native-born, even naturalised immigrants are disadvantaged when it comes to gaining white-collar employment (b = -2.64 + 1.69 = -0.95). Immigrants with German citizenship also seem to have more favourable chances of exiting unemployment as skilled workers or technicians, albeit insignificantly. Citizenship status exerts no effect upon the risk of entering unskilled employment.

Proficiency in the German language, both oral and written, an important indicator of immigrant labour market chances in the host country, explains part of the immigrant disadvantage in gaining white-collar employment, although a large, significant, unexplained

-55	
, 25	
men	
for 1	
ent	
oym	
mpl	
une	
ting	
exi	
k of	
e ris	
n the	
Iodn	
hip	
zens	
citi	
and	
dge	
owle	
kne	
uage	
angi	
an l	
erm	
of G	ny
ects	rma
Eff	l Ge
11.	d, in
le 7.	rs ol
Tab	yeaı

	4	Vhite-col	lar emplo	yment	Transi Skilled	tion from and tech	unemploy nical empl	ment to oyment	_	J nskilled	employm	ent
Immigrants	Moo -2.64**	del 5 (0.44)	Mc -1.20**	odel 6 (0.37)	N -0.49**	lodel 5 (0.23)	0.11	lodel 6 (0.27)	Mo 0.42*	del 5 (0.18)	Mode 0.23	el 6 (0.26)
<i>Immigrant characteristics</i> German citizenship German language not good No info on language knowledge	1.69**	(0.50)	-2.01^{**} 0.20	(0.68) (0.50)	0.44	(0.32)	-0.86* -0.27	(0.34) (0.37)	0.02	(0.22)	0.31 0.00	(0.27) (0.32)
<i>Human capital</i> Age Age squared/100	0.02 - 0.05	(0.10) (0.12)	0.02 - 0.05	(0.11) (0.13)	0.37^{**} -0.51	(0.10) (0.12)	0.38** -0.52**	(0.10) (0.12)	0.27** 0.39**	(0.08) (0.10)	0.28^{**} -0.41 ^{**}	(0.08) (0.11)
Low general or less Middle general education	-2.47** -0.44	(0.73) (0.65)	-2.47^{**} -0.31	(0.73) (0.64)	-1.34^{**} -1.36^{**}	(0.28) (0.47)	-1.33^{**} -1.32^{**}	(0.28) (0.47)	-0.12 0.21	(0.21) (0.25)	-0.15 0.19	(0.21) (0.25)
Middle vocational education Tertiary (short) education	0.65^{*} 1.14 ^{**}	(0.30) (0.33)	0.74^{*} 1.28^{**}	(0.30) (0.31)	-0.56 -0.07	(0.28) (0.34)	-0.47 0.10	(0.27) (0.31)	0.25 0.07	(0.22) (0.32)	0.24 0.06	(0.22) (0.33)
Tertiary (long) education Education missing	1.31^{**} -0.01	(0.22) (1.18)	1.26^{**} 0.04	(0.22) (1.23)	-1.19^{**} -1.18	(0.34) (1.08)	-1.20^{**} -1.10	(0.34) (1.07)	-1.17^{**} -0.44	(0.35) (0.64)	-1.15^{**} -0.43	(0.35) (0.64)
<i>Unemployment benefits</i> No benefit Info missing	2.06^{**} 1.04*	(0.26) (0.41)	2.04^{**} 1.03*	(0.26) (0.41)	1.54** 0.52	(0.19) (0.35)	1.52^{**} 0.50	(0.19) (0.35)	1.52** 0.62*	(0.17) (0.28)	1.53^{**} 0.64^{*}	(0.17) (0.28)
Regional unemployment rate	0.06	(0.06)	0.07	(0.05)	-0.06	(0.05)	-0.07	(0.05)	-0.05	(0.05)	-0.04	(0.05)
<i>Time periods</i> 3–6 months 6–12 months	$0.36 \\ 1.36^{**}$	(0.71) (0.50)	$0.35 \\ 1.33^{**}$	(0.70) (0.50)	-0.09 0.51	(0.48) (0.34)	-0.10 0.51	(0.48) (0.33)	-0.78^{*} -0.69*	(0.38) (0.32)	-0.79^{*} -0.71^{*}	(0.38) (0.32)
12–24 months 24–36 months	$0.60 \\ 0.84$	(0.53)	$0.55 \\ 0.99^{*}$	(0.52)	$0.11 \\ 0.42$	(0.33) (0.32)	0.07 0.48	(0.33) (0.32)	-0.31 -0.48	(0.24)	-0.30 -0.53^{*}	(0.24)
More than 3 years	1.00* 6 \$2**	(0.47)	1.11^{*}	(0.47)	-0.02	(0.30)	0.03 -10.58**	(0.30)	-0.20 -8 38**	(0.22)	-0.26 -8.63**	(0.23)
Log Pseudo-likelihood	-10	(1.12		99.51		228.05	1	-225.55	-20	(20.1) 59.70	-268	(1. / 0) .46
<i>Note:</i> $*p < 0.05 **p < 0.01$; robust sta <i>Source:</i> GSOEP (1995–2000), monthl	undard errors y data.	are in pa	rentheses.									

EMPLOYMENT CAREERS AND UNEMPLOYMENT DYNAMICS

immigrant effect remains (see Model 6 for the transition to white-collar employment). It appears that even persons with a good knowledge of the German language, both oral and written, have lower rates of entering white-collar employment once unemployed. Assuming that in Britain all immigrants have at least a good knowledge of the English language (both oral and written), they still have a much better hazard rate of entering white-collar employment (see Model 3 in Table 7.8, lower panel) than immigrants with good language knowledge in Germany.

Insufficient knowledge of the German language explains, however, the negative risk of exiting unemployment as a skilled worker or as a technician among immigrants: persons with a good knowledge of German do indeed have similar chances of landing skilled employment to the native-born. Those with lower German language proficiency have a significantly reduced rate of exiting unemployment as skilled workers. Language knowledge appears to play no significant role when it comes to entering unskilled employment.

All in all, additional analyses as to the impact of German citizenship and knowledge of the German language for immigrants' (re-)employment chances show that both play a significant role. Yet, even accounting for these two important factors does not explain the larger immigrant penalties in Germany compared to the UK when attempts are made to enter white-collar employment.

It has been shown in Table 3.2 that the composition of immigrant groups differs in Germany and Great Britain, which makes a direct comparison of broad (and ethnically heterogeneous) immigrant groups rather problematic. On the other hand, rather small sample sizes do not allow any meaningful comparison of very detailed ethnic groups in either of the countries, particularly in Great Britain. An attempt is made, however, to further differentiate immigrants in both countries in order to get an impression of ethnic disparities in Great Britain and differences between national groups and cohorts in Germany. For Great Britain the following groups are differentiated: whites, blacks,¹²³ Indians, Pakistanis and Bangladeshis, and Asian immigrants. In Germany it is possible to compare the following groups to the native-born Germans: Aussiedler, or ethnic German immigrants who arrived from Eastern European countries and are entitled to German citizenship and privileged treatment; guest workers from Mediterranean countries (except Turkey) who entered Germany prior to 1975; Turkish guest workers; immigrants from EU or other western industrialised countries, who entered Germany after 1975; and finally third-country immigrants who entered Germany after 1975. The effects of immigrant group membership upon accessing both white-collar and unskilled employment, two employment destinations for which the previous analyses reported substantial cross-country differences (comparable to model 3 in Tables 7.8, 7.10), are presented in Table 7.12. The idea is to figure out which groups are particularly disadvantaged from

¹²³ Unfortunately small sample sizes do not allow further differentiation between black immigrants from West Indies and those from Africa.

Table 7.12.	Effects of	immigrant	group n	nembership	upon t	he chance	of exiting
unemployme	nt for men	, 25–55 year	rs old, in	Germany a	nd Gre	at Britain	

	White-collar	employment	Unskilled en	nployment
Germany				
Aussiedler	-1.88^{**}	(0.45)	0.65**	(0.25)
Guest workers (without Turkey)	-2.04^{**}	(0.78)	0.55^{*}	(0.27)
Guest workers from Turkey	-2.59**	(1.02)	-0.26	(0.41)
EU immigrants after 1975	-0.36	(0.60)	0.07	(0.52)
Non-EU immigrants	-2.19**	(0.45)	0.60**	(0.21)
Great Britain				
White	-0.38	(0.38)	-1.77^{**}	(0.59)
Black	-0.58	(0.71)	0.43	(0.54)
Indian	1.46**	(0.51)	0.64	(0.54)
Pakistani/Bangladeshi	-1.03	(1.11)	1.13	(0.74)
Asian	-0.84	(1.33)	-12.03**	(0.71)

Note: * p<0.05 ** p<0.01; robust standard errors are in parentheses. Control variables include age, age squared, level of education, unemployment benefits receipt, regional unemployment rate and time periods (see Model 3, Table 7.8, Table 7.10).

Source: GSOEP (1995-2000), BHPS (1993-1998) monthly data.

entering white-collar employment in Germany, and how a strong negative immigrant effect in access to unskilled employment in Great Britain can be explained.

It turns out that in Germany *all* immigrant groups with the single exception of immigrants from EU and other western countries who settled in the country after 1975, are significantly disadvantaged in accessing white-collar jobs. Guest-worker immigrants from Turkey appear to be most disadvantaged, but even *Aussiedler*, the immigrants with the most privileged status in Germany, have significantly lower chances of landing whitecollar employment.¹²⁴

In Great Britain there is a larger variation between ethnic groups in their access to white-collar employment. Coefficients for ethnic groups are mainly insignificant, but they are negative even though of a much smaller magnitude than the effects for each of the immigrant groups in the analysis for Germany.¹²⁵ Indians appear to be a group for which a higher chance of landing white-collar employment compared to the native-born is indicated. Positive significant effects for Indian immigrants in entering white-collar employment might in fact be explained by direct recruitment, or might reflect preference among employers to admit Indian specialists due to the strong demand in

¹²⁴ Even after controlling for German language proficiency, strong effects (b \approx -1.30), which are similar for all immigrant groups, are observable. These are statistically significant at 10%, at least, for all groups compared except guest worker immigrants from Turkey, and EU immigrants or other westerners.

¹²⁵ Even after controlling for German language proficiency (not shown here).

some occupations, particularly in the medical sector and computer or communication technologies.

When it comes to entering unskilled employment in the UK it is noteworthy that white and Asian immigrants¹²⁶ are at lower rates of ending in unskilled employment, while other immigrant groups have higher risks of landing unskilled employment as compared to the native-born, albeit insignificantly. In Germany all immigrant groups, except guest workers from Turkey and the EU, have significantly higher hazard rates of entering unskilled employment, comparable to the corresponding rates among non-white non-Asian immigrants in Great Britain.

The overall results of this more detailed analysis demonstrate that white-collar employment is a more realistic option for immigrants in Great Britain than in Germany. In the latter all immigrants (except more privileged EU citizens) irrespective of their origin and circumstances of migration are denied virtually any access to the white-collar sector. In looking at entry to unskilled employment further similar trends are visible, with ethnic minorities having greater likelihoods of finishing up at the lower end of the occupational hierarchy than the native-born – and this is true for both countries.

7.3.3.2. Unemployment Inflow

The following analysis (a piecewise constant exponential model) focuses on the conditional probability of losing dependent employment for immigrants as compared to the native-born in the two countries. As in the analysis of unemployment outflow independent variables are successively included to determine their significance in explaining possible differences between the two analysed groups. Thus, Model 2 controls for human capital indicators; in Model 3 job characteristics, and in Model 4 the composition of the immigrant population are taken into account. For Germany Model 5 also includes a variable pertaining to German language proficiency, now shown to be an important determinant of immigrant employment. Results for Germany are reported in Table 7.13, and for Great Britain, Table 7.14. From Model 1, where the gross immigrant effect is presented, it appears that in Germany (see Table 7.13) immigrants seem to have higher exit rates from employment, while in Great Britain (see Table 7.14) immigrants do not significantly differ from the native-born in their respective risk. By controlling for human capital characteristics, i.e. age and educational level (Model 2 in Table 7.13), an immigrant's higher risk of entering unemployment is reduced to some degree in Germany; while in Great Britain the effect increases albeit insignificantly (Model 2 in Table 7.14). In both countries older people (that is, those with more work experience) have a lower risk of exiting employment, while the role of education differs in the two countries. In Germany low general education increases the risk of employment loss, whereas in Great Britain persons with both low general and low vocational education are less protected from job loss than the rest.

¹²⁶ The effect for Asians is very strong due to the small number of cases in this category.

Table 7.13. Effects upon the risk of exiting paid employment to unemployment, formen, 25–55 years old, in Germany

	Model 1	Mod	lel 2	Mod	lel 3	Mod	iel 4	Mode	el 5
Immigrants	0.70** (0.08)	0.54**	(0.09)	-0.00	(0.09)	0.06	(0.10)	-0.05	(0.14)
Immigrant characteristics									
EU immigrants						-0.28	(0.15)		
YSM						-0.00	(0.01)		
German language not good								0.23	(0.15)
Info on language missing								-0.18	(0.17)
Human capital									
Age		-0.18^{**}	(0.05)	-0.00	(0.04)	0.00	(0.04)	-0.00	(0.04)
Age squared/100		0.21**	(0.06)	0.02	(0.05)	0.01	(0.01)	0.01	(0.01)
Low general or less		0.71**	(0.13)	0.37**	(0.11)	0.37**	(0.11)	0.34**	(0.11)
Middle general education		0.20	(0.17)	0.06	(0.16)	0.10	(0.16)	-0.01	(0.16)
Middle vocational education		0.06	(0.14)	0.07	(0.14)	0.04	(0.14)	0.06	(0.14)
Tertiary (short) education		0.04	(0.16)	0.25	(0.15)	0.20	(0.16)	0.25	(0.16)
Tertiary (long) education		0.08	(0.13)	0.17	(0.15)	0.14	(0.15)	0.21	(0.15)
Education missing		0.12	(0.34)	-0.11	(0.28)	-0.11	(0.29)	-0.16	(0.28)
Current job characteristics									
Occupation									
Service class				-1.12**	(0.18)	-1.10**	(0.19)	-1.11**	(0.19)
Routine non-manual				-0.28	(0.28)	-0.28	(0.28)	-0.25	(0.28)
Technical				-0.79**	(0.23)	-0.78**	(0.23)	-0.77**	(0.23)
Skilled				-0.37^{*}	(0.14)	-0.37^{*}	(0.14)	-0.35^{*}	(0.14)
Missing				0.42	(0.26)	0.43	(0.27)	0.40	(0.27)
Tenure				-0.29**	(0.02)	-0.29**	(0.02)	-0.29**	(0.02)
Tenure squared/100				0.64**	(0.05)	0.64**	(0.05)	0.64**	(0.05)
Tenure missing				0.52*	(0.27)	0.52*	(0.27)	0.59*	(0.27)
Industry					()		()		()
Construction				0.38*	(0.16)	0.37*	(0.16)	0.37*	(0.16)
Other primary				0.68*	(0.29)	0.68*	(0.29)	0.68*	(0.29)
Services				-0.15	(0.15)	-0.15	(0.15)	-0.14	(0.15)
Industry missing				0.75**	(0.23)	0.75**	(0.23)	0.74**	(0.23)
Size of the enterprise				-0.72**	(0.14)	-0.73**	(0.14)	-0.71**	(0.14)
(large)				0.02	(0, 02)	0.01	(0,02)	0.02	(0.02)
Regional unemployment				0.02	(0.02)	0.01	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)
Time periods		0.45	(0.10)	0.04+	(0.10)	0.001	(0.4.6)	0.001	(0.1.0)
6–12 months	-0.18 (0.16)	-0.17	(0.16)	0.31*	(0.16)	0.32*	(0.16)	0.32*	(0.16)
12–24 months	-0.03 (0.12)	-0.01	(0.12)	0.11	(0.11)	0.12	(0.11)	0.11	(0.11)
24–36 months	0.06 (0.12)	0.09	(0.12)	0.16	(0.11)	0.16	(0.11)	0.11	(0.11)
36–48 moths	-0.19 (0.13)	-0.15	(0.13)	-0.15	(0.13)	-0.14	(0.13)	-0.21	(0.13)
More than 4 years	-0.39** (0.13)	-0.33**	(0.13)	-0.40**	(0.13)	-0.39**	(0.13)	-0.43**	(0.13)
Intercept	-5.55** (0.10)	-2.00^{*}	(0.95)	-4.44**	(0.86)	-4.53**	(0.86)	-4.48**	(0.86)
Log Pseudo-Likelihood	-2056.8	-20	25.5	-10	54.8	-10	53.0	-105	0.9

Note: p < 0.05 *p < 0.01; robust standard errors are in parentheses. Source: GSOEP (1995–2000) monthly data.

Table 7.14.	Effects upon the risk of exiting paid employment to unemployment,	for
men, 25–55	years old, in the UK	

	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3		Model 4	
Immigrants	0.11	(0.17)	0.25	(0.17)	-0.10	(0.18)	-0.14	(0.24)
Immigrant characteristics								
EU immigrants							0.01	(0.35)
YSM							-0.01	(0.02)
Human capital Age Age squared/100 Low general or less Middle general education Middle vocational education Tertiary (short) education			-0.16^{**} 0.17^{**} -0.06 -0.61^{*} -0.38^{*} -0.41^{**}	(0.05) (0.06) (0.12) (0.26) (0.17) (0.15)	-0.06 0.07 -0.06 -0.42 -0.09 -0.24	(0.05) (0.06) (0.13) (0.29) (0.19) (0.16)	-0.05 0.06 -0.05 -0.42 -0.09 -0.24	(0.05) (0.06) (0.13) (0.29) (0.19) (0.16)
Tertiary (long) education			-0.79**	(0.17)	-0.48*	(0.20)	-0.49*	(0.20)
Current job characteristics Occupation Service class Routine non-manual Technical Skilled Missing Tenure Tenure squared/100 Tenure missing Industry Construction Other primary Services Industry missing Size of the enterprise (large)					-1.03^{**} -0.81^{**} -0.48^{**} -0.40^{**} 1.18^{*} -0.33^{**} 0.85^{**} 0.82^{**} 0.10 0.17 -0.19 -0.51 -0.44^{**}	$\begin{array}{c} (0.14)\\ (0.21)\\ (0.16)\\ (0.16)\\ (0.61)\\ (0.03)\\ (0.09)\\ (0.14)\\ (0.18)\\ (0.23)\\ (0.12)\\ (0.63)\\ (0.12) \end{array}$	-1.03^{**} -0.82^{**} -0.48^{**} -0.40^{**} 1.18^{*} -0.33^{**} 0.85^{**} 0.82^{**} 0.10 0.18 -0.19 -0.51 -0.44^{**}	(0.14) (0.21) (0.16) (0.61) (0.03) (0.09) (0.14) (0.18) (0.23) (0.12) (0.63) (0.12)
Regional unemployment rate					0.08**	(0.03)	0.08**	(0.03)
<i>Time periods</i> 6–12 months 12–24 months 24–36 months 36–48 moths More than 4 years	-0.14 -0.30* -0.34* -0.55** -0.67**	(0.17) (0.15) (0.15) (0.16) (0.15)	-0.11 -0.26 -0.28 -0.48** -0.57**	(0.17) (0.15) (0.15) (0.16) (0.15)	-0.02 -0.12 -0.03 -0.17 -0.17	(0.17) (0.15) (0.16) (0.18) (0.18)	-0.02 -0.12 -0.03 -0.17 -0.17	(0.17) (0.15) (0.16) (0.18) (0.18)
Intercept	-5.02**	(0.12)	-1.43	(1.04)	-3.26**	(1.10)	-3.29**	(1.10)
Log Pseudo-Likelihood	-17	49.2	-17	20.6	-14	38.9	-143	8.4

Note: p < 0.05 * p < 0.01; robust standard errors are in parentheses. Source: BHPS (1993–1998) monthly data.

EMPLOYMENT CAREERS AND UNEMPLOYMENT DYNAMICS

Including current job characteristics significantly improves the fit of the model for the UK and more so for Germany, which is apparent in the drastic reduction in the Log Pseudo-Likelihood. Moreover, in Germany current job characteristics fully explain immigrants' higher risk of entering unemployment (see Model 3 in Table 7.13). In Great Britain the immigrants effect appears to be negative but insignificant once current job characteristics are taken into account (see Model 3 in Table 7.14). Both in Germany and in Great Britain the age effect disappears once current job characteristics and particularly tenure at the current job are controlled for.¹²⁷ The effect of the tenure is negative but curvilinear, signifying that men with longer job tenure (seniority) have a lower probability of losing their employment, other things being equal.¹²⁸

In Germany individuals in service-class occupations have the lowest risk of losing employment, followed by those in technical and skilled occupations. Likewise, in Great Britain service-class employees are mostly protected from unemployment loss. Those employed in routine non-manual occupations have significantly lower risks of job loss than individuals employed in unskilled jobs; the risks for those employed in skilled and technical occupations lie between the two.

The particular industry of the current employment has an independent effect upon the rate of employment loss, but only in Germany. German workers employed in the primary or secondary sector (i.e. agriculture, hunting, forestry, fishing, mining and quarrying, electricity, gas and water supply) and construction are more at risk of unemployment than those employed in manufacturing or services. Finally, in large enterprises men should statistically have less fears of losing their jobs than in small ones, and this is true both for Germany and Great Britain. Interestingly enough, the positive effect of low general education decreases in Germany but remains statistically significant, meaning that poorly educated people have a higher risk of losing a job even if the characteristics of their job are taken into account. In Great Britain the negative effect of employment loss enjoyed by highly educated persons (those with long tertiary education) is still observed, albeit weakening. Finally, in Great Britain people have a higher risk of losing employment in regions with less favourable labour market conditions (i.e. higher unemployment rate), *ceteris paribus*, which is not the case in Germany. Overall, for the baseline hazard of exit to unemployment the results suggest negative duration-dependence for both countries.

Model 4 in Table 7.13 and Table 7.14, in which the composition of immigrants in Germany and Great Britain is controlled for, shows that immigrants from EU and other western countries seem to have a lower propensity for losing employment, but only in Germany and only at the 10% significance level. Tenure in the host country (YSM)

¹²⁷ Tenure in a current job can also be considered a firm-specific human capital attribute. In keeping with the dual and insider-outsider theory the claim here is, however, that tenure accumulation is largely dependent upon the employment sector.

¹²⁸ Men with almost 23 years (0.29/2*0.0064) of tenure in the same enterprise in Germany and 19 years (0.33/2*0.0085) in Great Britain have the lowest risk of losing their employment, *ceteris paribus*.

seems to have no significant effect upon the risk of job loss in either country. Finally, in Germany poor language proficiency (see Model 5 in Table 7.13) increases the risk of losing employment, albeit insignificantly.

In summary, it should be noted that the multivariate analysis reveals substantial differences in the unemployment dynamics of immigrants as compared to the native-born in the two countries. Although unemployment remains one of the most serious problems for the immigrant population both in Great Britain and Germany, job allocation processes among unemployed immigrants differ cross-nationally. While in Germany immigrants have a much lower hope of entering white-collar employment after being unemployed as compared to the native-born, other things being equal, in Great Britain unemployed immigrants do not significantly differ from socio-demographically comparable natives in this respect. On the other hand, in Germany immigrants have similar or even higher likelihood of entering unskilled employment, while in Great Britain immigrants' relative (to the native-born) risk is lower, particularly among whites and Asians. That is, in Great Britain immigrants compete with the native-born on more or less equal terms when it comes to white-collar employment, but are not in a hurry to land unskilled employment, which is particularly true for white and Asian immigrants. In Germany, on the other hand, virtually all immigrants, irrespective of their education or background, are channelled into the manual labour market. However, once employed in unskilled, i.e. secondary labour market jobs, immigrants in Germany appear to have a higher risk of losing their employment. Indeed, immigrants' higher likelihood of becoming unemployed is fully explained by the nature (occupation, industry, tenure and enterprise size) of their employment.

7.4. Summary and Discussion

This chapter's main aim is to gain a deeper insight into the employment careers of immigrants as compared to the native-born in Germany and the United Kingdom, two countries that represent different welfare regimes or 'syndromes' for which substantial differences in labour market outcomes of immigrant populations are reported in Chapter 6. The underlying idea is to scrutinise the processes occurring on the level of individual actors, processes influenced by the institutional characteristics of the two societies and resulting in the observed aggregate outcomes – namely higher unemployment rates and lower occupational prestige among immigrants in conservative welfare regimes than those in liberal welfare regimes. In other words, it could reasonably be expected that crossnational differences in immigrants' employment careers might be traced to cross-country variations in several factors potentially influencing immigrant integration in the host society. In particular, these factors would include immigrant as well as its host-country relevance, and to labour market regulation, which is seen at least partially responsible for the remaining immigrant penalty.

EMPLOYMENT CAREERS AND UNEMPLOYMENT DYNAMICS

151

The first objective of the analyses presented here was to establish a degree of (dis)similarity in employment and occupational careers of immigrants and the native-born male populations and to explore the causes of immigrants' over-representation in unemployment, seen as a main problem in their successful inclusion in the host societies. To this end, the existing longitudinal data from the German Socio-Economic Panel (GSOEP) and the British Household Panel Survey (BHPS) were used. Although both panel projects constitute at least a decade of observation (almost 20 years for the GSOEP), in this book we examine only a six-year sample of the employment paths of immigrant and native-born men in order to include more recent immigrants in Germany, who entered the survey in 1995. Thus, for Germany the observation window covers the period between January 1995 and December 2000, while for the UK it refers to the period between September 1993 and August 1999.

Sequence analysis techniques are applied to exploit the full potential of the longitudinal data for the descriptive analysis. The analysis shows that in both countries the employment career sequences of immigrants are similarly remote from those of native-born men. The regression analysis demonstrates that in Germany a big part of the dissimilarity in employment careers is explained by immigrants' less favourable human capital. In the UK the problem seems to be an inability of immigrants to cash their educational capital to the same degree as the native-born; hence the dissimilarity of immigrants' employment careers relative to the career sequences of the native-born increases once the level of education and age structures are controlled for. In Germany it is third-country immigrants who appear to have more distant career paths than more privileged newcomers from EU or other western countries, while this is not the case in the UK. In the UK the assimilation trend is visible, however, so that immigrants' careers become more similar to those of the native-born the longer immigrants reside in Great Britain. Further analyses reveal that long and frequent unemployment spells are responsible for the dissimilarity in immigrants' employment careers in both countries.

The results of the cluster analysis of the matrix attained from the pairwise optimal matching of the occupational career sequences prove, however, that immigrants in the UK and Germany pursue largely different occupational paths, the former having occupational careers rather similar to those of the native-born, the latter being segmented in manual, mostly unskilled, blue-collar jobs. Moreover, the sequence analysis reveals that in Germany immigrants have less stable employment careers with significantly more frequent employment transitions than is the case among the native-born; in Great Britain immigrants do not significantly differ from the natives in this respect.¹²⁹ Furthermore, results of the multinomial logistic regression show that occupational segregation in Germany can

¹²⁹ Even though in Great Britain the distribution of occupations held by immigrants and the native-born seem to be converging, there are other factors not explored in this study pointing to the disadvantaged occupational position of immigrants. Robinson and Carey (2000) mention, for example, that immigrant doctors are concentrated in medical specialities that are unpopular among native-born white doctors and have had to accept placements in less popular geographical locations in the UK.

only marginally be explained by immigrants' inadequate educational qualifications. The problem seems to be that an immigrant's formal educational qualifications are of little relevance to the German labour market, while in the UK they seem to be more attractive to employers, albeit without ensuring absolutely equal (relative to the native-born) returns.

A multivariate event history analysis is further conducted to explore the dynamics and to determine the causes of frequent and prolonged unemployment among immigrants in both countries. In the UK immigrants have similar risks of losing employment as the native-born. The same is true for immigrants in Germany, but only if the status – and particularly the occupation, industry and tenure of their current job – are taken into account. This suggests that the higher unemployment risks among immigrants in Germany might largely be attributed to their location in vulnerable occupations and industries, and their shorter tenure in the working place.

The outsider status of immigrants in Germany is also evident when the chance of exiting unemployment is analysed. Immigrants are disadvantaged at entry to white-collar employment, but have similar or even higher disadvantages in securing unskilled jobs. A different picture emerges from the multivariate analysis for the UK. Compared to native-born Britons, immigrants show similar rates of entering white-collar and skilled employment, but a lower risk of ending up in unskilled jobs.

The findings of the current chapter allow a deeper insight into the *process* of economic incorporation of immigrant populations in Germany and Great Britain, two European prototypes of conservative and liberal welfare regimes, and not only in the labour market outcomes as was done with the help of the EULFS cross-sectional data. The current analysis demonstrates that the higher unemployment rates and lower occupational status of jobs held by immigrants in conservative welfare regimes, as reported in Chapter 6, is only part of the story. These are outcomes of a more complex process of inclusion or exclusion varying between the two countries. While in the German labour market whitecollar employment is practically closed to all unemployed immigrants, irrespective of their background and educational qualifications, in Great Britain immigrants striving for white-collar employment seem to be competing with the native-born on more or less equal terms. It should be stressed, however, that there is a variation among ethnic groups in the access to white-collar employment, which implies that ethnic preferences are still strong among British employers.¹³⁰ On the other end of the employment spectrum immigrants in Britain, and particularly whites and Asians, appear to be in less of a hurry to land unskilled employment. In Germany all third-country immigrants face clearly higher chances of ending up in unskilled jobs - jobs they also have a higher risk of losing due to their precariousness and vulnerability. As a result, immigrants in Germany, almost irrespective

¹³⁰ These results largely support the findings of Heath and McMahon (2000) and Heath et al. (1999), who pointed to the existence of different inclusion/exclusion processes for various ethnic groups in the different labour market segments using cross-sectional data.

of their ethno-national background and human capital, are trapped in the vicious cycle of employment in the secondary labour market and unemployment, remaining permanent labour market outsiders.

It is impossible to say definitively whether the diverging labour market trajectories of immigrants in Germany and the UK result from differences in immigrant selectivity (which are in turn related to immigration and citizenship policies in the two countries), or whether varying labour market regulations are responsible. Moreover, the combination of both factors is quite likely to produce the varying scenarios of labour market inclusion in the two countries. Identifying the effect of a single institution is not possible using the comparative design undertaken here, nor was this the current goal. Rather the aim is to have a closer look at the processes occurring on the level of individual actors using the data and statistical methods appropriate to descriptive and causal modelling of employment career trajectories. In a way, this chapter shows the potential of the panel data for analysing the immigrant labour market inclusion processes.

Unfortunately, the panel data currently available to researchers do not allow finer modelling of the analysed phenomena due to the modest sample sizes of the immigrant populations. It is worthwhile, for example, to check whether the returns upon education differ among immigrants and the native-born in the two countries. Furthermore, looking at various immigrant cohorts and particularly various ethnic groups could be instructive once sample sizes are large enough to allow meaningful analyses. It is particularly important in Great Britain where ethnic differences in economic attainment seem to be very pronounced.

Another problem is that variables included in the presented models might not capture the full extent of the variation in the nature of migration inflow in Germany and the UK, e.g., the cultural distances of immigrants to the native-born or the degree of transferability of their human capital. Moreover, the immigrant groups analysed here are too heterogeneous and their composition too diverse to consider them fully comparable. Unfortunately, the sample sizes in both data sources and particularly in BHPS do not allow the classifying of immigrants in a more precise manner. And even if differentiated according to ethnic membership, there is hardly any immigrant group strictly comparable between the two countries, as a crucial test for the significance of the institutional factors would be to focus on a single immigrant group in several receiving societies, thus eliminating or at least minimising the variation in migrant inflow, which might impede the comparison otherwise.

The analytic approach of looking at immigrants of a single origin in multiple destinations is exercised in the next chapter of this book as we assess the economic attainment of ex-Yugoslavs in two countries – Sweden and Austria. The aim of the analysis is, firstly, to mitigate the main methodological drawback of the current analysis by concentrating upon a single immigrant group in various receiving countries; and, secondly, with more detailed data, to address the situation of recent immigrants in Sweden (part of the social-democratic welfare regime), immigrants that according to analyses reported in Chapter 6, appear to have quite a high unemployment propensity.

CHAPTER 8. EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS¹³¹

One finding of the analyses presented in Chapter 6 of this book was that recent immigrants in Scandinavian social-democratic welfare states seem to have more difficulties finding employment, even though no significant employment disadvantage has been documented for all post-war immigrants as a group. The present chapter therefore, aims at having a closer look at the situation of immigrants in Sweden, a country belonging to the socialdemocratic welfare regime, as compared to the situation of immigrants in a continental European country, Austria. Both countries not only belong to different welfare regimes, they also differ considerably in their conceptions of citizenship, immigration policies, and to some degree their labour market structures relevant to the economic incorporation of immigrants – all factors that might affect the structural integration of immigrants.

An ideal design for assessment of the role of institutions in the immigrant integration process, as already noted earlier, would be to analyse a comparable group of immigrants, preferably from a single country of origin, in order to minimise the effects of differences in the migrant inflow. Yugoslavs are the group selected for the study presented in this chapter, as a substantial number of them have migrated to Sweden and Austria in the last three decades.

The chapter begins with a brief overview of Yugoslav migration to Austria and Sweden, followed by an outline of the Austrian and Swedish institutional contexts as they relate to immigration and citizenship policies, labour market structure and welfare regimes, as well as their hypothetical influence on the integration of Yugoslav immigrants. The data utilised are taken from the Austrian 1996 micro census and the Swedish 1997 labour force survey. The labour market attainment of ex-Yugoslav citizens in Austria and Sweden is explored in terms of three outcomes: labour force participation, unemployment and occupational status. One of the main focuses in this chapter is the role of the period of migration which, due to variations in labour market outcomes for immigrants of various cohorts, might pick up the varying effects of immigration policy, labour market structure and welfare applicability in the two countries. This is particularly important in order to

¹³¹ A somewhat different version of this chapter appeared in the *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* (see Kogan, 2003a).

explore labour market outcomes of recent immigrants in Sweden and try to answer the question of why most recent immigrants in this country fare so poorly with respect to employment.

8.1. Yugoslav Migration to Austria and Sweden

Official migration from socialist Yugoslavia began in 1965 after the government launched a radically liberal reform of the country's economy (Schierup, 1995; Malačić, 1994). Anticipating a sharp increase in unemployment caused by the sudden introduction of a free market, the country's leadership officially accepted the necessity of Yugoslav citizens finding employment abroad. As a result, the number of Yugoslav citizens in Western Europe grew to about one million by 1973, with one in ten migrant workers in Western Europe being of Yugoslav origin (Schierup, 1995; Velikonja, 1975).

Post-liberalisation migration from Yugoslavia can be divided roughly into three periods.¹³² Emigration of the first substantial wave, which took place prior to 1973, was purely labour oriented and directed to Western European countries, including Austria and Sweden, which recruited guest workers in order to fill job vacancies in their booming economies. About half of those who left were agricultural workers from the rural areas of Slovenia, Croatia, Vojvodina and Serbia (Velikonja, 1975). Emigration, however, expanded to metropolitan regions as well and unexpectedly involved skilled workers and educated specialists. The ease of travel to Austria intensified seasonal migration from Slovenia and Croatia and determined its mostly temporary nature. Although migration to Sweden was originally considered temporary too, a large proportion of Yugoslavs, attracted by advantageous employment opportunities and a generous social security system, eventually settled there (Velikonja, 1975; Živan, 1979).

More meagre emigration characterises the following fifteen years up until the late 1980s. The majority of Yugoslavs who left their home country in this period did so mainly in order to join family members already established abroad, or as asylum seekers or, as was the case in Austria, as temporary and seasonal workers. Claiming asylum or joining family, the only possible means of settlement in the majority of Western European countries for non-EU nationals after 1973, were methods sometimes used by otherwise economic migrants as a means of entering Western Europe (Münz, 1997). This post-1973 period is at the same time characterised by returning migration from the Western countries, which often experienced downturns in their economies and periods of growing unemployment, a situation that led to many lay-offs among previously recruited workers, Yugoslavs among them (Malačić, 1994).

¹³² Malačić (1994) divides Yugoslav emigration from 1964 to the early 1990s into four periods: a labour emigration boom of 1964–73; a halt in emigration between 1974 and 1979; the return of emigrants to Yugoslavia in 1980–1990; and a renewed migrant outflow after 1990. In the present work the second and the third periods are combined.

EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 157

By the end of the 1980s the Yugoslav economy had entered a phase of severe economic crisis. Consequently, as reported by the SOPEMI (1988, 1989), any economic motivation to return weakened again, whereas the desire to emigrate increased tremendously. At the beginning of the 1990s, political, economic and social collapse in the former Yugoslavia resulted in the exodus of a substantial number of persons and caused the most extensive refugee problem in Europe since the Second World War (Schierup, 1995). About 700,000 former Yugoslav nationals were resettled in various European countries, including Sweden (74,000)¹³³ and Austria (70,000). Many victims of the wars in Croatia (1991–92) and Bosnia-Herzegovina (1992-93) as well as victims of the ethnic repression in Vojvodina, Serbia and Kosovo were not recognised in the West as political refugees, but rather tolerated as *de facto* refugees¹³⁴ (Fassmann and Münz, 1995). Austria, along with the refugee influx, also experienced an increase in the number of Yugoslavs entering the country as temporary workers at the end of the 1980s and the beginning of the 1990s.

8.2. The Institutional Contexts of Immigration in Austria and Sweden

As stressed earlier, the selection of comparable immigrant groups, or even a single, homogenous group, is critical for the assessment of the role played by institutions in the process of immigrant inclusion or exclusion. Selecting a group or groups with the same country of origin, however, obviously does not ensure unqualified similarity in immigrant characteristics. The mere fact that some Yugoslav migrants headed to Sweden while others decided to settle in Austria might in itself reflect some systematic difference among them. Although Yugoslav migrants might differ with regard to a number of socio-demographic characteristics, the fact remains that Yugoslavs entered two European societies, Sweden and Austria, during the same time period and with similar objectives, first as labour migrants (up to the early 1970s) and thereafter on grounds of family reunification and humanitarian protection. All in all, by examining a single group of immigrants one is able to minimise the variation in immigrant inflow and to concentrate upon the question of whether differences in the status of immigrants in Austria and Sweden - either in terms of employment rights and/or in regard to citizenship rights - translate into measurable differences in foreigners' labour market attainment. To answer this question it is necessary to review those similarities and differences among institutions that might contribute to the structural integration of immigrants. Three institutional factors of particular importance to immigrant integration – immigration policy, labour market structure¹³⁵ and welfare regulations – are summarised in Table 8.1 and discussed in the following sections.

¹³³ The figures for Yugoslav refugees and asylum seekers who entered Sweden between 1991 and 1993 vary between 70 and 85 thousand in different sources (Ornbrant, 1999; Westin, 2000). By 1998 the number of persons from the former Yugoslavia was 127,554 (Westin, 2000).

This status as a rule grants the right to temporary settlement.

¹³⁵ With respect to labour market flexibility Sweden and Austria are quite similar, as indicated by their EPL indexes (see Figure 4.6), so this factor may be expected to play little or no role in explaining differences in immigrant penalties within the labour markets of the two countries.

 Table 8.1. Institutional factors relevant to immigrant integration in Austria and Sweden

	Austria	Sweden
Immigration policy		
Character of immigration	Temporary, mostly labour	Permanent, mostly humanitarian
Integration policy	Scarce	Extensive, multicultural
Citizenship acquisition	After 10 years Naturalisation rate of 2.1 per cent ^a	After 5 years, encouraged Naturalisation rate of 5.9 per cent
Labour market structure	Relatively large non-tertiary sector, larger demand for unskilled and low-skilled jobs	Expanded service sector, smaller demand for unskilled and low-skilled jobs
Welfare state support	Exclusive: employment based	Universal: citizenship (residence) based

Note: ^aNumber of persons acquiring the nationality of the country in 1995 as a percentage of the stock of the foreign population at the beginning of the year (SOPEMI, 1997).

8.2.1. IMMIGRATION, INTEGRATION AND CITIZENSHIP POLICIES

Austria, like other ethnically homogeneous societies where mass foreign immigration started with the recruitment of guest workers, has unwillingly become an immigration country. Though many immigrants have lived in Austria for a long period of time, and some have even become Austrian citizens, the idea that immigrants are temporary is still apparent in Austrian discourse (Fassmann and Münz, 1994; Bauböck, 1996, 2000).¹³⁶ For immigrants this temporariness implies fewer incentives for long-term investments in host-country-specific human capital (e.g. German language, education or training in Austria) as well as orientation towards immediate monetary returns rather than a longer search for more favourable employment opportunities. To prevent the permanent settlement of immigrant workers, Austria has required constant renewal of residence and work permits. By means of annual quotas set by the federal government,¹³⁷ immigration has been encouraged during periods of growing labour demand and halted at times of slowdown. Thus, the pattern in Austria has been to squeeze as much economic gain out of immigrants as possible while putting the minimal investment possible into their social integration (Fassmann, 1999).

 ¹³⁶ A 1988 reform of the foreign labour law from 1975 did reflect some shift from the perception of foreign inflow as constituting short-term work relationships to the realisation that it constituted immigration proper (SOPEMI, 1988). This, however, did not result in the revision of integration policies as relating to the majority of newcomers.
 ¹³⁷ Only when the proportion of foreign workers does not exceed nine per cent of all non-self-employed

¹⁵⁷ Only when the proportion of foreign workers does not exceed nine per cent of all non-self-employed persons in a particular economic branch, and if the economic and the public interests of the natives are not endangered, is a foreigner entering the labour market granted an employment certificate (Fassmann, 1999).

EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 159

Sweden, according to Westin (2000), represents a compromise between ethnic and multicultural models of nationhood (Castles and Miller, 1993). On the one hand, from the nineteenth century to the second part of the twentieth, the Swedish nation state was an ethnically homogeneous society with no apparent regional, cultural or linguistic differences (Westin, 2000). On the other hand, contemporary Sweden resembles 'classic' immigrant societies such as the USA, Canada and Australia, countries that consider immigration to be a permanent phenomenon (Hammar, 2000; Blos et al., 1997). An orientation towards permanence provides immigrants with stronger incentives to invest in host-country human capital as it opens up a wider horizon of returns upon educational as well as occupational investments. Moreover, immigrants with permanent status can more easily afford to wait for better employment opportunities without endangering their very presence in the host country.

A change in the notion of Swedish nationhood to one which acknowledged immigration as a reality began with the first significant wave of labour migration in the late 1960s. In 1974, after a long period of debate, the beneficial role of immigration and the multicultural nature of Swedish society, i.e. the existence of cultural and ethnic pluralism and the right of ethnic groups to maintain and develop their cultural heritage, were finally accepted¹³⁸ (Widgren, 1979; Westin, 2000). Despite an economic slowdown, which began toward the end of the 1970s, and restrictions on labour migration, immigration continued to grow, albeit modestly. Since then a substantial change has taken place in the nature of immigration to Sweden, evolving from purely labour migration to migration on a humanitarian basis, including the inflow of refugees and asylum seekers as well as family reunifications.¹³⁹

As Sweden experienced a steady rise in asylum-seeker applications beginning in the early 1980s, a new refugee reception system was adopted in 1985. It aimed at dispersal and further integration of the refugee population in all municipalities of Sweden. Overall, the Swedish government makes a considerable effort to assist refugees and other immigrants during their initial period in the country. In addition to social benefits, Swedish language courses and educational support for children and young people (Werner, 1994), special municipal reception and care programs are provided. The latter, aimed mainly at removing integration barriers, are, in Soininen's (1999) opinion, overly protective and excessively patronising. Concerned about the disincentive effect of excessive reception care, the government launched a reform in 1991 intended to expedite the reception of refugees into the labour market via work training and labour market education.

Unlike Sweden, Austria has never really abandoned the idea of ethnic homogeneity in favour of accepting the permanent settlement of foreigners. The temporary and

¹³⁸ A revealing example of the multicultural nature of Swedish society is the fact that since 1977 all municipalities have been obliged to provide school instruction in their immigrants' native tongues if there is a demand for such.

¹³⁹ Temporary work permits are granted only in order to deal with a shortage of qualified labour. They are restricted to a certain period of time and to a specific employer.

labour-oriented nature of immigration makes for a scarcity of integration measures for the majority of newcomers. Just to obtain a residence permit, immigrants must demonstrate a certain degree of integration, including having a secure source of income in Austria as well as a place to reside. A coherent integration program exists only for recognised political refugees,¹⁴⁰ while the integration of other migrants rests mostly upon the shoulders of the émigrés themselves. Even for refugees – and the Bosnian refugees in the 1990s are an example – the government's objective is to place them in jobs quickly, thus allowing them to support themselves instead of relying upon social welfare (Bauböck, 2000).

The process of naturalisation is not easy in Austria, and the majority of labour immigrants, despite having lived in the country for some decades, have retained their original citizenship. In order to apply for Austrian citizenship, an immigrant must have resided in Austria for more than ten years, must demonstrate a regular income, a place of residence, the absence of any criminal record, integration into the community and, finally, must renounce his/her former nationality¹⁴¹ (SOPEMI, 1995). While in Austria naturalisation is perceived as an indication of the successful completion of integration, in Sweden it is viewed as a first step towards inclusion. The Swedish naturalisation procedure is one of the easiest in Europe and is actively encouraged by the government (Westin, 2000; Currle, 2004). Since 1976 immigrants coming from non-Nordic countries have been able to apply for naturalisation upon residing in Sweden for five years with no further explicit preconditions. Non-naturalised immigrants¹⁴² in possession of a permanent resident permit enjoy the same social, and economic rights as Swedish citizens, as well as partial political rights.¹⁴³ This is not the case in Austria, where public sector (Beamte) employment is withheld from non-naturalised immigrants, as in Germany. Austrian citizenship, thus, along with granting unconditional residence authorisation and equal political and social rights (Morris, 1997), opens up a wider range of job opportunities for the immigrant population, including access to employment in the public sector with its relatively high-status jobs.

8.2.2. THE ROLE OF THE LABOUR MARKET

When in the 1950s and 60s Sweden and Austria began importing labour, their economies were booming and needed an expanded work force to fill vacancies in unskilled and

¹⁴⁰ Refugees in Austria are eligible for social benefits and language or other training courses. They are provided with temporary housing for an initial period and receive preferential treatment from the employment offices in obtaining jobs (SOPEMI, 1992; Fassmann and Münz, 1994).

¹⁴¹ After five years of living and working in Austria immigrants may apply for an unlimited residence permit.

¹⁴² Until recently naturalisation coincided with renunciation of previous citizenship, which prevented some foreigners from taking this step.

¹⁴³ Since 1976 permanent residents of non-Swedish citizenship have had the right to vote in municipal and county elections.

EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 161

low-skilled jobs. As Böhning (1995: 4) writes, 'Up to the beginning of the 1970s Europe's migrant workers were undergoing a successful process of spontaneous integration, albeit only in the secondary labour market.' In Sweden, for example, restrictions on immigrant labour were virtually non-existent; anyone finding a job automatically received residence and work permits (Vuori, 1997). There were no immigrant or minority policies, no language or training courses. Immigrants were integrated at their place of work.

The later slowdown in both countries' economies resulted in a worsening of the employment situation for immigrants, albeit to different degrees. In Sweden, starting in the early 1980s and more so at the beginning of the 1990s, the economic downturn and attendant structural changes caused a tremendous deterioration in the labour market situation for immigrants. The recession of the early 1990s, which coincided with largescale refugee immigration, led to a sharp decrease in the activity rates among more recent immigrants as well as very high unemployment rates (Bevelander, 1999, 2000; Westin, 2000; Vuori, 1997). The vulnerable immigrant population was particularly hard hit by the economic restructuring of the last two decades, with its downsizing in the industrial sector. Many unskilled and low-skilled workers, recruited before 1973, lost their jobs and have been unable to compete with the highly educated and skilled national population in the service sector, a very substantial part of the Swedish economy.

The labour market situation for immigrants in Austria was less calamitous, even following the oil crisis of 1973, and the unemployment rate of the immigrant population remained rather low compared to that of other EU countries. Fassmann (1999) explains this with reference to the high concentration of immigrants in low-skilled jobs in the service sector, including hotel and restaurant businesses, catering, tourism and cleaning – all less affected by downsizing and structural reorganisation. Foreigners in Austria are also over-represented in the textile, leather and clothing industries, agriculture, construction and heavy industry (SOPEMI, 1993; Fassmann et al., 1999), sectors which shrunk significantly during the period in question, but nevertheless remained substantial within the economy.

In general, Yugoslav immigrants come to Austria to earn money and are ready to take any job, even a dirty or unpleasant one. In the early 1990s, even with an increase in immigration flow, particularly from the former Yugoslavia, the labour market situation of immigrants did not worsen as happened in Sweden, because the supply side of migration was met by a strong demand for additional labour, particularly low-skilled labour. Another potentially important reason for low unemployment rates among the immigrant population in Austria is the fact that unemployment leads to loss of regular residence status, which discourages foreigners from joining the ranks of the long-term unemployed (Fassmann, 1999; Fassmann et al., 1999). All in all, once settlement is tied to employment, as it is in Austria, immigrants just cannot afford to wait long for higher-status jobs as they are in danger of losing residence rights once unemployed.

8.2.3. IMMIGRATION AND THE WELFARE STATE

As a consequence of the less stable labour market situation, an increasing number of immigrants in Sweden as well as Swedes themselves have become dependent upon social welfare (Ornbrant, 1999; Bergmark and Bäckman, 2004). According to a 1989 survey (see Westin, 2000) one fourth of all social welfare beneficiaries are foreignborn, while immigrants represent only about 10 per cent of the general population. Hammarstedt (2000) contends that immigrants who arrived during the labour migration wave are significantly over-represented in early retirement, while more recent immigrants have higher chances of being found among recipients of social assistance (see also Bergmark and Bäckman, 2004). A further report, published by the association of Swedish municipalities, shows that of the refugees who were resettled in various municipalities in 1991, 74 per cent were still dependent upon social welfare as late as 1995 (see Westin, 2000). It is important to note that access to social welfare is universal in Sweden: all registered immigrants are legally entitled to the same social privileges and economic support as socio-demographically comparable Swedes (Brubaker, 1989; Knocke, 1999). Moreover, the acceptance of welfare assistance does not endanger immigrants' residence status in Sweden as it does in Austria, where the residence permits of immigrants, with the exception of refugees, are tied to their employment.

In Austria, moreover, foreigners and natives have unequal access to welfare benefits: firstly, only holders of a permanent work permit are eligible to receive unemployment benefits and, secondly, permanent foreign workers can enjoy insurance-based unemployment benefits only for one year, while this period may be much longer for the native-born (SOPEMI, 1997).

Differences in welfare coverage might be held partially responsible for the differences in the labour market trajectories of recently arrived immigrants in both countries. In Sweden recent immigrants with legal residence status are entitled to similar social assistance provisions as comparable immigrants with longer tenure in Sweden, or the native-born. As a result, in Sweden newcomers might be spared extra pressure to rapidly enter employment irrespective of its status. In Austria, on the contrary, recent immigrants might be forced to land jobs as quickly as possible, even if these are low-status, precarious jobs with unpleasant working conditions – in short, jobs normally found in the secondary labour market. This scenario is quite likely to occur in the case of recently arrived immigrants in Austria, as they are more likely to lack the welfare resources necessary to sustain a long search for better employment, in the way that the native-born can.

8.3. Hypotheses

Until 1973 Sweden and Austria did not differ substantially in their immigration policies. Both needed supplemental labour to keep their economies growing, and neither provided any formal measures – for newcomer integration occurred spontaneously within work

EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 163

places. The two countries' immigration policies bifurcated, beginning in the mid-1970s. Sweden accepted the permanent settlement of immigrants on its soil and introduced integration measures for newcomers. Its character as a multicultural immigrant society is revealed by the fact that immigrants entering Sweden are entitled to nearly the same social rights and privileges as native-born Swedes. Austria, though a country with a proportionately significant immigrant population, is not a true immigrant society: integration measures are meagre, and social rights of the immigrant population are limited.

Immigration policies and labour market demand naturally shaped immigration inflow, which can be divided into three distinct periods. During the periods of increased labour demand and economic growth, Yugoslavs arrived in Sweden and Austria as labour migrants; following the global economic shock of 1973, the main type of settlement became family reunification and asylum; and finally, since the beginning of the 1990s refugee admissions have dominated the migrant inflow. A comparison of the labour market outcomes of a single immigrant group in two EU countries, Sweden and Austria – which differ in their labour market situations as well as their immigration, integration, citizenship and welfare policies – can serve as an indirect test of the role of those policies and the effect of the market upon immigrant employment rates.

1. The labour market outcomes of pre-1973 labour immigrants are expected to be most similar in the two countries when compared to the outcomes of subsequent immigrants, due to the comparable reception contexts and labour market demands in Austria and Sweden prior to 1973.

2. Continual shrinkage in the industrial sector of the Swedish economy since 1973 and growing demand for highly skilled labour should facilitate immigrants' exposure to employment opportunities in the tertiary sector. Higher risk of unemployment or withdrawal from the labour force might become visible when immigrants, even if highly educated, come into direct competition with the native Swedish population. In Austria, where the supply of immigrants seeking some kind of employment met the demand for low- and semi-skilled workers, the immigrant population should show comparatively lower unemployment risk.

3. Because Yugoslav immigrants entered Austria primarily with the aim of finding employment, and since the long-term unemployed risk losing their residence permits, they are expected to take any jobs, even less prestigious ones. In Sweden, economic restructuring, active labour market measures and the availability of social assistance for the duration of the job search should result, if employment is found, in a better chance of attaining employment of relatively high status.

The question is, however, whether it is possible to trace period effects relating to varying immigrant policies, labour market structure and welfare support by examining the labour market situations of particular immigrant cohorts in Sweden and Austria, or if all immigrant groups undergo similar assimilation processes irrespective of the period of arrival and context of immigration. Ideally, to answer this question one would analyse panel data

covering several decades of observation and including large samples of the immigrant population (Yugoslavs in the present case). Unfortunately, data on such a scale and of such quality are not presently available, and existing longitudinal records are not suitable for meaningful cross-national comparison of immigrants in Sweden and Austria. Hence, this chapter attempts to examine the labour market situation of Yugoslav immigrants by exploiting the single-year cross-sectional data at hand, and then to attribute the findings to either period or assimilation effects. Conclusive answers as to the relevance of period or duration effects are difficult to offer (Chiswick, 1978, 1979; Borjas, 1985). As will be seen, some findings are quite straightforward, while others demand further investigation using alternative data sources.

8.4. Data and Variables

The study presented in this chapter uses the data from the 1996 micro census for Austria and the 1997 labour force survey for Sweden, which are useful for their relatively large sample sizes that ensure adequate representation of Yugoslav immigrants. Individuals of Yugoslav origin are selected according to place of birth and/or their nationality. Selection has been limited to Yugoslav immigrants entering the country since the 1950s in order to exclude post-WW II family reunifications and return of expellees (particularly in Austria), which are beyond the scope of this book. Second generation Yugoslav immigrants, i.e. those who were born in Austria or Sweden or immigrated before their sixth birthday, are also included in the analysis in order to examine intergenerational assimilation trends. The Austrian LFS data allow one to identify among second generation immigrants only those who were born in Austria but possess other than Austrian citizenship and those who immigrated before their sixth birthday. The LFS data for Sweden, in contrast, do provide information about parental origin, including information on Swedish nationals with one or both parents born in the former Yugoslavia. Differences in the selection of second generation Yugoslavs do not allow a direct cross-national comparison, but corresponding figures are nevertheless included in the tables to provide some indication of the structural assimilation processes occurring among second generation Yugoslav immigrants.

The analysis is divided into two sections. The first presents an overview of the sociodemographic characteristics and labour market outcomes of Yugoslav immigrants as compared to the native-born in both countries. In the second part, multivariate analyses are carried out in order to evaluate the significance of the period of migration upon the two dichotomous labour market outcomes, i.e. (1) labour force participation vs. inactivity, (2) unemployment vs. employment, as well as to assess occupational status as measured against the ISEI scale (Ganzeboom et al., 1992; Ganzeboom and Treiman, 1996).¹⁴⁴ The dependent, independent and control variables used in the analysis are described in more detail in Table 8.2.

¹⁴⁴ Using the 3-digit ISCO-1988 occupational code for Austria and the 4-digit one for Sweden, each person was assigned a score on the International Socio-Economic Index of Occupational Status (ISEI).

EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 165

Variable	Description	Range
Dependent variables		
Labour force	Identifies one as being in the labour force vs.	0 – out of the labour force
participation	being out of the labour force	1 - in the labour force
Unemployment	Identifies one as being unemployed vs. employed	0 – employed 1 – unemployed
Occupational status	Internationally comparable measure of occupational status for the 3-digit 1988 International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISEI)	16–85
Independent and cont	rol variables	
Ethnicity	Indigenous population vs. Yugoslavs	0-1
Migration-related	Immigrated before 1973	0-1
variables (for	• Second-generation immigrants ^a	0-1
Yugoslav	• Missing information on the year of migration	0-1
immigrants only)	• Year since migration (YSM) for those who arrived after 1973	0–22
	• With nationality (citizenship) of the host country	0–1
Age	Raw value	21–64
Age squared	Square of age	441-4096
Gender	Men, women	0 - male; 1 - female
Marital status	Married or cohabiting (for Sweden) vs. other (i.e. single, divorced, widowed)	1-married or cohabiting 0-all other
Education ^b	Low – CASMIN 1ab (compulsory education or below) – reference category	0–1
	Medium – CASMIN 1c, 2abc (vocational and secondary education)	0–1
	High – CASMIN 3a, 3b (tertiary education)	0-1
Regional unemployment rate ^c	Percentage of unemployed in the region (9 regional divisions for Austria: Burgenland, Niederösterreich, Wien, Kärnten, Steiermark, Oberösterreich, Salzburg, Tirol, Vorarlberg;	3.40-6.97 (Austria)
	8 for Sweden: Stockholm, Östra Mellansverige, Sydsverige, Norra Mellansverige, Mellersta Norrland, Övre Norrland, Smaaland med Oearna, Västsverige)	5.79–12.01 (Sweden)

 Table 8.2. Description of the variables used in the multivariate analysis

Notes:

^a In Sweden, where the LFS inquires about parents, this category includes people with one or both parents born in the former Yugoslavia. In Austria, it includes only those who claim other than Austrian nationality but were born on Austrian soil. Children who immigrated before their sixth birthday, and thus received education in the host country, are grouped together with the second-generation.

^b Education is measured by dummy-coded highest educational degree in accordance with the CASMIN classification (see Table A.5 in the Appendix).

^c The regional unemployment rate in the total labour force aged 21–64 are aggregated by the place (region) of residence.

Since labour force participation and unemployment¹⁴⁵ are dichotomous variables, they are estimated using logistic regression. Robust standard errors are used, since an aggregate measure of the regional unemployment rate is included (for a similar application see Model et al., 1999). Ordinary least squares regressions are used to predict occupational status. All the models are estimated for each country separately with individuals of Yugoslav origin aged 21–64 being contrasted to native-born populations of the same age range. In this chapter analyses are also extended to the female population since ex-Yugoslav women exhibited high labour force participation rate back in their home countries, differing little from their male compatriots in their affinity for paid work. Full specifications of the models run are as follows:

- Models of *labour force participation* are estimated by means of logistic regression with robust standard errors separately for men and women aged 21–64. The independent and control variables are migration status, nationality, age, age squared, marital status, education and the regional unemployment rate.
- Models of *unemployment* are estimated by means of logistic regression with robust standard errors and include migration status, nationality, gender, age, age squared, marital status, education and the regional unemployment rate.
- Models for *occupational status* (ISEI) are estimated by means of OLS regression and include migration status, nationality, gender, age, age squared, marital status and education.

8.5. Empirical Findings

8.5.1. DESCRIPTIVE CHARACTERISTICS

Table 8.3 provides an overview of the socio-demographic and labour market characteristics of former Yugoslav citizens who migrated to Sweden and Austria before 1996 and their children born in the host countries compared to the respective characteristics of the native-born population.¹⁴⁶

Immigrants in Sweden and Austria display similar demographic characteristics, apparent from the mean age and per cent married figures. While the average age of the native population does not differ substantially between Sweden and Austria, former Yugoslav nationals are slightly younger than their indigenous counterparts in both countries. The proportions of married Yugoslavs emphasises the familial nature of migration to both countries. The unbalanced gender structure and particularly the high percentage of men

¹⁴⁵ Both are defined according to the ILO (1990) definition.

¹⁴⁶ The reference category for Sweden, for which information about parents of the interviewees is available, includes Swedes who were born in Sweden and whose parents were likewise born in Sweden. Due to a lack of such information on parental background, the reference category for Austria may include native-born Austrians of immigrant parents.

in the migration intake of Austria might underline the more seasonal and temporary character of immigration there.

Half of the Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden arrived after 1990, while the flow from Yugoslavia to Austria remained steadier throughout the years. Table 8.3 presents the proportion of immigrants originating from Bosnia-Herzegovina and Croatia out of the

		Sweden	Austria		
	Swedes	(Ex-)Yugoslavs	(Ex-)Yugoslavs	Austrians	
Mean age	41.75	38.81*	39.37*	41.32	
	(12.24)	(11.77)	(10.44)	(12.10)	
Per cent women	48.88	50.77	45.64*	50.46	
Per cent married or cohabiting	71.57	76.29*	76.53*	65.37	
Immigrated before 1973		22.14	34.92		
Immigrated after 1989		51.86	29.22		
Born in		58.80	50.90		
Bosnia-Herzegovina ^a					
Born in Croatia ^a		3.00	16.60		
Second generation		14.86	5.06		
Per cent naturalised		41.95	42.95		
With tertiary education	25.74	17.34*	1.87*	6.54	
With compulsory education or lower	23.60	26.32	60.80*	25.35	
Per cent in the labour force	84.70	53.73*	83.94*	72.41	
Per cent unemployed	6.80	32.74*	8.74*	4.31	
Mean occupational status	43.41	37.90*	28.72*	41.25	
	(15.63)	(13.63)	(10.63)	(15.27)	
Per cent in non-tertiary sector	28.27	37.57*	51.60*	39.46	
Per cent self-employed	10.54	12.17	1.99*	12.10	
Per cent with temporary job	10.89	27.71*	3.44	2.98	
N ^b	25,403	646	1,227	21,043	

 Table 8.3.
 Socio-demographic and labour market characteristics of ex-Yugoslav citizens and the indigenous populations, aged 21–64, Sweden and Austria

Notes:

* Significant (p < 0.05) difference in means between groups within a country (results of the T-test).

^a Figures for immigrants from Bosnia-Herzegovina and Croatia are a percentage of the total of all Yugoslav immigrants who arrived in the 1990s.

^b The total number of cases in each group is presented. The total number of cases may differ in some variables due to the selection criteria and missing information.

Source: 1997 Swedish Labour force survey; 1996 Austrian micro census.

total number of Yugoslav immigrants who arrived in the two host countries after 1990. These serve as an approximation of the number of refugees who fled the major war zones in the beginning of the 1990s. One can see that Sweden experienced a slightly higher influx of (potential) refugee immigrants from Bosnia-Herzegovina than did Austria, which experienced a more substantial inflow of refugees from Croatia. Taking into account the fact that the majority of immigrants from the former Yugoslavia arrived in Sweden just after 1990, one can assume that the proportion of *de facto* refugees out of the total of all Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden is indeed more substantial than in Austria.

The lower figure for second generation Yugoslavs in Austria can be explained by the differing selection criteria: in Austria only those who were born in the country but retained citizenship of one of the former Yugoslav republics are included. In Sweden, the second-generation category also includes Swedish nationals whose parents were born in the former Yugoslavia. The percentage naturalised is quite similar in both countries, though the figure for Austria might increase if the absence of naturalised second generation Yugoslavs were to be taken into account. On the other hand, given the higher proportion of those who arrived in Sweden more recently and had not met the citizenship criterion (five-year residence period before naturalisation) by the time of the survey, it is plausible that a higher proportion of Yugoslavs among those eligible were indeed naturalised in Sweden than in Austria.¹⁴⁷

The proportion of the native population with tertiary education is substantially higher in Sweden (ca. 26 per cent vs. only 7 per cent in Austria), while the figures for those with compulsory education or lower are quite similar. The distribution of education among immigrants in Sweden is closer to that observed among the native-born population, the proportion of Yugoslavs with university degrees being somewhat lower (17.34 per cent), and those with compulsory education insignificantly higher (26.32 per cent).¹⁴⁸ The distribution of education among Yugoslavs in Austria is more skewed: only two per cent possess any tertiary certificate, while more than half have only a low level of education. From Figure 8.1, which plots the distribution of the educational level of Yugoslav immigrants in Austria and Sweden according to immigration wave, it is evident that Yugoslavs from all migration waves to Sweden were better educated than their compatriots who headed towards Austria. There is no evidence that the 'quality' of immigrants who arrived as refugees or to join family members is lower than that of their predecessors. This is true in part because labour migrants in the 1960–70s were negatively selected and filled primarily unskilled and low-skilled jobs. Hence, improvement in immigrant educational attainment over time may be related to enhanced education in the former Yugoslavia on

¹⁴⁷ The fact that immigrants can apply for citizenship only after ten years of residence in Austria complicates this comparison.

¹⁴⁸ The figures for Yugoslav immigrants remain similar to those presented in Table 8.3 even when the second generation is excluded.



Figure 8.1. Educational levels of (ex-)Yugoslav immigrants in Austria and Sweden, by immigration wave

Source: 1997 Swedish labour force survey; 1996 Austrian micro census.

the one hand, and to educational upgrading in order to meet the demands of the local labour market, as in the case with immigrants who settled in Sweden, on the other.

As there are no formal criteria for immigrant selection in either country, the fact that more highly educated Yugoslavs reside in Sweden can be attributed to the peculiarities of labour market demand and a consequent self-selection. Fassmann et al. (1999), examining the integration of Turkish and (ex)-Yugoslav guest workers in Austria and Germany, found positive selection of Yugoslav migrants to Germany. They suggest that Yugoslavs from the less economically developed regions of the former Yugoslavia (Serbia, Bosnia-Herzegovina and Macedonia) were initially recruited to Austria, while immigrants from more industrialised Slovenia and Croatia headed towards other Western countries with higher levels of earnings, namely Germany, Sweden and Switzerland, where they could expect higher returns on their human capital.¹⁴⁹ According to Fassmann et al. (1999), informal selection of the later waves of Yugoslav immigrants occurred through already established immigrant networks. Geographic distance between origin and destination countries might affect skill selection as well with more educated persons being overrepresented among migrants who move over long distances (Borjas, 1987; Jasso and Rosenzweig, 1990).

¹⁴⁹ This accords with the neo-classical theory of migration, in which migration is viewed as a rational decision based upon the desire to improve well-being by moving to places where the rewards for one's labour are higher (Arango, 2000; Massey et al., 1993).

Despite their more attractive labour market attributes, Yugoslav nationals have more difficulties in finding employment in Sweden than in Austria. Their extremely low labour-force participation (only 54 per cent vs. 85 among native Swedes) is coupled with a high unemployment rate (about 33 per cent). Even considering the high proportion of recent newcomers with refugee status and no knowledge of Swedish, the overall employment ratio of 36 per cent among Yugoslav immigrants, in contrast to 79 per cent among native Swedes, is extremely low. Table 8.3 indicates that Yugoslav immigrants went to Austria to land jobs, a fact apparent in that their labour force participation rate is higher than among native Austrians. Unemployment among them is twice as high as among the native population, but this disadvantage is less pronounced than in Sweden, where Yugoslavs suffer a five-fold penalty.

Immigrants in Austria, while evincing higher labour force participation and lower unemployment rates than their countrymen in Sweden, entered lower-status jobs. Their occupational status is significantly lower than that of native-born Austrians and much lower than that attained by Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden, who themselves are disadvantaged compared to the native population, though less so. Yugoslav migrants not only received less prestigious jobs, they are also significantly over-represented in the primary and secondary sectors of both host countries' economies, a sector which is more extensive in Austria than in Sweden. Furthermore, Fassmann et al. (1999) provide evidence for the economic segregation of immigrants of Yugoslav origin in Austria, claiming that certain economic branches, mostly in the production sector, are 'reserved' for ex-Yugoslavs and Turkish nationals.

The lower part of Table 8.3 gives further information on the types of job held by immigrants and the native-born in Sweden and Austria. While the proportion of the native-born that are self-employed is similar (approximately 11–12 per cent), Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden are slightly more likely than the native-born, as well as their compatriots who migrated to Austria, to be self-employed.¹⁵⁰ The figure for self-employed Yugoslavs in Austria is very low, only about 2 per cent. Some explanations for the divergent patterns of self-employment in the two countries might be found in differences in the countries' legislation: in Austria legislative acts practically impose dependent employment upon immigrants; while newcomers in Sweden often opt for self-employment because of general difficulties in entering the labour market, and because of the greater availability of funds necessary for setting up independent activities (Hjerm, 2004; SOPEMI, 2001).

A further potentially important indicator of labour market integration is the characteristics of non-employed Yugoslavs (either inactive or unemployed), especially in Sweden, where a high proportion of Yugoslav immigrants, in particular recent newcomers, do not work. However, due to a low number of cases and/or high non-response rates, this information might present only very general trends and is not included in Table 8.3. The majority

¹⁵⁰ The high entrepreneurial activity of Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden is also documented in Ekberg (1990).

EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 171

of inactive Yugoslavs in Sweden do not seek jobs mainly because of their involvement in language courses or formal studies, presumably aimed at supplementing the homecountry education in order to attain Swedish standards, particularly with regard to tertiary education, and for health reasons. Unemployed Yugoslavs do seem to be actively seeking jobs, the average period of the job search being about one year, which is significantly longer than among native Swedes. The majority of unemployed Yugoslavs mention job cuts and the end of temporary employment as main reasons for leaving their previous employment. In fact, in Sweden employed immigrants are substantially over-represented in temporary positions, unlike in Austria, where the proportion of temporary jobs seems to be very low for both natives and Yugoslavs (see Table 8.3). All in all, the preunemployment labour market characteristics of currently unemployed Yugoslavs are similar to those of employed native-born Swedes. In contrast, the occupational status of the previous jobs of unemployed Yugoslavs in Austria is similar to that of employed Yugoslavs, as is their representation in the non-tertiary sector of the Austrian economy.

8.5.2. RESULTS OF THE MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS: PARTICIPATION IN THE LABOUR FORCE

In the present section labour market outcomes of Yugoslav immigrants to Sweden and Austria are explored by means of multivariate analysis. Models of labour force participation¹⁵¹ (separately by gender) and unemployment are examined using logistic regression with robust standard errors, taking into consideration key socio-demographic characteristics. OLS regression is applied to predict the occupational status (ISEI) of the immigrant and native-born national populations. The models are fitted to the pooled sample of the native-born national population (the reference category) and individuals of Yugoslav origin.

As stressed in the previous sections, immigration policies and labour market conditions for Yugoslav immigrants in Austria and Sweden were comparable before 1973. Hence, it seems reasonable to single out the pre-1973 immigrant cohort and to examine whether its labour market performance is similar in both countries and, conversely, whether diverse labour market outcomes can be found for the rest of the immigrants. Since pre-1973 labour migrants were 'integrated' into the labour market immediately upon arrival, it would be quite misleading to associate their integration with the assimilation effect related to longer residence duration in the two countries by the end of the 1990s. Although there are grounds to single out the post-1990 cohort as well, this is not done in the present study, since it might be unwarranted to relate the results to the period effect alone. The findings might, for example, be reasonably attributable to their shorter period of residence. It is here that the single-year cross-sectional data fail to provide convincing answers.

¹⁵¹ Due to extremely low labour force participation of immigrants in Sweden, unlike in the previous empirical analyses in Chapters 6 and 7 of this book, here the model for this dependent variable is also fitted.

Table 8.4 presents the contrast between Yugoslavs and native-born nationals in Austria and Sweden in the log odds of being in the labour force separately by gender controlling for age, age squared, marital status, education and regional unemployment rate. Alongside the main effect for all Yugoslavs, dummy coded variables are included for those who arrived

	Men		Women		
	Sweden Column 1	Austria Column 2	Sweden Column 3	Austria Column 4	
Yugoslavs	-2.68**	-0.13	-2.97**	-0.76**	
C C	(0.31)	(0.63)	(0.26)	(0.27)	
Yugoslavs: immigrated before 1973	0.40	0.79	1.92**	2.39**	
0	(0.66)	(0.73)	(0.62)	(0.36)	
Yugoslavs: second generation	2.19**	1.85	3.65**	2.74**	
c c	(0.71)	(1.17)	(0.72)	(0.59)	
Yugoslavs: missing YSM		1.02	. ,	2.39**	
0		(0.79)		(0.49)	
Yugoslavs: YSM (immigrated after 1973)	0.05	0.10	0.09*	0.14**	
<i>c (</i>	(0.05)	(0.07)	(0.04)	(0.03)	
Yugoslavs: naturalised	0.79	-0.64	-0.41	-0.95**	
c	(0.51)	(0.49)	(0.50)	(0.26)	
Age	0.45**	0.62**	0.46**	0.33**	
C	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	
Age squared/100	-0.56**	-0.83**	-0.53**	-0.46**	
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	
Married (living alone – ref.)	1.05**	1.04**	0.45**	-0.69**	
	(0.07)	(0.09)	(0.06)	(0.05)	
Middle level of education (compulsory – ref.)	0.22**	0.42**	0.58**	0.44**	
	(0.07)	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.05)	
High level of education (compulsory – ref.)	0.03	0.96**	0.76**	1.25**	
	(0.08)	(0.18)	(0.08)	(0.13)	
Regional unemployment rate	-0.06**	-0.10**	-0.08**	0.04**	
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.01)	
Intercept	-6.33**	-8.51**	-7.30**	-4.47**	
•	(0.38)	(0.40)	(0.33)	(0.31)	
Wald χ^2	1164.82	2084.56	1298.34	1992.77	
df	11	12	11	12	
Ν	11378	11078	11385	11162	

Table 8.4. Effects (unstandardised coefficients and robust standard errors) of logistic regression predicting the log odds of labour force participation (vs. inactivity) in Sweden and Austria

Note:

** p < 0.01;

* p < 0.05;

° p < 0.10.

Source: 1997 Swedish Labour force survey; 1996 Austrian micro census
EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 173

prior to 1973, for second generation Yugoslavs and for those with missing information on the year of migration. For migrants arriving after 1973 (coded '0' in all variables mentioned above) the year since migration is included to pick up assimilation effects, if any. In addition, the differentiation is made between Yugoslav immigrants who acquired host country nationality, i.e. are naturalised, versus the other.

It can be seen that Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden, both men (Column 1) and women (Column 3), have much lower log odds of being in the labour force than sociodemographically comparable native-born Swedes. If the lower chances of labour force participation ($e^{(-2.68)}$ for men and $e^{(-2.97)}$ for women) of most recent Yugoslav immigrants can likely be attributed to their refugee status, their participation in integration programs and language courses as well as the availability of welfare support, the significantly lower ($e^{(-2.68+0.40)}$ for men and $e^{(-2.97+1.92)}$ for women) labour force participation of those who arrived as recruited workers before 1973 is most probably due to their early retirement. While the years since migration variable suggests a trend toward increasing labour force participation with the passage of time, the effect is not statistically significant for men. The YSM effect is, however, significant for women, but it is evident that Yugoslav female immigrants do not reach labour force participation levels similar to that of native-born Swedish women even after residing in the country for 20 years. Second generation Yugoslav immigrants appear to exhibit similar activity trends to native-born Swedes.

In Austria, as Column 2 shows, the log odds of being in the labour force for Yugoslav men, both labour migrants and those from subsequent immigration waves, do not statistically differ from those of comparable native-born Austrians. The labour force participation of Yugoslav women (see Column 4), with the exception of recent arrivals (less than 6 years in the host country), is even higher than that of Austrian women controlling for socio-demographic attributes.¹⁵² These findings support expectations concerning the labour-oriented nature of Yugoslav migration to Austria irrespective of the period of migration, with women being no less committed to employment than men.

A cross-national¹⁵³ comparison of the coefficients points to significantly different activity patterns among male Yugoslav immigrants in Austria and Sweden, while several similarities are evident among Yugoslav women. Even though female Yugoslav immigrants tend to participate less in the labour force upon arrival than native-born indigenous women, they do enter employment with the passage of time. No statistically significant crossnational differences were found in the labour force participation of Yugoslav women of

¹⁵² It should be noted, however, that the labour force participation of Austrian women is lower than that of Swedish women.

¹⁵³ In light of the problems associated with cross-national comparisons of coefficients in probit and logit models, which are confounded with residual variation (unobserved heterogeneity), Allison's (1999) method of crossgroup comparisons was applied. For cross-national comparison of coefficients from OLS regression, a *t*-test was applied. The *t*-statistic is calculated using the following formula: $t = \hat{\beta}_1 - \hat{\beta}_2 / \sqrt{(\hat{\sigma}_{\beta_1})^2 + (\hat{\sigma}_{\beta_2})^2}$, where $\hat{\beta}_1$ is the coefficient for Austria, $\hat{\beta}_2$ for Sweden, and $\hat{\sigma}$ the relevant standard error.

the labour migration wave as compared to female migrants who arrived more recently. However, when compared with the native-born populations, Yugoslav immigrants in Austria (both men and women) show higher labour force participation than those who headed towards Sweden.

The interpretation of the results becomes much clearer if one examines predicted probabilities calculated on the basis of the estimated models for labour force participation, which are plotted in Figure 8.2.¹⁵⁴ Predicted probabilities are presented for persons with compulsory or low-secondary education (less educated) and those with tertiary education (highly educated). In addition, predicted probabilities for labour force participation among individuals with an average educational level are shown to the right. Predicted values for the labour force participation among the native-born in both countries are plotted as a dark bar. Next, labour force participation probabilities for immigrants who arrived before 1973 (during the phase of labour recruitment in both countries) are plotted as a white bar in the middle, followed (to the right) by a grey bar representing a corresponding value for more recent immigrants, i.e. those who arrived in 1993. It is immediately evident from the figure that the labour force participation among ex-Yugoslavs in Austria is similar to that of the native-born. Moreover, immigrants who arrived prior to 1973 appear to have an even higher labour force participation than the native-born of the same socio-demographic



■ Native-born □ Immigrated before 1973 ■ Immigrated in 1993

Figure 8.2. Predicted probabilities of labour force participation for ex-Yugoslav immigrants and the native-born in Austria and Sweden

Note: Probabilities are calculated with age, age squared, marital status and regional unemployment rate held constant at the sample means. All above-mentioned variables are significant at the 5% level (see discussion below). *Source*:1997 Swedish labour force survey; 1996 Austrian micro census.

¹⁵⁴ The probability that a person with characteristics x_i will be in the labour force (as opposed to being inactive) can be written: $Pr(y_i = 1|x_i) = \frac{\exp(x_i\beta)}{1 + \exp(x_i\beta)} = \frac{1}{1 + \exp(-x_i\beta)}$

EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 175

characteristics. In Sweden immigrants have considerably lower labour force participation rates, which is true for both newcomers and those with a longer tenure in the host country.

The effect of control variables should be mentioned as well. Age has an expected curvilinear relationship with labour force participation in both countries, i.e. it first increases and then flattens out. While in Sweden flattening of the age effect occurs at about 40–43 years old, in Austria it starts earlier, at the age of about 36–37 years.¹⁵⁵ Both in Austria and in Sweden married men have higher odds of labour force participation; the same is true for women in Sweden. In Austria, however, women once married have a higher probability of staying out of the labour market, other things being equal. As one might expect, labour force participation grows with increasing educational level, but this trend does not hold for Swedish men, who are not significantly different from less educated persons in their labour force participation, *ceteris paribus*. Finally, labour force participation is lower in regions with more depressed labour markets in both countries. The effect of the regional unemployment rate on women's labour force participation in Austria is, however, positive and statistically significant.

8.5.3. RESULTS OF THE MULTIVARIATE ANALYSES: UNEMPLOYMENT PROPENSITY AND OCCUPATIONAL STATUS

With labour force participation similar to or even exceeding that of native-born Austrians, Yugoslavs are disadvantaged in finding employment, as seen in the coefficients presented in Table 8.5, columns 1–2. The employment disadvantage of more recent Yugoslav immigrants in Austria ($e^{1.33}$) is, however, hardly comparable to the situation in Sweden, where recent arrivals show much higher odds ($e^{3.05}$) of being unemployed than demographically comparable native-born Swedes. Unemployment risk tends to decrease with the time spent in the host country, but the effect of YSM is weakly significant (at the 10%-level) only in Austria, being, however, similar across the two countries. Immigrants of the labour migration wave in Austria and Sweden exhibit similarly high unemployment risks relative to the native-born populations ($e^{(3.05-2.35)}$ in Sweden and $e^{(1.33-0.58)}$ in Austria). The unemployment risk of second generation Yugoslavs seems not to differ from that of the native-born national population, which has similar socio-demographic characteristics in Sweden and Austria.

To facilitate interpretation the predicted probabilities for unemployment in the two countries for immigrants and the native-born are plotted in Figure 8.3. This graphic presentation gives a comprehensive idea of the extent of immigrant penalties in both countries for recently arrived Yugoslav immigrants and for those who have arrived during the labour recruitment phase. The degree of employment difficulties for recent immigrants in Sweden

¹⁵⁵ In Sweden: $0.45/(2^*0.56) \approx 40$ for men, $0.46/(2^*0.53) \approx 43$ for women, in Austria: $0.62/(2^*0.83) \approx 37$ for men, $0.33/(2^*0.46) \approx 36$ for women. For the basis of calculation see coefficients for age and age squared presented in Table 8.4.

Table 8.5. Effects (unstandardised coefficients and standard errors) of logistic regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed and of the occupational status (measured against ISEI scale) in Sweden and Austria

	(1) Unem empl	oloyed vs. oyed	(2) Occu stat	pational tus
	Sweden Column 1	Austria Column 2	Sweden Column 3	Austria Column 4
Yugoslavs	3.05**	1.33**	-4.73**	-11.15**
	(0.29)	(0.36)	(2.29)	(1.17)
Yugoslavs: immigrated before 1973	-2.35**	-0.58	3.68	5.43**
	(0.68)	(0.43)	(3.91)	(1.46)
Yugoslavs: second generation	-2.67**	-2.23*	6.96°	8.11**
	(0.67)	(1.06)	(3.98)	(2.24)
Yugoslavs: missing YSM		-0.83		2.55
		(0.52)		(1.78)
Yugoslavs: YSM (immigrated after 1973)	-0.06	-0.07°	-0.18	0.26**
	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.27)	(0.10)
Yugoslavs: naturalised	0.16	0.02	-1.35	1.86°
	(0.50)	(0.33)	(2.87)	(1.12)
Age	-0.16^{**}	0.01	0.35**	0.26**
	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.07)	(0.08)
Age squared/100	0.18**	-0.01	-0.25**	-0.24^{*}
	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.08)	(0.09)
Gender (women $= 1$)	-0.08	-0.06	-3.02**	0.07
	(0.06)	(0.08)	(0.20)	(0.20)
Married	-0.70^{**}	-0.64**	0.91**	-0.51^{*}
	(0.06)	(0.09)	(0.23)	(0.24)
Middle level of education	-0.40**	-0.48**	3.99**	11.16**
	(0.07)	(0.10)	(0.26)	(0.26)
High level of education	-1.28**	-1.12**	21.35**	37.10**
	(0.10)	(0.21)	(0.29)	(0.43)
Regional unemployment rate	0.16**	0.15**		
	(0.02)	(0.02)		
Intercept	0.39	-3.47**	26.24**	24.51**
-	(0.38)	(0.53)	(1.34)	(1.46)
Wald χ^2	774.27	208.48		
Degrees of freedom	12	13	11	12
Adjusted R ²			0.31	0.36
N	19118	16247	17654	15438

Note:

176

** p < 0.01; * p < 0.05;

° p < 0.10.

For unemployment logistic regression models with robust standard errors were run. An OLS regression with normal standard errors was applied in the occupational status model (ISEI). Source: 1997 Swedish Labour force survey; 1996 Austrian micro census.



■ Native-born □ Immigrated before 1973 ■ Immigrated in 1993

Figure 8.3. Predicted probabilities of unemployment for ex-Yugoslav immigrants and the native-born in Austria and Sweden

Note: Probabilities are calculated with age, age squared, marital status and regional unemployment rate held constant at the sample means. See discussion on the significance of the above-mentioned control variables below.

Source: 1997 Swedish labour force survey; 1996 Austrian micro census.

is clearly visualised. It is also shown that immediately upon arrival ex-Yugoslav immigrants in Austria are disadvantaged but not to the same extent as in Sweden. Furthermore, it can also be shown that for those immigrants who have resided in both countries for about 25 years, employment disadvantages are similar, which accords with the findings reported in Chapter 6.

In addition to migration status models of unemployment propensity include the following variables: gender,¹⁵⁶ age, age squared, marital status, education and a regional unemployment rate.¹⁵⁷ While the effect of age is curvilinear in Sweden, no significant age effect is documented for Austria. Other than age effect, effects of other control variables are quite similar in both countries. The risk of unemployment for men and women does not differ either in Sweden or in Austria. Married individuals have significantly lower unemployment propensity, while unemployment risks tend to decrease with rising educational attainment. Finally, residing in areas with a higher unemployment rate increases an individual's risk of unemployment in both countries.

¹⁵⁶ Due to low labour force participation, which leads to a substantial loss in the number of cases for other labour force outcomes, models for unemployment and occupational status in Sweden are run for men and women together. To ensure comparability with results for Sweden, analogous models (for men and women together) were also run for Austria.

¹⁵⁷ The model yields a rather poor fit in both Sweden and Austria.

Columns 3–4 (model 2) present coefficients of the OLS regression that predict the occupational status (ISEI) of Yugoslavs as compared to the native-born national populations in Sweden and Austria. As may be seen in column 3, Yugoslav immigrants, *ceteris paribus*, have lower occupational status than native-born Swedes; and there are no significant differences in the occupational status of jobs held by Yugoslav labour migrants as compared to more recent immigrants. In addition, the effect of tenure among ex-Yugoslavs in Sweden plays no significant role in the improvement of occupational status in the host country. The occupational status of the second-generation immigrants in Sweden resembles that of the native-born, other things being equal, the coefficient, however, being significant only at the 10% level.

The occupational disadvantage of Yugoslav immigrants upon arrival in Austria seems to be more pronounced than in Sweden, as is visible from column 4. Those immigrants who arrived before 1973 are unable to catch up with the native population in the types of jobs they hold, but they do manage to find employment of higher occupational status than those who have arrived more recently. The positive significant effect of time since migration suggests that, while entering the labour market at its lower end upon arrival, Yugoslav immigrants succeed in improving their occupational status with a longer duration of residence in the host country. The labour market performance of second-generation Yugoslavs is an improvement as compared to their parents, even though they are still worse off when compared to native-born Austrians.

Compared cross-nationally, it seems that immediately upon arrival immigrants experience larger problems landing better-status employment in Austria. The situation seems to improve the longer immigrants reside in the country, but they never catch up with the native-born, not even in the second generation. In Sweden, on the contrary, immigrants have smaller penalties with respect to the status of their employment as soon as they arrive. Moreover, the occupational status of those who arrived in the 1960s to early 1970s is quite similar to that of the native-born. The above-described trends are depicted in Figure 8.4, which plots the predicted ISEI scores for ex-Yugoslav immigrants and the native-born in the two countries.

The effect of naturalisation among ex-Yugoslavs in Austria (see column 4 in Table 8.5) is worth discussing too. As expected, naturalised Yugoslav immigrants are indeed able to land jobs of somewhat higher occupational status than their non-naturalised counterparts (the effect is significant at the 10% level). Analyses thus confirm that in Austria naturalisation does open up better opportunities in the labour market, including access to higher-status public sector jobs, closed to non-Austrian citizens. Less expected is the finding that naturalised Yugoslav immigrant women have lower labour force participation than their non-naturalised compatriots (back to column 4, Table 8.4).

Other than that, the curvilinear effect of age can be observed in the model of occupational status as well. Women in Sweden appear to have somewhat lower occupational status than men, other things being equal, while in Austria there is no significant gender effect. Married individuals have higher occupational status in Sweden, but lower in Austria.



■ Native-born □ Immigrated before 1973 ■ Immigrated in 1993

Figure 8.4. Predicted ISEI scores for ex-Yugoslav immigrants and the native-born in Austria and Sweden

Note: Probabilities are calculated with age, age squared, marital status and regional unemployment rate held constant at the sample means.

Source: 1997 Swedish labour force survey; 1996 Austrian micro census.

Not surprisingly, higher education is associated with higher occupational status, while the degree of the association is stronger in Austria. The latter effect is also visible in Figure 8.4. Less-educated native-born Austrians have somewhat lower occupational status than less-educated Swedes. The opposite is true for the native-born with tertiary education: those with tertiary education in Austria manage to attain occupations of higher status than similarly educated persons in Sweden.

8.6. Summary and Discussion

The present chapter assesses the labour market integration of ex-Yugoslav immigrants in two European countries, Austria and Sweden, in terms of the relevant structural characteristics of both societies. It is argued that differences in Austrian and Swedish institutional contexts since 1975, especially with regard to immigration and citizenship policies, as well as labour market structure and welfare regimes, have led to diverse patterns of immigrants' labour market integration.

Immigration to both countries began, however, in a similar setting, with a shortage of labour that threatened economic growth prompting a decision to recruit guest workers, former Yugoslavia being one of the sending countries. No integration policies existed in either country before the early 1970s. To the extent that integration did occur, it took place almost unintentionally, within the work places of the secondary labour market. During the following 25 years structural changes took place in both Sweden and Austria, with

industrial sector downsizing being especially prominent in the former. In accordance with the first hypothesis, we found similarity in several labour market outcomes (risk of being unemployed and occupational prestige) between the Yugoslav immigrant cohorts that arrived in the two countries during the first wave of labour migration. The differences, however, are found in the activity patterns of Yugoslav immigrants: in Sweden they have a much lower chance of labour force participation relative to the indigenous population than do their compatriots who settled in Austria. One possible explanation for this phenomenon has been suggested by Ekberg (1990), who found that immigrants who had arrived in Sweden as recruited workers more often experienced health problems and thus resorted to early retirement, exiting the labour force earlier than their native-born counterparts. Another possible explanation is that vacancies for unskilled and low-skilled jobs are rather rare in Sweden, and that less educated Yugoslav immigrants, being unable to compete with Swedes in the tertiary sector, opt for withdrawal from the labour force, in the best case seeking re-qualification. Both scenarios assume the availability of welfare assistance, either in terms of early retirement or other social allowances (see also Hammarstedt, 2000).

The oil shock of 1973 led to a slowdown in both countries' economies as well as to a change in the nature of immigration: mass recruitment of labour was no longer practised, and Yugoslav immigration remained meagre and based mostly on family reunification and asylum until the late 1980s. This new situation caused a change in immigration policy, but only in Sweden. From 1975 onward it became apparent that Sweden would adopt multiculturalism as the cornerstone of its immigration policy, and it introduced comprehensive integration measures for its newcomers. In Austria, by comparison, social exclusion of the immigration, misperception of their presence as temporary and the consequent lack of integration measures continued unchanged.

The results of the multivariate analysis show that Yugoslav immigrants who arrived after 1973 evince much lower labour force participation than native Swedes, a trend which is particularly acute for the most recent refugee immigrants. In Austria Yugoslavs display similar or, as is the case among women residing in Austria for more than 6 years, even higher activity rates than native-born Austrians. The high labour force participation levels, especially among men, accord with the labour-oriented nature of immigration to Austria even after 1973.

The unemployment risk of more recent Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden is much higher than among natives – it is also more pronounced than among their countrymen who headed towards Austria – which might be at least partially related to the severe recession Sweden experienced at the beginning of the 1990s, during which time it also had to absorb significant numbers of refugees from the former Yugoslavia. A weak improvement in the employment situation of Yugoslavs with the passage of time can be seen in both host countries, but the effect of YSM is not significant at the conventional significance level.

Recent immigrants to Austria show lower unemployment risk than their countrymen in Sweden, but at the same time seem to be landing jobs of lower occupational status

EX-YUGOSLAVS IN THE AUSTRIAN AND SWEDISH LABOUR MARKETS 181

than their compatriots in Sweden. For immigrants in Austria improvement in the quality of their jobs occurs only with the passage of time. If able to find employment, recent Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden, on the other hand, compare more favourably to the native-born in getting more prestigious jobs than do their counterparts in Austria.

Explanations for these findings can be sought in the structural differences between the two countries. In Austria, Yugoslav immigration is heavily employment-oriented; immigrants fear the loss of residence status in case of long-term unemployment, and the demand for low-status jobs in the industrial and service sectors matches the supply of immigrant labour with few occupational ambitions. These realities, taken together, determine a high probability of labour force participation, a lower risk of unemployment and the lower occupational prestige of jobs held by Yugoslav immigrants in Austria. In Sweden the availability of social assistance in case of unemployment and during participation in training schemes makes it possible for immigrants, who are better qualified than their Austrian compatriots, to seek suitable jobs. Discounted educational credentials from abroad, insufficient knowledge of the Swedish language, lack of experience in the Swedish labour market and deficiency in high demand communicative and interpersonal skills might make Yugoslav immigrants less attractive than Swedish-born candidates. Those Yugoslavs who have succeeded in finding employment have often obtained only lower-status jobs as compared to socio-demographically similar native Swedes - but the immigrant penalty with respect to employment is still larger in Austria than in Sweden.

The role of naturalisation in the labour market success of immigrants is also explored in the analyses, which reveal that the significance of naturalisation differs in the two countries. In Sweden, a country of permanent migration where permanent residents enjoy similar economic and social rights as native Swedes, citizenship does not influence labour market outcomes. In Austria, citizenship does open the door to wider employment opportunities and guarantees similar social rights. Non-Austrian citizens are obviously disadvantaged as they manage to land jobs of a somewhat inferior occupational status as compared to their naturalised counterparts.

All in all, it appears that recent immigrants in Sweden have particularly serious problems in getting employment, which accords with our expectations and confirms the findings of Chapter 6. With the analyses conducted here it is, however, impossible to attribute immigrants' disadvantages in employment and job status solely to the differences in the variability of welfare assistance directed towards recent arrivals. This is because the two countries under discussion differ not only in the welfare support they offer to newcomers, but also with respect to their labour market structures and immigration policies.¹⁵⁸

¹⁵⁸ A comparison of the two countries that happen to differ in several institutional characteristics per design does not allow for identifying a single institutional factor that might be held responsible for any particular outcome of immigrants' labour market allocation.

It is fair to conclude, though, that in the Swedish case universal welfare assistance is at least partially responsible for the observed outcomes of recent immigrants, as it allows those, who arrive with the intention of a permanent stay to seek employment matching their formal educational qualifications. In Austria, on the other hand, recent immigrants, who often intend a short-term stay and are generally underprivileged in their social rights compared to the Austrian population, are forced to accept any employment in order not to lose their residence status. Fortunately, the demand for less-skilled employment is comparatively strong in Austria, which contributes to the lower unemployment risk of its immigrant population (as has also been shown in Chapter 6 of this book).

CHAPTER 9. CONCLUSIONS

The troubling labour market performance of immigrants is at the top of the agenda in the majority of European Union countries, being a very important issue for both policy-makers and researchers. Low labour market participation, stubbornly high unemployment and welfare dependence among underprivileged third-country immigrants are problems which EU countries confront. Strategies in dealing with these issues differ cross-nationally; so does the degree of success. Descriptive evidence shows that in a large number of EU countries third-country immigrants face substantial difficulties in finding employment, while in only a few countries are immigrants' employment fortunes similar to those of the native-born. Furthermore, third-country immigrants appear to enter employment at a much lower-status level than the native-born. In this respect important cross-national variation is evident as well.

The main purpose of this book has been to explain these cross-national differences in immigrants' labour market attainment across Europe and to arrive at a more appropriate understanding of the individual and, above all, institutional determinants of labour market allocation for immigrants. In fact, one of the main claims in this book is that structural characteristics of immigrant societies play a significant role, perhaps more than European research has hitherto acknowledged, in explaining cross-national variation in immigrants' job allocation processes across Europe. The idea that the institutional characteristics of the receiving societies direct the labour market integration processes of immigrants is by no means a new one. However, neither those scholars who have emphasised the role of single institutions, such as immigration policy or labour markets, nor others who have claimed that the independent and combined effects of several institutional factors are at work have given a clear account of the reasons for macro-level differences. In other words, a straightforward model able to show how macro-level factors interfere with the processes occurring on the level of individual actors was clearly lacking. In this book the attempt has been made to identify how immigration policies, labour market structure and regulations, and welfare regimes influence the basic mechanism of labour market allocation - that is, how these structural components shape employers' and job seekers' resources and preferences, which determine the way individuals are matched with jobs (Chapter 2).

Selection of immigrants with respect to human capital characteristics, the degree of transferability of their human capital, its relevance in the host society and its signalling power for the prospective employers are seen as being mostly influenced by countries'

immigration policies and the contexts of immigrant reception (Chapter 3). Furthermore, immigrant labour market allocation largely depends, in addition to immigration policies, upon the labour market structures and regulations in receiving countries (Chapter 4) as well as the nature of their welfare regime (Chapter 5). It is argued that in less flexible labour markets employers have stronger reservations against recruiting 'risky' workers, so that underprivileged immigrants are more at risk of facing statistical or error discrimination. When a perfect match is less an issue for an employer or when there is a greater demand for certain types of jobs while the supply of the native-born labour force is scarce - as for example in the secondary labour market - employers more eagerly accept immigrants. Immigrants, particularly recent newcomers with short-term designs, are themselves often interested in landing employment quickly, even irrespective of its status. In the long run these people are trapped in the secondary labour market, especially if the insider-outsider divide in the country of their residence is severe. Indirectly, welfare state policies might influence immigrant labour market fortunes as well. In countries where the welfare system discriminates against particular immigrant groups, depriving them of elementary financial resources to sustain job search, immigrants will be forced to take secondary labour market jobs more quickly. If immigrants can draw on more extensive financial support when searching for employment, they would prefer to look for employment better fitting their qualification levels, even if at any particular point in time they may be over-represented among the unemployed.

Against this theoretical backdrop a number of hypotheses were formulated about the influence of immigration policy, labour market (structure and regulations) and welfare regime upon two aspects of immigrants' labour market performance – unemployment risk and occupational standing. These hypotheses were then tested empirically: first, in a large-scale analysis covering 14 European Union countries; and second, in two more detailed complementary analyses for a number of countries with institutional constellations 'responsible' for the variation in immigrants' labour market outcomes. A macro-level design applied to the large-scale analysis offers a significant methodological improvement over the research conducted on the issue so far. Only by including variables capturing the macro-level characteristics of the receiving societies into a single straightforward empirical model, as is done here, is it possible to directly test their hypothetical influence upon the labour market outcomes of the immigrant populations.

Acknowledging the variation in ethno-national composition of immigrant populations across Europe and the problematic practice of lumping immigrants from various social and cultural backgrounds together, the study has, not least due to data limitations, mainly had to focus on two rather broad immigrant groups: (1) immigrants coming from the EU-15 Member states and other western industrialised countries (e.g., USA, Canada), and (2) immigrants coming from the rest of the world, so called third-country immigrants.¹⁵⁹

¹⁵⁹ This is done in Chapter 6 and largely in Chapter 7. In Chapter 8 the focus is upon a group of immigrants from the former Yugoslavia, which despite certain intra-group variation (e.g. religious, language), are probably a more homogeneous group than the more widely defined immigrant classes used in the rest of the book.

CONCLUSIONS

The bulk of the hypotheses on the impact of structural factors were related to the more vulnerable third-country immigrants: the labour market allocation of EU immigrants and other westerners, due to more secure legal status and rights comparable to those of the native-born, was expected to be less affected by those institutional factors that are likely to affect the labour market incorporation of third-country immigrants.

Whereas the results of single analyses have already been summarised at the end of each chapter, here an attempt will be made to merge all the findings in order to attain an integrated picture of immigrants in the labour market and how they are affected by the structural and institutional make-up of the EU countries. Above all, attention will be drawn here to the differences in the labour market allocation of immigrants in the several types of welfare regime and the role of the labour market structure and regulations. But before embarking on this discussion, a few words are in order concerning the role of immigration policies and the contexts of immigrant reception in European host countries.

The Role of Immigration Policies and the Contexts of Immigrant Reception

Since the middle of the 20th century migration to Western Europe has increased substantially, and by the end of the century net immigration became a characteristic of all European countries constituting the European Union-15. Immigrants originally entered Western European countries seeking to fill the numerous job vacancies in their quickly expanding economies. Later on, humanitarian considerations (e.g. family reunification and resettlement of refugees and asylum seekers) became dominant in the immigration policies of the countries under discussion. Recently a revival of labour migration on a more modest scale has been observed. But this time the policies of many European countries are also aimed towards selecting highly-educated and qualified immigrants to boost these countries' economies; Europe is starting to compete for 'the best and the brightest' immigrants with the USA, Canada and Australia.

Among the issues discussed in this book were the effectiveness of host countries' immigration policies with regard to immigrant selection (and self-selection), the degree of transferability of immigrants' human capital and its attractiveness to prospective employers, the incentive effect of immigration policies for the accumulation of host-countryspecific human capital among immigrants, and immigrants' labour market choices. It was argued that in countries that have experienced a significant inflow from former colonies, proportionally more third-country immigrants possess human capital relevant to the host country as a result of existing institutional links between these countries. Moreover, anticipating permanent settlement, these immigrants more eagerly invest in the hostcountry-specific human capital. Having educational qualifications more meaningful to prospective employers and being fluent in the host-country language(s), such immigrants should fare better when it comes to higher-status employment. The opposite is true in countries where immigrants possess fewer host-country-specific human capital resources, e.g. the new immigration countries of Southern Europe, Finland, and Ireland. Hence the macro-level hypotheses formulated in Chapter 6, with respect to a possible immigrant

penalty in occupational status, contrasted countries that experienced a substantial inflow from former colonies, where a smaller immigrant penalty was expected, with new immigration countries. The results confirmed the anticipated better jobs of immigrants on average in countries with a tradition of migration from former colonies. Furthermore, the analyses presented in Chapter 7, in which the labour market trajectories of immigrants in Great Britain (a country with a history of immigration from former colonies) and Germany (a country with a history of guest-worker recruitment) were compared, backed up this finding. It was clear that in Great Britain better-educated immigrants have rather more favourable chances of entering higher-status employment than is the case in Germany. There was, however, an indication that immigrants in the UK do not receive equal (to the native-born) returns upon their education, and that ethnic preferences are still strong among British employers.

Chapter 8 in turn examines the labour market attainment of a single immigrant group – ex-Yugoslavs – in Sweden and Austria, two European countries in which recruitment of guest workers dominated the inflow of the 1950–60s. Despite the fact that labour migration to both countries began in a similar setting without any integration measures or social rights having been provided to migrants, the situation changed dramatically in Sweden in the mid-1970s. That country adopted multiculturalism as a cornerstone of its immigration policy, promoting permanent settlement and providing comprehensive integration measures for the newcomers. Whereas Austrian immigration policy crystallised out as one primarily oriented towards the country's economic needs, with immigrants' labour market and social integration resting upon the shoulders of the immigrants themselves.

The results of the comparative analyses show that the integration measures, e.g. language and (re-)training courses, offered to immigrants in Sweden appear to keep them out of the labour force; while in Austria the activity and involvement of the immigrants, irrespective of the timing of their arrival, is rather high and comparable to that of the native-born. So how effective, then, are the Swedish integration measures? This book does not deal with this question directly but the results of the analyses conducted here suggest that the Swedish immigration and integration policies, in combination with welfare support, allow Yugoslav immigrants in Sweden to search for and eventually gain employment of higher occupational status than those in Austria. At the same time, ex-Yugoslavs in Sweden are still strongly disadvantaged in gaining employment; and their disadvantage would probably have been even larger if no integration or labour market stimulation measures had been put in place. Employment rates and occupational attainment of longer-term ex-Yugoslav immigrants are quite similar in both countries, the only difference being, once again, the immigrants' comparatively small participation in the work force in Sweden.

The Role of the Labour Market Structure

Consistent with the findings of other studies dealing with the immigrant labour market in continental Europe, it was shown that third-country immigrants appear to be over-represented in unskilled and low-skilled employment, and segmented into economic

CONCLUSIONS

sectors likely to be associated with the secondary labour market (see Section 4.2). Manufacturing, and particularly the manufacturing of textiles, clothing, rubber and plastic products, appears to be one of their most obvious employment niches. Besides this, thirdcountry immigrants seem to flock to the hospitality and restaurant sectors, and also to be over-represented among those employed in private households.

Immigrants from the European Union or other western countries differ sharply from thirdcountry immigrants with respect to their occupations and economic sectors. Primarily, they tend to be under-represented among the unskilled and the low skilled or at least match the proportion of the native-born at the lower end of the occupational hierarchy. Secondly, the niches of immigrants from EU or other western countries are located in different economic sectors (compared to third-country immigrants). They are over-represented in areas of research and development, computers, finance industries, real estate, sport, culture and recreation. Even though EU immigrants and émigrés from other industrialised countries are also found in manufacturing, these are more demanding sectors when it comes to skills and training.

One of the arguments put forward in this book is that a stronger demand for unskilled and low-skilled labour within a country should lead to a levelling of the employment rates between third-country immigrants and the native-born. This hypothesis found empirical support when looking at both newcomers and all male third-country immigrants¹⁶⁰ (see Chapter 6). Indeed, in countries with a bottom-heavy occupational hierarchy the employment disadvantage of third-country immigrants is smaller. A country's demands upon the less-skilled labour force might also exert an effect on the nature of migrant inflow (e.g. seasonal migration for employment in agriculture), attracting migrants with more immediate goals. Southern European countries, where the number of jobs at the lower end of the occupational structure is quite large, seem to have experienced a boom in temporary, labour-oriented immigration, so that comparatively smaller immigrant disadvantages in these countries can be explained by a match in the nature of migrant inflow to the type of labour needed (see also Kalter and Kogan, 2003). The explanation for smaller immigrant employment penalties in Austria, as compared to Sweden, seems to be at least partially related to the same factor. In Austria the demand for low-status jobs in the industrial and service sectors matches the supply of immigrants from neighbouring ex-Yugoslavia who have low educational qualifications and who seek temporary or seasonal employment (see Chapter 8).

In this book the relative weight of the bottom of the occupational structure has been singled out as a factor influencing immigrants' labour market fortunes. With the highly aggregated labour force survey data it was impossible, however, to really capture the demand side of the labour market. Thus, for example, it was not in practice feasible to operationalise the

¹⁶⁰ The analyses also showed that the size of the bottom of the labour market did not affect the employment chances of EU immigrants or other westerners.

demand for high-skilled workers at the upper end of the occupational hierarchy in rapidly growing economic sectors, e.g. biotechnology, computers and telecommunication. This might be related to the smaller penalties or even the advantages of immigrants over the native-born, as for example, among Indian immigrants in Great Britain (see Chapter 7).

The Role of Labour Market Flexibility

Controlling for the labour market structure and possible effects of immigration policies, the results of the analyses (both in Chapter 6 and 7) broadly confirm that third-country immigrants face more favourable labour market prospects, in terms of employment rates and occupational prestige, within flexible, unequal liberal welfare 'syndromes'. They confront bigger labour market barriers in conservative and social-democratic welfare regimes. In the first case, third-country immigrants appear to be less disadvantaged with respect to gaining employment and good occupational status compared to immigrants in other regimes. The snapshot of the immigrants' labour market situation gained from the analyses of the cross-national EULFS data is further reinforced by results from the longitudinal data analyses in Chapter 7 using the examples of Germany and Great Britain. They show that in both countries immigrants' employment careers are distant from those of native-born men; but in Germany it is third-country immigrants who are particularly disadvantaged, even after taking into account the differences in the socio-demographic characteristics of immigrants and the native-born. Moreover, it appears that long and frequent unemployment spells are behind the dissimilarity in immigrants' employment careers in both countries, with the situation being particularly alarming in Germany. Also of concern in Germany is the level of occupational attainment of its immigrants. While in Great Britain immigrants' careers are rather similar to those of the native-born, which accords with the results of the cross-sectional data analyses in Chapter 6, in Germany immigrants are clearly segmented into manual, mostly unskilled, blue-collar jobs. In the latter case immigrants' diverging occupational careers are only partially explained by the lack of skills - it is also a matter of discounted human capital.

Germany (a prototype of the conservative regime) and Great Britain (fairly typical of a liberal welfare regime) differ not only in the outcomes of their immigrants' labour market allocation – be it unemployment or occupational standing – but also in the underlying inclusion or exclusion processes. In Germany white-collar employment seems to be practically closed to all unemployed immigrants, irrespectively of their background and educational qualifications. In Great Britain it seems as though immigrants in search of white-collar employment compete with the native-born on more or less equal terms. It should be stressed, however, that ethnic groups vary in their chances of gaining white-collar employment, which might imply that ethnic preferences are still strong among British employers. Thus, for example, it appears that Indian immigrants are often 'preferred' for white-collar jobs, which might at the same time be a sign of direct recruitment of Indian specialists for high-tech or medical jobs, for which the demand is particularly strong in the UK. Another part of the story is that in Germany once immigrants hold blue-collar, particularly unskilled, employment they have a higher risk of losing it due to

CONCLUSIONS

its precariousness and vulnerability. When laid off from high-churning sectors, immigrants normally remain within these sectors nevertheless, since high vacancy rates allow them to find re-employment – but at the price of a higher probability of future unemployment. As a result, the bulk of immigrants in Germany, almost irrespective of their ethno-national background and human capital, oscillate between employment in the secondary labour market and unemployment, not being able to break out of their outsider status. To be sure, in Great Britain many immigrants confront the same scenario, but the better educated there have more hope of escaping this fate – certainly far more so than in Germany.

Differences in immigrants' labour market allocation existing between the two countries are, on the basis of the analyses in Chapter 6, attributed to the nature of the welfare regime: the British liberal model with flexible, unequal labour markets, low labour costs and market-based social insurance as opposed to the German conservative model with segregated, segmented and rigid labour markets, high labour costs, rather compressed wage structures and employment-based social insurances. Out of the two nexuses of the welfare regime, seen as relevant to the labour market allocation of male immigrants (i.e., labour market regulation and welfare state), the role of labour market regulation, and above all employment protection legislation, was singled out. Indeed, stricter employment-protection legislation seems to be responsible for the larger employment disadvantages of recent third-country immigrants (see Section 6.3.3); while receipt of unemployment benefits has no significant influence upon immigrant re-employment chances in either Germany or Great Britain (see Section 7.3.3).

How sure can we be that in claiming such an effect for EPL strictness upon immigrants' employment chances we do not pick up other macro-level effects spuriously related to labour market flexibility (King et al., 1994)? Among possible correlates the following can be mentioned. Firstly, immigrants heading towards countries with more flexible labour markets might be more positively selected with respect to observed and intrinsic characteristics, such as motivation or abilities. Positive self-selection with respect to formal educational qualifications in liberal welfare regimes is confirmed (see Sections 3.3.2 and 6.2.2) and seems to be a part of the explanation for occupational success of third-country immigrants in Great Britain and Ireland (see Section 6.3.4). However, with only the labour force or census data it is not really possible to identify whether immigrants making for more unequal liberal welfare regimes are in fact better selected with respect to motivation or intrinsic abilities (Borjas, 1987; Cohen and Haberfeld, 2003).

Secondly, in both of the European liberal welfare regimes, Britain and Ireland, the English language is spoken, and it goes without saying that in the modern world lots of people happen to study and speak English, though not always at a level sufficient to enter prestigious white-collar employment in an English-speaking country. At any rate, it might be reasonable to expect that people arriving in Great Britain and Ireland already have the basics of the host-country language, which might be less the case among immigrants heading to Germany, Finland or Denmark. In the analyses in Chapter 6 it was impossible to control for host-country language proficiency (as this variable is not

present in the dataset), but it was possible to take this important indicator into account in the analyses in Chapter 7. The results showed that, even after controlling for language knowledge, immigrants in Germany nevertheless have lower rates of securing white-collar employment compared with immigrants in Great Britain, and even assuming that in the latter all immigrants know both oral and written English well.

With the analyses presented in Chapter 7 it was not possible, however, to weigh up the relative importance of the two institutional factors in immigrants' labour market inclusion or to unravel the contribution of immigration policies (including immigrants' self-selection with respect to intrinsic characteristics) to immigrants' on average more favourable labour market allocation in Great Britain. To what extent this is an artefact of the less discriminating labour market (due to more flexible regulation and/or more stringent anti-discrimination legislature) is also unknown. The problem is that countries' institutional characteristics often come as part of a package: there normally exists a strong correlation between various structural and institutional factors, as can be seen in Section 6.2.2. The question is, then, whether it is at all possible to disentangle institutional effects and whether or not it is worthwhile to just speak of immigration regimes or institutional 'syndromes', as suggested by Engelen (2003) (see Chapter 5).

The Role of the Welfare State

The analyses in Chapter 6 (Section 6.3.3) show that recent newcomers in Scandinavian social-democratic welfare regimes face particularly serious obstacles upon employment entry. This effect persists after controlling for the degree of labour market flexibility. In fact, social-democratic welfare regimes are characterised by quite flexible labour markets, more so than conservative welfare regimes. Hence, larger immigrant penalties for third-country immigrants and particularly for more recent newcomers might be related at least partially to the welfare state generosity and/or universal welfare coverage in social-democratic welfare regimes (see Chapter 5). This would not necessarily mean that in social-democratic welfare states immigrants abuse welfare resources.¹⁶¹ In fact, as other research findings show, immigrants' over-representation among welfare recipients is related to their more vulnerable socio-demographic characteristics than their immigrant status per se. In this book we argue that in countries other than social-democratic welfare states recent newcomers might not be entitled to the same welfare provisions as the nativeborn, largely due to the absence of a secure legal status, such as permanent residence, and consequently face a more limited choice of opportunities and behave differently in the labour market.

This claim has been verified in Chapter 8, which examined the situation of ex-Yugoslav immigrants in the labour markets of both Sweden (a prototype of a social-democratic

¹⁶¹ Unfortunately with the data (a single year cross-sectional labour force survey) at hand (with no questions as to the use of welfare benefits) it was impossible to directly investigate this issue.

CONCLUSIONS

welfare regime) and Austria (one of the countries classified as a conservative welfare regime). Before discussing substantive findings, the importance of the analytic design, which compares labour market outcomes (and if possible the underlying processes) for a single immigrant group in different receiving societies, should be emphasised once again. The fact that immigrants from the same or similar origins have markedly different labour market outcomes in different societies should point towards the characteristics of the societies themselves as an important explanation (Reitz, 1998). Focusing upon immigrants with similar origins allows a kind of control for social and cultural distances between immigrants and the native-born, as well as other factors related to the international environment, which are often beyond operationalisation in the standard surveys. Differences in the position of immigrants within a destination country can therefore be accredited to the structural characteristics of the society, including differences related to immigrants' selection or self-selection with respect to particular characteristics and to their experience with those resources within the institutions of the receiving society. In fact, one of the main drawbacks of the analyses presented in Chapters 6 and 7 was exactly the failure to adequately control for immigrants' origin in order to associate the cross-country variation in residual immigrant effects with the variation in the array of social institutions in the receiving societies.

Going back to the results of the analyses presented in Chapter 8, the labour market attainment of ex-Yugoslav citizens in Austria and Sweden was explored in terms of three outcomes: labour force participation, unemployment and occupational status. One of the main focuses of the chapter was to assess the role of the period of migration, which, due to variation in the labour market outcomes of immigrants in different cohorts, was expected to pick up the effects of changes in immigration policy and labour market factors in the two countries under discussion. Secondly, the study aimed, using the example of host-country citizenship, at assessing the significance of the legal status of immigrant populations upon labour market outcomes.

The study found that ex-Yugoslav immigrants of the guest-worker cohort face similar (relative to the native-born) risks of being unemployed in both countries and are similarly disadvantaged (again compared to their native-born neighbours) in occupational status. Cross-nationally these immigrants differ only with respect to labour force participation – quite low in Sweden and comparable to that of the native-born in Austria. It is obvious that universal welfare state provisions in Sweden allow immigrants to opt for early retirement or withdrawal from the labour force (often for re-qualification). Extremely low labour force participation is also characteristic of immigrants who arrived after 1973 and particularly for the most recent refugees from the former Yugoslavia. This stands in sharp contrast to the activity patterns of ex-Yugoslavian immigrants in Austria, whose work attachment is similar to that of the native-born. Recent immigrants in Austria do indeed face less risk of unemployment than their countrymen in Sweden, which accords with the findings of Chapter 6; but these immigrants seem, at the same time, to attain jobs of lower occupational status than their compatriots in Sweden.

The analytic design of the study suggests that explanations for these findings can be found in the structural differences between the two countries. In Austria Yugoslav immigration is heavily employment-oriented, with recent immigrants not entitled to the welfare benefits enjoyed by the native-born, and at danger of losing their residence status in case of long-term unemployment. Moreover, in that country the demand for low-status jobs in the industrial and service sectors matches the supply of immigrant labour with low educational qualification and little occupational ambition. These factors, taken together, determine a high probability of labour force participation and a lower risk of unemployment. In Sweden the availability of social assistance in case of unemployment and during participation in training schemes makes it possible for immigrants, who are better qualified than their Austrian counterparts, to seek suitable jobs. Are they able to find employment matching their educational qualifications? The results show that this is by no means always the case. Those Yugoslavs who have succeeded in finding employment have often managed to gain only lower-status jobs when compared to socio-demographically-similar native Swedes. Discounted educational credentials from abroad, insufficient knowledge of the Swedish language, lack of experience in the Swedish labour market and deficiency in much required communicative and interpersonal skills probably make Yugoslav immigrants less attractive than Swedish-born candidates.

Taken together, the findings presented in this book make it clear that immigrants' economic success is not only a function of exogenous factors which determine the composition of immigration inflow; nor is it determined solely by differences in the selectivity of immigration policy. To a very significant degree, immigrant labour market allocation is shaped by the institutional structure of host societies. Above all, labour market structure and regulations, the nature of the welfare state and immigration policy form specific institutional syndromes or sets of conditions that are capable of shaping immigrants' labour market fortunes.

Open Questions

A deliberate strategy in this book has been to use multiple data sources and similar or related analyses, thereby ensuring better reliability of results and firmer evidence for or against hypotheses. Indeed, each of the data sources applied in the book has its own strengths and limitations which, to a certain degree, shaped the direction of the analyses. The strength of the European Union Labour Force Survey, on which the principal large-scale descriptive and multivariate analyses were based, lies in its comprehensive European coverage, larger sample sizes and cross-country comparability. This has allowed the drawing of the main contours of immigrant labour market performance across Europe, a task barely conceivable with any other data set.¹⁶²

¹⁶² An alternative, to use the European Community Household Panel (ECHP), the database that might be preferred due to its detailed longitudinal information, was not a feasible option because of the intolerably small sample sizes of the immigrant population.

CONCLUSIONS

One of the important limitations of the EULFS is the restricted levels of detail in the variables.¹⁶³ It should therefore be conceded that aggregating the data, e.g. classifying immigrants in very broad groups, might conceal more than it actually reveals; and that additional analyses with other data sources possibly with a further break-down according to immigrants' origin, is therefore advisable. To a certain extent the lack of detail in the EULFS data was tackled by using individual labour force surveys in the in-depth analyses in Chapter 8. Another obvious problem with the EULFS, as well as with individual labour force surveys, is their exclusively cross-sectional nature. The data provide aggregate snap-shots of labour market career outcomes at different points in time, but there is no way with these data alone to empirically address the underlying individual careers nor to approach the outcomes - for example, unemployment - from a dynamic perspective. This needs to be done and indeed has been done in Chapter 7 with the panel data for the selected countries, but the importance of the dynamic perspective and career approach can hardly be overstated. Unfortunately, in this study's close-up investigation of immigrants' labour market careers and unemployment dynamics in Germany and Great Britain it was impossible to look at other facets of employment: attempting, for example, to detect if immigrants are over-represented in precarious forms of employment, e.g. temporary contracts or part-time jobs. The reason is that, unfortunately, the small sample sizes for the immigrant population hardly permit more detailed analysis than that conducted in Chapter 7. It is feasible, however, and even necessary, to extend the observation window (six years in the current study) to accumulate the data to test the validity of claims advanced in this book with the benefit of a longer time series and historical circumstances.¹⁶⁴ Moreover, extending coverage to a decade or more should better resolve the effects of the structural fluctuation and institutional change upon immigrants' employment careers.

As demonstrated by these current limitations, a real need in the area of immigration research is an investment in improved data, preferably of longitudinal nature with samples of the immigrant population and their offspring large enough for meaningful analyses. Such panel data, covering immigrants from multiple origins in a variety of host countries, should ideally have a design that allows for following respondents over a considerable period of time from the very moment they land in their destination country. At the moment, however, studies pursuing the above-described design are still exceptionally rare and are indeed only in their formative stages, as yet yielding fairly short observation spans (Jasso et al., 2003).

In this book first-generation immigrants are under the spotlight. The growing population of second-generation immigrants is, however, a reality in the majority of European countries

¹⁶³ This limitation of the EULFS is largely related to the way the data have been delivered by Eurostat at the time of writing. Having access to the multidimensional tables rather than individual data reduces a researcher's freedom, both with respect to the number of analysed variables and to the level of detail within them.

¹⁶⁴ Extending analyses to more recent data is also advisable with the EULFS, which would allow adding time dimension to the analyses and testing not only international but also *intra*-national differences.

nowadays, and research questions legitimately shift towards assessment of their situation within host societies. Are children of immigrants able to improve their labour market status better than their parents? Do second-generation immigrants become indistinguishable from the native-born with respect to their educational and labour market related characteristics? Unfortunately answering these and many other questions is a real challenge for researchers since it is often not feasible to distinguish naturalised second-generation immigrants in large-scale standardised surveys, including labour force surveys, in the majority of European countries. Having acquired citizenship of the host country, secondgeneration immigrants become invisible in these data sources. The problem is becoming more acute with the passage of time as, due to liberalisation of naturalisation procedures in the majority of European countries, the proportion of naturalised second-generation immigrants is constantly growing. National statistic offices and Eurostat need to track parental country of birth since only then would researchers be able to trace assimilation patterns of second-generation immigrants using large representative surveys. In fact, due mainly to the lack of appropriate data, serious comparative studies upon this topic have been quite rare until recently. Heath's (2007) large-scale cross-national undertaking and Crul and Vermeulen's (2003) comparative study are rare exceptions indeed. The main focus of these studies is upon the effect of immigrants' country of origin and the role played by country of destination upon the labour market positioning of the immigrants and their offspring. As neither of the studies analyses the data from a single cross-national file, but rather from a number of surveys conducted separately for each country with results being subsequently compared cross-nationally, the effects of the institutional characteristics of the receiving societies influencing first- and second-generation immigrants' labour market attainment can only be assessed indirectly.¹⁶⁵ Moreover, the aforementioned comparative studies mainly focus on the labour market outcomes of the (first and) second-generation immigrants; while a dynamic perspective, the importance of which is stressed in Chapter 7 of this book, is clearly lacking. A serious study using longitudinal data is necessary, and this is where much needs to be done in the future.

The main focus of this book has been upon institutional determinants in the labour market performance of male immigrants, who are seen as the main breadwinners in immigrant families. If men's attachment to work is indisputable and is less dependent on their ethnic membership and religious orientation, perhaps the opposite is true when it comes to women. The female labour market has been ignored in this book largely because of difficulties in introducing cultural and religious dimensions to the analyses without really being able to empirically differentiate between specific ethno-national groups. Future research should make strides towards understanding individual and structural determinants of immigrant women's labour market allocation processes (see Van Tubergen, 2004 for an attempt to do so).

¹⁶⁵ Hence, a central theoretical question – whether host countries' institutional characteristics that shape labour market outcomes of the first-generation immigrants are also responsible for the labour market fortunes of their children – still remains to be adequately explored.

CONCLUSIONS

The study presented in this book is limited to the analyses of unemployment incidence and dynamics as well as occupational standing (either in the form of occupational prestige or occupational destinations, e.g. white-collar, skilled and unskilled manual jobs) of immigrant populations as compared to the native-born.¹⁶⁶ The issue of immigrants' earnings has been absolutely neglected here, again, to a large extent, because of data limitations. Analysing income from dependent employment, self-employment and social security transfers, could add an important dimension to the assessment of immigrants' inclusion in the labour market. It is particularly important since European Union countries vary with respect to their wage bargaining models, minimum income legislation, and the way welfare states redistribute wealth and disperse wages. There are reasons to expect that in liberal welfare states, immigrants, and particularly those who end up in low-skilled employment, face substantial risks of economic deprivation and even poverty, since such jobs often do not cover the cost of living. In conservative and especially in social-democratic welfare regimes with their more egalitarian wage structures and stronger redistributive policies, low-skilled immigrants and even the unemployed should enjoy a decent living. Thus it may well be that the monetary gain to be had in upgrading from, say, unskilled to skilled employment is much lower in social-democratic welfare states than in British or Irish liberal welfare regimes. As a consequence, different incentives and decision-making strategies would be expected among immigrants, as well as the native-born, living under the different regimes.

Despite its limitations and the open questions that remain, it is fair to hope that this book has managed to reveal certain contours in the variety of immigrant inclusion patterns in Europe more clearly than has been done to date. Even if, in the end, unequivocal proof for the suggested effects of the structural characteristics of receiving societies could not be extracted from the data at hand, the results shown here point out an important direction for future cross-national research.

¹⁶⁶ In a close-up analyses of ex-Yugoslav immigrants, labour force participation was also examined.

Table A.1. Income and work eligibility of asylum seekers in EU countries

Country	Monthly allowance for single adult in Euro	Eligibility to work
Austria	Those under 'federal care' (about 30% of asylum seekers) allowed pocket money of \notin 518.	Can apply for permit but few given permission to work
Belgium	Those outside of centres entitled to \in 518.	Depends on a request for a permit from a prospective employer
Denmark	Those in reception/accommodation centres get € 304.2 for clothing, food and pocket money. Those outside centres get no financial support	Not entitled to work
Finland	Living allowance (excluding accommodation) – € 292.5.	After 3 months can apply for a work permit relating to specific job. Permit only granted if the job cannot be filled by national or resident.
France	One off allowance of \in 304.9 on arrival. Those in centres with full board get \notin 91.4 while those outside centres get \notin 274.4.	Not entitled to work.
Germany	€ 41 pocket money and support in-kind for those in centres. Those outside receive vouchers or currency.	After 12 months can apply for a work permit.
Greece	None – though vulnerable asylum seekers may receive assistance from NGOs.	Can be granted temporary work permit.
Ireland	Asylum seekers without income entitled to € 391.7. In addition, a rent allowance of € 377 may be granted.	Those who have been in Ireland since at least 26 July 1998 are allowed to work.
Italy	Those without support entitled to € 17.5 per day for 45 days (i.e. € 525 for a 30 day month)	Not entitled to work.
Netherlands	Varies according to the extent of meal provision. If all meals provided asylum seekers receive \notin 68.1 and if no meals are provided it is \notin 167.6.	Can work for a maximum of 12 weeks a year but only in agricultural/seasonal work.

(continued)

Table A.1. (Continued)

Country	Monthly allowance for single adult in Euro	Eligibility to work
Portugal	Admitted asylum seekers are given € 140 for four months. Those under accelerated procedures receive no support.	After 6 months can apply for a work permit.
Spain	Those in centres receive pocket money of \notin 41, others receive \notin 242 for six months though it may be extended for 2 additional periods of 3 months.	After 6 months can apply for a work permit.
Sweden	€ 256.6 for those in centres where they prepare their own meals and € 86.1 in centres where meals are provided.	After 6 months can apply for a work permit.
United Kingdom	Destitute asylum seekers entitled to € 72.9 cash alongside support in-kind and supermarket vouchers.	After 6 months can apply for a work permit.

Source: Bloch (2000).

rates
naturalisation
and
countries
EU
ï
naturalisation
\mathbf{for}
Requirements
2
Table A

		residence		Never	disturbed	expelled	Knowledge	e Integrated	Renouncemen	ıt	Undertaking	PL	
Σ	linimun	n in	Of good	convicted	public	from	of the	in the	of former	Oath	to reside	Means of	Naturalisation
ŝ	e	country	character	of crime	order	country	language	community	nationality	required	l in country	livelihood	rate (%)
ΑT	19	10 years		>		>		>				>	2.1
ЗE	18	5 years		>	>			>	>				2.8
ЭK	18	7 years	>	>			>		>				2.7
T.	18	5 years	>				>		>			>	2.6
R	18	5 years	>	>		>	>	>					2.7
ЭE	18	10 years		>			>	>	>	>		>	4.5
ЗR	18	8 years	>	>		>				>			2.6
Щ	18	4 years	>							>	>		0.2
E	18	10 years				>				>			0.8
В	18	10 years		>			>	>	>	>			0.6
Ę	18	5 years		>	>	>	>	>					9.2
Ł	18	6 years	>	>			>					>	0.6
S	18	10 years	>		>			>	>	>			1.7
SE	18	5 years	>						>				5.9
JΚ	18	5 years	>	>	>	>	>				>		2.1

APPENDIX

Note: Naturalisation rate is the number of persons acquiring the nationality of the country in the most recent year available as a percentage of the stock of the foreign population at the beginning of the year.

In Germany statistics include naturalisation claims, which concern essentially ethnic Germans. In Luxembourg minor children acquiring the nationality as a consequence of the naturalisation of their parents are not included. In Spain persons recovering their former Spanish nationality are not included. *Source:* SOPEMI (1995, 1997).

INTE ATOM T	And Sundring the suman nun norminiatin manage		mundran ind carmina in a m
Country	General information	Sampling	Data collection
Austria	Compulsory participation (with optional part). Covers private households only.	Sample size is 31500 households. The average survey rate is 1%.	Face-to-face interviews. Response rate is 78.7%.
Belgium	Compulsory participation. Covers both private and collective households.	Sample size is 35000 households. The average survey rate is about 0.9%.	Face-to-face interviews. Response rate is 85%.
Denmark	Voluntary participation. Greenland and the Faroe Islands are not covered. Covers both private and collective households.	Sample size is 15600 persons. The average survey rate is 0.4%.	CATI and mail. Response rate is 72%.
Finland	Voluntary participation. Covers both private and collective households. Foreign nationals with at least 1 years of (intended) residence are included. Asylum-seekers are not considered legally resident.	Sample size is 19717 persons. The average survey rate is 0.4%.	5% of interviews are face-to-face (CAPI), 95% are telephone with CATI. Administrative sources are also used. Response rate is 86.7%.
France	Compulsory participation. Covers private households, collective households are included if they have ties with private households.	Sample size is 75000 households. The average survey rate is 0.33%.	Face-to-face (CAPI). The Business Register is also a source of information. Response rate is 89.7%.
Germany	Compulsory participation (with optional part). Covers both private and collective households except for military quarters.	Sample size of about 380000 persons. The average survey rate is 0.45%.	Face-to-face interviews supplemented by written answers. Response rate is 97.8% Response rate to the optional part is up to 40%.
			(continued)

in countries-participants
LFS
EU
of the
collection (
l data
and
procedures
ı sampling
s or
detail
and
rmation
info
General
3.
Table A

Table A.3. (Continued)

Table And Lon	unucu)		
Country	General information	Sampling	Data collection
Greece	Covers private households only.	Sample size is 30000 households. The average survey rate is 0.87%.	Face-to-face interviews (CAPI). Response rate is 90-92%.
Ireland	Voluntary participation. Covers private households only.	Sample size is 39000 households. The average survey rate is 3.3%.	Face-to-face (CAPI). Response rate is 93%.
Luxembourg	Voluntary participation. Covers private households only.	Sample size is 8500 households. The average survey rate is 5%.	Face-to-face interviews. Response rate is 78%.
The Netherlands	Voluntary participation. Covers private households only.	Sample size is 60000 households. The average survey rate is 1%.	Face-to-face (CAPI). Response rate is 55-60%.
Portugal	Compulsory participation. Covers private households, collective households are included if they represent a potential for the labour market.	Sample size is 20000 households. The average survey rate is 0.68%.	Face-to-face (CAPI). Response rate is 91.2%.
Spain	Voluntary participation. Private households are covered (including servants). Collective households are sampled via parents living in private households. Foreign nationals with at least 1 years of (intended) residence are included.	Sample size is 65000 households. The average survey rate is 0.5%.	CAPI, telephone (CATI). Response rate is 91 %.
Sweden	Voluntary participation. Covers both private and collective households.	Sample size is 17000 persons. The average survey rate is 0.3%.	Telephone (CATI). Administrative records are also used. Response rate is 86.6%.
United Kingdom	Private households are covered. Collective households are sampled via parents.	Sample size is 68250 households.	Face-to-face (CAPI) or telephone (CATI). Response rate is 86.7%.

APPENDIX

Table A.4.	The full	version	of the	EGP	class schema	
------------	----------	---------	--------	-----	--------------	--

Ι	Higher-grade professionals, administrators, and officials; managers in large industrial establishments; large proprietors
II	Lower-grade professionals, administrators, and officials; higher-grade technicians; managers in small industrial establishments; supervisors of non-manual employees
IIIa	Routine non-manual employees, higher grade (administration and commerce)
IIIb	Routine non-manual employees, lower grade (sales and services)
IVa	Small proprietors, artisans, etc., with employees
IVb	Small proprietors, artisans, etc., without employees
IVc	Farmers and smallholders; other self-employed workers in primary production
V	Lower-grade technicians; supervisors of manual workers
VI	Skilled manual workers
VIIa	Semi- and unskilled manual workers (not in agriculture, etc.)
VIIb	Agricultural and other workers in primary production

Source: Erikson and Goldthorpe (1992).

Qualification	Description	Deutschland (Germany)	Great Britain
1ab	Level of compulsory education or below	Haupt-/Volksschulabschluss oder kein Schulabschluss	General elementary education or less (e.g. CSE)
lc	Basic vocational training above and beyond compulsory schooling	Haupt-/Volksschulabschluss mit Abschluss einer Lehr-/Anlernausbildung oder Meister-/Technikerausbildung	Basic occational qualifications (e.g. BTEC, BEC First Certificate or equivalent)
2b	Academic or general tracks at the secondary intermediate level	Realschulabschluss (Mittlere Reife)	Intermediate general qualifications (e.g. O-level or equivalent)
2a	Advanced vocational training or secondary programs in which general intermediate schooling is combined by vocational	Realschulabschluss mit Abschluss einer Lehr-/Anlernausbildung oder Meister-/Technikerausbildung	Intermediate vocational qualifications (e.g. BTEC, BEC First diploma or equivalent)
2c	Full maturity certificates (e.g. the Abitur, A-levels)	Fachhochschulreife, Hochschulreife (Abitur) ohne Lehr-Anlernausbildung oder Meister-Technikerausbildung	Full secondary general (e.g. A-level or equivalent with or without RSA Advanced Diploma or equivalent)
2c voc	Full maturity certificates including vocationally-specific schooling or training (e.g. Abitur plus vocational training certificate, BTEC)	Fachhochschulreife, Hochschulreife (Abitur) mit Lehr-/Anlernausbildung oder Meister-/Technikerausbildung	Vocational secondary (e.g. TEC general)
3a	Lower-level tertiary degrees, generally of shorter duration and with a vocational orientation (e.g. technical college diplomas, social worker or non-university teaching certificates)	Fachhochschule, Ingenieurschule	Lower tertiary
3b	The completion of a traditional, academically-oriented university education	Hochschule	Full tertiary, university degree

Table A.5. The CASMIN schema of educational qualifications

Source: Adapted from Brauns and Steinmann (1997), Hillmert (2001).

APPENDIX

(1) vs. (4) (2) vs. (4) (3) vs. (4) (6) vs. (4) (7) vs. (4) (5) vs. (4) Immigrant -5.3^{**} (0.4) -3.2** -1.4^{**} (0.4) -0.4^{**} (0.4) -2.6^{**} (0.7) -0.3(0.6)(0.3)1.7** (0.5) 1.6** (0.5) EU immigrant 0.0 (0.5)-0.3(0.5)0.2 (0.4)0.6** (0.2) YSM/10 0.5^{*} -0.10.3 (0.3)(0.2)0.0 (0.1)(1.3)0.2 (0.1) -2.1^{*} 6.1** (1.4) Age/100 -0.1 (0.8) 0.2 (1.0)(0.8)1.2 (0.9)-1.4(0.8)-2.1** (0.3) Low -1.2** (0.3) -1.7^{**} (0.2)0.0 (0.2)0.4 (0.3)-1.0** (0.2) general 1.3** (0.4) -0.9^{**} (0.3) 0.5* (0.3) -0.5(0.4) -1.6^{**} (0.3) 0.4 (0.3)Middle general 1.1** (0.2) 1.2^{**} (0.4) Middle 0.0 (0.3)-0.4(0.2)0.0 (0.3)-0.3(0.2)vocational 3.7** (0.4) 1.3** (0.4)1.1** (0.4)(0.7)0.0 (0.4)Tertiary long (0.4)-0.41.2 2.7** (0.4) 1.0^{*} (0.4)-0.3(0.4)0.3 (0.5)1.6** Tertiary short (0.6)0.0 (0.4)1.7** (0.3) -3.8** (0.7) 0.9** (0.3) Constant 0.2 (0.4) 2.0^{**} (0.3) -0.9^{*} (0.4)

 Table A.6a. Results of the multinomial logistic regression predicting cluster membership for immigrants in Germany

Log likelihood = -4134.8098.

N = 2796.

Immigrant	(1) vs. (4)		(2) vs. (4)		(3) vs. (4)		(6) vs. (4)		(7) vs. (4)	
	-0.8	(0.9)	-0.3	(1.0)	-0.3	(0.9)	1.6	(1.0)	0.2	(1.1)
EU immigrant	0.5	(0.6)	0.8	(0.7)	-0.4	(0.7)	0.3	(0.9)	0.6	(0.7)
YSM/10	0.1	(0.3)	0.1	(0.3)	0.3	(0.3)	-0.3	(0.4)	0.1	(0.3)
Age/100	1.0	(0.8)	1.8*	(0.9)	-0.6	(0.9)	0.3	(1.5)	7.3**	(1.1)
Low general	-0.4^{*}	(0.2)	-0.7**	(0.2)	-1.0**	(0.2)	0.6	(0.4)	-0.2	(0.2)
Middle general	2.0**	(0.4)	-0.6	(0.6)	-0.4	(0.5)	0.9	(0.9)	0.8	(0.6)
Middle vocational	2.0**	(0.3)	0.0	(0.4)	0.0	(0.4)	-0.6	(1.1)	0.7	(0.4)
Tertiary long	4.8**	(0.7)	0.8	(0.8)	0.3	(0.9)	3.3**	(0.9)	1.4	(0.9)
Tertiary short	1.6**	(0.2)	-0.1	(0.3)	0.0	(0.3)	0.1	(0.6)	0.2	(0.3)
Constant	-0.2	(0.3)	-0.4	(0.4)	0.8*	(0.4)	-2.3**	(0.7)	-3.6**	(0.5)

Table A.6b. Results of the multinomial logistic regression predicting cluster membership for immigrants in the UK

Log likelihood = -3093.8773.

N = 2271.

Notes: Number in the first row refers to the following clusters.

1. White-collar jobs (stable and mobile service classes and routine non-manual class).

2. Petty bourgeoisie.

3. Low-grade technicians and supervisors of manual workers and skilled working class.

4. Largely stable unskilled working class.

5. Mobile working class (for Germany only).

6. Unemployed.

7. Out of the labour force.

Annex A.1: Statistical Classification of Economic Activities (NACE 2-digit)

Section A Agriculture, hunting and forestry

- 01 Agriculture, hunting and related service activities
- 02 Forestry, logging and related service activities

Section B Fishing

05 Fishing, operation of fish hatcheries and fish farms; service activities incidental to fishing

Section C Mining and quarrying

- 10 Mining of coal and lignite; extraction of peat
- 11 Extraction of crude petroleum and natural gas; service activities incidental to oil and gas extraction excluding surveying
- 12 Mining of uranium and thorium ores
- 13 Mining of metal ores
- 14 Other mining and quarrying

Section D Manufacturing

- 15 Manufacture of food products and beverages
- 16 Manufacture of tobacco products
- 17 Manufacture of textiles
- 18 Manufacture of wearing apparel; dressing and dyeing of fur
- 19 Tanning and dressing of leather; manufacture of luggage, handbags, saddlery, harness and footwear
- 20 Manufacture of wood and of products of wood and cork, except furniture; manufacture of articles of straw and plaiting materials
- 21 Manufacture of pulp, paper and paper products
- 22 Publishing, printing and reproduction of recorded media
- 23 Manufacture of coke, refined petroleum products and nuclear fuel
- 24 Manufacture of chemicals and chemical products
- 25 Manufacture of rubber and plastic products
- 26 Manufacture of other non-metallic mineral products
- 27 Manufacture of basic metals
- 28 Manufacture of fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment
- 29 Manufacture of machinery and equipment n.e.c.
- 30 Manufacture of office machinery and computers
- 31 Manufacture of electrical machinery and apparatus n.e.c.
- 32 Manufacture of radio, television and communication equipment and apparatus
- 33 Manufacture of medical, precision and optical instruments, watches and clocks
- 34 Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers
- 35 Manufacture of other transport equipment
- 36 Manufacture of furniture; manufacturing n.e.c.
- 37 Recycling

Section E Electricity, gas and water supply

- 40 Electricity, gas, steam and hot water supply
- 41 Collection, purification and distribution of water

Section F Construction

45 Construction

Section G Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles, motorcycles and personal and household goods

- 50 Sale, maintenance and repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles; retail sale of automotive fuel
- 51 Wholesale trade and commission trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles
- 52 Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles; repair of personal and household goods

Section H Hotels and restaurants

55 Hotels and restaurants

Section I Transport, storage and communication

- 60 Land transport; transport via pipelines
- 61 Water transport
- 62 Air transport
- 63 Supporting and auxiliary transport activities; activities of travel agencies
- 64 Post and telecommunications

Section J Financial intermediation

- 65 Financial intermediation, except insurance and pension funding
- 66 Insurance and pension funding, except compulsory social security
- 67 Activities auxiliary to financial intermediation

Section K Real estate, renting and business activities

- 70 Real estate activities
- 71 Renting of machinery and equipment without operator and of personal and household goods
- 72 Computer and related activities
- 73 Research and development
- 74 Other business activities

Section L Public administration and defence; compulsory social security

75 Public administration and defence; compulsory social security

- Section M Education
- 80 Education

Section N Health and social work

85 Health and social work

Section O Other community, social and personal service activities

- 90 Sewage and refuse disposal, sanitation and similar activities
- 91 Activities of membership organization n.e.c.
- 92 Recreational, cultural and sporting activities
- 93 Other service activities

Section P Private households with employed persons

95 Private households with employed persons

Section Q Extra-territorial organizations and bodies

99 Extra-territorial organizations and bodies

Annex A.2: International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-88 (COM)), 3-digit

100 Legislators, senior officials and managers

- 110 Legislators, senior officials and managers
- 111 Legislators and senior government officials
- 114 Senior officials of special-interest organisations
- 120 Corporate managers
- 121 Directors and chief executives
- 122 Production and operations managers
- 123 Other specialist managers

130 Managers of small enterprises

131 Managers of small enterprises

200 Professionals

- 210 Physical, mathematical and engineering science professionals
- 211 Physicists, chemists and related professionals
- 212 Mathematicians, statisticians and related professionals
- 213 Computing professionals
- 214 Architects, engineers and related professionals

220 Life science and health professionals

- 221 Life science professionals
- 222 Health professionals (except nursing)
- 223 Nursing and midwifery professionals

230 Teaching professionals

- 231 College, university and higher education teaching professionals
- 232 Secondary education teaching professionals
- 233 Primary and pre-primary education teaching professionals
- 234 Special education teaching professionals
- 235 Other teaching professionals

240 Other professionals

- 241 Business professionals
- 242 Legal professionals
- 243 Archivists, librarians and related information professionals
- 244 Social science and related professionals
- 245 Writers and creative or performing artists
- 246 Religious professionals
- 247 Public service administrative professionals

300 Technicians and associate professionals

310 Physical and engineering science associate professionals

- 311 Physical and engineering science technicians
- 312 Computer associate professionals
- 313 Optical and electronic equipment operators
- 314 Ship and aircraft controllers and technicians
- 315 Safety and quality inspectors

320 Life science and health associate professionals

- 321 Life science technicians and related associate professionals
- 322 Health associate professionals (except nursing)
- 323 Nursing and midwifery associate professionals

330 Teaching associate professionals

- 331 Primary education teaching associate professionals
- 332 Pre-primary education teaching associate professionals
- 333 Special education teaching associate professionals
- 334 Other teaching associate professionals

340 Other associate professionals

- 341 Finance and sales associate professionals
- 342 Business services agents and trade brokers
- 343 Administrative associate professionals
- 344 Customs, tax and related government associate professionals
- 345 Police inspectors and detectives
- 346 Social work associate professionals

- 347 Artistic, entertainment and sports associate professionals
- 348 Religious associate professionals

400 Clerks

410 Office clerks

- 411 Secretaries and keyboard-operating clerks
- 412 Numerical clerks
- 413 Material-recording and transport clerks
- 414 Library, mail and related clerks
- 419 Other office clerks

420 Customer services clerks

- 421 Cashiers, tellers and related clerks
- 422 Client information clerks

500 Service workers and shop and market sales workers

510 Personal and protective services workers

- 511 Travel attendants and related workers
- 512 Housekeeping and restaurant services workers
- 513 Personal care and related workers
- 514 Other personal services workers
- 516 Protective services workers

520 Models, sales persons and demonstrators

- 521 Fashion and other models
- 522 Shop, stall and market salespersons and demonstrators
- 600 Skilled agricultural and fishery workers

610 Skilled agricultural and fishery workers

- 611 Market gardeners and crop growers
- 612 Animal producers and related workers
- 613 Crop and animal producers
- 614 Forestry and related workers
- 615 Fishery workers, hunters and trappers

700 Craft and related trades workers

710 Extraction and building trades workers

- 711 Miners, shotfirers, stone cutters and carvers
- 712 Building frame and related trades workers
- 713 Building finishers and related trades workers
- 714 Painters, building structure cleaners and related trades workers

720 Metal, machinery and related trades workers

- 721 Metal moulders, welders, sheet-metal workers, structural-metal preparers, and related trades workers
- 722 Blacksmiths, tool-makers and related trades workers
- 723 Machinery mechanics and fitters
- 724 Electrical and electronic equipment mechanics and fitters

730 Precision, handicraft, craft printing and related trades workers

- 731 Precision workers in metal and related materials
- 732 Potters, glass-makers and related trades workers
- 733 Handicraft workers in wood, textile, leather and related materials
- 734 Craft printing and related trades workers

740 Other craft and related trades workers

- 741 Food processing and related trades workers
- 742 Wood treaters, cabinet-makers and related trades workers

- 743 Textile, garment and related trades workers
- 744 Pelt, leather and shoemaking trades workers

800 Plant and machine operators and assemblers

810 Stationary-plant and related operators

- 811 Mining and mineral-processing-plant operators
- 812 Metal-processing plant operators
- 813 Glass, ceramics and related plant operators
- 814 Wood-processing- and papermaking-plant operators
- 815 Chemical-processing-plant operators
- 816 Power-production and related plant operators
- 817 Industrial robot operators

820 Machine operators and assemblers

- 821 Metal- and mineral-products machine operators
- 822 Chemical-products machine operators
- 823 Rubber- and plastic-products machine operators
- 824 Wood-products machine operators
- 825 Printing-, binding- and paper-products machine operators
- 826 Textile-, fur- and leather-products machine operators
- 827 Food and related products machine operators
- 828 Assemblers
- 829 Other machine operators not elsewhere classified

830 Drivers and mobile plant operators

- 831 Locomotive engine drivers and related workers
- 832 Motor vehicle drivers
- 833 Agricultural and other mobile plant operators
- 834 Ships' deck crews and related workers

900 Elementary occupations

910 Sales and services elementary occupations

- 911 Street vendors and related workers
- 912 Shoe cleaning and other street services elementary occupations
- 913 Domestic and related helpers, cleaners and launderers
- 914 Building caretakers, window and related cleaners
- 915 Messengers, porters, doorkeepers and related workers
- 916 Garbage collectors and related labourers
- 920 Agricultural, fishery and related labourers
- 921 Agricultural, fishery and related labourers
- 930 Labourers in mining, construction, manufacturing and transport
- 931 Mining and construction labourers
- 932 Manufacturing labourers
- 933 Transport labourers and freight handlers
- 000 Armed forces
- 010 Armed forces

Annex A.3: Levels of Education and Training (ISCED 1997)

ISCED 0—**Pre-Primary Education**

Programs at level 0 (pre-primary), defined as the initial stage of organised instruction, are mainly designed to introduce very young children to a school-type environment, i.e. to provide a bridge between the home and a school based atmosphere. Upon completion of these programs, children continue their education at level 1 (primary education).
APPENDIX

ISCED 1 — Primary Education or First Stage of Basic Education

Programs at level 1 are normally designed on a unit or project basis to give students a sound basic education in reading, writing and mathematics along with an elementary understanding of other subjects such as history, geography, natural science, social science, art and music. In some cases religious instruction is featured. The core at this level consists of education provided for children, the customary or legal age of entrance being not younger than five years or older than seven years. This level covers, in principle, six years of full-time schooling.

ISCED 2 — Lower Secondary Education or Second Stage of Basic Education

The contents of education at this stage are typically designed to complete the provision of basic education which began at ISCED level 1. In many, if not most countries, the educational aim is to lay the foundation for lifelong learning and human development. The programs at this level are usually on a more subject oriented pattern using more specialised teachers and more often several teachers conducting classes in their field of specialisation. The full implementation of basic skills occurs at this level. The end of this level often coincides with the end of compulsory schooling where it exists.

ISCED 3 — (Upper) Secondary Education

This level of education typically begins at the end of full-time compulsory education for those countries that have a system of compulsory education. More specialisation may be observed at this level than at ISCED level 2 and often teachers need to be more qualified or specialised than for ISCED level 2. The entrance age to this level is typically 15 to 16 years. The educational programs included at this level typically require the completion of some 9 years of full-time education (since the beginning of level 1) for admission or a combination of education and vocational or technical experience.

ISCED 3A: Programs designed to provide direct access to ISCED 5A;

ISCED 3B: Programs designed to provide direct access to ISCED 5B;

ISCED 3C: Programs not designed to lead to ISCED 5A or 5B.

ISCED 4 — Post-Secondary Non-Tertiary Education

ISCED 4 captures programs that straddle the boundary between upper secondary and post-secondary education from an international point of view, even though they might clearly be considered as upper secondary or post-secondary programs in a national context. These programs can, considering their content, not be regarded as tertiary programs. They are often not significantly more advanced than programs at ISCED 3 but they serve to broaden the knowledge of participants who have already completed a program at level 3.

Typical examples are programs designed to prepare students for studies at level 5 who, although having completed ISCED level 3, did not follow a curriculum which would allow entry to level 5, i.e. pre-degree foundation courses or short vocational programs. Second cycle programs can be included as well.

ISCED 4A:	See text for ISCED 3A;
ISCED 4B:	See text for ISCED 3B;
ISCED 4C:	See text for ISCED 3C;

APPENDIX

ISCED 5 — First Stage of Tertiary Education (Not Leading Directly to an Advanced Research Qualification)

This level consists of tertiary programs having an educational content more advanced than those offered at levels 3 and 4. Entry to these programs normally requires the successful completion of ISCED level 3A or 3B or a similar qualification at ISCED level 4A. They do not lead to the award of an advanced research qualification (ISCED 6). These programs must have a cumulative duration of at least two years.

- ISCED 5A: Programs that are largely theoretically based and are intended to provide sufficient qualifications for gaining entry into advanced research programs and professions with high skills requirements.
- ISCED 5B: Programs that are practically oriented/occupationally specific and are mainly designed for participants to acquire the practical skills and know-how needed for employment in a particular occupation or trade or class of occupations or trades, the successful completion of which usually provides the participants with a labour market relevant qualification

ISCED 6 — Second Stage of Tertiary Education (Leading to an Advanced Research Qualification)

This level is reserved for tertiary programs which lead to the award of an advanced research qualification. The programs are therefore devoted to advanced study and original research and not based on course-work only. They typically require the submission of a thesis or dissertation of publishable quality which is the product of original research and represents a significant contribution to knowledge. They prepare graduates for faculty posts in institutions offering ISCED 5A programs, as well as research posts in government, industry, etc.



Figure A.1. Unemployment rates among female immigrants and the native-born, aged 18–64, in EU countries *Source*: EULFS, 1995–2000.





Figure A.2. Occupational status (ISEI) of female immigrants and the native-born, aged 18–64, in EU countries *Source*: EULFS, 1995–2000.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.	Unemployment rates of third-country immigrants	
-	and the native-born in selected countries, 1995-2000	2
Figure 2.1.	Job allocation process, illustration	10
Figure 2.2.	Influence of institutions on the job allocation process	
	of immigrants, illustration	20
Figure 3.1.	Proportion of immigrants, aged 18-64, in the EU countries	
	and their citizenship status	35
Figure 3.2.	Proportion of immigrants, aged 18-64, residing in the host	
	country for more than 10 years	36
Figure 3.3.	Percentage of men aged 18-64 in EU countries	41
Figure 3.4.	Proportion of legally married persons aged 18-64	
	in EU countries	41
Figure 3.5.	Trends in the educational attainment of immigrants by the time	
	of arrival in EU	45
Figure 4.1.	Employment rates in 1995–2000 for 18–64 years old persons	
	in the EU countries	51
Figure 4.2.	Employment in the service sector in 1995–2000 for 18–64	
	year-old persons in the EU countries	51
Figure 4.3.	Unemployment rates in 1995–2000 for 18- to 64-year-old	
	persons in the EU countries	52
Figure 4.4.	Proportion of unskilled and low-skilled among employed	
	immigrants and the native-born, aged 18-64, in EU countries,	
	1995–2000	54
Figure 4.5.	Self-employment rates among immigrants and the native-born	
	in EU countries	59
Figure 4.6.	Summary indicators of the strictness of employment protection	
	legislation in the late 1990s	62
Figure 6.1.	Unemployment rates among male immigrants	
	and the native-born, aged 18-64, in EU countries	85
Figure 6.2.	Occupational status (ISEI) of male immigrants	
	and the native-born, aged 18–64, in EU countries	86

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 6.3.	Labour market indicators (share of unskilled and low-skilled	
	jobs and EPL index) and relative employment disadvantage	
	of recent third-country immigrants (relative unemployment rate	
	among recent third-country immigrants as compared	
	to the native-born) in EU countries	95
Figure 7.1.	Cumulative distance to continuous employment among	
	native-born and immigrants in Germany and the UK	122
Figure 7.2a.	Labour market career sequences of native-born German men	
	according to cluster membership	128
Figure 7.2b.	Labour market career sequences of male immigrants	
	in Germany according to cluster membership	129
Figure 7.3a.	Labour market career sequences of native-born British men	
	according to cluster membership	130
Figure 7.3b.	Labour market career sequences of male immigrants in Great	
	Britain according to cluster membership	130
Figure 8.1.	Educational level of (ex-)Yugoslav immigrants in Austria	
	and Sweden, by immigration wave	169
Figure 8.2.	Predicted probabilities of labour force participation	
	for ex-Yugoslav immigrants and the native-born in Austria	
	and Sweden	174
Figure 8.3.	Predicted probabilities of unemployment for ex-Yugoslav	
	immigrants and the native-born in Austria and	
	Sweden	177
Figure 8.4.	Predicted ISEI scores for ex-Yugoslav immigrants	
	and the native-born in Austria and Sweden	179
Figure A.1.	Unemployment rates among female immigrants	
	and the native-born, aged 18-64, in EU countries	211
Figure A.2.	Occupational status (ISEI) of female immigrants	
	and the native-born, aged 18-64, in EU countries	212

Table 3.1.	Countries of the European Union and the main groups	
	of immigrants in the second half of the 20th century	30
Table 3.2.	Composition of immigrants in countries of the European	
	Union	38
Table 3.3a.	Deviation of the ages of immigrants from EU or other	
	western industrialised countries from the age distribution	
	of the native-born	42
Table 3.3b.	Deviation of the ages of third-country immigrants from the age	
	distribution of the native-born	42
Table 3.4.	Educational attainment of immigrants and the native-born in EU	
	countries (in percentages)	43
Table 4.1.	Immigrant-intensive industries in the EU countries	57
Table 5.1.	Unemployment welfare regimes and welfare state regulation	67
Table 6.1.	Hypotheses regarding the role of institutions in the labour	
	market outcomes of male third-country immigrants	
	in Europe	74
Table 6.2.	Bivariate correlation coefficients between macro-level variables	
	included in the analyses presented in Table 6.6a	80
Table 6.3.	Bivariate correlation coefficients between macro-level variables	
	included in the analyses presented in Table 6.7a	80
Table 6.4.	Bivariate correlation coefficients between macro-level variables	
	included in the analyses presented in Table 6.8a	80
Table 6.5.	Bivariate correlation coefficients between macro-level variables	
	included in the analyses presented in Table 6.9	81
Table 6.6a.	Macro-level effects of logistic two-level regression predicting	
	the log odds of being unemployed among men in European	
	Union countries, 1995–2000	88
Table 6.6b.	Individual-level effects of logistic two-level regression	
	predicting the log odds of being unemployed among men	
	in European Union countries, 1995–2000	89
Table 6.6c.	Variance components in logistic two-level regression predicting	
	the log odds of being unemployed among men in European	
	Union countries, 1995–2000	89

Table 6.7a.	Macro-level effects of logistic two-level regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed for recent third-country immigrants and the native-born in European Union countries,	
Table 6.7b.	1992–2000 Individual-level effects of logistic two-level regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed for recent third-country immigrants and for the native-born in European	92
	Union countries, 1992–2000	93
Table 6.7c.	Variance components in logistic two-level regression predicting the log odds of being unemployed among recent third-country immigrants and the native-born in European Union countries,	0.2
Table 6.8a.	Macro-level effects and variance components in the linear two-level regression predicting occupational status in European	93
Table 6.8b.	Union countries, 1995–2000 Individual-level effects of the linear two-level regression predicting occupational status in European Union countries.	97
	1995–2000	98
Table 6.9.	Macro- and individual-level effects, and variance components in the linear two-level regression predicting occupational status	
	of recent third-country immigrants compared to the native-born in European Union countries, 1992–2000	100
Table 6.10.	Effects of the macro-level variables on the third-country immigrants' inequality (slope) in unemployment risk and	100
	occupational status (summary)	102
Table 7.1.	Institutional factors affecting immigrant integration in Germany and Great Britain	102
Table 7.2.	Description of the datasets and sample selection	113
Table 7.3.	Description of the independent variables used	
	in the analyses	119
Table 7.4.	Effects on the distance to continuous employment among	123
Table 7.5.	Description of the employment career sequences of immigrants	123
	and the native-born in Germany and Great Britain	125
Table 7.6.	Cluster solution of employment career paths of men in Germany and the UK	127
Table 7.7.	Predicted probabilities of cluster membership for immigrants and the native-born in Germany and the UK	131
Table 7.8.	Results (unstandardised coefficients and robust	-
	standard errors) from a piecewise constant exponential model on transition from unemployment to white-collar	
	employment for men, 25-55 years old, in Germany	
	and the UK	135

Table 7.9.	Results (unstandardised coefficients and robust standard errors) from a piecewise constant exponential model on transition from unemployment to skilled or technical employment for men,	120
Table 7.10.	25–55 years old, in Germany and the UK Results (unstandardised coefficients and robust standard errors) from a piecewise constant exponential model on transition from unemployment to unskilled employment for men, 25–55 years	138
Table 7.11.	old in Germany and the UK Effects of German language knowledge and citizenship upon the risk of exiting unemployment for men, 25–55 years old,	141
Table 7.12.	in Germany Effects of immigrant group membership upon the chance of exiting unemployment for men, 25–55 years old, in Germany	143
	and Great Britain	145
Table 7.13.	Effects upon the risk of exiting paid employment	
	to unemployment, for men, 25–55 years old, in Germany	147
Table 7.14.	Effects upon the risk of exiting paid employment	
	to unemployment, for men, 25–55 years old, in the UK	148
Table 8.1.	Institutional factors relevant to immigrant integration in Austria	
	and Sweden	158
Table 8.2.	Description of the variables used in the multivariate analysis	165
Table 8.3.	Socio-demographic and labour market characteristics	
	of ex-Yugoslav citizens and the indigenous populations, aged	
	21-64, Sweden and Austria	167
Table 8.4.	Effects (unstandardised coefficients and robust standard errors)	
	of logistic regression predicting the log odds of labour force	
	participation (vs. inactivity) in Sweden and Austria	172
Table 8.5.	Effects (unstandardised coefficients and standard errors)	
	of logistic regression predicting the log odds of being	
	unemployed and of the occupational status (measured against	
	ISEI scale) in Sweden and Austria	176
Table A.1.	Income and work eligibility of asylum seekers in EU	
	countries	197
Table A.2.	Requirements for naturalisation in EU countries	
	and naturalisation rates	199
Table A.3.	General information and details on sampling procedures	
	and data collection of the EULFS in countries-participants	200
Table A.4.	The full version of the EGP class schema	202
Table A.5.	The CASMIN schema of educational qualifications	203
Table A.6a.	Results of the multinomial logistic regression predicting cluster	
	membership for immigrants in Germany	204
Table A.6b.	Results of the multinomial logistic regression predicting cluster	
	membership for immigrants in the UK	204

Annex A.1.	Statistical Classification of Economic Activities	
	(NACE 2-digit)	205
Annex A.2.	International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-88	
	(COM)), 3-digit	206
Annex A.3.	Levels of Education and Training (ISCED 1997)	209

Abbott, A. (1995), 'A Comment on "Measuring the Agreement Between Sequences"', Sociological Methods & Research, vol. 24(2), pp. 232-243.

Abbott, A. and Forrest, J. (1986), 'Optimal Matching Methods for Historical Sequences', *Journal of Interdisciplinary History*, vol. 16(3), pp. 471–494.

Abbott, A. and Hrycak, A. (1990), 'Measuring Resemblance in Sequence Data: An Optimal Matching Analysis of Musicians' Careers', *American Journal of Sociology*, vol. 96(1), pp. 144–185.

Abbott, A. and Tsay, A. (2000), 'Sequence Analysis and Optimal Matching Methods in Sociology', *Sociological Methods & Research*, vol. 29(1), pp. 3–33.

Abbring, J., van den Berg, G. and van Ours, J. (1997), 'Business Cycles and Compositional Variation in US Unemployment', *CEPR Discussion Paper* no. 1702, London, Centre for Economic Policy Research.

Aigner, D. J., and Cain, G. G. (1977), 'Statistical Theories of Discrimination in Labor Markets', *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, vol. 30, pp. 175–187.

Aldrich, H. E. and Waldinger, R. (1990), 'Ethnicity and Entrepreneurship', *Annual Review of Sociology*, vol. 16, pp. 111–135.

Allison, P. D. (1984), Event History Analysis. Regression for Longitudinal Event Data, Sage, Beverly Hills.

Allison, P. D. (1999), 'Comparing Logit and Probit Coefficients across Groups', *Sociological Method and Research*, vol. 28(2), pp. 186–208.

Allmendinger, J. (1994), Lebensverlauf and Sozialpolitik. Die Ungleichheit von Mann und Frau und ihr öffentliche Ertrag, Campus Verlag, Frankfurt und New York.

Allmendinger, J. und Hinz, T. (1997), 'Mobilität und Lebensverlauf: Deutschland, Großbritannien und Schweden im Vergleich', in Hradil, S. und Immerfall, S. (Hrsg.), *Die westeuropäischen Gesellschaften im Vergleich*, Leske und Budrich, Opladen, S. 247–285.

Allmendinger, J. and Hinz, T. (1998), 'Occupational Careers under Different Welfare Regimes: West Germany, Great Britain and Sweden', in Leisering, L. and Walker, R. (eds), *The Dynamics of Modern Society. Poverty, Policy and Welfare*, The Policy Press, Bristol, pp. 63–84.

Andersen, J. G. and Halvorsen, K. (2002), 'Unemployment, Welfare Policies and Citizenship: Different Paths in Western Europe', in Andersen, J. G. and Jensen P. H. (eds), *Changing Labour Markets, Welfare Policies and Citizenship*, The Policy Press, Bristol, pp. 107–128.

Angenendt, S. (ed.) (1999), Asylum and Migration Policies in the European Union. Research Institute of the German Society for Foreign Affairs (DGAP), Berlin.

Aparicio, R. and Tornos, A. (2003), 'Towards an Analysis of Spanish Integration Policy', in Heckmann, F. and Schnapper, D. (eds), *The Integration of Immigrants in European Societies*, Lucius & Lucius, Stuttgart, pp. 213–252.

Arango, J. (2000), 'Explaining migration', International Social Science Journal, vol. 165, pp. 283-297.

Arrow, K. J. (1972), 'Some Mathematical Models of Race Discrimination in the Labor Market', in Pascal, A. H. (ed.), *Racial Discrimination in Economic Life*, D. C. Heath, Lexington, pp. 187–203.

Arrow, K. J. (1973), 'The Theory of Discrimination', in Aschenfelter, O. and Rees, A. (eds), *Discrimination in Labor Markets*, Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp. 3–33.

Arrow, K. J. (1998), 'What Has Economics to Say about Racial Discrimination?', Journal of Economic Perspectives, vol. 12, pp. 91–100.

Bacher, J. (1996), Clusteranalyse, Oldenbourg, München, Wien.

Baker, M. and Benjamin, D. (1995), 'The Receipt of Transfer Payments by Immigrants to Canada', *Journal of Human Resources*, vol. 30(4), pp. 650–676.

Baldwin-Edwards, M. (1991), 'Immigration after 1992', Policy and Politics, vol. 19(3), pp. 199-211.

Baldwin-Edwards, M. (2004), 'Immigrants and the Welfare State in Europe', in Massey, D. S. and Taylor, J. E. (eds), *International Migration: prospects and Policies in a Global Market*, Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 318–334.

Barett, N. S. and Morgenstern, R. D. (1974), 'Why Do Blacks and Women Have High Unemployment Rates?', *Journal of Human Resources*, vol. 9, pp. 452–464.

Bauböck, R. (1996), "Nach Rasse and Sprache verschieden": Migrationspolitik in Österreich von der Monarchie bis heute', Political Science Series 31, Institute for Advanced Studies, Vienna.

Bauböck, R. (2000), 'Immigration Control without Integration Policy: An Austrian Dilemma', in Brochmann, G. and Hammar, T. (eds) *Mechanisms of Immigration Control: A Comparative Analysis of European Regulation Policies*, Berg, Oxford, pp. 97–135.

Becker, G. S. (1962), 'Investment in Human Capital. A Theoretical Analysis', *The Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 70, pp. 9–49.

Becker, G. S. (1964), Human Capital. A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis with Special References to Education, Columbia University Press, New York and London.

Becker, G. S. (1971), The Economics of Discrimination, 2nd ed, University Press, Chicago.

Bender, S. und Seifert, W. (2000), 'Zur beruflichen und sozialen Integration der in Deutschland lebenden Ausländer', in Alba, R., Schmidt, P. und Wasmer, M. (Hrsg.), *Deutsche und Ausländer: Freunde, Fremde oder Feinde?*, Westdeutscher Verlag, Wiesbaden, S. 55–93.

Bender, S., Bert R., Seifert, W. und Sesselmeier, W. (2000), 'Migration und Arbeitsmarkt', in Bade, K. J. and Münz, R. (Hrsg.) *Migrationsreport 2000. Fakten – Analysen – Perspektiven*, Campus Verlag, Frankfurt, New York, S. 59–85.

Berger, K.U. (2000), Migration and Integration. Leske und Budrich, Opladen.

Bergmark, Å. and Bäckman, O. (2004), 'Stuck with Welfare? Long-term Social Assistance Recipiency in Sweden', *European Sociological Review*, vol. 20(5), pp. 425–443.

Berthoud, R. (2000), 'Ethnic Employment Penalties in Britain', Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, vol. 26(3), pp. 389-416.

Bertola, G. (1999), 'Microeconomic Perspectives on Aggregate Labor Markets', in Aschenfelter, O. and Card, D. (eds) *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Volume III, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 2985–3028.

Bevelander, P. (1999), 'The Employment Integration of Immigrants in Sweden', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, vol. 25(3), pp. 445–68.

Bevelander, P. (2000), *Immigrant Employment Integration and Structural Change in Sweden*, 1970–1995, Lund Studies in Economic History 15, Almqvist & Wiksell International, Lund.

Birrell, R. and Birrell, T. (1987), An Issue of People: Population and Australian Society, 2nd ed, Longman Cheshire, Melbourne.

Blackaby, D., Drinkwater, S., Leslie, D. and Murphy, P. (1999), 'Ethnic Difference in Labour Market Transitions: An Exploration Using the British Household Panel Survey', *Applied Economics Letters*, vol. 6, pp. 463–466.

Blanchard, O. J. and Diamond, P. (1994), 'Ranking, Unemployment Duration, and Wages', *The Review of Economic Studies*, vol. 61(3), pp. 417–434.

Blau, F. D. and Kahn, L. M. (1999), 'Institutions and Laws in the Labor Market', in Ashenfelter, O. and Card, D. (eds), *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Volume IIIa, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 1399–1461.

Bloch, A. (2002), The Migration and Settlement of Refugees in Britain, Palgrave Macmillan, New York.

Blos, M., Fischer, P.A. and Staubhaar, T. (1997), 'The Impact of Migration Policy on the Labour Market Performance of Migrants: A Comparative Case Study', *New Community*, vol. 23(4), pp. 511–535.

Bloom, D. E. and Gunderson, M. (1990), 'An Analysis of the Earnings of Canadian Immigrants', in Freeman, R. and Abowd, J. M. (eds), *Immigration, Trade, and Labor Market*, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp. 321–345.

Blossfeld, H-P. and Rohwer, G. (1995), *Techniques of Event History Modeling: New Approaches to Causal Analysis.* Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers. New Jersey, Mahwah.

Bonacich, E. (1972), 'A Theory of Ethnic Antagonism: The Split Labor Market', *American Sociological Review*, vol. 37, pp. 547–559.

Bonacich, E. (1987), "Making it" in America: A Social Evaluation of the Ethnics of Immigrant Entrepreneurship', *Sociological Perspectives*, vol. 30, pp. 446–466.

Bonacich, E. and Modell, J. (1980), *The Economic Basis of Ethnic Solidarity. Small Business in the Japanese American Community*, University of California Press, Berkeley.

Borjas, G. J. (1985), 'Assimilation, Changes in Cohort Quality, and the Earnings of Immigrants', *Journal of Labor Economics*, vol. 3(4), pp. 463–489.

Borjas, G. J. (1986), 'The Self-Employment Experience of Immigrants', *Journal of Human Resources*, vol. 21, pp. 485–506.

Borjas, G. J. (1987), 'Self-Selection and the Earnings of Immigrants', *The American Economic Review*, vol. 77, pp. 531–553.

Borjas, G. J. (1988), International Differences in the Labor Market Performance of Immigrants, W.E. Upjohn Institute, Kalamazoo, MI.

Borjas, G. J. (1989), 'Economic Theory and International Migration', *International Migration Review*, vol. 23(3), pp. 457–485.

Borjas, G. J. (1990), Friends or Strangers: The Impact of Immigration on the US Economy. Basic Books.

Borjas, G. J. (1993), 'Immigration Policy, National Origin, and Immigration Skills: A Comparison of Canada and the United States', in Card, D. and Freeman, R. B. (eds), *Small Differences that Matter: Labor Markets and Income Maintenance in Canada and the United States*, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp. 21–43.

Borjas, G. J. (1994a), 'The Economics of Immigration', Journal of Economic Literature, vol. 32, pp. 1667–1717.

Borjas, G. J. (1994b), 'Immigration and Welfare, 1970–1990', NBER Working Paper Series 4872.

Borjas, G. J. (1999), 'Immigration and Welfare Magnets', Journal of Labor Economics, vol. 17, pp. 607-637.

Borjas, G. J. and Hilton, L. (1996), 'Immigration and the Welfare State: Immigration and the Welfare State: Immigrant Participation in Means-Tested Entitlement Programs', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 61(2), pp. 575–604.

Borowski, A. and Nash, A. (1994), 'Business Migration', in Adleman, H., Borowski, A., Burstein, M. and Foster, L. (eds), *Immigration and Refugee Policy*, volume I, University of Toronto Press, Toronto and Buffalo, pp. 227–255.

Böhning, W. R. (1996), 'Labour Market Integration in Western and Northern Europe: Which Way are we Heading?', in Böhning, W.R. and Zegers de Beijl, R. *The Integration of Migrant Workers in the Labour market: Policies and their Impact.* International Migration Papers 8, International Labour Office, Geneva.

Brauns, H. and Steinmann, S. (1997), 'Educational Reform in France, West-Germany, the United Kingdom and Hungary: Updating the CASMIN Educational classification', *MZES Working Paper* 21. Mannheim.

Breton, R. (1988), 'From Ethnic to Civic Nationalism: English Canada and Quebec', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, vol. 11(1), pp. 85–102.

Briggs, V. M. Jr. (1996), 'International Migration and Labour Mobility: The Receiving Countries', in van den Broeck, J. (ed.), *The Economics of Labour Migration*. Edwar Elgar.

Brinbaum, Y. and Werquin, P. (1998), 'Transitions into the Labour Markets of Young People from Immigrant Families: Differentiated Pathways', in Raffe, D., van der Velden, R. and Werquin, P. (eds), *Education, the Labour Market and Transitions in Youth: Cross-National Perspectives*, Proceedings of the 1998 European Workshop, Edinburgh, pp. 147–164.

Brubaker, R. W. (1989), 'Membership without Citizenship: The Economic and Social Rights of Noncitizens' in Brubaker, R. W. (ed.) Immigration and the Politics of Citizenship in Europe and North America. The German

Marshall Fund of the United States. University Press of America. Lanham, New York, London, pp. 145-162.

Brüderl, J. and Klein, T. (2002), 'Die Pluralisierung partnerschaftlicher Lebensformen im Kohortenvergleich', in Marbach, J. and Bien, W. (Hrsg.), *Partnerschaft und Familiengründung: Wandel und Entwicklung familialer Lebensformen in Deutschland*, Leske und Budrich, Opladen, S. 189–217.

Brüderl, J. and Scherer, S. (2004), 'Methoden zur Analyse von Sequenzdaten', in Diekmann, A. (Hrsg.) *Methoden der Sozialforschung.* Sonderheft der Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 4, S. 330–347.

Brückner, H. and Rohwer, G. (1996), Geschlechtsspezifische Unterschiede in den Erwerbsverläufen der Geburtskohorte 1960. Mimeo.

Bryk, A. S., and Raudenbush, S. W. (1992), Hierarchical Linear Models, Sage, Newbury Park.

Cachón, L. (1999), 'Immigrants in Spain: From Institutional Discrimination to Labour Market Segmentation', in Wrench J., Rea, A. and Ouali, N. (eds), *Migrants, Ethnic Minorities and the Labour Market: Integration and Exclusion in Europe*, Macmillan Press Ltd, pp. 174–194.

Cain, G. G. (1976), 'The Challenge of Segmented Labor Market Theories to Orthodox Theory: A Survey', *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol. 14(4), pp. 1215–1257.

Campani, G. and Carchedi, F. (1999), 'Seasonal Work in Italy: Flexibility and Regularization', in Wrench, J., Rea, A. and Ouali, N. (eds), *Migrants, Ethnic Minorities and the Labour Market: Integration and Exclusion in Europe*, Macmillan Press Ltd, pp. 155–174.

Carliner, G. (2000), 'The Language Ability of U.S. Immigrants: Assimilation and Cohort Effects', *International Migration Review*, vol. 34(1), pp. 158–182.

Castles, S. (1989), *Migrant Workers and the Transformation of Western Societies*, Paper no. 22, Center for International Studies, Western Societies Program, Cornell University, Ithaca.

Castles, S. and Davidson, A. (2000), *Citizenship and Migration: Globalization and the Politics of Belonging*, Palgrave.

Castles, S. and Kosack, G. (1985), *Immigrant Workers and Class Structure in Western Europe*, 2nd ed, Oxford University Press, London.

Castles, S. and Miller, M. J. (1998), *The Age of Migration: International Population Movements in the Modern World*, 2nd ed, Macmillan, London, Guilford Books, New York.

Castronova, E. J., Kayser, H., Frick, J. R. and Wagner, G. G. (2001), 'Immigrants, Natives and Social Assistance: Comparable Take-Up Under Comparable Circumstances', *International Migration Review*, vol. 35(3), pp. 726–748.

Cheng, Y. (1994), Education and Class: Chinese in Britain and the United States, Averby, Aldershot.

Cheng, L., and Yang, P. Q. (1998), 'Global Interaction, Global Inequality, and Migration of the Highly Trained to the United States', *International Migration Review*, vol. 32(3), pp. 626–653.

Chiswick, B. R. (1978), 'The Effect of Americanisation on the Earnings of Foreign-Born Men', *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 86(5), pp. 897–921.

Chiswick, B. R. (1979), 'The Economic Progress of Immigrants: Some Apparently Universal Patterns', in Fellner, W. (ed.), *Contemporary Economic Problems*, American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research, Washington, DC, pp. 357–399.

Chiswick, B. R. (1991), 'Speaking, Reading, and Earnings among Low-Skilled Immigrants', *Journal of Labor Economics*, vol. 9, pp. 149–170.

Chiswick, B. R. (2000), 'Are immigrants Favorably Self-Selected?', in Brettell, C. B. and Hollifield, J. F. (eds), *Migration Theory: Talking across Disciplines*, Routledge, New York and London, pp. 61–77.

Chiswick, B. R. and Miller, P. W. (1992), 'Language in the Immigrant Labor Market', in Chiswick, B.R. (ed.), *Immigration, Language and Ethnicity: Canada and the United States*, American Enterprise Institute, Washington, pp. 229–296.

Chiswick, B. R. and Miller, P. W. (1996), 'Ethnic Networks and Language Proficiency among Immigrants', *Journal of Population Studies*, vol. 9, pp. 19–35.

Chiswick, B. R. and Miller, P. W. (2002), 'Immigrant Earnings: Language Skills, Linguistic Concentration and the Business Cycle', *Demography*, vol. 38, pp. 391–409.

Chiswick, B. R., Cohen, Y., Zach T. (1997), 'The Labor Market Status of Immigrants: Effects of the Unemployment Rate at Arrival and Duration of Residence', *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, vol. 50(2), pp. 289–303.

Chiswick, B. R. and Hurst, M. E. (2000), 'The Employment, Unemployment and Unemployment Compensation Benefits of Immigrants', *IZA Discussion Paper*, no. 129, Berlin.

Cohen, Y. and Haberfeld, Y. (2003), Patterns of Self-selection and Earnings Assimilation of Immigrants from the Former Soviet Union in Israel. ISA RC 28 Conference. New York. Mimeo

Coleman, J. S. (1991), 'Matching Processes in the Labor Market', Acta Sociologica, vol. 34, pp. 3-12.

Cross, M. (ed.) (1987), Racial Minorities and Industrial Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Crul, M. and Vermeulen, H. (2003), 'The Second Generation in Europe', International Migration Review, vol. 37(3), pp. 965–986.

Currle, E. (2004), Migration in Europa - Daten und Hintergründe. Lucius & Lucius, Stuttgart.

Daly, M. (2000), 'A Fine Balance. Women's Labor Market Participation in International Comparison', in Scharpf, F. W. and Schmidt, V. (eds), *Welfare und Work in the Open Economy Volume II Diverse Response to Common Challenges*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 467–510.

De Beijl, R. Z. (2000), 'Documenting Discrimination against Migrant Workers in the Labour Market', International labour office, Geneva.

De Prada, M. A., Actis, W. and Pereda, C. (2000), 'The Occurrence of Discrimination in Spain', in de Beiji, R. Z. (ed.), *Documenting Discrimination against Migrant Workers in the Labour Market. A Comparative Study of Four European countries*, International Labour Office, Geneva, pp. 77–89.

DeFreitas, G. (1988), 'Hispanic Immigration and Labor market Segmentation', *Industrial Relations*, vol. 27(2), pp. 195–214.

DeRosa, J. D. (1995), 'The Immigrant Investor Program: Cleaning up Canada's Act', *Case Western Reserve Journal of International Law*, vol. 27(2/3), 359–406.

Devine, T. J., and Kiefer, N. M. (1991), *Empirical Labor Economics: The Search Approach*, Oxford University Press, New York.

Dickens, W. and Lang, K. (1985), 'A Test of Dual Labor Market Theory', *American Economic Review*, vol. 75, pp. 792–805.

DiPrete, T. A. (2001), Life Chances, Life Course Risks and Adjustment Strategies: Towards and Expanded Agenda of Mobility Research. ISA RC28 Conference. Mannheim. Mimeo.

DIW (2003), http://www.diw.de/deutsch/sop/soeplit

Doeringer, P. B. and Piore, M. J. (1971), Internal Labor Markets and Manpower Analysis, Lexington, Heath.

Doomernik, J. (1998), The effectiveness of integration policies towards immigrants and their descendants in France, Germany and the Netherlands, ILO, Geneva.

Drew, E., Ruth, E. and Mahon, E. (eds) (1998), Women, Work and the Family in Europe, Routledge, London and New York.

Drinkwater, S., Leslie, D., and O'Leary, N. (1998), 'Unemployment and Earnings among Britains's Ethnic Minorities: Some Signs for Optimism', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, vol. 24(3), pp. 489–506.

Dustmann, C. (2000), 'Temporary Migration and Economic Assimilation', IZA Discussion Paper, no. 186.

Dustman, C. and Fabbri, F. (2000), 'Language Proficiency and labour marker performance of immigrants in the UK'. *IZA Discussion Paper* 156, Bonn.

Ekberg, J. (1990), 'Immigrants – their Economic and Social Mobility', in Persson, I. (ed.) *Generating Equality in the Welfare State. The Swedish Experience*, Norwegian University Press, Oslo, pp. 289–313.

Engelen, E. (2003), 'Conceptualizing Economic Incorporation. From "Institutional Linkages" to "Institutional Hybrids", *The Center for Migration and Development Working Paper* 03–09b.

England, P. (1992), Comparable Worth. Theories and Evidence, de Gruyter, New York.

Erikson, R. and Goldthorpe, J. H. (1992), The Constant Flux: A Study of Class Mobility in Industrial Societies, Clarendon Press, Oxford.

Erzberger, C. (2001), 'Sequenzmusteranalyse als fallorientierte Analysestrategie', in Sackmann, R. und Wingens, M. (Hrsg.), *Strukturen des Lebenslaufs: Übergang – Sequenz – Verlauf*, Juventa Verlag, Weinheim and München, pp. 135–162.

Esping-Andersen, G. (1990), Three worlds of welfare capitalism. Polity Press. Cambridge.

Esping-Andersen, G. (1999), Social Foundations of Postindustrial Economies. Oxford University press, Oxford.

Esping-Andersen, G. (2000), 'Regulation and Context: Reconsidering the Correlates of Unemployment', in Esping-Andersen, G. and Regini, M. (eds), *Why Deregulate Labour Markets?*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 99–114.

Esping-Andersen, G. and Regini, M. (2000), Why Deregulate Labour Markets?, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Esping-Andersen, G., Rohwer, G. and Søresen, S. L. (1994), 'Institutions and Occupational Class Mobility: Scaling the Skill Barrier in the Danish Labour Market', *European Sociological Review*, vol. 10, pp. 119–134.

Esser, H. (1980), Aspekte der Wanderungssoziologie, Luchterhand, Darmstadt und Neuwied.

Esser, H. (1999), Soziologie. Spezielle Grundlagen. Band 1: Situationslogik und Handeln, Campus, Frankfurt a. M.

Esser, H. (2004), 'Does the "New" Immigration Require a "New" Theory of Intergenerational Integration?', *International Migration Review*,vol. 38(3), pp. 1126–1159.

Eurostat (1992), Labour force survey: Methods and Definitions, Eurostat, Luxembourg.

Eurostat (1996), Labour force survey: Methods and Definitions, Eurostat, Luxembourg.

Eurostat (1998), Labour force survey: Methods and Definitions, Eurostat, Luxembourg.

Eurostat (2000), European Social Statistics: Migration. European Commission.

Faist, T. (1996), 'Immigration, Integration, and the Welfare State: Germany and the USA in a Comparative Perspective', in Bauböck, Rainer, Heller, Agnes and Aristide R. Zolberg (eds), *The Change of Diversity: Integration and Pluralism in Societies of Immigration*, Averby, Aldershot, pp. 227–258.

Farber, H. (1993), 'The Incidence and Costs of Job Loss: 1982–1991', *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 2, pp. 73–132.

Fassmann, H. (1999), 'Austria', in Angenendt, S. (ed.), *Asylum and Migration Policies in the European Union*, Research Institute of the German Society for Foreign Affairs, Berlin, pp. 65–87.

Fassmann, H. and Münz, R. (1994), 'Austria: a Country of Immigration and Emigration', in Fassmann, H. and Münz, R. (eds), *European Migration in the Late Twentieth Century*, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp. 149–169.

Fassmann, H. and Münz, R. (1995), 'European East-West Migration, 1945–1992', in Cohen, R. (ed.), *The Cambridge Survey of World Migration*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 470–81.

Fassmann, H., Münz, R. and Seifert, W. (1999), 'Was wurde aus den Gastarbeitern? Türken und (Ex)Jugoslawen in Deutschland und Österreich', *Demographische Informationen*, 1997/1999, pp. 57–70.

Fishelson, G., Weiss, Y. and Mark, N. (1980), 'Ethnic Origin and Income Differentials among Israeli Males, 1969–1976', in Asher, A. (ed.), *Israel: A Developing Society*, Van Gorcum, Assen, pp. 253–276.

Flanagan, R. J. (1973), 'Segmented Market Theories and Racial Discrimination', *Industrial Relations*, vol. 12, pp. 410–431.

Freeman, G. P. and Ögelman, N. (2000), 'State Regulatory Regimes and Immigrants' Informal Economic Activity', in Rath, J. (ed.), *Immigrant Business: The Economic, Political and Social Environment*, Macmillan Press, London, pp. 107–124.

Frick, J., Büchel, F. and Voges, W. (1996), 'Sozialhilfe als Integrationshilfe für Zuwanderer in Deutschland', *DIW-Wochenbericht*, 63(48), pp. 767–775.

Friedberg, R. M. (2000), 'You Can't Take It with You? Immigrant Assimilation and the Portability of Human Capital', *Journal of Labor Economics*, vol. 18, pp. 221–251.

Gallie, D. and Paugam, S. (eds), (2000), Welfare Regimes and the Experience of Unemployment in Europe, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Gangl, M. (2003), Unemployment Dynamics in the United States and West Germany: Economic Restructuring, Institutions, and Labour Market Processes, Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Ganßmann, H. (2000), 'Labor Market Flexibility, Social Protection and Unemployment', *European Societies*, vol. 2, pp. 243–269.

Ganzeboom, H. B. G., De Graaf, P. M. and Treiman, D. J. (1992), 'A Standard International Socio-Economic Index of Occupational Status', *Social Science Research*, vol. 21(1), pp. 1–56.

Ganzeboom, H. B. G. and Treiman, D. J. (1996), 'Internationally Comparable Measures of Occupational Status for the 1988 International Standard Classification of Occupations', *Social Science Research*, vol. 25(3), pp. 201–239.

Giesecke, J. and Groß, M. (2003), 'Temporary Employment: Chance or Risk?', *European Sociological Review*, vol. 19(2), pp. 161–177.

Gillmeister, H., Kurthen, H. and Fijalkowski, J. (1989), Ausländerbeschäftigung in der Krise? Die Beschäftigungschancen und -risiken ausländischer Arbeitnehmer am Beispiel der West-Berliner Industrie, Edition Sigma, Berlin.

Goldstein, H. (1995), Multilevel Statistical Models, Edward Arnold, London.

Goldthorpe, J. H. (1997), 'Current Issues in Comparative Macrosociology: A Debate on Methodological Issues', *Comparative Social Research*, vol. 16, pp. 1–26.

Gomolla, M. and Radtke F.-O. (2000), 'Mechanismen institutionalisierter Diskriminierung in der Schule', in Godolin, I. und Nauck, B. (Hrsg.), *Migration, gesellschaftliche Differenzierung und Bildung: Resultate des Forschungsschwerpunktprogramms FABER*, Leske und Budrich, Opladen, S. 321–244.

Gordon, A. D. (1999), Classification, 2nd ed, Chapman and Hall, London, New York.

Granato, N. and Kalter, F. (2001), 'Die Persistenz ethnischer Ungleichheit auf dem deutschen Arbeitsmarkt', Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie and Sozialpsychologie, vol. 53(3), S. 497–520.

Granato, N. (2003), Ethnische Ungleichheit auf dem deutschen Arbeitsmarkt, Leske and Budrich, Opladen.

Gras, M. and Bovenkerk, F. (1999), 'Migrants and Ethnic Minorities in the Netherlands: Discrimination in Access to Employment', in Wrench, J., Rea, A. and Ouali, N. (eds), *Migrants, Ethnic Minorities and the Labour Market: Integration and Exclusion in Europe*, Centre for Research in Ethnic Relations, University of Warwick.

Guild, E. (2001), 'Immigration Law in the European Community', in Guild, E. and Niessen, J. (eds), *Immigration and Asylum Law and Policy in Europe*, Kluwer Law International, The Hague, London, Boston.

Hall, A. (2001), 'Berufliche Karrieremobilität in Deutschland und Großbritannien. Sind Frauen benachteiligt?', in Berger P.A. und Konietzka, D. (Hrsg.), *Neue Ungleichheiten der Erwerbsgesellschaft*, Leske und Budrich, Opladen, S. 213–252.

Halpin, B. (1997), 'Unified BHPS Work Histories. Combining Multiple Sources in a User-Friendly Format', *ESRC Technical Paper*, University of Essex, Essex.

Halpin, B. (2000), BHPS Work-life History Files, Version 2, University of Essex, Mimeo.

Halpin, B. and Chan, T. W. (1998), 'Class Careers as Sequences: An Optimal Matching Analysis of Work-Life Histories', *European Sociological Review*, vol. 14(2), pp. 111–130.

Hammar, T. (2000), 'Closing the Doors to the Welfare State', in Brochmann, G. and Hammar, T. (eds), *Mechanisms of Immigration Control: A Comparative Analysis of European Regulation Policies*, Berg, Oxford, pp. 97–135.

Hammarstedt, M. (2000), 'The Receipt of Transfer Payment by Immigrants in Sweden', *International Migration*, vol. 38(2), pp. 239–268.

Hansen, J. and Lofstrom, M. (1999), 'Immigration and Welfare Participation: Do Immigrants Assimilate into or out-of Welfare?' *IZA Discussion Paper*, no. 155, IZA, Bonn.

Hatton, T. J. and Wheatley Price, S. (1999), 'Migration, Migrants and Policy in the United Kingdom', IZA Discussion Paper, no. 81, Bonn.

Haug, S. (2000), 'Klassische und neuere Theorien der Migration', MZES Arbeitspapier, no. 30, Mannheim.

Heath, A. (Ed.) (2007), Unequal Chances: Ethnic Minorities in Western Labour Markets. Oxford University Press, Oxford (forthcoming).

Heath, A., McMahon, D., Roberts, J. (1999), 'Ethnic Differences in the Labour Market: A Comparison of the SARs and LFS', *CREST Working Paper*, no. 71.

Heath, A. and McMahon, D. (2000), 'Ethnic Differences in Labour market: The Role of Education and Social Class Origins', *Sociology Working Papers*, no.1.

Heath, A. and Ridge, J. (1983), 'Social Mobility of Ethnic Minorities', *Journal of Biosocial Science Supplement*, vol. 8, pp. 169–184.

Heckmann, F. and Schnapper, D. (2003), 'Introduction', in Heckmann, F. and Schnapper, D. (eds), *The Integration of Immigrants in European Societies*, Lucius & Lucius, Stuttgart, pp. 9–15.

Hjerm, M. (2004), 'Immigrant Entrepreneurship in the Swedish Welfare State', *Sociology*, vol. 38(4), pp. 739–756.

Hillmert, S. (2001), Aubildungssysteme und Arbeitsmarkt, Westdeutscher Verlag, Wiesbaden.

ILO (International Labour Organisation) (1990), Statistical Sources and Methods, iii: Economically Active Population, Employment, Unemployment and Hours of Work (Household Surveys), 2nd edition, ILO, Geneva.

IOM (International Organization for Migration) (2000), World Migration Report 2000. United Nations.

Jasso, G. and Rosenzweig, M. (1990), *The New Chosen People: Immigrants in the United States*, Russell Sage Foundation, New York.

Jasso, G., Massey, D. S., Rosenzweig, M. R., Smith, J. P. (2003), 'The New Immigrant Szrvey in the US: The Experience over Time', www.migrationinformation. org.

Jones, T. (1993), Britain's Ethnic Minorities, Policy Studies Institute, London.

Jordan, B. and Düvell, F. (2002), *Irregular Migration: The Dilemmas of Transnational Mobility*, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, Northampton.

Kalleberg, A. L. and Søresen, A. B. (1979), 'The Sociology of Labor Markets', Annual Review of Sociology, vol. 5, pp. 351–379.

Kalter, F. (2003), Chancen, Fouls and Abseitsfallen. Migranten im deutschen Ligenfussball, Westdeutscher Verlag, Wiesbaden.

Kalter, F. and Granato, N. (2002), 'Demographic Change, Educational Expansion, and Structural Assimilation of Immigrants: The Case of Germany', *European Social Review*, vol. 18 (2), pp. 199–216.

Kalter, F. and Kogan, I. (2003), 'Ethnic Inequalities at Labour Market Entry in Belgium and Spain', in Kogan, I. and Müller, W. (eds), *School-to-Work Transitions in Europe: Analyses of the EU LFS 2000 Ad Hoc Module*, MZES, Mannheim, pp. 151–178.

Kiehl, M. and Werner, H. (1999), 'The Labour Market Situation of EU and of Third Country Nationals in the European Union', *IAB Labour Market Research Topics*, no.32. Bundesanstalt für Arbeit. Nuremberg.

King, G., Keohane, R. O. and Verba, S. (1994), Designing Social Inquiry: Scientific Inference in Qualitative Research, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.

Kleber, M. (1988), Arbeitsmarktsegmentation nach dem Geschlecht. Eine kritische Analyse ökonomischer Theorien über Frauenlöhne und Frauenarbeit, VVF, München.

Knocke, W. (1999), 'The Labour Market for Immigrant Women in Sweden: Marginalised Women in Low-Valued Lobs', in Wrench, J., Rea, A. and Ouali, N. (eds), *Migrants, Ethnic Minorities and the Labour Market: Integration and Exclusion in Europe*, Macmillan Press Ltd, pp. 108–132.

Kogan, I. (2003a), 'Ex-Yugoslavs in the Austrian and Swedish Labour Markets: The Significance of the Period of Migration and the Effect of Citizenship Acquisition', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, vol. 29(4), pp. 595–622.

Kogan, I. (2003b), 'A Study of Employment Careers of Immigrants in Germany', *MZES Working Paper*, no. 66, Mannheim.

Kogan, I. (2004), 'Last Hired, First Fired? The Unemployment Dynamics of Male Immigrants in Germany', *European Sociological Review*, vol. 20(5), pp. 445–461.

Kossoudji, S. (1988), 'English Language Ability and the Labor market Opportunities of Hispanic and East Asian Immigrant Men', *Journal of Labor Economics*, vol. 6, pp. 205–228.

Kreimer, M. (1999), Arbeitsteilung als Diskriminierungsmechanismus. Theorie und Empirie geschlechtsspezifischer Arbeitsmarktsegregation, Peter Lang, Frankfurt a. M.

Kreft, I. and de Leeuw, J. (1998), Introducing Multilevel Modeling, Sage Publications, London.

Kruyt, A. and Niessen, J. (1997), 'Integration', in Vermeulen, H. (ed.), *Immigrant Policy for a Multicultural Society. A Comparative Study of Integration, Language and Religious Policy in Five Western European Countries*, Migration Policy Group, Brussels, pp. 15–56.

Kurthen, H. (1998), 'Fiscal Impacts of Immigrantion on the American and German Welfare States', in Kurthen, H., Fijalkowski J. and Wagner, G. G. (eds), *Immigration, Citizenship, and the Welfare State in Germany and the United States: Immigrant Incorporation.* JAI Press Inc., Stamford and London, pp. 175–213.

Kurz, K. (1998), Das Erwerbsverhalten von Frauen in der intensiven Familienphase. Ein Vergleich zwischen Müttern in der Bundesrepublik und in der USA, Leske und Budrich, Opladen.

Lessenich, S. and Ostner, I. (1998), Welten des Wohlfahrtskapitalismus. Der Sozialstaat in vergleichender Perspektive, Theorie und Gesellschaft, Band 40, Campus, Frankfurt, New York.

Leslie, D., Drinkwater, S. and O'Leary, N. (1998), 'Unemployment and Earnings among Britain's Ethnic Minorities: Some Signs for Optimism', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, vol. 24 (3), pp. 489–506.

Lewin-Epstein, N., Semyonov, M., Kogan, I. and. Wanner, R. A. (2003), 'Institutional Structure and Immigrant Integration: A Comparative Study of Immigrants' Labor Market Attainment in Canada and Israel', *International Migration Review*, vol. 37(2), pp. 389–420.

Lewis, J. (1992), 'Gender and the Development of Welfare Regimes', *Journal of European Social Policy*, vol. 3, pp. 159–173.

Lieberson, S. (1991), 'Small N's and Big Conclusions: An Examination of the Reasoning in Comparative Studies Based on a Small Number of Cases', *Social Forces*, vol. 70, pp. 307–320.

Light, I. (1979), 'Disadvantaged Minorities in Self-Employment', International Journal of Comparative Sociology, vol. 20, pp. 31-45.

Light, I. (1984), 'Immigrant and Ethnic Enterprise in North America', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, vol. 7(2), pp. 195–216.

Lindbeck, A. and Snower, D. (1988), *The Insider-Outsider Theory of Employment and Unemployment*, MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass.

Lindstrom, D. and Massey, D. S. (1994), 'Selective Emigration, Cohort Quality, and Models of Immigrant Assimilation', *Social Science Research*, vol. 23, pp. 315–349.

Logan, J. A. (1996), 'Opportunity and Choice in Socially Structured Labor Markets', *The American Journal of Sociology*, vol. 102(1), pp. 114–160.

Long, S. J. (1997), Regression Models for Categorical and Limited Dependent Variables, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi.

Longford, N. T. (1993), Random Coefficient Models, Clarendon Press, Oxford.

Lundberg, S. J. and Startz, R. (1998), 'Private Discrimination and Social Intervention in Competitive Labor Market', *The American Economic Review*, vol. 73(3), pp. 340–347.

MacEwen, M. (1995), Tackling Racism in Europe. An Examination of Anti-Discrimination Law in Practice. Berg Publishers, Oxford.

Madden, J. F. (1973), The Economics of Sex Discrimination, D. C. Heath, Lexington.

Mahning, H. and Wimmer, A. (2000), 'Country-Specific or Convergent? A Typology of Immigrant Policies in Western Europe', *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, vol. 1(2), pp. 177–204.

Mahroum, S. (2001), 'Europe and the Immigration of Highly Skilled Labour', *International Migration*, vol. 39(5), pp. 27–43.

Malačić, J. (1994), 'Labour migration from former Yugoslavia', in Fassmann, H. and Münz, R. (eds), *European Migration in the Late Twentieth Century*, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp. 207–21.

Malheiros, J. M. (1999), 'Immigration, Clandestine Work and Labour Market Strategies: The Construction Sector in the Metropolitan Region of Lisbon', in Baldwin-Edwards, M. and Arango, J. (eds), *Immigrants and the Informal Economy in Southern Europe*, Frank Class, London, Portland, OR.

Marshall, R. (1974), 'The Economics of Racial Discrimination: A survey', *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol. 12(3), pp. 849–871.

Massey, D. S., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A. and Pellegrino, A. J. (1993), 'Theories of International Migration: A Review and Appraisal', *Population and Development Review*, vol. 19(3), pp. 431–66.

Massey, D. S., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A., Pellegrino, A. J., Taylor, E. (1994), 'An Evaluation of International Migration Theory: The North American Case', *Population and Development Review*, vol. 20(4), pp. 699–751.

Mata, F. and Pendakur, R. (1999), 'Immigration, Labor Force Integration, and the Pursuit of Self-Employment', *International Migration Review*, vol. 33(2), pp. 378–402.

Mayer, K. U. (1997), 'Notes on a Comparative Political economy of Life Courses', *Comparative Social Research*, vol. 16, pp. 203–226.

Mayer, K. U. (2000), *Life courses in the transformation of East Germany*, Centro de Estudios Avanzados en Ciencias Sociales, Madrid.

Mayer, K. U. (2001), 'The Paradox of Global Social Change and National Path Dependencies', in Wooddward, A. and Kohli, M. (eds), *Inclusions and Exclusions in European Societies*, Routledge, New York, pp 89–110.

McCall, J. J. (1970), 'Economics of Information and Job Search', *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 84, pp. 113–126.

McGinnity, F. (2002), 'The Labour-force Participation of the Wives of Unemployed Men: Comparing Britain and West Germany Using Longitudinal Data', *European Sociological Review*, vol. 18, pp. 473–488.

McGinnity, F. (2004), Welfare for the Unemployed in Britain and Germany: Who Benefits?, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, UK, Northampton, MA, USA.

McManus, W. (1990), 'Labor Market Effects of Ethnic Enclaves', Journal of Human Resources, vol. 25(2), pp. 228–252.

Mincer, J. (1958), 'Investment in Human Capital and Personal Income', *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 66, pp. 281–302.

Model, S. (1999), 'Ethnic Inequality in England: An Analysis Based on the 1991 Census', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, vol. 22(6), pp. 966–990.

Model, S., Fisher, G. and Silberman, R. (1999), 'Black Caribbeans in Comparative Perspective', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, vol. 25(2), pp. 187–212.

Model, S. (2005), 'Non-white Origins, Anglo Destinations: Immigrants in the US and Britain', in Loury, G., Modood, T. and Teles, S.M. (eds), *Ethnicity, Social Mobility and Public Policy in the US and UK*, University Press, Cambridge.

Modood, T., Berthoud, R., Lakey, J., Nazroo, J., Smith P., Virdee, S. and Bishon, S. (1997), *Ethnic Minorities in Britain: Diversity and Disadvantage*, Policy Studies Institute, London.

Molle, W. T., and Zandvliet, C. T. (1994), 'South-to-North Immigration into Western European Countries: The Case of France, the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands', in Siebert, H. (ed.), *Migration: A Challenge for Europe*, J.C.B. Mohr, Tübingen.

Montgomery, J. D. (1990), 'Social Networks and Persistent Inequality in the Labor Market', *Working Paper*, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL.

Morris, L. (1997), 'A Cluster of Contradictions: The Politics of Migration in the European Union', *Sociology*, vol. 31(2), pp. 241–259.

Mortensen, D. T. and Pissarides, C. A. (1999), 'New Developments in Models of Search in the Labor Market', in Ashenfelter, O. and Card, D. (eds), *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Volume IIIb, Alsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 2567–2628.

Mowitz-Lambert, J. (2001), 'Übergangsmuster in der Statuspassage von beruflicher Ausbildung in die Erwerbsverlauf', in Sackmann, R. und Wingens, M. (eds), *Strukturen des Lebenslaufs: Übergang – Sequenz – Verlauf*, Juventa Verlag, Weinheim und München, pp. 199–220.

Münz, R. (1997), 'Phasen und Formen der europäischen Migration', in Angenendt, S. (ed.), *Migration und Flucht: Aufgaben und Strategien für Deutschland, Europe und die internationale Gemeinschaft*, Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung, Bonn, pp. 34–49.

Münz, R. and Ulrich, R. (1997), 'Changing Patterns of Immigration to Germany', in Bade, K. J. and Weiner, M. (eds), *Migration Past, Migration Future*, Berghahn Books, Providence, Oxford, pp. 39–65.

Münz, R., Seifert, W. and Ulrich, R. (1997), Zuwanderung nach Deutschland: Strukturen, Wirkungen, Perspektiven, Campus Verlag, Frankfurt, New York.

Neels, K. (2000), 'Education and the Transition to Employment: Young Turkish and Moroccan Adults in Belgium', in Lesthaeghe, R. (ed.), *Communities and Generations. Turkish and Moroccan Populations in Belgium*, VVB Press, Brussels, pp. 243–278.

Neels, K. and Stoop, R. (2000), 'Reassessing the Ethnic Gap: Employment of Younger Turks and Moroccans in Belgium', in Lesthaeghe, R. (ed.), *Communities and Generations. Turkish and Moroccan Populations in Belgium*, VVB Press, Brussels, pp. 279–319.

Niessen, J. (2000), 'The Starting Line and the Promotion of EU Anti-Discrimination Legislation: The Role of Policy Oriented Research', *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, vol. 1(4), pp. 493–503.

OECD (1999), 'Employment Protection and Labour Market performance', *OECD Employment Outlook*, 61, OECD, Paris, pp. 47–132.

OECD (2001), Employment Outlook, OECD, Paris.

Offe, C. und Hinrichs, K. (1977), 'Sozialökonomie des Arbeitsmarktes und die Lage "benachteiligter" Gruppen von Arbeitsnehmern', in Claus Offe (Hrsg.), Opfer des Arbeitsmarktes. Zur Theorie der strukturieren Arbeit-

slosigkeit, Luchterhand, Neuwied, S. 3-61.

Oi, W. Y. (1962), 'Labor as Quasi-Fixed Factor', The Journal of Political Economy, vol. 70(6), pp. 538-555.

Ornbrant, B. (1999), 'Sweden', in Angenendt, S. (ed.), *Asylum and Migration Policies in the European Union*, Research Institute of the German Society for Foreign Affairs, Berlin, pp. 310–325.

Peixoto, J. (2001), 'Migration and Policies in the European Union: Highly Skilled Mobility, Free Movement of Labour and Recognition of Diplomas', *International Migration*, vol. 39(1), pp. 33–61.

Phelps, E. S. (1972), 'The Statistical Theory of Racism and Sexism', *The American Economic Review*, vol. 62, pp. 659–661.

Piore, M.J. (1971), 'The Dual Labor Market. Theory and Implications', in Gordon, D.M. (ed.), *Problems in Political Economy: An Urban perspective*, DC Heath, Lexington, pp. 90–94.

Piore, M. J. (1979), Birds of Passage: Migrant Labor and Industrial Societies, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Pontusson, J., Rueda, D. and Way, C. R. (2002), 'Comparative Political Economy of Wage Distribution: The Role of Partisanship and Labour market Institutions', *British Journal of Political Science*, vol. 32, pp. 281–308.

Portes, A. (1995), The Economic Sociology of Immigration: Essays on networks, Ethnicity, and Entrepreneurship, Russell Sage Foundation, New York.

Portes, A. and Bach, R. L. (1985), Latin Journey: Cuban and Mexican Immigrants in the United States, University of California Press, Berkeley.

Portes A. and Böröcz, J. (1989), 'Contemporary Immigration: Theoretical Perspectives on Its Determinants and Models of Incorporation', *International Migration Review*, vol. 23(3), pp. 606–627.

Portes, A. and Manning, R. D. (1986), 'The Immigrant Enclave: Theory and Empirical Examples', in Olzak, S. and Nagel, J. (eds), *Competitive Ethnic Relations*, Academic, Orlando, Fl, pp. 47–68.

Portes, A. and Rumbaut, R. G. (2001), Legacies, University of California Press, Berkeley.

Portes, A. and Stepick, A. (1985), 'Unwelcome Immigrants: The Labor Market Experience of 1980 (Mariel) Cuban and Haitian Refugees in South Florida', *American Sociological Review*, vol. 50, pp. 493–514.

Portes, A. and Walton, J. (1981), Labor, Class, and the International System, Academic Press, New York.

Poston, D. L. (1994), 'Patterns of Economic Attainment of Foreign-Born Male Workers in the United States', *International Migration Review*, vol. 28, pp. 478–500.

Rath, J. (ed.) (2000), Immigrants Business: The Economic, Political and Social Environment, Macmillan Press, London.

Rath, J. (ed.) (2002), Unravelling the Rag Trade: Immigrant Entrepreneurship in Seven World Cities, Berg, Oxford.

Raudenbush, S., Bryk, A., Cheong, Y. F. and Congdon, R. (2000), *HLM 5: Hierarchical Linear and Nonlinear Modeling*, SSI: Scientific Software International, Lincolnwood, IL.

Rea, A., Wrench, J. and Ouali, N. (1999), 'Introduction: Discrimination and Diversity', in Wrench, J., Rea, A. and Ouali, N. (eds), *Migrants, Ethnic Minorities and the Labour Market: Integration and Exclusion in Europe*, Macmillan Press Ltd, pp. 1–20.

Regini, M. (2000), 'The Dilemmas of Labour Market Regulation', in Esping-Andersen, G. and Regini, M. (eds), *Why deregulate Labour Markets*?, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 11–29.

Reimers, D. M. and Troper, H. (1992), 'Canadian and American Immigration Policy Since 1945', in Chiswick, Barry (ed.), *Immigration, Language, and Ethnicity: Canada and the United States*, The AEI Press, Washington, pp. 15–55.

Reitz, J. G. (1998), Warmth of the Welcome, Westview Press, Boulder, CO.

Reitz, J. G. (2002), 'Host Societies and the Reception of Immigrants: Research Themes, Emerging Theories and Methodological Issues', *International Migration Review*, vol. 35(4), pp. 1005–1019.

Reitz, J. G. (2003), 'Host Societies and the Reception of Immigrants: Research Themes, Emerging Theories, and Methodological Issues', in Reitz, J. G. (ed.), *Host Societies and the Reception of Immigrants*, Center for Comparative Immigration Studies, University of California, San Diego, pp. 1–20.

Reitz, J. G., Frick, J. R., Calabrese, T. and Wagner, G. C. (1999), 'The Institutional Framework of Ethnic Employment Disadvantage: A Comparison of Germany and Canada', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, vol. 25(3), pp. 397–443.

Reyneri, E. (2001), 'Migrants in Irregular Employment in the Mediterranean Countries of the European Union', *International Migration Papers*, no. 41, International Migration Branch. International Labour Office, Geneva.

Riphahn, R. T. (1998), 'Immigrant Participation in Social Assistance Programs', IZA Discussion Paper, 15.

Robinson, V. and Carey, M. (2000), 'Peopling Skilled International Migration: Indian Doctors in the UK', *International Migration*, vol. 38(1), pp. 89–108.

Rohwer, G. and Trappe, H. (1997), *Describing Life Courses: An Illustration Based on NLSY Data*. Paper presented at the European University Institute, Florence, Italy.

Rohwer, G. and Pötter, U. (1999), TDA User's Manual, Bochum.

Rudolph, H. (1994), 'Dynamics of Immigration in a Nonimmigrant Country: Germany', in Fassman, H. and Münz, R. (eds), *European Migration in the Late Twentieth Century*, Edward Elgar, Laxenburg, Austria, pp. 113–127.

Rueda, D. and Pontusson, J. (2000), 'Wage Inequality and Varieties of Capitalism', *World Politics*, vol. 52, pp. 350–383.

Salt, J. and Clarke, J. (2000), 'International Migration in the UNECE Region: Patterns, Trends, Policies', *International Social Science Journal*, vol. 165, pp. 313–328.

Sassen, S. (1988), *The Mobility of Labor and Capital: A Study in International Investments and Labor Flow*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Sassen, S. (1991), The Global City: New York, London, Tokyo, Princeton University Press, Princeton.

Scherer, S. (2001), 'Early Career Patterns: A Comparison of Great Britain and West Germany', *European Sociological Review*, vol. 17(2), pp. 119–144.

Schierup, C.-U. (1995), 'Former Yugoslavia: Long Waves of International Migration', in Cohen, R. (ed.), *The Cambridge Survey of World Migration*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 285–289.

Schultze, G. (1990), 'Die berufliche Situation ausländischer Arbeitnehmer/innen in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland – Ergebnisse der Repräsentativuntersuchung '85 der Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung', in Fijalkowski, J. (Hrsg.), *Transnationale Migranten in der Arbeitswelt*, Sigma Bohn, Berlin, pp. 123–133.

Sciortino, G. (2003), 'Einwanderung in einen mediterranen Wohlfahrtsstatt: die italienische Erfahrung'. *Leviathan*, Sonderheft 22, pp. 253–272.

Seifert, W. (1995), Die Mobilität der Migranten, Edition Sigma, Berlin.

Seifert, W. (1998), 'Social and Economic Integration of Foreigners in Germany', in Schuck, P. H. and Münz, R. (eds), *Paths to Inclusion. The Integration of Migrants in the United States and Germany*, Berghahn Books, New York, Oxford, pp. 83–115.

Sengenberger, W. (ed.) (1978), Der gespaltene Arbeitsmarkt – Probleme der Arbeitsmarktsegmentation. Campus Verlag, Frankfurt/Main, New York.

Sengenberger, W. (ed.) (1987), Struktur and Funktionsweise von Arbeitsmärkten – Die Bundesrepublik Deutschland im internationalen Vergleich, Campus Verlag, Frankfurt/Main, New York.

Shavit, Y. und Müller, W. (eds) (1998), From School to Work. A Comparative Study of Educational Qualifications und Occupational Destinations, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Shields, M. A. and Wheatley Price, S. (2002), 'The English Language Fluency and occupational Success of Ethnic Minority Immigrant Men Living in English Metropolitan Areas', *Journal of Population Economics*, vol. 15, pp. 137–160.

Snijders, T. A. B. and Bosker, R. J. (1999), Multilevel Analysis. An Introduction to Basic and Advanced Multilevel Modeling, Sage Publications, London, Thousand Oaks, New Dehli.

Soininen, M. (1999), 'Refugee Care in Sweden: The Problems of Unemployment and Anti-Discrimination Policies', in Wrench, J., Rea, A. and Ouali, N. (eds.), *Migrants, Ethnic Minorities and the Labour Market: Integration and Exclusion in Europe*, Macmillan Press Ltd, pp. 195–219.

Soltwedel, R. (1993), 'Structural Adjustment, Economic Growth and Employment', in OECD, *The Changing Course of International Migration*, OECD, Paris.

SOPEMI (1988), Trends in International Migration. Annual Report, OECD, Paris.

SOPEMI (1989), Trends in International Migration. Annual Report, OECD, Paris.

SOPEMI (1992), Trends in International Migration. Annual Report, OECD, Paris.

SOPEMI (1993), Trends in International Migration. Annual Report, OECD, Paris.

SOPEMI (1995), Trends in International Migration. Annual Report, OECD, Paris.

SOPEMI (1997), Trends in International Migration. Annual Report, OECD, Paris.

SOPEMI (2000), Trends in International Migration. Annual Report, OECD, Paris.

SOPEMI (2001), Trends in International Migration. Annual Report, OECD, Paris.

Søresen, J. M. (1996), The Exclusive European Citizenship: The Case for Refugees in the European Union, Avebury, Aldershot.

Søresen, A. B. and Kalleberg, A. L. (1981), 'An Outline of a Theory of the Matching of Persons to Jobs', in Berg, I. (ed.), *Sociological Perspectives on Labor Markets*, Academic Press, London, pp. 49–74.

Spence, M. (1973), 'Job Market Signalling', Quarterly Journal of Economics, vol. 87, pp. 355-74.

Stalker, P. (2000), Workers without Frontiers. The Impact of Globalization in International Migration. Lynne Rienner Publishers, Boulder, Colorado.

Stalker, P. (2002), 'Migration Trends and Migration Policy in Europe', *International Migration*, vol. 40(5), pp. 151–179.

Stata Corporation (2002), Stata User's Guide, Release 7, Stata Press, College Station, Texas.

Stier, H., Lewin-Epstein, N. and Braun, M. (2001), 'Welfare Regimes, Family-Supportive Policies, and Women's Employment Along the Life-Course', *American Journal of Sociology*, vol. 106(6), pp. 1731–1760.

Stigler, G. J. (1961), 'The Economics of Information', Journal of Political Economy, vol. 69, pp. 213-225.

Szydlik, M. (1990), Die Segmentierung des Arbeitsmarktes in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland: Eine empirische Analyse mit Daten des sozio-ökonomischen Panels, 1984–1988, Sigma Bohn, Berlin.

Tapinos, G. and Delaunay, D. (2000), 'Can One Really Talk of the Globalisation of Migration Flows?', in OECD Proceedings, *Globalisation, Migration and Development*, OECD, Paris, pp. 35–58.

Taubman, P. and Wachter, M. L. (1986), 'Segmented Labor Markets', in Aschenfelter, O. and Layard, R. (eds), *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Volume II, Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam, pp. 1183–1217.

Taylor, M., Brice, J., Buck, N. and Prentice-Lane, E. (ed.), 1999 British Household Panel Survey User Manual Volume A: Introduction, Technical Report and Appendices. University of Essex, Colchester.

Tesser, P. and Dronkers J. (2002), 'Ethnic Minorities in the Dutch Stratification', Paper Presented at the Spring Meeting of ISA RC 28 on Social Stratification and Mobility, Oxford.

Thurow, L. C. (1975), *Generating Inequality: Mechanisms of Distribution in the U.S. Economy*, Basic Books, New York.

Thurow, L. C. (1978), 'Die Arbeitskräfteschlange und das Modell des Arbeitsplatzwettbewerbs', in Sengenberger, W. (Hrsg.), *Der gespaltene Arbeitsmarkt. Probleme der Arbeitsmarktsegmentation*, Campus, Frankfurt a. M, S. 117–137.

Tuma, N. B. and Hannan, M. T. (1984), Social Dynamics. Models and Methods, Academic Press, Orlando.

UNHCR (United nations High Commissioner for Refugees) (1995), The State of the World's Refugees: In Search for Solutions, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

UN (1998), International Migration Policies, United Nations, New York.

UNESCO (1997), International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED), UNESCO, Paris.

Van Doorne-Huiskes, A., den Dulk L. and Schippers, J. (1999), "Work-Family Arrangements in the Context of the Welfare State", in den Dulk, L., van Doorne-Huiskes, A. and Schippers J. (eds), *Work-Family Arrangements in Europe*, Thela Thesis, Amsterdam, pp. 1–20.

Van Tubergen, F. (2004), The Integration of Immigrants in Cross-National Perspective: Origin, Destination, and Community Effects, Utrecht and Groningen, ICS Dissertation Series.

Veiga, U. M. (1999), 'Immigrant in the Spanish Labour Market', in Baldwin-Edwards, M. and Arango, J. (eds), *Immigrants and the Informal Economy in Southern Europe*, Frank Class, London, Portland, OR.

Velikonja, J. (1975), 'Emigration', in Grothusen, K.-D. (ed.), Yugoslavia (Vol.1), Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, Göttingen, pp. 360-83.

Vishwanath, T. (1989), 'Job Search, Stigma Effect, and Escape Rate from Unemployment', *Journal of Labor Economics*, vol. 7(4), pp. 487–502.

Voges, W., Frick, J. and Büchel, F. (1998), 'The Integration into West German Society: The Impact of Social Assistance', in Kurthen, H., Fijalkowski, J. and Wagner, G. G. (eds), *Immigration, Citizenship, and the Welfare State in Germany and the United States*, JAI Press Inc., Stamford and London, pp. 159–175.

Vourc'h, F., De Rudder, V. and Tripier, M. (1999), 'Foreigners and Immigrants in the French Labour Market: Structural Inequality and Discrimination', in Wrench, J., Rea, A. and Ouali, N. (eds), *Migrants, Ethnic Minorities and the Labour Market: Integration and Exclusion in Europe*, Macmillan Press Ltd, pp. 72–92.

Vuori, K. (1997), 'Protecting (Im)migrants and Ethnic Minorities from Discrimination in Employment: Finnish and Swedish Experiences', *International Migration Papers*, no. 18, International Labour Office, Geneva.

Wagner, G., Schupp, J. und Rendtel, U. (1994), 'Das Sozio-ökonomische Panel (SOEP), Methoden der Datenproduktion und- aufbereitung im Längsschnitt', in Hauser, R., Notburga, O., und Wagner, G. (eds), *Mikroanalytische Grundlagen der Gesellschaftspolitik - Erhebungsverfahren, Analysemethoden und Mikrosimulation*, Band 2, Akademie-Verlag, Bonn, pp. 70–112.

Waldinger, R., Aldrich, H. and Ward R. (eds) (1990), *Ethnic Entrepreneurs: immigrant business in industrial societies*, Sage publications, Newbury Park, CA.

Waldinger, R. (1994), 'The Making of an Immigrant Niche', International Migration Review, vol. 28(1), pp. 3–30.

Waldinger, R. (1996), Still the Promised City? African-Americans and New Immigrants in Post-Industrial New York, Harvard University Press, Cambridge.

Waldinger, R. and Bozorghmer, M. (1996), Ethnic Los Angeles, Russell Sage Foundation, New York.

Wallace, M. and Kalleberg, A. L. (1981), 'Economic Organization of Firms and Labor Market Consequences: Toward a Specification of Dual Economy Theory', in Berg, I. (ed.), *Sociological Perspectives on Labor Markets*, Academic Press, London, pp. 77–117.

Werner, H. (1994), 'Integration ausländischer Arbeitnehmer in den Arbeitsmarkt: Deutschland, Frankreich, Niederlande, Schweden', in Werner, H. and Seifert, W. (eds), *Die Integration ausländischer Arbeitnehmer in den Arbeitsmarkt*, Beiträge zur Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung, Nuremberg, pp. 85–173.

Werner, H. (1996), 'Economic Integration and Migration: The European Case', in van den Broeck, J. (ed.), *The Economics of Labour Migration*, Edwar Elgar, Cheltenham, pp. 159–194.

Werner, H. (2001), 'From Guests to Permanent Stayers? – From the German "Guestworker" Programmes of the Sixties to the Current "Green Card" Initiative for IT Specialists', *IAB Labour market Research Topics*, no. 43.

Westin, C. (2000), 'The Effectiveness of Settlement and Integration Policies towards Immigrants and their Descendants in Sweden', *International Migration Papers*, no. 34, International Labour Office, Geneva.

Withol de Wenden, C. (2004), 'Admission Policies in Europe', in Massey, D. S. and Taylor, J. E. (eds), *International Migration: prospects and Policies in a Global Market*, Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 286–294.

Wheatley Price, S. (1998), The Unemployment Experience of Male immigrants in England. Mimeo.

Whiteford, P. (1992), 'Are Immigrants Over-Represented in the Australian Social Security System?', *Discussion Paper*, no. 31, University of New South Wales, Social Policy Research Centre, Kensington, Australia.

Widgren, J. (1979), 'Sweden', in Krane, R. E. (ed.), *International Labor Migration in Europe*, Praeger Publishers, New York, pp. 19–43.

Williams, J. (1985), 'Redefining Institutional Racism', Ethnic and Racial Studies, vol. 8(3), pp. 323-348.

Wilson, K. L. and Portes, A. (1980), 'Immigrant Enclaves: An Analysis of the Labor Market Experience of Cubans in Miami', *American Journal of Sociology*, vol. 86(2), pp. 295–319.

Wilson, K. L. and Portes, A. (2001), 'Immigrant Enclaves: An Analysis of the Labor Market Experience of Cubans in Miami', *American Journal of Sociology*, vol. 86(2), pp. 295–319.

Windzio, M. (2001), 'Übergänge und Sequenzen. Der Einfluss von Arbeitslosigkeit auf den weiteren Erwerbsverlauf', in Sackmann, R. und Wingens, M. (eds), *Strukturen des Lebenslaufs: Übergang – Sequenz – Verlauf*, Juventa Verlag, Weinheim and München, pp. 163–198.

Wood, S. (2001), 'Labour Market Regimes under Threat? Sources of Continuity in Germany, Britain and Sweden', in Pierson, P. (ed.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 368–409.

Wrench, J., Rea, A. and Ouali, N. (eds) (1999), Migrants, Ethnic Minorities and the Labour Market: Integration and Exclusion in Europe, Macmillan Press Ltd.

Wu, L. L. (2000), 'Some Comments on "Sequence Analysis and Optimal Matching Methods in Sociology: Review and Prospect", *Sociological Methods and Research*, vol. 29(1), pp. 41–64.

Živan, T. (1979), 'Yugoslavia', in Krane, R. E. (ed.), *International Labor Migration in Europe*, Praeger Publishers, New York, pp. 173–186.

Zhou, M. (1999), 'Segmented Assimilation: Issues, Controversies, and Recent Research on the New Second Generation', in Hirschman, C., Kasinitz, P. and DeWind J. (eds), *The Handbook of International Migration: The American experience*, Russell Sage Foundation, New York, pp. 196–211.

Zhou, M. (2004), 'Revisiting Ethnic Entrepreneurship: Convergencies, Controversies, and Conceptual Advancements', *International Migration Review*, vol. 38(3), pp. 1040–1074.

Abbott, A. 114 Abbring, J. 50 Aigner, D. J. 11-12 Aldrich, H. E. 59 Allison, P. D. 116, 173 Allmendinger, J. 65 Andersen, J. G. 66 Angenendt, S. 1-3, 25, 37 Aparicio, R. 30 Arango, J. 169 Arrow, K. J. 10-12 Bach, R. L. 54 Bacher, J. 115, 126 Bäckman, O. 65, 162 Baker, M. 65 Baldwin-Edwards, M. 65, 69 Barett, N. S. 17 Bauböck, R. 158, 160 Becker, G. S. 10-12, 14 Bender, S. 126 Benjamin, D. 65 Berger, K.-U. 126 Bergmark, A. 65, 162 Berthoud, R. 3 Bertola, G. 19 Bevelander, P. 20, 49, 161 Birrell, R. 39 Birrell, T. 39 Blackaby, D. 111 Blanchard, O. J. 17 Blau, F. D. 4, 19 Bloch, A. 26, 29, 106, 198 Bloom, D. E. 17, 39 Blos, M. 20, 159 Blossfeld, H-P. 104, 116-118, 121 Böhning, W. R. 161 Bonacich, E. 11, 58 Borjas, G. J. 3, 10, 17, 21, 46, 60, 65, 70, 110, 164, 169, 189

Böröcz, J. 21 Borowski, A. 39 Bosker, R. J. 82 Bovenkerk, F. 20 Bozorghmer, M. 55 Brauns, H. 119, 203 Breton, R. 23 Briggs, V. M. Jr. 56 Brinbaum, Y. 3 Brubaker, R. W. 14, 34, 66, 162 Brückner, H. 112 Brüderl, J. 112, 114 Bryk, A. S. 82, 84 Cachón, L. 20, 30 Cain, G. G. 11-13, 15, 17, 19, 121 Campani, G. 20 Carchedi, F. 20 Carey, M. 28, 151 Carliner, G. 46 Castles, S. 16, 21, 29, 31, 49, 159 Castronova, E. J. 65 Chan, T. W. 112 Cheng, Y. 20, 33 Chiswick, B. R. 3-4, 10-11, 40, 46, 65, 164 Clarke, J. 29, 37 Cohen, Y. 189 Coleman, J. S. 9 Cross, M. 49 Crul, M. 194 Currle, E. 106, 160 Daly, M. 65 Davidson, A. 29, 31 De Leeuw, J. 82 De Prada, M. A. 30 DeFreitas, G. 54, 56 Delaunay, D. 32 DeRosa, J. D. 17 Devine, T. J. 13

Diamond, P. 17 Dickens, W. 54 DiPrete, T. A. 65 DIW 111 Doeringer, P. B. 14 Doomernik, J. 110 Drew, E. 65 Drinkwater, S. 3 Dronkers J. 20 Dustman, C. 11, 13, 46-47 Düvell, F. 25, 28 Ekberg, J. 20, 170, 180 Engelen, E. 69-71, 103, 111, 190 England, P. 11, 12 Erikson, R. 120, 202 Erzberger, C. 112, 114-115 Esping-Andersen, G. 23, 60-61, 65-69, 81, 110 Esser, H. 3, 11, 115 Eurostat 30, 75, 120, 193 Fabbri, F. 46-47 Faist, T. 65, 68-69 Farber, H. 50 Fassmann, H. 20, 25, 157-158, 160, 161, 169-170 Fishelson, G. 46 Flanagan, R. J. 17 Forrest, J. 114 Freeman, G. P. 22, 65 Frick, J. 65 Friedberg, R. M. 4, 11, 46-47 Gallie, D. 65-67 Gangl, M. 19, 61 Ganßmann, H. 65 Ganzeboom, H. B. G. 77, 164 Giesecke, J. 19, 61 Gillmeister, H. 126 Goldstein, H. 82 Goldthorpe, J. H. 21, 120, 202 Gomolla, M. 12 Gordon, A. D. 115 Granato, N. 3, 14-15, 20, 54, 115 Gras, M. 20 Groß, M. 19, 61 Guild, E. 109 Gunderson, M. 17, 39 Haberfeld, Y. 189

Hall, A. 65 Halpin, B. 111-113 Halvorsen, K. 66 Hammar, T. 159 Hammarstedt, M. 65, 162, 180 Hannan, M. T. 116 Hansen, J. 65 Hatton, T. J. 106 Haug, S. 111 Heath, A. 3, 11-12, 20, 126, 152, 194 Heckmann, F. 2 Hillmert, S. 203 Hilton, L. 65 Hinrichs, K. 11 Hinz, T. 65 Hjerm, M. 68, 170 Hrycak, A. 114 Hurst, M. E. 65 ILO (International Labour Organisation) 77, 166 IOM (International Organization for Migration) 1 Jasso, G. 46, 169, 193 Jones, T. 50, 79, 90, 126 Jordan, B. 25, 28 Kahn, L. M. 4, 19 Kalleberg, A. L. 9, 12, 17, 54 Kalter, F. 3, 12-13, 20, 115, 187 Kiefer, N. M. 13 Kiehl, M. 33, 47, 77 King, G. 21, 189 Kleber, M. 12 Klein, T. 112 Knocke, W. 162 Kogan, I. 13, 118, 155, 187 Kosack, G. 21, 49 Kossoudji, S. 46 Kreft, I. 82 Kreimer, M. 14 Kruyt, A. 106 Kurthen, H. 65 Kurz, K. 65 Lang, K. 54 Leslie, D. 126 Lessenich, S. 67 Lewin-Epstein, N. 20 Lewis, J. 65 Lieberson, S. 21 Light, I. 58 Lindbeck, A. 16, 67 Lindstrom, D. 76

Lofstrom, M. 65 Logan, J. A. 9 Long, S. J. 82 Longford, N. T. 82 Lundberg, S. J. 11, 13 MacEwen, M. 110 Madden, J. F. 11 Mahning, H. 110 Mahroum, S. 28 Malaĉić, J. 156 Malheiros, J. M. 16 Manning, R. D. 21 Marshall, R. 4, 12, 18 Massey, D. S. 14, 23, 54, 56, 76, 169 Mata, F. 59 Mayer, K. U. 65, 67 McCall, J. J. 13 McGinnity, F. 115, 120 McMahon, D. 3, 20, 126, 152 McManus, W. 46 Miller, M. J. 4, 16, 25, 31, 40, 46, 49, 159 Mincer, J. 10 Model, S. 19-20, 166 Modell, J. 58 Modood, T. 126 Molle, W. T. 16 Montgomery, J. D. 13 Morgenstern, R. D. 17 Morris, L. 1, 14, 34, 160 Mortensen, D. T. 13 Mowitz-Lambert, J. 112 Müller, W. 119 Münz, R. 1, 20, 25, 27, 107, 126, 156-158, 160 Nash, A. 39

Neels, K. 20 Niessen, J. 106, 109

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) 50, 60-63, 79, 110Offe, C. 11Ögelman, N. 22, 65Oi, W. Y. 15, 18Ornbrant, B. 157, 162Ostner, I. 67

Paugam, S. 65-67 Peixoto, J. 47 Pendakur, R. 59 Phelps, E. S. 11-12 Piore, M. J. 14-15, 21, 49 Pissarides, C. A. 13 Pontusson, J. 69, 70 Portes, A. 14, 16, 21-22, 49, 53-54, 58-59 Poston, D. L. 4, 40 Pötter, U. 115 Radtke F.-O. 12 Rath, J. 59 Raudenbush, S. W. 82, 84 Rea, A. 32 Regini, M. 60, 65 Reimers, D. M. 17 Reitz, J. G. 3, 12, 17, 20, 22-23, 40, 65, 191 Reyneri, E. 20, 30 Ridge, J. 11-12 Riphahn, R. T. 65 Robinson, V. 28, 151 Rohwer, G. 104, 112, 115-118, 121 Rosenzweig, M. 46, 169 Rudolph, H. 106 Rueda, D. 69-70 Rumbaut, R. G. 22 Salt, J. 29, 37 Sassen, S. 21 Scherer, S. 112, 114-115 Schierup, C.-U. 156-157 Schnapper, D. 2 Schultze, G. 126 Sciortino, G. 38 Seifert, W. 111, 126 Sengenberger, W. 14 Shavit, Y. 119 Shields, M. A. 46 Snijders, T. A. B. 82 Snower, D. 16, 67 Soininen, M. 159 Soltwedel, R. 2 SOPEMI 28, 31, 56, 157-158, 160-162, 170, 199 Søresen, A. B. 9, 12, 34 Spence, M. 10 Stalker, P. 1, 16, 25, 27, 29, 40, 54 Startz, R. 11, 13 Stata Corporation 133 Steinmann, S. 119, 203 Stepick, A. 14 Stier, H. 65 Stigler, G. J. 13 Stoop, R. 20 Szydlik, M. 14, 17

Tapinos, G. 32 Taubman, P. 15, 17 Taylor, M. 111 Tesser, P. 20 Thurow, L. C. 9 Tornos, A. 30 Trappe, H. 112 Treiman, D. J. 77, 164 Troper, H. 17 Tsay, A. 114 Tuma, N. B. 116 Ulrich, R. 107, 126 UN 32 UNESCO 78 UNHCR 28 Van Doorne-Huiskes, A. 65 Van Tubergen, F. 46, 60, 194 Veiga, U. M. 16 Velikonja, J. 156 Vermeulen, H. 194 Vishwanath, T. 17

Voges, W. 65

Vourc'h, F. 20

Vuori, K. 161

Wachter, M. L. 15, 17 Wagner, G. 111 Waldinger, R. 55, 59, 60 Wallace, M. 17, 54 Walton, J. 49 Werner, H. 28, 33, 40, 47, 77, 159 Werquin, P. 3 Westin, C. 65, 157, 159-162 Wheatley Price, S. 46, 106, 126 Whiteford, P. 65 Widgren, J. 159 Williams, J. 12 Wilson, K. L. 16, 53 Wimmer, A. 110 Windzio, M. 112 Withol de Wenden, C. 2 Wood, S. 65 Wrench, J. 3 Wu, L. L. 114

Yang, P. Q. 33

Zandvliet, C. T. 16 Zegers de Beijl, R. 12 Zhou, M. 3, 23, 58-59, 70 Živan, T. 156

SUBJECT INDEX

Affirmative action 110 Action, actor 103, 150, 153, 183 African migrants in Belgium 37-38 in Denmark 38 in Europe 26, 37 in Spain 37 in France 26, 37-38 in Greece 38 in Ireland 38 in Italy 37 in Luxembourg 38 in the Netherlands 37 in Portugal 37-38 in the United Kingdom 38, 107, 144 Agriculture, employment in 27, 56, 149, 187, 205 American migrants in Europe 33, 37 in Spain 37-38 in Ireland 37-38 in the Netherlands 38 in Portugal 37-38 in the United Kingdom 37 Attitudes towards immigrants 23 Asian migrants 70 in Denmark 28, 38-39 in Europe 26, 28, 37 in the Netherlands 38 in Portugal 28 in Sweden 38 in the United Kingdom 28, 38, 107, 144-146, 150, 152 Assimilation and integration 1-5, 9, 11, 21-23, 31-32, 39-40, 54, 60, 68, 73, 76, 104, 115 Asylum seekers from Yugoslavia 156-157, 163 in Austria 163 in Europe 1, 6, 28-31, 34, 76, 156, 185 in Germany 105-108, 111 in Sweden 157, 159, 163

in the United Kingdom 105-108, 111 income and work eligibility 197-198 Austria 155 assimilation of immigrants 155, 163 asylum seekers or refugees in 157, 160, 168, 197 citizenship policy and acquisition 35, 157-158, 160, 168, 181 composition of immigrants 37, 167 educational attainment 43, 168-169 employment patterns 51, 55, 161, 170-171 guest workers 30 immigrant human capital investment 158 immigrants' labour market situation 161, 170 immigrant niches 56-58 immigration policy 30, 156, 158-160 immigrant selection 157, 168 immigrants self-employment 59, 170 labour force participation 170, 172-174 labour market structure 158 labour migration 159, 174, 180 language acquisition among immigrants micro census 164 migration cohorts 163 migration flows 156, 163, 167 numbers and distributions of immigrants 34, 36 occupational status 55, 164, 170, 178-179 public sector employment 12, 178 recruitment policy 29-30, 169, 180 second-generation immigrants 164-165, 168 socio-demographic characteristics of immigrants 40, 166 unemployment 53, 161, 175-177 welfare state 67, 162-163

Business cycle 16, 61, 94, 110

Canada, as an immigrant society 3, 17, 31, 39, 60, 65, 185 Characteristics ascriptive 19

SUBJECT INDEX

human capital 7, 12, 27, 53, 65, 73, 87, 91, 108, 134, 140, 183 individual, micro-level 4, 9, 12, 20, 59, 65, 84, 92, 98-99 intrinsic 189-190 socio-demographic 3-4, 6, 25, 39-40, 48, 55, 87, 94, 129, 157, 164, 166, 171, 174-175, 190 structural, institutional, macro-level 3-6, 19, 21, 71, 73, 84, 89, 91, 96, 99, 103, 107, 134, 150, 179, 181, 183-184, 190-191, 194-195 Citizenship, naturalisation 32, 34-36, 68, 78, 155-160, 179, 181 Classifications 115 ISCED 43, 78, 209-211 ISEI 77, 79, 86, 164-166, 171, 176, 178-179, 212 ISCO 77, 164, 206-209 NACE 50, 120, 205-206 of immigrants 33 of welfare regimes 66 Collective bargaining 69 Colonial, colonialism, colony 1, 26-27, 29, 31, 34, 39, 46-48, 74, 80-81, 84, 96-100, 102 Conservative welfare regime 66-67, 71, 75, 80-81, 95-96, 99, 103, 111, 150, 152, 190-191 Data 5, 8, 34, 75, 111, 162 Austrian micro census 167, 169, 172, 174, 176-177, 179 British Household Panel Survey (BHPS) 104, 111-114 comparability 31, 43-44 cross-sectional 8, 62, 104, 126, 152, 154, 171, 188 European Union Labour Force Survey (EULFS) 5, 32, 44, 63, 75-76, 91, 104, 152, 188, 192-193, 200-201 limitations 21, 184, 195 German socio-economic panel (GSOEP) 104, 111-114 longitudinal 8, 104, 151, 188, 194, sampling 5, 75-76, 82, 111, 200-201 Swedish labour force survey 164-165 Discrimination 11-13, 19, 59, 77 institutional 12, 110 law against 23, 108-110, 190 statistical 11-12, 19, 36, 184 theories 11-13 Dual labour market theory 7, 14, 16, 49, 54, 63 Eastern European countries 1, 28, 34, 37-38, 107, 144

Economic growth, expansion 1, 26, 49, 62, 81, 90-91, 163, 179

Education educational attainment 40, 43, 48, 76, 94, 108, 119, 177 educational levels among immigrants, polarisation 45, 48, 168-169, 174 portability of education 45-47 returns 10, 133, 169 selectivity 4, 6-7, 25, 39, 79, 81, 96, 99, 103, 108, 150 vocational training, and 47, 119, 122, 131-132, 135-137, 139, 141, 143, 146-147, 203 Elite 27 45 Employment protection legislation (EPL) 23, 60-64, 67, 79-81, 83, 91-92, 94-95, 102, 110, 157, 189 Ethnic business, enterprise 58-60, 132 community 22 economy 58 enclave or niche 7, 55-56, 58, 63, 187 minority 12, 31, 50, 53, 58 penalty 12, 108-109, 115, 134, 142, 150, 170, 181, 186 stratification 9 Ethnicity 32, 165 Europe age distribution 42, 47-48, 78 colonial or post-colonial migration 1, 26-27, 29, 31, 34, 39, 46-47, 74, 80-81, 98-99 employment patterns 2-3, 49-54 geo-political changes 26 guest workers 1, 27, 31, 33, 62 immigrants, origins and numbers 35-39 immigrant segmentation 19, 53, 55 labour migration 6, 25-27, 29, 71 occupational distribution 54-55, 86 phases of post-war migration 25-29 recruitment policy 25-31, 37, 39, 44, 49 repatriation 26 return migration 26 sending countries of immigrants 37-39 service-sector employment 51 socio-demographic characteristics of migrants 40-45 unemployment rate 2-3, 52-53, 85-86 European migrants in Austria 37-38 in Belgium 38 in Germany 37-38 in Denmark 38 in Europe 37 in France 38 in Spain 38 in Finland 37-38

SUBJECT INDEX

labour migration 105

language proficiency 47, 140, 190

in France 37 in Greece 38 in Ireland 37-38 in Italy 38 in Luxembourg 38 in the Netherlands 37-38 in Portugal 38 in Sweden 38 in the United Kingdom 38

Family reunification 31, 71, 105-106, 157, 159, 163-164, 180, 185 Female immigrants 77, 85-86, 173, 178, 194, 211-212

Germany assimilation and integration 105-106, 108, 115.150 asylum seekers or refugees 105, 107-108, 111 Aussiedler or ethnic German migrants 107-108, 144-145, 199 citizenship 110, 118, 119, 140, 142-144, 153 employment careers and mobility 105, 115-116, 121-125, 127, 150-151, 188 green card 40 guest workers 106, 108, 144-146 immigrant segmentation 126, 129, 132-133 immigration history 105-107 immigration policy 107-109 labour migration 105 language proficiency 119, 140, 142, 144-146, 150, 190 numbers and distributions of immigrants 37-38 occupational careers 126-132, 151, 188 recruitment policy 105-107 source countries 37-38, 144-146 unemployment dynamics 133-150 Globalisation 22, 33, 49 Great Britain assimilation and integration 105, 108, 124-125, 150-151 asylum seekers or refugees 105, 107-108, 111 Bangladeshi immigrants, in 26, 144-145 Black immigrants, in 126, 144-145 citizenship 106, 109, 153 employment careers and mobility 105, 115-116, 121-125, 127, 150-151, 188 ethnic minorities 32, 146 immigration history 105-107 immigration policy 107-109 Indian migrants, in 26, 126, 144 Irish immigrants, in 26, 38, 106, 126

numbers and distributions of immigrants 38 occupational careers 126-132, 151, 188 Pakistani immigrants, in 26, 126, 144-145 recruitment policy 105-107 source countries 38, 144-146 unemployment dynamics 133-150 Guest workers 1, 27, 31, 33, 62, 106, 108, 144-146, 156, 158, 169, 179, 186 Host or receiving society or country 4-7, 9-11, 13, 15-23, 26, 28, 32-33, 35-37, 39-40, 42, 46-48, 60-76, 107, 150, 183-195 Hourglass economy 70 Human capital host-country-specific 46, 59, 109, 185 investment 11, 13, 109, 158 theory 6, 9-11 returns 10, 13, 63, 98, 133, 152-153, 159, 169, 186 secondary labour market, and 17, 46, 53 Illegal (im)migrants, illegally 1, 27, 29-31, 34, 62, 76, 91, 111 Income, earnings 10, 14, 23, 29, 68-70, 111, 120, 160, 195, 197 Insider-outsider theory 6-7, 16, 49-50, 61, 149 Insiders vs. outsiders 16-17, 19, 56, 60-61, 64, 67, 71, 111, 152-153, 184, 189 Institutional syndrome 69-70, 75, 103-104, 150, 188, 190, 192 Integration measures 29, 160, 163, 180, 186 Immigrant selectivity, selection or self-selection 3-4, 6-7, 10, 17, 19, 23, 39-40, 44-45, 70, 96-102, 110-111, 150, 153, 169, 183, 185, 189-191 Immigrant-intensive industry 56-57 Immigrants, comparative studies on 20, 194 integration within institutions, studies on 21-22 single-country studies on 3, 20, 126 Immigration policy 5-8, 19-24, 69, 74, 102, 155, 157-158, 180, 183-184, 186, 191-192 Immigration theory 3 Interdependence of institutions 5, 22 Job match, mismatch 18-19, 61, 104, 110, 184 Job search 6, 13, 18, 68, 121, 163, 171, 184

Job search 6, 13, 18, 68, 121, 163, 171, 184 costs 13, 61 Jus sanguinis vs. jus soli 32
SUBJECT INDEX

Labour market (employment) flexibility 7, 18, 49-50, 60, 66-68, 95, 110, 157, 188-190 Language skills, fluency, proficiency 4, 11, 17, 20, 46-47, 49, 59, 94, 104, 108-109, 119, 140, 142-147, 150, 158-161, 181, 185, 189-190 Liberal welfare regime 8, 66, 69-71, 75, 80-81, 90, 99, 102, 111, 150, 152, 188-189, 195 Maghreb countries 27, 37-38 Matching model 6, 9, 12 Methodology event history analysis 8, 105, 116, 118-119, 133, 152 logistic regression 82, 102, 129, 133, 151, 166, 171-172, 176, 204 multilevel analysis 7, 82, 95, 102-103 OLS regression 122, 166, 171, 173, 176, 178 Optimal Matching Analysis (OMA) 114-115, 121-122, 126-127, 132 Sequence analysis 7, 112, 114-116, 118-119, 121, 124, 126, 132, 151 Micro-macro model 4, 21 Middle East, migrants 38 Migration policy, see Immigration policy

Multiculturalism 180, 186

New immigration countries 30, 36, 62, 74, 79-81, 96-98, 100, 102-103, 185-186

Occupation(al)

allocation, also job, labour market allocation 3-6. 9-10, 17, 19-20, 24, 66, 107, 150, 181, 183-185, 189-190, 192, 194 upgrading 195 distribution 54-55, 86 experience, also employment or work experience 17, 40, 53, 67, 108, 118, 146, prestige 71, 84, 103, 150, 180-181, 188, 195 status 8, 18, 47, 53, 70-71, 73-79, 81-84, 86, 96-103, 120, 125, 152, 155, 164-167, 170-171, 175-181, 186, 191 structure 187. OECD (Organisation of Economic Cooperation and Development) 34-35, 50, 60-62, 79 On-the-job training 11, 17, 33 Opportunity structure 6, 9

Part-time work or job 63, 193 Point system 17 Prejudice 19, 110 Public sector employment, jobs 12, 34, 56, 68, 98, 142, 160, 178 Public welfare, see Welfare Queuing theory 9-10, 17 Reception context 4, 18, 163 Reluctance to invest 11, 13 Search theory 13 Second-generation immigrants 33, 178, 193-194 Secondary labour market 6, 16-19, 46, 49, 53-56, 60-64, 90, 110-111, 133, 153, 161-162, 179, 184, 187, 189 Segmented assimilation 3, 23 Self-employment, entrepreneurship 58-60, 64, 117, 128, 132, 170, 195, Sending or origin society or country 10, 18, 20, 37, 179 Service (tertiary) sector, employment in 27, 50-51, 56, 63, 158, 161, 163, 167, 171, 180-181, 187.192 Social-democratic welfare regime 67, 80, 92, 100 Southern European countries 25, 27, 29, 32-33, 44, 48, 51, 53, 55, 63, 67, 85, 95, 107, 187 Sweden assimilation of immigrants 163-164, 171, 173, citizenship policy and acquisition 160, 163, 165, 168, 179, 181, 191, educational attainment 166-171 health of immigrants 171, 180 immigration policy 158-160, 179-182 immigrant selectivity 168-169 labour force participation 166-168, 171-175 labour market structure 155, 158, 163, 179 language acquisition among immigrants 159, 161, 171, 173, 181, migration cohorts 166-181 migration flows 158-160 multicultural model 158-159, 163 numbers and distributions of immigrants 37-38, 166-168 occupational status 166-168, 175-179 unemployment 166-168, 175-177 welfare state 158, 162,

Turkish migrants in Austria 169-170 in Europe 27, 34, 38 in Germany 111-112, 144

SUBJECT INDEX

Unemployment benefits 66, 68, 115, 120, 126, 134-145, 162, 189 Unemployment levels 51-53, 85-86, 166-168 United Kingdom, see Great Britain USA, as an immigrant society 3, 10, 31, 47, 60, 65, 159, 185

Wage

bargaining (setting) 16, 69, 195 (income) distribution, dispersion 10, 69 reservation wage 13 Welfare assistance 162, 180-182 policy 163 regime 19-20, 22, 24, 66-69, 71, 73, 75, 79-81, 89-91, 95-96, 99, 102-103, 107, 111, 153, 155, 184-185, 188-189, 191 state 2, 5, 10, 23, 65, 67-68, 75, 96, 111, 134, 158, 162, 184, 189-192 studies on welfare utilisation 65

Yugoslav (ex-Yugoslav) migrants asylum seekers, refugees 156-157, 163 early retirement 162, 173, 180, 191 educational attainment 166-170 in Austria 155-157 in Europe 34, 37 in Germany 111 in Sweden 155-157 labour force participation 166-177 occupational status 166-171, 176-179 post-war migration waves 156-157 second-generation 168, selectivity 169 unemployment 166-171, 175-178